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Revenue of

R3.902 billion
(FY20: R3.810 billion)

Mining volumes

7.7mt
(FY20: 6.0mt)

Gross profit 

R411 million 
(FY20: R333 million)

2021 salient features

EBITDA 

R569 million 
(FY20: R322 million)

Operating expenses 

R308 million 
(FY20: R342 million)
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Total loss 

R36 million 
(FY20: R137 million loss)

Headline loss per share 

2.87 cents 
(FY20: 32.67 cents loss)

Gearing ratio 

55% 
(FY20: 58%)

Cash generated from operations 

R773 million 
(FY20: R183 million)

About this report

This integrated annual report presents stakeholders with 

comprehensive information enabling them to assess the 

group’s economic, environmental, social and governance 

(“ESG”) and overall sustainability performance. The report 

covers the group’s activities and operations from 1 April 2020 

to 31 March 2021. 

This report outlines Wescoal’s performance for the year under 

review in terms of the company’s strategy and business model, 

the impact of the external environment in which it operates, 

future plans and how they will be achieved. Comparative 

historical information is presented, where relevant, as an 

insight into future plans. The group reports in two main 

segments, Mining and Trading, as outlined in the group 

structure on  page 8.

Material changes
There were no material changes to the size, structure and 

ownership of the group during the year.

Reporting approach
This report is aimed primarily at shareholders and investors 

but also addresses the interests and concerns of other 

stakeholders wherever possible. The scope of the report 

encompasses our two divisions – Mining and Trading. Report 

content has been guided by the International Integrated 

Reporting Framework (“<IR> Framework”) of the International 

Integrated Reporting Council and the Global Reporting Initiative 

(“GRI”) Standards as we continue to develop our understanding 

and application of relevant frameworks and standards in our 

strategy and reporting process. 

The report has been prepared in compliance with the 

Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008 (”Companies Act”), 

the listings requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

(“JSE”), the South African Code for the Reporting of Exploration 

Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (”SAMREC 

Code”) and in line with the recommendations of the King IVTM* 

Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa (“King IVTM”).

The consolidated annual financial statements of the group and 

company have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRS”), as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board, the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, the Companies 

Act, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the 

Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Reporting 

Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 

Standards Council.

The contents of this integrated annual report seek to identify 

and explain the material issues faced by the group. Our 

materiality process identifies and prioritises risks and material 

issues for Wescoal and considers the extent to which issues 

may impact the organisation’s ability to create economic, 

environmental and social value, and have an influence on the 

assessments and decisions of investors and key stakeholders. 

Further information regarding material issues, the materiality 

process and key stakeholders is available on  page 60. 

Forward-looking statements
The report contains forward-looking statements that, unless 

otherwise indicated, reflect the group’s expectations as 

at 31 March 2021. Forward-looking statements, including 

Wescoal’s future business prospects, revenues and income 

are necessarily estimates in the best judgement of the senior 

management and directors of Wescoal and may not reflect 

the actual outcome of performance or achievements of the 

group. The group undertakes no obligation to update publicly or 

release any revisions to these forward-looking statements to 

reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or 

to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

*  Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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About this report continued

Assurance
We undertake the following assurance to ensure reporting integrity:

Business process Nature of assurance Assurance provider Status

Consolidated annual financial statements External audit PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. Assured

B-BBEE B-BBEE scorecard review TFS Holdings Assured

B-BBEE B-BBEE rating Renaissance Ratings SA Assured

Internal audit Independently outsourced SNG Grant Thornton In place

Health, safety, environmental and 
Community audits

Compliance reviews Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy (“DMRE”) 

In place

Resources and reserves independent 
competent person

Competent person’s review Miptec Assured 

JSE requirements Compliance reviews JSE and auditors Assured 

Lender due diligence Legal and compliance 
reviews

Bankers' appointed independent consultants 
and lawyers

Assured 

Insurance due diligence Independent risk reviews Brokers and insurers Assured 

Environmental liability and rehabilitation Independent reviews Jaco-K Consulting Assured 

Quality control Laboratory tests Bureau Veritas Inspectorate Laboratories, 
Siboniswe Coal Laboratory Services and 
Siza Coal Services

Assured 

Board responsibility statement
The Wescoal board of directors confirms its responsibility for the integrity of the integrated annual report, the content of 

which has been collectively assessed by the directors who believe that all material issues have been addressed and are 

fairly presented.

The board believes that the integrated annual report was prepared in accordance with the <IR> Framework. The report, which 

remains the ultimate responsibility of the board, is prepared under the supervision of senior management, and subject to 

external assurance. The report is submitted to the audit, risk and compliance committee, which reviews and recommends it 

to the board for approval having reviewed the contents, as well as the collation process, and with reliance on the assurance 

provided on the various reporting elements.

The directors confirm that Wescoal is in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act or laws of establishment, 

specifically relating to its incorporation and is operating in conformity with its Memorandum of Incorporation and/or relevant 

constitutional documents.

Dr Humphrey Mathe  Robinson Ramaite Jubilant Speckman

Non-executive chairman Interim chief executive officer (“CEO”) Chief financial officer  (“CFO”)
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What worked before is no longer applicable, and the current 

environment may only be current today. Executives are 

keenly aware of this and are expected to continue to position 

– or reposition – their companies to better address shifting 

circumstances that bring both new difficulties and new 

opportunities.

The year started with a recently reconstituted board at the helm, 

bolstered with innovative, energetic professionals who offer 

specific skills related to their portfolios – subject matter experts 

ready to make a significant contribution to an emergent Wescoal. 

Investor and stakeholder requirements have presented 

the company with the opportunity to renew and review the 

commitment to long-term value creation. We have centred 

our focus on mapping the journey – the evolution of Wescoal 

to become a diversified energy company while continuing to 

mine coal responsibly for the life of the assets and as a partner 

actively supporting the nation's Integrated Resource Plan, which 

includes the energy mix outlook.

Anchored by the board’s annual organisational risk and 

materiality analyses across the operations, the reveals have 

given rise to a process of transformation that is advancing 

well. The approach reflects stakeholder criteria and aligns the 

organisation with global best practice in combating climate 

change and in pursuit of the imperatives of a low-carbon 

economy. A sound strategy and clearly outlined roadmap based 

on internationally recognised ESG practices and standards has 

established the company’s position with a policy framework that 

sets the tone for this process. 

Wescoal’s strategy in the year under review was anchored 

around three strategic pillars being stability, sustainability, and 

scalability. Organisational performance over the past two years 

has delivered stability while sustainability is leveraged by strong 

progress and solid outcomes. This is the point where the third 

pillar – that of scalability – initiates the metamorphoses – the 

architecture of our organisational strategy going forward.

The ESG strategy is designed to secure the future of the 

company and its employees. The company has pledged to act as 

a steward of the natural environment and to manage its impact 

on the communities where it operates. This approach takes into 

consideration the call for change by regulators, investors and 

key stakeholders in the mining sector. It entrenches the group 

as a responsible coal mining operation and highlights clear 

opportunities for diversification, growth and development. 

The commitment to sustained communications and 

transparency is critical to the realisation of Wescoal’s long-term 

vision and the renewal of the brand. 

Equity is a principle the board and executive management 

embrace. Fair and equal opportunity across gender are 

fundamental factors of the road ahead and an important 

contribution by Wescoal to the transformation of the mining 

sector. Women directors represent 40% of the board and 33.3% 

of the executive team. The three women board directors hold 

Chairman’s report

Climate change and the COVID-19 
pandemic have irreversibly 
impacted on the way business is 
conducted and how life is lived 
around the world. 

Dr Humphrey Mathe | Non-executive chairman
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extended fiduciary responsibilities as chairpersons of board 

subcommittees – the project and investment; audit, risk and 

compliance; remuneration and nomination committees.

It is interesting to note that 40% representation of female 

business leaders in the Africa region give Africa the top ranking 

for the greatest progress in reaching gender parity globally. 

The company drives B-BBEE status through skills development 

enterprise, supplier development programmes and socio-

economic development. Progress is reported under the amended 

codes and performance of the DMRE Mining Charter and 

Wescoal increased to over 60% ownership in the period and over 

70% post year-end. The next summit set is to move Wescoal’s 

B-BBEE rating from Level 2 to Level 1.

The audit, risk and compliance committee was chaired by 

Ms Kabela Maroga for the period FY14 to FY21. During this time, 

the organisation reached significant milestones and maturity in 

its funding structures. I take this opportunity to thank Ms Maroga 

for her meaningful role and leadership and look forward to her 

contribution as chair of the project and investment committee.

Now under the leadership of lead independent non-executive 

director, Ms Zukie Siyotula, the audit, risk and compliance 

committee deals with the significant added complexity and 

oversight of the financial affairs of a listed company mining coal 

at the peak of the climate change risk and transformational 

platform and the uncertainties brought about by the COVID-19 

pandemic. 

My gratitude goes to the board members, executives and 

employees who have guided and assisted the company to 

maintain its standing against all odds. I thank our investors 

and financiers for their continued support and wish all our 

stakeholders a safe and secure period ahead in peace and 

good health.

Dr Humphrey Mathe

Non-executive chairman

30 July 2021

Chairman’s report continued



WHO 
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Wescoal in a snapshot

Who we are

Wescoal, through its two divisions – Mining and Trading – is a 
coal-focused mining company incorporating mining, processing, 
selling and distribution of coal and coal-related products. 

In FY21, Wescoal commenced production at the Moabsvelden Mine delivering 56kt of own 

coal to Eskom Holdings SOC Limited (“Eskom”) in March 2021. The group business now has 

coal resources in excess of 300mt, four operating mines, four processing plants and minor 

interests in coal supply chain infrastructure.

Salient operational features

>10
years to life of 
mines

214
employees

2 410
contractors

Resources 

305mt
(FY20: 306mt)

Reserves

63mt
(FY20: 69mt)

Coal sales

7.889mt
(FY20: 6.313mt)

4
operating 
mines

4
processing 
plants

Production of 

7.724mt
(FY20: 6.015mt)

Delivered first coal from Moabsvelden Mine Project extension at Vanggatfontein to enable greater extraction

What we do
Mining division
The operating assets of the Mining division consist of four mines (Moabsvelden, Elandspruit, 

Vanggatfontein and Khanyisa) and four processing plants located in the Mpumalanga province. 

Moabsvelden is adjacent to Vanggatfontein and is a growth project within the Mining division. 

Wescoal has effective interest of 50% in Arnot Mine (joint venture).

Trading division
The Trading division is a strategic distribution business that specialises in the supply of coal by road 

and rail and is made up of three depots countrywide and a logistics network covering South Africa.

Revenue contribution

   Mining               Trading

82%

18%

   Eskom            Other

30%

Revenue diversity

70%

Investment 
case

B-BBEE ownership of 
more than 70% showing 
our commitment to the 
transformation agenda.

Embracing responsible 
business behaviour that 
increases long-term 
shareholder value and 
impacts positively on all 
stakeholders.

Long-term debt refinancing 
provides flexibility to 
accelerate development 
of internal growth 
opportunities and increases 
group liquidity and the 
balance sheet position.

Capital allocation 
framework with a balance 
between growth and 
sustained shareholder 
reward.

Well positioned to meet 
South Africa’s energy and 
coal mining requirements.

Emerging strategic shift 
to meeting the needs for 
cleaner energy.

Commitment to the low-
carbon growth economy 
and responsible and 
sustainable business 
practices.

Long-term coal supply 
contracts in domestic 
markets anchored by 
Eskom and other large 
industrial users.

High-calibre and 
competent management 
and staff focused on safe, 
predictable and sustainable 
operational delivery as an 
enabler for growth.
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Processing

1  Elandspruit: two processing plants 

2  Khanyisa Complex 

3   Vanggatfontein: two processing 

plants

4  Moabsvelden Colliery

5  Arnot Mine

Wescoal Trading depots

1  Pretoria 

2  Bellville 
3  Benoni

Wescoal areas of activity

Wescoal Mining operations

Laying the
foundation

to grow 
sustainably

Keaton Group

Vanggatfontein Colliery

Moabsvelden Colliery

Sterkfontein Project

Wescoal Mining Operations

Elandspruit Colliery

Khanyisa Complex

Wescoal processing plant

Arnot Mine (50%)

Wescoal Trading

Pretoria

Bellville

Benoni

Wescoal Holdings Limited

100% 100% 100%

Where Wescoal operates

1

3

1

2

Western Cape

Northern Cape

Free State

Eastern Cape

North West

Limpopo

Mpumalanga

Gauteng

Lesotho

Eswatini

KwaZulu-Natal

5

4
23

The key strategic thrust is to be a leading coal miner with a sustainable resource base 

and a coal trading operation.

ScalabilityStability Sustainability

Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021
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Our strategic pillars
Refer to  pages 26 to 29 for further detail on our strategy.



8 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group structure

Arnot OpCo 

Proprietary 

Limited

(Registration 

number: 

2019/072282/07)

Wescoal Holdings Limited
 (Registration number: 2005/006913/06) 

Wescoal Mining 

Proprietary Limited 

(Registration number: 

1999/005845/07)

100%

Wescoal Mineral 

Recoveries Proprietary 

Limited

(Registration number: 

2007/012027/07)

100%

Proudafrique Trading 

147 Proprietary 
Limited

(Registration
number: 

2007/006676/07)

Wescoal Exploration 

Proprietary Limited

(Registration

number: 

2008/007266/07)

Arnot HoldCo 

Proprietary Limited

(Registration 

number: 

2019/019247/07)

100% 100%

50%

Neosho Trading 86 

Proprietary Limited#

(Registration

number: 

2008/010470/07)

Keaton Mining

Proprietary Limited

 (Registration

number: 

2006/017998/07)

Leeuw

Braakfontein

Colliery

Proprietary

Limited

(Registration

number: 

2003/003619/07)

Labohlano Trading 46 

Proprietary Limited

(Registration

number: 

2008/013314/07)

100% 100%

100% 100%

100%*

Blanford 006 

Proprietary Limited 

(Registration

number: 

1997/005386/07) 

100%

Wescoal Trading 

Proprietary Limited 

(Registration number: 

1996/011374/07)

100%

Keaton Energy Holdings 

Limited 

(Registration number: 

2006/011090/06)

100%

# Acquired remaining 26% effective June 2019.

S
a

le
 i

n
 p

ro
g

re
s

s

40%

60%

*  Arnot HoldCo currently has interest of 100% in Arnot OpCo. Post incorporation of Arnot employee and community trust this shareholding will reduce to 90% 

which will make Wescoal’s effective shareholding in Arnot OpCo 45% and this has been used for the purpose of the resource and reserves summary.



Five-year review

NPAT and EBITDA
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   EBITDA            NPAT 

456
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Cash flow generated from operations

   Cash flow generated from operations           Cash flow generated per share 
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Revenue and operating profit

   Revenue            Operating profit            
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Sales volume (group) and ROM volume (production)
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Net asset value per share*
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* Calculated as net asset value divided by number of shares in issue.
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Key milestones

2005

Listed on the AltX 

Board of the JSE

2013

Acquisition of 

MacPhail business

Intibane Colliery 

commences 

mining

Acquisition of 

Intibane reserves

Chandler 

purchased the 

business of 

Atlantis and 

Express

2008

In situ coal 

resources of 

4.5mt

Acquisition of 

Khanyisa Triangle

2009

Listing moved 

to the JSE Main 

Board, Mining, 

sub-sector coal

2010
Extension of life of 

mine at Intibane 

to 2016

Acquisition 

of Wescoal 

processing plant

2014
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Acquisition of 

Keaton Energy

Nedbank long-

term funding for 

R450 million

2017

Disposal of 

Intibane Complex 

and LBC

2018

First coal from 

Elandspruit 

Colliery

2015

First coal from 

Moabsvelden

First coal from 

VGF5

Launch of ESG 

strategy

2021

Appointment 

of new CEO

Acquisition of 

Arnot Mine

Dissolution of 

Khanyisa Triangle 

joint venture

2019

Five-year, 7.8mt Eskom 

contract signed

Khanyisa’s life of mine 

extended by up to 

four years

Concluded a B-BBEE 

transaction securing 

at least 51%+ HDSA 

ownership required for 

Eskom contracts. The 

transaction also raised 

R52 million through a 

rights offer

2016
Acquisition 

of additional 

26% interest in 

Neosho Trading 

to establish 

100% ownership 

in Moabsvelden 

Project

Ten-year Eskom 

contract signed 

for Moabsvelden 

Project

2020
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Our operations

Wescoal’s origins lie in coal trading and it was incorporated in 1996 under 
the Chandler name to purchase the coal trading business and other assets of the 
Chandler family. 

The Mining division is today the bigger part of the company, accounting for 82% of revenue and 99% of earnings before interest tax, 

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”). The Trading division nevertheless remains an important contributor to Wescoal and ranks 

as one of the leading coal distributors in South Africa. Our operations are bound by the approved ESG strategy.

ScalabilityStability Sustainability

Mining

Elandspruit Colliery Employees: 30 Contractors: 485 Life of mine: 4 years

Location

• Located 8km west of Middelburg, approximately 200km from Johannesburg

Operational information

Produced:  2.8mt

Capacity:  3.1mtpa

Resources:  11.63mt

Reserves:  11.53mt

Average grade:  21.45CV

Strategic focus area

• Reopening of the underground section in Q2 FY22 to supplement opencast 

production 

Links to strategy

Performance summary

• Consistent production performance throughout FY21

• Lost time injury frequency rate (“LTIFR”) of 0.33 (FY20: 0.19) with zero fatalities 

(FY20: zero)

Opencast operations capacity of 

240 000tpm

Underground operations capacity of 

25 000tpm

Elandspruit provides scale and sustainability 

with its ability to produce up to 3.1mt run of 

mine (“ROM”) per annum and its life of mine 

of around four years.
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Mining

Khanyisa Complex

•  Complex divided into Catwalk and 
Triangle

•  Triangle is virgin ground and Catwalk 
is pillar and roof coal mining 

Employees: 28 Contractors: 268 Life of mine: 2 years

Description and location

• Khanyisa Catwalk and Triangle

• Located 10km west of Ogies in Mpumalanga

• It comprises a portion of Heuvelfontein 215IR

• Awarded integrated water use licence (“IWUL”) in May 2016

Operational information

Produced:  1mt

Capacity:  1.2mtpa

Resources:  2.11mt

Reserves:  1.45mt

Average grade:  20.75CV

Strategic focus area

• Recovery of roof coal in the Khanyisa Catwalk Mine

Links to strategy

Performance summary

• Good production performance for the year

• LTIFR of 0.49 (FY20: 0.66) with zero fatalities (FY20: zero)

• Challenges for the year included safety stoppages

Opencast operations capacity of 

100 000tpm 

The Khanyisa Complex comprises the historical 

Khanyisa mining area (mined-out), the Catwalk 

and the Triangle areas, all of which have been 

consolidated into one mining complex.

The Khanyisa mining complex was 

consolidated into one mining right. An 

amended mining right was granted in 

May 2017 and is underpinned by a joint 

venture in respect of the Triangle area. 

Wescoal now owns 100% of the Triangle area 

after acquiring the 65% that was previously 

owned by UJU Resource Proprietary Limited. 

Initiatives are being pursued to extend the life 

of mine of Khanyisa Complex beyond FY22.
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Mining

Our operations continued

Vanggatfontein Colliery Employees: 37 Contractors: 997 Life of mine: 6 years*

Description and location

• Located 16km south-east of Delmas in Mpumalanga

• Issued IWUL in January 2015

Operational information

Produced:  3.7mt

Capacity:  4.0mtpa

Resources:  24.37mt

Reserves:  21.14mt

Average grade:  21.18CV

Strategic purpose

• An integrated management strategy to manage the Moabsvelden and 

Vanggatfontein mining complexes

Strategic focus area

• Shared infrastructure, management and services with Moabsvelden

Link to strategy

Performance summary

• Solid production performance recorded in FY21

• LTIFR of 0.48 (FY20: 0.22) with zero fatalities (FY20: one fatality)

*  Life of mine excludes VGF5 and VGF6.

Opencast operations capacity of 

330 000tpm

The colliery endeavours to be self-sufficient 

in terms of water supply and usage and 

the water management system is designed 

to separate clean and dirty water and to 

optimise the recycling and reuse of dirty 

water. Vanggatfontein Colliery produces 

coal for the national utility Eskom. The mine 

produced approximately 3.7mt for the year.

The coal is treated at two plants – at 500t/h, 

2 and 4 seam plant, which produces thermal 

coal for Eskom, and at 100t/h 5 seam plant. 

The mine has commenced the opening 

of a new box cut at VGF5 to maintain and 

sustain the current production profile. 

Wescoal entered into a common box cut 

and boundary pillar mining arrangement 

with a neighbouring mining company and 

has already purchased the surface rights 

from the farmer. In excess of 10mt is still 

remaining to be mined at VGF5. The box 

cut development is finalised and Wescoal 

has started mining VGF5 as a replacement 

pit for VGF3. VGF3 is planned for depletion 

in Q2 FY21.

An exploration programme will commence 

in the second quarter of calendar year 

2021 as part of the Vanggatfontein 

extension strategy to extend the life of the 

entire Vanggatfontein Complex. A series 

of studies will be conducted in the next 

financial year to quantify the viability 

of the project including underground 

prospects. Based on an initial high-level 

assessment, the resource is estimated 

to be approximately 10mt.

ScalabilityStability Sustainability
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Wescoal 
processing plant

Employees: 21 Contractors: 292

Location

• On Elandspruit Colliery

Operational information

Processed:  2.5mt

Capacity:  2.5mt 

Acquired:  2014

Coal handling and processing facilities

Vanggatfontein 
processing plant

Employees: 3 Contractors: 93

Location

•  On Vanggatfontein Colliery

Operational information

Processed:  2.1mt

Capacity:  2.6mt 

Acquired:  2017

Wescoal Trading is a leading coal distributor in South Africa.

It is a strategic distribution company that specialises in the 

supply of coal by road and rail to the point of consumption, to 

diverse customers and industries throughout South Africa, 

including blue-chip companies ranging from power generation 

to manufacturing sectors. 

Wescoal Trading

Employees: 31 Contractors: 14

Locations Operational information

 Depots in Pretoria, Bellville and Benoni Total sales: 0.7mt

Trading division

The company offers a complete range of coal products on a 

countrywide basis, including:

• sourcing suitable coal product for clients;

• securing the delivery of product as and when required;

• technical support for steam generation; and

• securing markets for new producers such as other junior 

coal miners.
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Latest projects

Moabsvelden Project

Employees: 14 Contractors: 261

Location

Approximately 11km south-east of Delmas in Mpumalanga; 5km from Vanggatfontein Colliery

Area Mining method

250ha Opencast truck and shovel

Moabsvelden is the Mining division’s key greenfield development that will supply Kusile Power Station for a period of around 
10 years and ultimately with approximately 3mt of coal per annum. The project is contiguous to the Vanggatfontein Colliery with 

an estimated declared reserve of 29.01mt.

Project development phases and key dates

Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

Box cut and mine development

• Contractor mobilisation and site 

establishment

• Capex: R250 million to R290 million

• Major capex items include box cut mining 

and ramps, stormwater management and 

community projects

Key dates

• Commenced development June 2020

• First coal blasted In January 2021

• First delivery to Eskom in March 2021

Reach steady state

• Achieve steady state of 200kt per 

month ROM

• Capex: R200 million to R250 million

Key dates

• Steady state ROM production by early 

calendar H1 FY22

Development of VG6 UG project

• VG6 UG project to reach the full Eskom 

contractual supply of 3.0mtpa sales

• Capex requirement to be confirmed in due 

course

• Major capex items – crush and screen plant, 

VG6 UG development, coal handling and 

processing plant

• Investigating potential synergies with 

operations which may lead to capex 

reduction

Key dates

• Timing to be determined

Operational information

Produced:  0.2mt

Resources:  30.65mtpa

Reserves: 28.72mt

Capacity: 240 000tpm

Average grade:  20.15CV

Link to strategy

Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery

Location

Approximately 10km east-south-east of Newcastle in KwaZulu-Natal bordered to the north by Madadeni Township and to the east 

by Osizweni Township

Area Mining method

1 951ha Opencast truck and shovel

Underground mechanised board and pillar

Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery (“LBC”), on the Klip River Coalfield, is planned to predominantly be a bord and pillar underground 
operation targeting the top and bottom coal seams. Continuous miners will be used to mine the underground coal resource. LBC has 
prospects of mining the shallow coal on the flanks of the resource from the opencast mining method. The coal resource is suitable 
for power stations in close proximity to the resource. The mineable tonnes in situ (“MTIS”) coal resource has been independently 
estimated, classified and signed off by CCIC Coal. 

The coal resource estimate declared comprises 60.06mt in the indicated coal resource category and no coal reserves have been declared.

The asset remains non-core and a formal disposal process is in the final stage.

Our operations continued
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Sterkfontein Project

Location

Approximately 5km south-west of Bethal in Mpumalanga, 

approximately 89km south of Emalahleni and 149km east-south-

east of Johannesburg

Area

7 926ha

Mining method

Underground mechanised bord and pillar

Sterkfontein is an underground bord and pillar prospect that 

targets No. 4 Lower and No. 4 Upper of the Highveld Coalfield. It is 

planned for Sterkfontein to be a fully mechanised operation using 

continuous miners. The coal is planned to be processed through 

a double-stage circuit to produce a primary export thermal 

product and middlings product suitable for a power station. 

The coal resource estimate at Sterkfontein was independently 

classified and signed off by CCIC Coal. The MTIS coal resources 

declared comprise 50.3mt indicated coal resources and 40.6mt 

inferred coal resources totalling 90.9mt. There has not been a coal 

reserves declaration. 

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited granted Moneybox Investments 

Proprietary Limited, previously a shareholder in Labohlano 

Trading 46 Proprietary Limited, an option to acquire 100% of 

the Sterkfontein Project following extensive studies conducted. 

The option expired at the end of October 2017. A mining right 

application has been submitted to the DMRE.

Braakfontein and Rietkuil Project (Vanggatfontein extension)

Location

Approximately 18km south-east of Delmas in Mpumalanga and 

contiguous to the Vanggatfontein Colliery

Area

421ha

Mining method

Opencast truck and shovel

These properties are contiguous to the Vanggatfontein Colliery 

and, as a result, a Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development 

Act (“MPRDA”) section 102 application was submitted on 

17 April 2018 to combine the three properties and extend the life 

of the operation. We await approval from the DMRE in this regard.

Exploration drilling is planned for the second quarter of calendar 

year 2021.

ScalabilityStability Sustainability
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Directors and executive management

Dr Humphrey Mathe (70)
Non-executive chairman

MSc (Rhodes), PhD (University of Natal)

Appointed: 1 August 2013

Skills brought to Wescoal

Strategic leadership, mining, geology, board and 

committee experience

Humphrey is a member of the board and 

chairman of the social and ethics committee. He 

is a qualified geologist and the CEO of Tranter 

Resources Proprietary Limited. Previously, 

he was the CEO of a coal resources company, 

Scinta South Africa Proprietary Limited, and the 

executive general manager of corporate services 

at Exxaro Resources Limited. Prior to that, he was 

chief operating officer and executive director of 

Eyesizwe Coal Proprietary Limited, where he was 

in charge of the Eyesizwe coal mines and growth 

opportunities.

Board of directors

Robinson Ramaite (52)
Interim chief executive officer

Masters in Management, Public and Development 

Management (University of the Witwatersrand), 

BJuris (University of the North)

Appointed: 20 November 2007; appointed interim 

CEO on 15 March 2021

Skills brought to Wescoal

Strategic leadership, mining, management, legal, 

board and committee experience

Robinson is a former director-general of the 

Department of Public Service and Administration 

and a former advisor to various ministers of 

parliament. He has been involved in the mining 

sector for more than 10 years and sits on the 

boards of various listed and non-listed companies.

Jubilant Speckman (36)
Chief financial officer

CA(SA), BCom in Accounting Sciences (University of 

Pretoria), BCom (Honours) in Accounting Sciences 

(University of Pretoria), Certificate of Theory in 

Accounting (University of Pretoria), Masters in 

Taxation (North-West University) 

Appointed: 1 February 2021

Acting CFO: 1 September 2020 to 31 January 2021

Skills brought to Wescoal

Financial, capital management and mining 

experience

Jubilant is a chartered accountant with over 

10 years’ experience in the mining industry. She 

completed her articles at PricewaterhouseCoopers  

and held various managerial positions at other 

mining entities such as BHP Billiton, Wesizwe 

Platinum Limited and Merafe Resources Limited. 
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Thivha Tshithavhane (43)
CEO Mining and executive

BSc Chemical Engineering (University of Cape Town), 

MDP (Unisa) 

Appointed: 4 April 2016

Skills brought to Wescoal

Operational, process design and project 

management and mineral processing experience

Thivha is a chemical engineer with operational, 

process design and project management 

experience in the mineral processing industry 

spanning over 13 years. He has a proven ability 

to manage multi-disciplinary projects and 

mining production operations while holding 

senior management positions as plant manager, 

operations manager and works manager with 

Xstrata Alloys (a subsidiary of Glencore Alloys). 

He has extensive experience in minerals projects 

development, mineral processing, plant design 

and plant construction. He was general manager 

of United Manganese of Kalahari, an operation 

consisting of an opencast mine with a processing 

plant.

Nonzukiso (“Zukie”) Siyotula (37)
Lead independent non-executive

CA(SA), ACMA, MBA and Executive Programmes 

(Harvard, Insead and Oxford)

Appointed: 14 February 2019

Skills brought to Wescoal

Corporate governance, board, strategy, financial 

and business development experience

Zukie joined the World Economic Forum’s 

Young Global Leaders under the age of 40 in 

March 2016. Achievements like this are nothing 

new for Zukie who was previously named as 

one of the 2011 Mail & Guardian Top 200 Young 

South Africans. As former CEO of Thebe Capital, 

responsible for looking after a portfolio of 

strategic investments across various sectors, 

she holds numerous qualifications under her 

belt. Her diverse professional experience ranges 

from general management, finance, corporate 

governance, strategy, restructuring and business 

development through to sales and distribution.

Andile Mabizela (52)
Independent non-executive

Bachelor of Law (University of Natal), BSc (Honours) 

Economics (University of Zimbabwe)

Appointed: 5 December 2019

Skills brought to Wescoal

Financial, mining, board and committee, 

operational and strategic leadership experience

Andile has extensive experience in the aviation, 

financial services, mining services and public 

enterprises sectors. For the past nine years, he has 

been an executive director of Afrilog, a company 

engaged in mine supply chain solutions. He has 

considerable board-level experience, having 

served on the board of South African Airways 

(SOC) Limited, and is the former chairman of both 

SA Express (SOC) Limited and the Johannesburg 

Property Company. Andile previously served on the 

subsidiary boards of Stanlib Wealth Management 

as well as the country boards of Liberty Africa 

Asset Management and Atlatsa Resources LLC. 

He currently serves as a board member of Old 

Mutual Investment Group and Afrilog SA.

Committee membership

 
Project and investment committee

 
Audit, risk and compliance committee

 
Remuneration committee

 
Nomination committee

 
Social and ethics committee
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Directors and executive management continued

Kabela Maroga (41)
Non-executive

CA(SA), BCom Financial Accounting (University 

of Pretoria), BCompt (Honours) (University of 

KwaZulu-Natal), Certificate in the Theory of 

Accounting (University of KwaZulu-Natal), Graduate 

Diploma in Mining Engineering (University of the 

Witwatersrand)

Appointed: 1 July 2013

Skills brought to Wescoal

Financial, corporate finance mining, board and 

committee experience

Kabela is a qualified chartered accountant with 

more than 13 years’ experience in the corporate 

financial environment. She has held management 

positions in various sectors and was the 

chairperson of Interactive Intelligence South 

Africa. She is chairperson of KEW ICT Outsourcing 

and serves on several other boards including 

the Limpopo Economic Development Agency and 

Corridor Mining Resources. 

Nomavuso Mnxasana (65)
Independent non-executive

CA(SA), BCompt Hons (University of 

South Africa)

Appointed: 5 December 2019

Skills brought to Wescoal

Auditing, business development, financial and 

strategic leadership experience

Nomavuso received her training from Deloitte and 

Touche. After completing her articles, she spent 

one year at Deloitte before joining Sizwe Ntsaluba 

(formerly Nkonki Sizwe Ntsaluba). During her 

tenure at Sizwe Ntsaluba, she specialised in 

consulting, internal auditing and attests function. 

She started the corporate governance division 

which housed the internal audit services, as she 

identified this opportunity during the introduction 

of the Public Finance Management Act. She was 

also involved in staff development and training as 

a staff partner for five years.

Board of directors continued

Cecil Maswanganyi (56)
Non-executive

BCompt (Unisa), MBL (Unisa), Advance Programme 

in Taxation (Unisa), ACMA CGMA (CIMA)

Appointed: 17 November 2017

Skills brought to Wescoal

Strategic leadership, financial, auditing, tax, board 

and committee experience

Cecil is a non-executive director. He has an 

accounting background with audit and tax skills 

and diverse business, board and provincial 

government experience dating back to 1989. He 

is currently CEO of Simeka Capital Holdings and 

has qualifications in commerce, tax and business 

administration.

* Waheed Sulaiman resigned as CEO effective 31 January 2019. 

* Martin van Wijngaarden was appointed on 14 February 2019 and resigned 31 May 2019.

Board composition

Executives (3)

Independent non-executives (3)

Non-executive directors (4)

30%

30%

40%

Board age profile

30 – 39 years (2)

40 – 49 years (2)

50 – 59 years (3)

20%

20%

20%

10%

60 – 69 years (2)

70 – 79 years (1)

30%

Board racial profile

African (10)

100%

Board gender profile

Male (6)

Female (4)

60%

40%

A high-res photograph was irretrievable.
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Eric Thuthukani Mzimela (64)
Non-executive

Analytical Chemistry (Diploma) (M Setlogelo-

Technikon Pretoria), MDP (Unisa), Certificate 

Programme in Industrial Relations (University of 

the Witwatersrand) 

Appointed: 17 November 2017

Skills brought to Wescoal

Strategic leadership, financial, banking, analytical 

chemistry and industrial relations experience

Eric is a non-executive independent director. 

He is a former banker and has an indirect 

shareholding in Wescoal. Eric is an entrepreneur 

with business experience dating back to 1981. 

He has qualifications in analytical chemistry and 

industrial relations.

Skills

Strategic leadership 7 Transformation 2

Mining 7 Marketing and communications 1

Geology 1 Mineral processing 1

Legal 2 Operational 2

Board and committee 10 Project management 2

Capital management 3 Industrial relations 2

Financial 5 Analytical chemistry 1

Corporate finance 1 Banking 2

Business development 3 Tax 2

Auditing 4

Executive management

7

5

1 2 3

64

8 9

1  Robinson Ramaite

 Interim chief executive officer

2  Jubilant Speckman

 Chief financial officer

3  Thivha Tshithavhane

 CEO Mining

4  Mike Berry

 CEO Trading

5  Enos Lentsoane

 Executive: Commercial and investments

6  Freddy Ndou

 Executive: Corporate services

7  Nozie Lubanga

 Compliance and risk officer

8  Sabelo Dlamini

 Group legal counsel

 

9  Ntombi Mphahlele

 General manager: Human resources

Committee membership

 
Project and investment committee

 
Audit, risk and compliance committee

 
Remuneration committee

 
Nomination committee

 
Social and ethics committee



22 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Our market in context
Sources: Minerals Council, DMRE, Stats SA, PwC, International Energy Agency, Singular Research

Secure and reliable energy supply is a catalyst for economic 

development and growth and coal remains the most important 

and dominant energy source in the world. The key driver of 

coal-based energy is its abundance and affordability compared 

to alternative energy sources. Wescoal will also be positioning 

itself as a broad energy company focused on energy generation 

across different areas, including renewables, while maintaining 

a fair amount of coal involvement that will reduce over time.

Despite the devastating effects of COVID-19, the biggest 

operating expense for the mining industry was employment 

benefits and contractors at 48%. This affirms the mining 

sector’s direct economic empowerment and continued 

contribution to the welfare of their communities. While the 

South African economy is starting to show signs of recovery, 

concerns remain as the country navigates through the third 

wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. This, coupled with the 

operational problems being faced by Wescoal’s major customer 

Eskom as it continues to implement rolling blackouts to manage 

grid pressure, will continue to impact domestic coal demand.

The mining sector has weighed its support behind government’s 

vaccination efforts in order to save lives and livelihoods. The 

efforts include mobilising business resources and capacity to 

combat the COVID-19 pandemic. Workplace vaccination will 

be undertaken in line with national priorities. The Department 

of Health has adopted a strategy of age-based prioritisation, 

targeting those most at risk of death and severe illness. Mining 

sites are required to undergo a detailed process in order to be 

registered by the Department of Health. Wescoal has ensured 

that the necessary steps have been taken and funds spent 

within the business to address COVID-19 (see our response to 

COVID-19 for further detail). 

The goal to ensure policy certainty continued during the year 

with the Minerals Council’s application for the judicial review 

and setting aside of certain clauses of the Mining Charter III. 

Policy certainty will assist in facilitating the sustainability and 

growth of the South African mining industry and boost investor 

confidence in new exploration projects.

The affordability and abundance of coal makes it the most 

reliable source of energy for South Africa and the rest of the 

African continent. Eskom supplies around 40% of Africa’s 

electricity. Due to a lack of reliable alternatives, coal is expected 

to continue being the dependable energy source for the 

foreseeable future. 

During the year, major Asian export markets such as China 

and Indonesia increased their coal consumption while the 

United States, the European Union and India decreased their 

consumption.

There has been a recent surge in the export market, however, 

with seaborne prices surpassing the highs that were last seen 

in 2018. Despite the challenging local environment brought 

about by the COVID-19 pandemic, these recent developments in 

the seaborne market may present opportunities for companies 

like Wescoal, as export demand starts to drive up local prices.

Except for Glencore, the major mining companies continue to 

dispose of their thermal coal mines both locally and abroad. 

In the local market, this creates an opportunity for coal mining 

companies like Wescoal, who are well positioned to supply 

Eskom in terms of the power utility’s B-BBEE procurement 

strategy. While coal offtake by Eskom is currently lower than 

pre-national lockdown levels, demand is expected to return and 

remain healthy until at least 2030, in line with South Africa’s 

Integrated Resources Plan 2019, as the country undergoes a 

just transition away from coal. Despite coal mining being our 

core business, Wescoal will continue to explore the breadth and 

depth of alternative energy and how it can best fit the current 

business model in the long term.

   

Percentage mining revenue per commodity

FY19FY20

7% 25%

28%
14%

13%

8%
3%

2%

Coal

Iron core

Building material

Manganese

Platinum group metals

Other

Gold

Chromium

9%
28%

23%
13%

12%

9%
4%

2%

Percentage operating expenses

FY19FY20

Employee benefits and contractors

Utilities (water and electricity)

Royalties

Transportation costs

Consumables and mining supplies

Other

2% 13%
3%

48%

26%

8%

2%

11%

8%
44%

24%

10%
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Our response to COVID-19

COVID-19 has had an extraordinary impact on almost every 

country in the world leading to the World Health Organisation 

declaring it a pandemic in March 2020. The South African mining 

industry acknowledged that COVID-19 will be with us for the 

foreseeable future, and that it would continue to develop and 

implement leading practices to save lives and livelihoods.

Countries started imposing measures from travel bans to 

lockdowns to help reduce the rising infection numbers with 

governments declaring states of emergency. Coal producers 

and power stations were included as essential services in 

South Africa and remained operational. Additionally, Wescoal 

supplies coal to other essential services like hospitals through 

our Trading business. By virtue of this, it is an essential service 

provider in the electricity and energy space.

How Wescoal responded
The company undertook to act responsibly and to do its part 

in preventing the further spread of the virus by implementing 

business continuity measures, together with its mining 

contractors, across the breadth of its operations. These included 

controls and protocols to ensure the health and safety of all staff 

on our sites, without any business interruptions, using technology 

to facilitate operational and head office meetings and to work 

remotely as appropriate. Steps taken and initiatives included: 

1/ Support functions were required to work remotely 

as well as alternate shifts as required;

2/ Inter-provincial travellers were required to work 

remotely from home;

3/ Critical meetings only took place online and non-

critical meetings were cancelled; and

4/ Formal plans with contractors addressing COVID-19 

preventative measures included sanitisation and 

hygiene best practices.

Wescoal has navigated and continues to effectively manage 

the COVID-19 pandemic challenge. This has resulted in 

zero COVID-19-related fatalities in all our operations and 

no business interruptions as a result of the outbreak. As 

at 25 June 2021, Wescoal had 84 reported cases of which 

75 have fully recovered and nine are still being treated. A 

centralised COVID-19 team ensures uniform implementation 

of all COVID-19 response protocols and ensures we proactively 

manage and de-risk the business.

The graph below illustrates active cases during the year:

Wescoal Mining COVID-19 positive cases
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As at 31 March 2021, Wescoal Mining had 67 recovered cases 

with two active cases. 

The management team engaged on a daily basis to ensure that 

risks were managed timeously as they arose. The executive 

committee continued taking advice from relevant organisations 

including the DMRE as well as key strategic stakeholders to 

manage the business.



24 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Our response to COVID-19 continued

Mining-specifi c measures

Implemented the COVID-19 code of 

practice which was approved by the 

health and safety committee per operation;

Implemented and approved SOPs 

by the health and safety committees; and

Code of practice assessments on all employees.

Various workplace measures were taken across all operations 

and corporate offices as set out below:

Decontamination of work areas/operations;

Developed a COVID-19 workplace plan as per regulations;

Appointed a COVID-19 committee and compliance officer(s); 

Compiled a detailed list of employees under different 

categories in terms of the regulations;

Supplied required personal protective equipment (“PPE”) to 

each employee; 

Daily registers and a tracking monitoring system to check 

and track attendance within the workplace;

Designated notice boards, waiting areas, bathroom and 

office facilities displayed hygiene protocols;

Developed COVID-19 standard operating procedures 

(“SOPs”);

Protocols for suspected COVID-19 cases at the workplace 

are clearly outlined in each SOP;

Employee training on SOP and COVID-19 awareness; 

Workplace screening facilities and systems implemented;

Daily COVID-19 symptom screening;

Staff management and social distancing practices;

Designated isolation area and medical facilities for 

suspected COVID-19 cases;

Refocused our social and labour plans (“SLPs”) for COVID-19 

interventions;

Donated equipment to the Mpumalanga Provincial 

Department of Health to assist in screening and testing;  

Distributed food parcels;  

Enhanced employee assistance programs to include 

COVID-19; and

Flu vaccines offered on a voluntary basis.

Responding to the impact on performance
There was a need to create significant financial headroom 

during the financial year as sales were negatively impacted by 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Various cost-cutting measures were 

put in place and capital expenditure was optimised.

Wescoal ensured operational stability with minimal disruptions 

despite the challenging COVID-19 environment, and 

management continues to sweat the current assets to achieve 

production and sales targets amid reduced coal offtake from a 

major customer. There were no major work stoppages at any of 

our operations due to COVID-19.

While the future impact of the pandemic remains uncertain, 

it has become evident that the mining industry can play a key 

role in a post-pandemic recovery.



OUR
STRATEGY
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Strategy

Investor and stakeholder requirements have presented 

Wescoal with an opportunity to target long-term value creation 

through an ESG-led industry leadership strategy. As such, 

Wescoal has recently increased its commitment to delivering a 

reliable energy source responsibly, and in a manner that meets 

the needs of investors and key stakeholders while creating 

employment opportunities in support of the South African 

economy.

Wescoal developed its comprehensive ESG strategy in FY20, 

and the leadership team has commenced with the integration 

and implementation of this strategy in FY21, in line with the 

group’s FY21 initiatives to consolidate, reposition and refocus. 

Stability

Sustainability Scalability

Safety, 

health and 

environment

Strategic pillars

Our mission
To become a dynamic black-owned 
and black-led energy company 
which champions socio-economic 
change and transformation.

Our vision
To play a leading role in delivering 
a reliable energy source in a manner 
which adds transformational value 
to society.

Using the integrated reporting process as both a lens and a 

framework for the ESG strategy, Wescoal set targets for the 

FY21 reporting period that will demonstrate a progressive 

and responsible corporate ‘mindset’, and a commitment to 

playing a leadership role in South Africa’s mining sector.

By remaining accountable for the successful delivery of 

the ESG strategy programme, Wescoal aims to become an 

exemplary leader in South Africa’s low-carbon economy. 

The company is driven to act as a steward of the natural 

environment and to uplift employees and communities 

impacted by the company’s business activities.

Our strategic pillars are underpinned by our core values of safety, delivery, dynamism, 
integrity, accountability and well-being.
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Our strategy

Stability Sustainability Scalability

Sweat current operations and manage 

business well to maintain steady state.

Optimal balance sheet and capital 

structure with sustained shareholder 

rewards. Social licence to operate.

Fast-track development of organic 

growth projects.

Target Target Target

8mt ROM
FY21
Customer-centric balance between 

Eskom, domestic and export coal.

Sustained shareholder 
returns 
Regulatory and social licence to operate.

Increase ROM to
10mt 
Operationalise Moabsvelden and Arnot.

Continue to evaluate available inorganic 

merger and acquisition growth 

opportunities.

Status of target Status of target Status of target

7.7mt ROM
FY21
Balance of customers has been 

challenging in the current year due to 

COVID-19. Percentage of Eskom has 

increased in relation to other customers.

Focus has shifted to debt review in 

order to ensure that value is returned to 

shareholders.

SLP targets revised and approved by 

DMRE to respond to COVID-19. COVID-19 

response initiatives implemented in full 

across all operations.

With commencement of Moabsvelden 

production, target for 10mt of ROM 

in FY22.

Moabsvelden delivered first own coal 

to Eskom in March 2021. Arnot coal 

supply agreement (“CSA”) negotiation in 

final stages with production projected 

to commence in second half of FY22.

Merger and acquisition growth 

opportunities:

• Continued evaluation of inorganic 

growth opportunities against 

investment criteria and capital 

allocation framework;

• Decision made not to pursue any 

material merger and acquisition 

opportunities within the coal space;

• Focus on fast-tracking the 

development of internal growth 

options (organic growth); and

• ESG strategy implementation ensures 

exploration of options that will 

enable Wescoal to become a broader 

energy player.

Target Target Target

60% Eskom Develop group ESG strategy 
and framework

Investment evaluation 
criteria

Status of target Status of target Status of target

Actual sales to Eskom at 70% due to 

reduction in other local and export volumes 

as a result of the COVID-19 impact.

ESG framework developed in FY21 as per 

target.

Investment evaluation criteria approved 

by the board. 

Laying the foundation to grow sustainably
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Strategy continued

Sustainable energy and organisational 
transformation
Wescoal, through its Mining and Trading divisions, is a coal-

focused mining company incorporating mining, processing, 

selling and distribution of coal and coal-related products. 

Secure and reliable energy supply is a catalyst for economic 

development and growth, and coal remains the most important 

and dominant energy source in the world. There is, however, 

an imperative to produce this energy source in the most 

sustainable manner possible. 

ESG is at the heart of sustainable development which is the key 

to Wescoal’s long-term growth strategy. Not only as a business 

imperative, ESG also enables the quality of the future life of the 

Wescoal organisation. Through collaboration and respect for 

the environment, our social, conscious, ethical and transparent 

approach to business is anchored by a governance structure 

led by our board of directors, from a platform of crafted policies 

and best practice.
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Our strategy

Our ESG strategy

Overview
Wescoal has embraced an ESG programme to secure the future 

of the company and its employees, as the company pledges 

to act as a steward of the natural environment and to manage 

the impact the company has on all its communities where it 

operates. Good governance is the combined responsibility of 

all the people of Wescoal. Investors and key stakeholders are 

also leading the call for change in the mining sector to be more 

long-term focused and more stakeholder-centric. 

Our ESG strategy has been built authentically and credibly 

and has been developed through extensive executive and 

internal management engagement, through the incorporation 

of credible and recognised ESG reporting standards and 

methodologies. Mining industry examples and learnings have 

also been sought and incorporated where appropriate.

Our ESG strategy gives Wescoal the opportunity to establish 

ourselves as a responsible coal mining operation. Besides 

providing a clear leadership focus, the ESG strategy highlights 

clear opportunities for cost savings, increased efficiencies, risk 

mitigation, reputation enhancement and competitive advantage 

and is immediately implementable and is being integrated into 

the Wescoal business.

ESG Barometer
The ESG Barometer is the key tool against which our 

ESG performance will be measured and will give an instant 

overview of ongoing organisational performance against the 

three key pillars and 11 key themes contained in the 

ESG strategy. 

Each theme is underpinned by specific key performance areas 

(“KPAs”) and within each KPA, there are specific measurable 

targets or key performance indicators (“KPIs”) that have 

been set. Each KPI is weighted within the theme, denoting 

the relative importance of this KPI towards achieving the 

organisational goal. The Barometer tracks these KPIs against 

the set targets. 

The Barometer KPIs were developed through robust 

consultation throughout the organisation, with top 

management, through understanding key value creation 

activities pertinent to the organisational business model and 

through a material issue identification process.

The ESG Barometer will be regularly updated and used to 

manage, implement and measure our progress against our 

targets and give constant feedback to assist us in managing 

these issues proactively. It will also assist us to identify any 

areas in which we are not performing and help us to focus 

our efforts. 

The strategy is built on three pillars: environmental, social and governance. Each pillar encompasses key themes against which 

organisational performance is measured.

Environmental Social Governance

Land and biodiversity People Corporate governance

Water and air Communities Ethical and responsible leadership

Energy Value chain Regulatory compliance

Carbon Stakeholders

   Environmental KPI                                                     Social KPI                                                                  Governance KPI

These pillars and themes inform high-level objective statements and management priorities aligned to the United Nations 

Sustainable Development Goals. KPIs under each of the 11 themes inform the ESG Barometer, which is a tool to integrate ESG into 

what the organisation is already doing to fill the gaps, and to measure and track performance against KPIs. This will be supported by 

internal and external communications plans to drive knowledge, ownership and culture.



30 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Our business model

Inputs Activities

FC •  Debt and equity capital

• Investment funding

•  Cash flow and working capital 

management

SRC • SLPs

• Group health and wellness 

programme

• Stakeholder engagement

• Shareholder confidence

• Transformation

NC • Land

• Water

• Air

• Energy

HC • Skills and experience

• Health and safety

• Leadership

• Diversity

MC • Infrastructure, plant and 

equipment

• Distribution centre

•  Assets aimed at quality, 

compliance, efficiency and 

sustainability

IC • Mining and prospecting licences

• Intellectual property, proprietary 

or licenced technologies

• Policies, procedures and protocols

Wescoal is involved in the mining, processing, supply, sales and distribution 
of coal and coal-related products.

Financial profits Coal Mining waste CO
²
 emissions

Outputs

Trading

Sales and marketing

Management and optimisation

Mining ProcessingProcurementResearch and development

Support functionsSupply logistics
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Our strategy

Outcomes 
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FC • Energy (electricity) and economic 

development

• Shareholder value

• Contractor and enterprise 

development

• Arbitrage

• Divestment in coal assets

• Investor pressure on fossil 

fuels

• Economic trading conditions

• Mine rehabilitation costs

• Secured R1.1 billion debt facilities enabling 

access to capital

• Invested in and ongoing contributions to 

environmental rehabilitation investments, 

as well as the proceeds on the sale of 

assets at the time of mine closure

• Progressed development of Moabsvelden

SRC • Government and industry 

relationships

• Eskom relationship

• Local economic development 

(“LED”)

•  Community skills development 

and upliftment

•  Housing, farming projects and 

community infrastructure

• Loss of community agri 

economy

• Managing air, dust and noise 

pollution

• LTIFR 0.38

• HDSA 88%

• R4.8 million training spend

• R6.5 million spent on community housing 

and farming projects

NC • Rehabilitated land

• Emissions avoidance and 

mitigation

• Brownfield development

• Reduced water consumption

• CO
²
 emissions and climate 

change

• Finite natural resources

• Waste, air quality and land 

contamination

• Consistent measurement and monitoring 

of environmental impact

• R32.6 million spent on environmental 

protection

HC • Jobs

• Skilled workforce

• Safe working environments

• Strong leadership team

• Commercial expertise

• Employee and skills retention • Senior leadership team expanded 

and strengthened with commercial 

and corporate transactional skills

MC • Sustainable mining operations

• Expansion projects

• Processing optimisation

• Asset optimisation

• Quality and standards

• Infrastructure costs • Extension of Vanggatfontein pit 5 and 

Khanyisa Triangle pit 2

• Expansion via Moabsvelden 

• Recapitalisation of existing coal face 

availability at Vanggatfontein and 

Elandspruit

IC • Eskom contracts

• Mining rights

• Mine plans

• Retaining highly skilled and 

experienced resources

• New 10-year CSA for Moabsvelden

• Optimised mine plans include access to 

multiple coal seams and lower strip ratios 

for both Elandspruit and Vanggatfontein 

Our six capitals are:

FC  Financial capital

SRC Social and relationship capital

NC  Natural capital

HC  Human capital

MC  Manufactured capital

IC  Intellectual capital



32 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Industry impact profile

Environmental Social

Land and biodiversity 
Land and biodiversity are finite resources which are impacted 

by coal mining operations. 

Water and air
Water is an essential natural capital input in the Wescoal 

business model and a scarce natural resource for South Africa. 

Coal mining dust can degrade air quality in areas surrounding 

the mines causing damage to crops, vegetation, workers and 

communities.

Energy
The business of coal mining requires significant energy inputs, 

generally in the form of electricity and diesel fuel. 

Carbon
Climate change is a serious issue for our planet and coal-based 

energy is a significant contributor to current CO
2
 emissions 

levels and global warming.

People
A mining workforce is exposed to health and safety risks. Corporate citizens 

in South Africa have a moral and legal duty 

to address the important issues of equality and transformation in the 

workplace. 

Communities
Communities can suffer environmental, social and economic impacts from 

mining activities. 

Value chain
Significant environmental and social impacts including CO

2
 emissions exist 

outside of a coal mining company’s boundary 

of control.

Stakeholders
Various stakeholders are impacted and affected by a coal mining company’s 

decisions and activities. These same stakeholders can influence a company’s 

potential to achieve its strategic objectives.

Our impact response

Environmental Social

Land and biodiversity
Our activities are directed at reducing damage to soil, land, 

landscapes, biodiversity and natural habitats.

Water and air
We are committed to reducing relative water consumption, 

maximising reuse and preventing water and air pollution and 

water contamination from operations.

Energy
Energy efficiency and carbon emissions are important 

management issues for Wescoal, particularly as we look 

towards a responsible leadership role in the industry.

Carbon
Wescoal acknowledges that it has a leadership role to play, 

both in terms of limiting emissions from operations and in 

terms of influencing and collaborating towards a low-carbon 

growth economy.

People
Our duty is to act in a responsible leadership role, to value, protect and 

nurture our people and to partner with them on 

a journey of personal and sustainable development.

Communities
We prioritise our social licence to operate, by maintaining and developing the 

resources and livelihoods of mining communities. We do this through SLPs, 

skills development and supplier development and localisation programmes. 

Value chain
Wescoal has a growing sense of duty to engage and exert influence on 

our customers and suppliers to reduce and mitigate ESG impacts, and to 

collaborate with them towards sustainable and alternative business models. 

Stakeholders
Stakeholder engagement provides opportunities for us to align business 

practices with societal needs and expectations, helping to drive long-term 

sustainability and shareholder value. We are continuously targeting a more 

responsive and authentic engagement process.

Value creation
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Our strategyGovernance

Corporate governance
By not developing (or performing against) a strategy that is 

relevant and in line with current and emerging investor and 

stakeholder requirements, mining companies are likely to fail 

in the delivery of shared value. 

Ethical and responsible leadership
Insufficient focus on ESG and ethical leadership can undermine 

a company’s strategy and reputation and create risks that have 

significant impacts on shareholder and stakeholder value. 

Regulatory compliance
The mining industry in South Africa is a regulatory-intensive 

business environment, and failure to comply with regulations 

can significantly impact business continuity and our social 

licence to operate. Industry standards and benchmarks are 

also an important enabler, or destroyer of reputation, investor 

confidence and equity.

Governance

Corporate governance
We believe that good corporate governance helps to build an 

environment of trust, transparency and accountability, which is 

necessary for fostering long-term investment, financial stability 

and business integrity, stronger growth and inclusive societies. 

Ethical and responsible leadership
Through the board, our social and ethics committee and our 

executive, we are driving policies, practices and accountability 

with ethical and responsible standards.

Regulatory compliance
Wescoal has developed a comprehensive knowledge of industry 

compliance and we prioritise compliance management across 

the organisation. Our leadership objectives mean that we 

must increasingly align with stakeholder requirements and 

expectations, including alignment with third-party standards 

and frameworks. 

Wescoal value creation
FC  Financial capital SRC Social and relationship capital

Energy (electricity) and 

economic development

Shareholder value

Contractor and enterprise 

development

Arbitrage

LED

 Community skills 

development and upliftment

 Housing, farming projects and 

community infrastructure

NC  Natural capital HC  Human capital

Rehabilitated land

 Emissions avoidance and 

mitigation

Brownfield development

 Reduced water consumption

Jobs

Skilled workforce

 Safe working environments

Strong leadership team

Commercial expertise

MC  Manufactured capital IC  Intellectual capital

 Sustainable mining operations

Expansion projects

Processing optimisation

Asset optimisation

Quality and standards

Eskom contracts

Mining rights

Mine plans
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Material issues

Our ESG strategy development approach included a materiality process which identified and prioritised risks and material issues 

for Wescoal. This process considered the extent to which a) issues may impact the organisation’s ability to create economic, 

environmental, and social value, and b) have an influence on the assessments and decisions of key stakeholders.

An initial survey and workshop process delivered outputs that were then incorporated into the ESG strategy. Further surveys and 

updates have since helped to stress-test the initial findings, galvanising executive support and participation around ESG.

Our people

Workforce health and 

safety; labour relations; 

skills development

Environmental 
sustainability 

Mine rehabilitation 

liabilities; supply 

chain sustainability 

and standards; 

ESG regulatory 

impacts and risk 

management; carbon 

emissions and 

climate change

Social impact

Social licence 

to operate; local 

community impacts; 

B-BBEE, supplier 

development and 

localisation

Strategy and 
business model

Positioning and 

integrating the long-

term vision; agility 

with accountability; 

key customer 

dependence

Operational 
execution

Contractor 

management and 

accountability; 

operational 

efficiencies and 

asset optimisation; 

fraud and corruption; 

funding, HDSA 

ownership and 

capital structure



OUR
PERFORMANCE
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Chief executive officer’s report

Challenges faced by our principal customer, Eskom, the 

country's number-one energy supplier, included lower demand 

for power which resulted in lower than expected sales and 

added pressure on cash flows. With this challenging climate as 

the economic backdrop, our focus was to stabilise operations 

and optimise efficiencies in both the Mining and Trading 

divisions. 

The health and safety of all our employees, contractors and 

our local communities remained our top priority. Our health 

and safety strategy focused on prevention, diagnosis and 

management of diseases, and that also applied to our response 

to the COVID-19 pandemic. Over this period, we extended 

our efforts by taking an active role at the forefront in the 

fight against COVID-19 within the communities to prevent 

contagion. The company secured facilities for quarantine 

for our employees who could not self-isolate. The presence 

of Wescoal Mining was felt by the communities as we 

deployed meaningful resources to roll-out the COVID-19 relief 

programme throughout the areas where we operate, providing 

food, medical equipment and testing facilities.

Financial results summary
Wescoal recorded a 2.4% increase in revenue to R3.903 billion 

(FY20: R3.810 billion), while cost of sales increased by 0.4% to 

R3.491 billion (FY20: R3.477 billion). The increase in own sales 

volumes in the current year has resulted in an increase of 32% 

in gross profit to R411 million (FY20: R333 million) and gross 

profit percentage has increased by 22% to 11%.

The operating profit increased to R135 million (FY20: R3 million 

operating loss), which is net of depreciation and amortisation 

of R415 million (FY20: R334 million) and an impairment loss of 

R21 million which has been recognised on the goodwill which 

originated from the Trading segment in the current year. The 

increase in depreciation is reflective of significant investment 

in capex in the prior financial year as well as the increase in 

non-cash capital additions such as rehabilitation assets and 

right-of-use assets. 
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Wescoal is transitioning towards 
minerals and energy diversification 
to meet the company’s long-term 
strategic objectives. ESG imperatives 
– the drivers of sustainability – are 
being integrated into our DNA through 
our commitment to mitigating
       climate change and
        contributing to a 
        low-carbon economy.

Robinson Ramaite | Interim chief executive officer

2.4%
increase in revenue to 

R3.903 billion 
(FY20: R3.810 billion)

Cost of sales increased by

0.4% to 
R3.491 billion 
(FY20: R3.477 billion)
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Our perform
ance

The company delivered a satisfactory EBITDA of R569 million 

(FY20: R332 million) which is reflective of the impressive ROM 

production, strong operational performance, improved sales 

and realised cost-saving initiatives. The company noted that 

the EBITDA performance has been the strongest in the past 

five years. 

Headline earnings per ordinary share were recorded at 

2.87 cents per share (FY20: 32.67 cents loss per share). 

Refer to the CFO’s report on  page 40 and the annual financial 

statements on  pages 140 to 230 for further detail. 

Executive movement
Mr Izak van der Walt, CFO, left in August 2020 having 

completed his three-year contract term with Wescoal. 

Ms Jubilant Speckman was appointed as interim CFO and as 

CFO effective 1 February 2021. The group’s CEO and executive 

board member, Mr Reginald Demana, resigned in January 2021, 

effective 31 March 2021, at which time I accepted the position 

as interim group CEO with effect from 15 March 2021 after 

being nominated by the disinterested members of the board 

(in line with the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation). 

The appointment of a permanent CEO will be effected through 

the company’s detailed procedures and on recommendation of 

the nomination committee in due course.  

Wescoal has demonstrated agility in the manner in which 

the organisation adapts to change, with resilience and strong 

governance being key components in addressing the demands 

of the transformation strategy. The board undertook a process 

of restructuring that saw Ms Kabela Maroga step down as 

chairperson and member of the audit, risk and compliance 

committee with effect from 31 March 2021. Ms Zukie Siyotula, 

a current member of the committee and lead independent 

non-executive director, was appointed to the position. The 

committee now comprises three independent non-executive 

directors, namely Ms Siyotula (chairperson), Ms Nomavuso 

Mnxasana and Mr Andile Mabizela.

Ms Siyotula stepped down as chairperson of the project 

and investment committee with effect from 31 March 2021 

but remains a member. The board appointed Ms Maroga 

as chairperson of the committee and it now comprises the 

following members: Dr Mathe (non-executive director), 

Ms Siyotula (lead independent non-executive director), 

Mr Maswanganyi (non-executive director) the interim group 

CEO, Mr Ramaite (ex officio), and the CFO, Ms Speckman 

(ex officio).

Mining operations
A solid operational performance in FY21 resulted in steady coal 

production across all the operations within the group. This was 

supplemented with first coal from Moabsvelden which helped 

the group record its highest annual production of 7.7mt of ROM 

in FY21. The 28% increase in production compared to the prior 

period is the result of significant investments that have been 

made into the operations in the recent past, and a substantial 

reduction in interruptions at the operations during the current 

year which had affected production performance in prior years. 

Trading operations
Trading sales volumes remained under pressure in a tough 

trading environment that started with the initial COVID-19 

lockdown. As a result, the Trading business saw its total 

sales volumes decrease by 12% from 759kt in FY20 to 

668kt in FY21. In the second half of FY21, a structural 

operational review was undertaken and a S189 process was 

followed resulting in headcount reductions and operational 

efficiencies.

Labour relations 
We have actively set up a bargaining forum with employee 

representatives in our Mining business and this has enabled 

us to finalise the FY22 salary negotiations without any work 

stoppages. The Wescoal bargaining forum has become a 

central partnership platform in ensuring that our employees 

are properly represented and their voices are clearly heard. 

Sales volumes increase of 

32%
in gross profit to 

R411 million
(FY20: R333 million)

EBITDA 

R569 million
(FY20: R332 million)

Headline earnings per 
ordinary share

2.87 cents 
per share
(FY20: 32.67 cents loss
per share)

Operating profit increased to 

R135 million 
(FY20: R3 million operating 

loss)
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Building trust
The interaction with all our stakeholders (refer to  page 59 

for further detail on stakeholder engagement), is characterised 

by transparent and regular communication to maintain trust. 

We have established specialist teams as subject matter experts 

to interact with stakeholders as explained in detail in the 

corporate social investment (“CSI”) section of this report on 

 pages 56 and 57.

This strategic approach is in line with changing socio-economic 

and regulatory demands that espouse the ESG business 

imperative. In this manner, the company actively works to 

anticipate and address issues that could impede the company’s 

mission in the context of its responsibilities as a solid corporate 

citizen. One priority in this process is gender equality and 

inclusivity which is being successfully addressed at all levels of 

the organisation. 

Funder and shareholder lenses
We identify our CSI material issues by conducting our internal 

enterprise-wide risk management analyses and by referring 

to sources such as the Principle of Materiality in the GRI 

Standards. In the analyses, education is a key component of the 

company’s CSI policy with assistance provided at all levels for 

the development of our human capital pipeline. 

Farming projects, from pecan nuts to vegetables, are 

established for local communities. (refer to  pages 56 and 57 

for further details). 

Strategy for growth
Impressively, Wescoal has progressed from a company 

trading coal to one currently producing and supplying around 

10mt of thermal coal a year to Eskom. EBITDA increased 

to R569 million (FY20: R322 million) which is the highest 

achievement in the past five years. Notwithstanding an 

excellent EBITDA and an underlying net present value of 

close to R3 billion, market capitalisation is lagging at around 

R500 million. In FY21, we initiated a cost-saving programme 

to review all cost elements. This programme will continue to 

be implemented ensuring that these costs are sustainably 

eliminated from the business without compromising our 

transformation agenda.

Wescoal is transitioning towards minerals and energy 

diversification to meet the company’s long-term strategic 

objectives. ESG imperatives – the drivers of sustainability

 – are being integrated into our DNA through our commitment 

to mitigating climate change and contributing to a low-carbon 

economy. We state our commitment clearly in the strategy and 

performance section of this report (refer to  pages 29 to 44). 

Chief executive officer’s report continued
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The company is driven to act as a 
steward of the natural environment and 
to uplift employees and communities 
impacted by the company’s business 
activities. 

The developmental phase of our ESG strategy is complete and 

the integration phase is on track for finalisation in July 2021. 

The platforms built will now enable performance measurement 

and accurate reporting on progress on all the identified 

KPAs, 11 themes and related KPIs which have been defined 

in the integration phase of the ESG strategy programme. 

The development of a purpose-specific ESG Barometer 

will facilitate scientific measurement and a more in-depth 

analysis, along with the ability to refine long-term goals and 

sustainability.

Wescoal's primary objective is to play a leading role in 

delivering a reliable energy source in a manner that is 

sustainable and adds transformational value to society. The 

current strategic priorities remain to optimise our operations 

following ramp-up and stabilisation during H2 FY20 and 

ultimately to scale-up primarily through the development of 

organic opportunities.

The past year’s performance was a testament to our resolve 

to focus on stability, sustainability and scalability. While the 

economy is starting to show slow signs of recovery, concerns 

remain as the country navigates through a third wave of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. 

I compliment the executive team on the handling of the 

challenges presented. A special vote of appreciation goes to 

the team that kept and continues to keep our employees safe 

as the country battles with the COVID-19 pandemic. I thank the 

board for driving the company’s transformational processes 

and Wescoal employees who have carried us through the past 

12 months. 

Robinson Ramaite

Interim chief executive officer

30 July 2021
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Jubilant Speckman | Chief financial officer

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, It became clear that we had 

to strategically focus on factors that were within our control 

in order to limit the negative impact on our results to an 

acceptable level. These factors included cost containment and 

ensuring that operations were stable and able to maintain 

acceptable production levels.

Although below our targets, higher sales volumes of 7.9mt 

(FY20: 6.3mt) resulted in higher revenue of R3.9 billion 

(FY20: R3.8 billion). The significant improvement in ROM 

production contributed to narrowing the net loss to R36 million 

for the year compared to the prior year loss of R137 million. 

The group generated EBITDA of R569 million for the full year 

compared to R331 million in the prior year. This is a significant 

improvement and is also a record EBITDA performance for 

the past five years. Main aspects that contributed to the net 

loss position include the high depreciation and amortisation 

of R415 million (FY20: R334 million) which is inclusive of 

a R21 million impairment in trading goodwill and a higher 

finance cost of R154 million (FY20: R129 million).

The Mining division’s sales volumes at 7.2000t (FY20: 5.5kt) 

increased by 30% mainly due to higher sales volumes at 

Moabsvelden as a result of full-year sales. Sales volumes at 

Moabsvelden were rectification sales with actual production 

sales commencing only in the last month of the financial 

year. Elandspruit and Vanggatfontein also contributed to the 

overall increase in sales volumes by achieving additional sales 

volumes of 17% and 11%, respectively.

Chief financial officer’s report

COVID-19, lockdown regulations 
and Eskom’s force majeure notices 
created significant uncertainty 
regarding the potential impact on 
the targets for FY21. 

Salient features
Improved financial 

results under the current 

economic climate

Impressive cash 

generation

Higher sales volumes of 

7.9mt
(FY20: 6.3mt)

Revenue of 

R3.9 billion 
(FY20: R3.8 billion)
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ance

update pic

Prior year capital 

investment resulted in 

improved production

Positive net cash 

position

Mining division’s sales 
volumes increased by

30% to

7.2mt
(FY20: 5.5mt)

Net loss 

R36 million
(FY20: R137 million)

Cash generated from operations 

R773 million
(FY20: R183 million)

The Trading division’s sales were 12% lower than the prior year 

at 668 000t due to lower offtake by a major customer mainly 

as a result of COVID-19. The lower international sales prices 

experienced in the prior year and export constraints continued 

to have an impact in the current year. The reduction in the 

volumes for Trading have resulted in:

• an impairment of R21 million to the goodwill; and

• lower overall realised sales prices per tonne for the group 

as trading prices are higher than those of mining (trading 

material has higher energy content than mining).

Although we reported a net loss, the cash generated in 

the group increased significantly by 322% to R773 million 

(FY20: R183 million). With the cash generated, the group 

was able to make two capital repayments towards its term 

loan to the value of R76 million (FY20: Rnil) and invest 

R420 million (FY20: R433 million) in its operations. Of this 

investment, R219 million was invested in the development 

of Moabsvelden which enabled it to deliver first own coal to 

Eskom in March 2021. R139 million of the investment was at 

Vanggatfontein for the completion of the pit recapitalisation 

project (R35 million) and to complete the development of a new 

box cut for Vanggatfontein pit (R57 million) that commenced 

in the prior financial year. These investments resulted 

in significant improvement in the production capacity at 

Vanggatfontein Mine.
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Chief financial officer’s report continued

Capital allocation
Net debt decreased to R1.022 million (FY20: R1.240 million), 

which, in turn, decreased the gearing ratio to 55% (FY20: 58%). 

During the current financial year, two quarterly repayments 

were made towards the term loan and two quarterly 

instalments were waived by the lenders following an 

application process by Wescoal which was driven by the low 

sales offtake primarily due to COVID-19. Clients that were in 

good standing prior to the COVID-19 impact were considered 

for the application without negatively impacting their credit 

rating (D3 restructure). 

Quarterly capital repayments towards the maturing term loan 

resumed on 30 June 2021. As at the end of the financial year 

31 March 2021, Wescoal comfortably met all of its financial 

covenants but unfortunately had two general and information 

undertakings in the lending arrangements that were not met. 

Although the lending arrangement amendments have not 

yet been signed as at the date of reporting, the lenders have 

subsequently obtained their credit approval to extend fulfilment 

of the conditions to the FY22 financial year. Due to this debt 

condition breach, the group has reclassified R812.9 million of 

non-current debt to current in line with IFRS requirements. 

The net asset value per share remained fairly consistent 

with the prior year at 207 cents per share (FY20: 211 cents 

per share).

The maturing term loan and revolving credit facility were both 

fully utilised by year-end and the general banking facility was 

the only facility which had headroom. Remaining development 

of Moabsvelden and significantly lower capital requirements 

for the ensuing financial year will be funded from internally 

generated funds from the operations. 

Capital allocation priorities for FY22 are:

Completion of Moabsvelden development;

Subscriptions into Arnot to support the restart of the 

operation;

Support sustaining capital requirements of the operations;

Debt capital repayments; and

Shareholder return through growth and dividends.



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

43

Our perform
ance

Key priorities are the completion of the Moabsvelden 

development, maintain consistent performance from all the 

operations and to also maintain cash generation in line with 

the FY21.

Moabsvelden
In the prior year, the minority shareholding of 26% was 

acquired by Wescoal and the remaining R17 million payment 

towards this acquisition was made in the first half of the 

current financial year. There has been significant progress on the 

development of Moabsvelden which enabled the operation to deliver 

first coal to Eskom in March 2021. 

Arnot
Subsequent to year-end, the group has fully subscribed into Arnot in 

line with its subscription commitments. The subscription will support 

the development of the operation in order to ensure that Arnot is able 

to restart production in H2 FY22. 

Dividends 
After careful consideration of the financial position, the performance 

of the group, lenders constraints and macroeconomic conditions, the 

board resolved not to declare a final dividend for FY21. The board 

remains committed to delivering shareholder value and is currently 

prioritising capital allocation to the repayment of debt and ensuring 

the completion and ramp up of the development of the Moabsvelden 

Project.

Overall, it was a year which commenced with a lot of uncertainties 

before slowly stabilising in the second half of the financial year. The 

combination of outstanding production performance from all our 

operations and the reduced offtake of volumes by Eskom due to the 

COVID-19 impact resulted in a significant increase in our stockpiles 

across all the operations. Although this did initially have a negative 

impact on cash flow, the stockpiles enabled all the operations to 

maintain sales and cash generation during the rainy season and 

December closure period. Remaining volumes continue to form part 

of the strategic stockpiles for the next rainy season.

Jubilant Speckman

Chief financial officer

30 July 2021
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The environmental pillar looks at our stewardship of our 

natural resource inputs and the effect of our operations on 

the environment, both in our direct operations and across 

our supply chains. Themes in this pillar encompass our 

stewardship of land, soil and biodiversity; water and air usage, 

pollution and rehabilitation; energy use, sources and carbon 

management. Climate change is an important additional 

environmental theme. 

Wescoal’s environmental team has made large strides in 

improving and determining what environmental performance 

looks like for the organisation. 

The environmental pillar of our ESG 
strategy considers how we perform 
as a steward of the physical 
environment.

Environmental



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

45

Our perform
ance

Wescoal has adopted the use of Veriport, an emissions software 

program, that helps to accurately track our greenhouse gas 

data to manage and reduce our emissions. An environmental 

risk register was developed as part of the business risk matrix 

and appetite projects. Lastly, Wescoal has started developing 

a comprehensive environmental management system, which 

will allow us to get certified in the medium to long term.

Wescoal has a health, safety and environmental (“HSE”) policy 

that is being updated as part of the ESG project, which includes 

separating health and safety and environmental policies. The 

policy is currently in a draft stage and is expected to be in place 

by the third quarter of FY22. 

No environmental policy, audit and risk assessment was 

conducted in FY21.

The only environmental incident during the year involved 

processes that took place at Khanyisa and Elandspruit. Each 

had pollution control dam (“PCD”) overflows due to extreme 

rainfall in December 2020. The incidents were reported to the 

Department of Water and Sanitation as per section 19 of the 

National Water Act. 

No significant fines were received for non-compliance with any 

environmental laws or regulations during the year. 

Wescoal is currently not recycling any materials and no fines or 

directives were received. 

Land and biodiversity               
We value and aim to protect land and 
biodiversity by limiting impacts and 
rehabilitating natural resources.
We will do this by focusing on conservation and rehabilitation.

Wescoal operations are working within the confines of 

the authorisations in terms of biodiversity. We adhere to 

the wetland and ecological buffers set out in our various 

integrated IWULs. 

Conservation 
Land and biodiversity are finite resources, which are impacted 

by coal mining operations. Wescoal undertakes to value 

and protect land and biodiversity by limiting impacts and 

rehabilitating natural resources. Our activities are directed 

at reducing damage to soil, land, landscapes, biodiversity 

and natural habitats. “Red listed” biodiversity species should 

be protected. Elandspruit has the African bullfrog in the pan 

adjacent to the operations. The only other biodiversity areas 

in proximity to Wescoal’s operations are the wetlands and 

pans at Vanggatfontein and Elandspruit. By applying good 

principles and practices during and after mining, operations 

can significantly reduce the impacts of coal mining. 

Results 

Wescoal conducted a contaminated land assessment in line 

with the National Environmental Management Waste Act, 

59 of 2008 

Waste disposal
Wescoal is developing waste policies that will inform landfill 

and hazardous waste targets for reduction and community 

collaboration plans regarding waste handling. 

Waste Tonnes 

Wescoal Mining  

Hazardous waste 206.59 

General 172.19 

Total 378.78 

Vanggatfontein

General 57.85 

Hazardous 223.78 

Total 281.63 

Moabsvelden 8.12 

Hazardous 10

Total 18.12

Rehabilitation 
Soil contamination should be minimised, and land should 

be rehabilitated to the greatest extent possible concurrently 

during mining operations and following mine closure. By setting 

and managing targets around waste recycling, concurrent 

rehabilitation and soil contamination, we reduce impacts and 

minimise financial and natural capital liabilities associated with 

final rehabilitation. Financial provisions for rehabilitation are a 

material issue that require ongoing evaluation and management. 

Rehabilitation performance: The mines have increased focus on 

addressing rehabilitation backlogs. This was achieved through 

collaboration with community companies to focus on legacy pits. 

The undertaking included Elandspruit’s rehabilitation project 

that moved 283 000bcm and will be duplicated at Khanyisa and 

Vanggatfontein in this financial year. The areas that are ready 

for final rehabilitation will be targeted this year. A skills transfer 

project assists community companies to provide the technical 

expertise required for final rehabilitation, topsoiling, amelioration 

of the soils and indigenous seeding to meet environmental 

management plan (“EMP”) commitments. 

A rehabilitation policy with concurrent rehabilitation volume 

targets and a plan to achieve such is also being developed. 

This will include improved contractor accountability regarding 

rehabilitation and avoidance of large end of mine life impacts on 

water and soil.
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The mines have increased focus on backfilling legacy pits and 

revegetating any and all available land to the conditions set out 

in the various EMPs. The key improvement is that each mine 

has been allocated funds to rehabilitate legacy pits. Wescoal 

has also started collaboration with neighbouring mines in our 

rehabilitation efforts. 

Wescoal conducts a closure cost estimate biannually to ascertain 

the progress made in terms of rehabilitation. 

Water and air                            
Wescoal is committed to valuing and 
protecting water resources and air 
quality as well as reducing relative 
water consumption, maximising 
water reuse, preventing water and air 
pollution and water contamination 
from operations.

We do this by focusing on water efficiency, water quality and 

air quality.

Some grievances were addressed by a neighbour of the 

Khanyisa operation that accused Wescoal of damaging the 

borehole on their property due to blasting activities. The 

mine provided water to the neighbour while conducting its 

investigation. The investigation, including water and seismograph 

reports, was concluded and Wescoal was exonerated by Letsolo 

and Amber Earth. The neighbour went to Witbank News to 

complain, and Wescoal provided comments to the newspaper. 

No feedback has been received yet.

Water effi  ciency 
Water is an essential natural capital input in the Wescoal 

business model and a scarce natural resource for South 

Africa. The coal washing process consumes large amounts of 

water and can cause contamination. Measuring and managing 

Scope 3 emissions from water consumption helps us to manage 

volumes, as does the tracking of relative use of water against 

coal production volumes. We have water conservation and 

demand management plans in place, which are underpinned by 

financial budgets.

Water use from boreholes and pit dewatering:

• FY20: 3 386 453.4m3

• FY21: 3 396 754.8m3

A comprehensive water management policy guiding site-

specific water conservation and demand management plans 

and stormwater management plans has been developed for 

implementation.

As mentioned, there were three PCD overflows at Khanyisa, 

Elandspruit and Goedehoop processing. The overflows were 

a result of over 100mℓ rainfall over 24 hours for several days. 

The incidents were reported to the Department of Water and 

Sanitation in accordance with section 19 of the National Water 

Act, and the department acknowledged the reports for all 

operations. 

Water quality 
Failure to maintain PCDs can result in water and land 

contamination. We drive excellence in practices that are aimed 

at avoiding water contamination such as mine water effluent 

and seepage and PCD capacity management and maintenance. 

This requires the allocation of budgets for proactive interventions 

and the tracking of critical incidents such as pollution pools and 

PCD failures.
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Water licence quality parameters adherence results: The mines 

continue to conduct water quality monitoring as per the IWUL 

conditions. Exceedances are investigated and action plans are 

put in place to mitigate incidents. 

Air quality 
Coal mining dust can degrade air quality in areas surrounding 

the mines causing damage to crops and vegetation as well 

as affecting the health of workers and communities. Dust 

suppression practices are standard in our operations and dust 

fallout rates are continuously monitored and managed.

The mining activities that generate dust are coal mining, 

beneficiation (crush and screen) hauling and transportation.

Wescoal reports on greenhouse gas emissions from the 

following activities (classified according to the Intergovernmental  

Panel on Climate Change Code specified in the National 

Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting Regulations): 

• 1A2 i mining and quarrying: diesel combusted in stationary 

equipment;

• 1B1a i coal mining and handling: fugitive emissions from 

underground mines; and

• 1B1a ii coal mining and handling: fugitive emissions from 

opencast mines.

Mitigation measures 

Only mitigation measures associated with reducing emissions 

from diesel combusted in stationary equipment are available to 

Wescoal. No provision is available for reducing fugitive methane 

emissions in coal mining as such technologies are not available 

in South Africa. Furthermore, the calculation methodology for 

emissions from underground mining, as prescribed by the 

technical guidelines, is based on a fixed emissions factor and 

will therefore not recognise any intervention. The only means by 

which Wescoal can reduce its emissions from underground coal 

mining is to reduce the ROM coal which is not an economically 

feasible option. 

Dust fallout is assessed in compliance with the National Dust 

Control Regulations GN827. Wescoal currently manages dust 

fallout through dust suppression of all the pits, stockpile 

and loading areas and the haul road. We try to safeguard 

no exceedance of the South African National Dust Control 

Regulations’ non-residential limit of 1 200mg/m2/day and 

residential limit of 600mg/m2/day. The water used for dust 

suppression is pumped recycled water from our opencast and 

underground pits.

Wescoal had a few exceedances (dust fallout events) in the 

past financial year. The mines will continue conducting dust 

suppression as and when necessary to limit the amount of dust 

generated on haul roads. This includes maintaining the roads to 

reduce dust generation and mixing water with an environment-

friendly dusticide product to ensure that less water is used and 

that dust particles settle on the ground for longer compared to 

using water only.

Energy                                       
We intend playing a leadership role in 
our economy by using and promoting 
efficient, reliable and sustainable 
energy resources.

We believe that by continuously developing and sharing 

Wescoal's position on the future of energy in South Africa, 

we can lead discussions, collaborate and maintain our relevance 

for investors and other key stakeholders. Our strategic focus 

is to provide reliable energy in a responsible manner in the 
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short to medium term, while shifting our long-term intentions 

towards energy and minerals diversification, as energy efficiency 

and carbon emissions are important management issues 

for Wescoal, particularly as we look towards a responsible 

leadership role in the industry.

Energy effi  ciency 
The business of coal mining requires significant energy inputs. 

Grid electricity is the predominant source of energy for Wescoal 

with diesel fuel making up the balance. We are reducing relative 

energy consumption by driving good practices and efficiency 

projects. We plan to enter tariff and zoning negotiations with 

Eskom where we will look to rezone from agricultural tariffs to 

industrial tariffs.

Our greenhouse gas reporting activities help us to track and 

reduce energy consumption in operations (Scopes 1 and 2). 

The inclusion of renewable energy sources to reduce diesel and 

electricity consumption (and associated emissions) is currently 

under consideration. 

The evolution of our ESG Barometer is aimed at tracking energy 

consumption and energy intensity to target areas for efficiency 

improvement.

Sustainable energy 
Globally, investments in (and consumption of) coal-based 

energy are in decline and we are taking steps to position the 

company for diversified opportunities that may emerge, through 

our partnerships and business model. Projects are aimed at 

optimising our energy mix (e.g. replacing diesel for electricity) or 

incorporating technology (e.g. diesel additives and local battery 

storage solutions).

Carbon                                       
Wescoal acknowledges that it has a 
leadership role to play, both in terms 
of limiting emissions from operations 
and in terms of influencing and 
collaborating towards a low-carbon 
growth economy.

Carbon management 
Our role starts with a commitment to reducing carbon emissions 

from operations and setting targets that are aligned with global 

and national expectations around sustainable development. 

Climate change is a serious issue for our planet, and coal-based 

energy is a significant contributor to current CO2 emissions 

levels and global warming. As a coal mining company, Wescoal 

is measuring and reporting on Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions 

and is in the process of including intensity metrics and setting 

science-based targets for reduction.

Environmental management costs amounted to R10.2 million 

for operational spend and capex projects such as PCDs and 

platforms at Moabsvelden amounting to R22.5 million.

Environmental continued

The total Scope 1 emissions by Wescoal Holdings are 1 157.547t total CO2e. 

Facility    Total CO2e 

Elandspruit Colliery Stationary diesel 115 930 litres 328.384 

Khanyisa Colliery Stationary diesel 24 500 litres 69.399 

Wescoal Processing Stationary diesel 12 706 litres 35.991 

Vanggatfontein Colliery Stationary diesel 198 848 litres 563.258 

Moabsvelden Colliery Stationary diesel 56 667 litres 160.515 

Scope 3 emissions tracking and analysis is under development. Our indirect emissions profile will include activities under business 

travel, purchased goods and services and waste, with deeper analysis planned around emissions from the combustion of our coal for 

electricity by customers being ring-fenced and reported as “Scope 3 Plus”.
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Climate change 
Our approach to climate change 
incorporates specific information 
around current and future 
commitments to external benchmarks 
and initiatives such as science-based 
targets or Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”) 
undertakings.

It includes a framework for emissions reductions and offsets 

which is directed at building climate resilience for our operations 

and our communities. Our climate change position paper is a 

living document that updates stakeholders on our medium- and 

long-term strategy, our plans and activities to influence and 

collaborate around a low-carbon growth economy.

Internal and external audits 
Wescoal has undertaken all required 
audits and has submitted all reports to 
the relevant government bodies.

The following audits where conducted: 

• External and internal IWUL audits; 

• EMP performance assessments – external;

• GN704 audits – external; and

• Internal audits for all authorisations. 

Non-conformance is captured on the HSE system IsoMetrix and 

active action plans have been submitted to the Department of 

Water and Sanitation. 
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The social pillar of our ESG strategy 
focuses on our relationships with 
our workforce, the communities 
in which we operate, our value 
chain and all stakeholders in 
our value chain, ensuring that 
all stakeholders’ interests are 
taken into account and addressed 
optimally.

Social
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Total number of new employees hired during the reporting 

period:

Age group Male Female Total

Gauteng

26 – 30 years 2 – 2

41 – 45 years 0 1 1

51 – 55 years – 1 1

Mpumalanga

20 – 25 years 4 7 11

26 – 30 years 9 17 26

31 – 35 years 4 3 7

36 – 40 years 3 3 6

41 – 45 years 1 2 3

46 – 50 years 2 1 3

51 – 55 years – – –

56 – 60 years 0 1 1

Human resources key focus areas
All human resources policies and procedures are being 

reviewed and refreshed with a view to promoting sound 

labour relations and the maintenance of industrial peace 

and prosperity across subsidiaries. In pursuit of this, we 

are committed to the fair and equitable treatment of all our 

employees and will not tolerate victimisation or intimidation. 

There were zero instances of discrimination reported during 

the year.

The National Union of Mine Workers (“NUMSA”) is the newly 

recognised majority union for Wescoal’s Mining division. For 

any operational changes, we apply the provisions of the Labour 

Relations Act, 66 of 1995, code of good practice in relation to 

notices. We currently only have a recognition agreement with 

our majority union, NUMSA, and our collective agreement 

is limited to substantive issues. At Wescoal Mining, 45% of 

the workforce is represented by a union and/or collective 

bargaining agreement. 

The organisational structure and employee capabilities will be 

reviewed and aligned to embed a performance management 

culture. There is a continual focus on legislative and regulatory 

compliance in line with changes taking place and the company 

will reinvigorate its programme to build strong relationships 

with host communities.

In addition, we are developing the following:

• A company talent board for talent retention focus (with the 

intention of expansion to long-term career development 

goals);

• Long-term incentives development (executives retention);

• Life-threatening disease policy development (COVID-19 

response and other life-threatening diseases);

Our people                                
Our people are critical to the delivery of 
shareholder and stakeholder value. 

Wescoal continues to maintain a valuable, collaborative and 

value-driven workforce by providing safe, rewarding and 

connected work experiences.

As a mining company we understand that our people are 

exposed to health and safety risks and that by providing 

standards, guidance and support, we are investing in long-term 

value-driven partnerships. 

Our duty is to act in a responsible leadership role, to value, 

protect and nurture our people and to partner with them on a 

journey of personal and sustainable development. This extends 

beyond the boundary of employment to our important mining 

contractor stakeholders – the extension of our workforce family 

is an enabling part of our ESG strategy. 

We are proud of our policies, positions and track records 

around human rights, health and safety and our ability to 

deliver targets safely is an important high-level indicator of 

value creation.

Wescoal has transformed to become a black-owned and 

black-run company that is attracting quality leadership 

and a capable workforce, with women increasingly well 

represented in every aspect of the company’s activities.

We have clear objectives relating to employee and supplier 

development, which are guided by our skills, training and 

supplier development and localisation programmes. Our 

intention is to build and retain top industry resources 

through the provision of the individual employment 

experience.

Wescoal’s business model has a strong emphasis on mining 

contractors and the success of this model is linked to our 

ability to maintain healthy and responsive engagement 

platforms. These relationships are a powerful enabler of our 

ESG strategy.

Results
• B-BBEE scorecard

• 3.1% of total payroll spent on training

• Workplace skills development matrix performance

• Basic benefits package given to all Wescoal employees
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• A training and development policy aligned to our long-term 

strategy – linked to retention and succession planning 

and inclusion of communities and future-focused skills 

development; and

• The addition of an employee value proposition and retention 

focus to remuneration and HR policies. In the longer 

term (more than one year) we will focus on inclusion of 

contractors in retention plans.

Transformation and the workforce
As a corporate citizen in South Africa, we have a moral and 

legal duty to address the important issues of equality and 

transformation in the workplace.

Our duty is to act in a responsible leadership role, to value, 

protect and nurture our people and to collaborate with them 

on a journey of personal and sustainable development. 

Wescoal has made great strides in implementing its five-year 

employment equity plan initiated in 2016, with transformation 

taking place across all levels. This includes recruitment, 

retention and development of management and employees.

The company continues to focus on gender balance with the 

overall management of HDSA representation exceeding the Mining 

Charter target with actual representation standing at 88%.

Employment equity initiatives
Wescoal has transformed to become a black-owned and 

black-run company that is attracting quality leadership and a 

capable workforce. Women are increasingly well represented 

in every aspect of the company’s activities. Our policies and 

practices specifically prohibit any form of discrimination. Equal 

opportunity is a foundational principle of the recruitment and 

selection practices.

Following a restructuring in FY19, effective January 2020, 

the group’s employment equity plan has been revised with 

new targets. Progress on the new plan is being monitored on 

a quarterly basis. The total Wescoal staff complement is set 

out below:

Employee training and development 
programmes
Wescoal continues to focus on development of its employees 

through a formal individual development programme.

We have clear objectives relating to employee and supplier 

development, which are guided by our skills, training and 

supplier development and localisation programmes. HR is 

responsible for skills development and training throughout 

the company. Our intention is to build and retain top industry 

resources through the provision of the individual employment 

experience. Due to lockdown restrictions, Wescoal’s training 

spend for the year amounted to R4.8 million. 

In terms of regulation 42(1)(a) of the MPRDA, Wescoal has SLPs 

in place at its mining operations. Internal skills development 

programmes that took place included training on compliance, 

adult basic education training, operator training, National 

Certificate Business Administration, National Certificate IT Tech 

Support, executive development programme, ethics officer, risk 

management and Mining Charter.

Graduate development programmes covered internships, 

P1 and P2 and apprenticeships with participants placed at 

various Wescoal operations in minimum two-year programmes.

Ten learners with disabilities were engaged through our 

training and development programme that is monitored 

by an employment equity, training and development forum 

which sits at least once a quarter to monitor progress against 

employment equity, training and development targets. 

Average hours employees training is set out below:

Job grade

Number of people Total

hoursFemale Male

A 18 16 272

B 22 19 328

C 17 14 248

D 3 4 56

Percentage of total employees who receive regular 

performance and career development reviews:

Job grade Total Total (%)*

D 24 11.2

E 12 5.6

F 5 2.3

* Calculated as number of people/total employees.

Employment equity

Total employees

African

White

   

   22
9

2

Coloured

Indian

181
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Mining contractors 
Our duty is to act in a responsible leadership role, to value, 

protect and nurture our people and to partner with them on a 

journey of personal and sustainable development. This extends 

beyond the boundary of employment to our important mining 

contractor stakeholders – the extension of our workforce family 

and enabling participation in our ESG strategy. We have clear 

objectives relating to employee and supplier development, 

which are guided by our skills, training and supplier 

development and localisation programmes. Our intention is to 

build and retain top industry resources through the provision 

of the individual employment experience. Wescoal's business 

model has a strong emphasis on mining contractors and the 

success of this model is linked to our ability to maintain healthy 

and responsive engagement platforms. These relationships are 

a powerful enabler of our ESG strategy.

Results 
(With an emphasis on increased contractor alignment, 

accountability, transparency and performance):

• Implemented and tracked key contractors’ signing of the 

ESG manifesto (commitment statements for increased 

contractor accountability to manage contractor business 

model risks and enhance contractor performance and 

ESG responsibility)

• Implemented and tracked key contractors committed to 

the Wescoal human rights policy to ensure alignment 

and adherence, to human rights commitments

• Contractors’ supplier development and localisation 

performance

The following will be developed for contractors as we 

implement the ESG strategy:

• Expanded contractor packs for improved accountability – 

approved prior to service delivery and to include ESG and 

reporting commitments; 

• Expansion of health, wellness and safety dashboard to 

include contractors under all aspects as an expanded 

measure of ESG commitment and increased contractor 

accountability; and

• Development of a communications plan for improved 

labour relations, focused on frequent engagement and 

responsiveness.

Health and safety
Our philosophy around health and 
safety is first and foremost to create a 
safe, empowering work environment 
for our employees, which is compliant 
with and extends beyond legislation 
including the Mine Health and Safety 
Act, all regulations and compulsory 
codes of practice.

An occupational hygiene measuring and monitoring system 

forms part of this programme with an occupational hygienist 

in place who is responsible for all our operations.

Five-year lost time injury rate

 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

LTIFR (Mining) 0.30 0.37 0.35 0.15 0.38

We have implemented a robust internal management 

standard at group level to manage stoppages and compliance 

instructions aligned with section 54 of the Mine Health and 

Safety Act. Moabsvelden was not recorded any lost time 

injuries and Khanyisa was standing on 265 lost time injury-free 

days on 19 July 2021. The focus and commitment of all our 

people is on zero harm. 

In line with our striving for excellence in HSE compliance, 

we ensure that employees, contractors and other affected 

parties are informed of the risks and hazards associated with 

their work and are trained in the identification of such and 

remediation techniques and practices.

All employees are represented by a joint manager-worker 

health and safety committee.

Health and safety audits continue to be conducted regularly at 

each operation. Work stoppage instructions are issued if scores 

fall below 80%. 

Representation on committees is set out below:

Mine health and safety 

committees

% worker

representation

% management

representation

Khanyisa committee 69 31

Processing committee 80 20

Elandspruit committee 87 13

Vanggatfontein committee 73 27

Moabsvelden committee 72 28
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Community training and 
development programme
If resources and livelihoods of mining 
communities are impacted, mining 
companies are required to develop 
skills, infrastructure and small 
enterprises to mitigate these impacts 
and to position communities for 
economic sustainability.

Wescoal enters into SLP agreements with communities and 

honours its social contracts with these communities.

HIV/AIDS and tuberculosis
A formal HIV/AIDS policy is in place which deals with concerns 

regarding HIV/AIDS, but also sexually transmitted infections 

and TB, and outlines ways to prevent transmission among 

Wescoal employees and their families as well as the broader 

communities. This is a responsible group initiative in the best 

interests of long-term sustainability for the company as well as 

our people and their communities.

The policy was originally implemented in consultation with 

employees and unions and is reviewed regularly. No changes 

were made in the year to practice standards in relation to TB 

and HIV/AIDS. Employees remain obligated to adhere to these 

standards.

Health and wellness programmes are conducted on-site 

at all operations, aimed at improving the healthy lifestyle 

of employees. These include a TB and HIV screening 

questionnaire, and referral if necessary, as well as general 

health screenings and tests.

Occupational health
The occupational health programme at the mines seeks to 

educate on, prevent and mitigate all occupational health risks. In 

the year, this involved informing employees that miners, former 

miners and their families are entitled to have their hearts and 

lungs submitted for examination post-mortem, the findings of 

which could result in legislated compensation. The aim of this 

Lost time injury rate

0.38
Occupational disease rate

Zero
Fatality rate

0.03

In the first half of FY20 and FY21, respectively, DMRE mining 

and environmental audits were conducted at Elandspruit, 

Vanggatfontein and Khanyisa. 

Effective safety statistics are compiled monthly at each 

operation and audits are conducted by an external service 

provider on all firefighting equipment. All incidents are 

investigated, recorded, and reported to the DMRE according to 

chapter 23 of the Mine Health and Safety Act.

Wescoal has turnstiles and alcohol testing mechanisms at 

Elandspruit, Khanyisa and Processing to effectively reduce 

the risk of employees entering the operation in a condition not 

fit for work or without a valid medical certificate or induction 

training. Wescoal Mining is in the process of installing a 

biometric system that will be integrated in the current health 

and safety management system to ensure personnel without 

valid medical, induction and competency certificates and 

operators license are flagged. A boom gate and access control 

system will form part of this implementation process to flag 

unauthorised personnel.

Contractors send their employees for training at their respective 

Mining Qualifications Authority accredited service providers. 

Wescoal Mining provided firefighting, first aid training, snake 

catching, hazard identification and risk assessment and 

COVID-19 training to employees. In order to maintain the 

group’s high safety and health standards, ongoing training is an 

operational imperative at all mines. Health and safety, first aid 

and firefighting training is executed monthly at each operation. 

Employees are trained in line with Mine Health and Safety Act 

regulations. 

We have implemented a robust 
internal management standard at 
group level to manage stoppages 
and compliance instructions aligned 
with section 54 of the Mine Health 
and Safety Act.
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training was to establish that this opportunity extends to anyone 

exposed to work risk on the mine and even after death.

We take our commitment to our people’s health and wellness 

seriously, and believe that increasing awareness is integral 

to executing this commitment. In addition to face-to-face 

training, posters about pneumoconiosis, chronic airway disease 

and compensation for mine and former mine workers are 

prominently displayed.

During the year, Wescoal recorded 69 COVID-19-related cases 

with a 100% recovery rate. This was due to COVID-19-related 

programmes which included the issuing of hand sanitisers, 

self-test kits, awareness posters, enforcement of rules 

and regulations and compliance audits. We also appointed 

COVID-19 compliance officers at each of our operations.

Medical surveillance for employees and contractors includes 

initial, annual (if not more frequent) and exit examinations, 

and specific focus on noise- and health-related problems. All 

occupational issues that remain unresolved on termination of 

employment are addressed during the exit examination.

Khanyisa, Processing and Elandspruit outsource medical 

examinations to Clinic Plus in Emalahleni, while Vanggatfontein 

has a permanent on-site paramedic who also provides primary 

healthcare as well as a weekly mobile clinic. Outsourced medical 

care encompasses occupational health, primary healthcare and 

wellness services to miners, other employees and contractors.

In addition to medical surveillance for mine-related diseases, 

wider health and wellness programmes are conducted on-site 

and include screening for chronic diseases e.g. hypertension, 

diabetes, cholesterol and high BMI. Further, an independent 

psychologist is made available to address the psychosocial 

health of affected employees.

The occupational illness investigation procedure is based on a 

specific incident reporting process and a treatment plan is then 

recommended. Exposure reports measure the exposure of the 

employee in question relative to the actual medical results of 

testing. Rehabilitation and return-to-work programmes are in 

place through external specialists, again ensuring sustainability 

of our employee force and continuity of skills and experience.

During the year, there were no reported incidents of 

occupational disease.

All chest disease incidents related to occupational health are 

submitted to the Medical Bureau for Occupational Diseases by 

the identifying clinic. Hearing deviations (as opposed to hearing 

loss) are investigated and remedied in cooperation with the 

operation’s HSE manager. 

Our occupational hygienist conducted quarterly dust and noise 

surveys at Khanyisa.

It is important to note that the results of dust and noise level 

testing in the year revealed that both fall well below the industry 

benchmark of 2.0mg/m3 for dust and 85dB(A) for noise.

The group reported zero incidents of noise-induced hearing 

loss during the year.

Value chain                               
Corporate sustainability emphasises 
the importance of ESG strategies that 
influence the impacts of suppliers and 
customers. We strive to maintain and 
deliver great value in customer and 
supplier propositions and experiences. 

Customers and suppliers 
Coal mining companies have a duty to exert influence on their 

customers and suppliers to reduce and mitigate impacts, and 

to collaborate with them towards sustainable and alternative 

business models.

A coal mining company’s greatest environmental and social 

impacts exist outside of its boundary of control and while it is 

the customers of coal mining companies that are responsible 

for coal combustion, investors, consumers and society at large 

tend to view the industry as a whole. 

Broadening the scope of influence around ethics and ESG is 

the essence of industry leadership and engaging with intent 

builds trust and creates opportunities for partnership and 

long-term value creation. Wescoal is focused on creating value 

propositions for suppliers and customers that are unique 

and relevant and we believe that an ESG leadership role is a 

fundamental part of that value offering.

We believe that influence starts with leading by example. Healthy 

platforms for communication and engagement are essential 

enablers. By understanding and responding to the needs of our 

customers and suppliers, we will help to increase value. To do 

this, however, we must engage authentically and regularly. Our 

own ESG strategy is an indicator of what we should be seeking 

to influence and control in our supply chain and we will work 

with our customers and suppliers to do this. Our intention is to 

guide and support those that we work with having reasonable 

expectations of progress. Benchmarking, measurement and 

reporting will be key enablers of our objectives.

Results
• Meeting all CSA conditions from Eskom and other 

customers

• Supplier development and localisation programme 

outcomes

• Supplier B-BBEE scorecards
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We plan to regularly communicate our ESG performance 

to our customers and suppliers as a leadership influence 

mechanism. We will also identify and qualify stakeholders that 

will form part of a stakeholder engagement plan to enable and 

promote quality stakeholder engagement, including customer 

value proposition considerations and customer collaboration 

intentions/objectives.

We will drive our supplier development plans and supplier ESG 

commitment though ESG and ethics manifestos.

Our communities                      
We continuously evaluate the needs, 
rights and circumstances of our 
communities and work collaboratively 
towards shared value objectives.

Social licence to operate 
Wescoal values the communities that we work with. We are 

accountable for how our business impacts the communities 

in which we operate, and our social labour plans continue to 

reflect this. In addition, we understand that our own success 

is dependent on their sustainability. Thus, our ethics and 

corporate governance policies and practices are aimed at 

delivering on contracts and commitments made to local 

communities. 

We are aware that environmental and social impacts from 

mining can include pollution of water, air and soil and the 

disruption of farming activities and community life. Thus, 

apart from acquiring mining rights, mining companies need to 

consult with communities, inform them of their individual and 

collective rights, and work with them to build trust and reduce 

and mitigate impacts in the community. Should resources 

and livelihoods of mining communities be impacted, mining 

companies are required to develop skills, infrastructure and 

small enterprises to mitigate these impacts and to position 

communities for economic sustainability, something we are 

committed to doing. 

Wescoal’s policies and practices around pollution, dust and 

noise have been developed with our communities in mind, and 

we are continuously engaging with them to ensure that we are 

held to our own high standards. We enter into SLP agreements 

with communities and honour our social contracts with these 

communities. Through our SLPs, our supplier development 

and localisation programmes and our B-BBEE commitments, 

we provide tangible opportunities to community-based 

businesses at our operations. We participate in the incubation 

of community-based initiatives that will provide long-term 

contractual services to our operations.

Results
• SLP commitments

• Supplier development and localisation programme 

performance

Wescoal plans to drive further SLP commitment through key 

contractors’ performance against localisation targets. We also 

plan to establish and actively operate community forums for 

enhanced community relationships and trust-building.

Corporate social investment
Wescoal identified priority corporate social responsibility issues 

for the year under review by examining social trends and 

the expectations of its stakeholders and carried out relevant 

activities after formulating a corporate social responsibility 

medium-term plan with respect to each issue. These included 

environmental, health, safety, governance and social issues 

that could impede the company’s mission in the context of its 

corporate citizenship space in the South African mining industry 

or have a material impact on our stakeholders.

The social and ethics subcommittee has functional oversight of 

the strategy driven by the group CEO. 

Education is one key component of the company’s CSI policy. The 

company supports skills upgrading, learning and education for 

20 disadvantaged learners from Reatlegile and Thushanang to 

college and university students receiving assistance. The Wescoal 

mining graduate development programme is yielding tangible 

results and contributing skills to the coal mining industry and 

each year exposes some 22 black South African graduates to 

mining-related skills. Last year, three environmental graduates 

from the programme were appointed at Wescoal. 

Local communities 
Social impact assessment

A social impact assessment is prepared in conjunction with the 

Victor Khanye, Emalahleni and Steve Tshwete local municipalities. 

Local community development 
programmes
Keaton Mining 

A pecan nut farming project is benefiting 19 families relocated 

from the mine. A strategic partner, Simeka Harvest, has been 

appointed to ensure sustainability of the project and four 

agricultural tunnels were installed at the Delmas Development 

Centre which contributes to the food security programme and 

local employment. The produce is sold at the local market and 

the surplus donated to the local orphanage.

The Delmas Development Centre was assisted in becoming 

an accredited training provider for Victor Khanye unemployed 

youth, and 40 learners from Victor Khanye Local Municipality 

were enrolled in a law enforcement programme. 

Social continued
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Wescoal Mining

Continued support was provided for the Nkomponi farming 

project which benefits the eight families relocated from 

Khanyisa mining premises, 12 social housing units were 

handed over to Phola beneficiaries in the Emalahleni Local 

Municipality and a bakery was renovated and equipped for 

residents with disabilities. Four Mhluzi women continue to 

receive support for their sewing business.

Stakeholder engagement 
Keaton, Moabsvelden and Wescoal Mining have the following 

engagement forums:

• The Victor Khanye socio-economic development forum with 

leadership from each municipal ward, representation from 

the local economic development LED office and all local 

interest groups including farming communities;

• The tripartite forum which deals with project-related 

deliverables and is represented by the Wescoal project team, 

an appointed contractor and delegated Victor Khanye socio-

economic development representatives;

• The future forum, which considers the development of 

the mine, comprises Wescoal management, contractors’ 

management, worker’s representatives and unions; 

• The interested and affected meetings forum consists of 

doorstep farmers affected by the mining operations;

• The Victor Khanye, Emalahleni and Steve Tshwete 

Local Municipality, LED forum addresses the integrated 

development plans of the municipalities;

• The Phola/Ogies/Kendal community forum consisting of 

community structures has representatives including local 

leadership from each ward, the Emalahleni Local Municipality 

LED office and all local interest groups including farming 

communities; and

• The Elandspruit community forum covers community 

structures with local leadership from each ward, 

representation from the Steve Tshwete Local Municipality 

LED office and all local interest groups including farming 

communities.

Monthly health and safety committee meetings are held 

on all sites attended by health and safety representatives, 

union representatives, health and safety officers as well as 

management representatives.

Formal local community grievance 
processes
All Wescoal entrances have a complaint register book 

where community-affected members can lodge their complaints. 

Community forums are also used to register and resolve 

community complaints.

There are a number of operations with significant actual and 

potential negative impacts on local communities. These include 

Vanggatfontein Mine (blasting and dust-related complaints 

from local farmers) and Moabsvelden Mine (blasting and 

traffic-related complaints from the local community). Khanyisa 

Mine had blasting and underground water-related complaints 

from the local community and at Elandspruit Mine, grave 

relocation, dust and blasting complaints were registered.

Changes to the stakeholder engagement in communities during 

the year took place at the new Moabsvelden Mine where a local 

stakeholders’ consultative group was formed. 

None of the operations have had any new significant actual or 

potential negative impacts on local communities.

CSI contribution
Wescoal’s CSI spend is set out below:

• Skills training spend: R4.8 million (FY20: R4.0 million);

• Bursary programme spend: R1.4 million (FY20: R1.1 million);

• Supplier development spend: R4.6 million (FY20: R20.0 million);

• Socio-economic development R10.3 million 

(FY20: R5.8 million); and

• Total expenditure: R21.0 million (FY20: R33.1 million).

In terms of regulation 42(1)(a) of the MPRDA, Wescoal has SLPs 

in place at its mining operations.

In conjunction with the DMRE, local community forums and 

local and regional councils create, manage and monitor 

all the commitments of the SLPs to the benefit of the local 

communities where the operations are located.

There was a significant increase in CSI and SLP spend mainly 

due to COVID-19 relief interventions and community training 

programmes. Due to COVID-19, some of our SLP plans were 

deferred. 

Social and economic advancement strategy
Environmental and social impacts from mining can include 

pollution of water, air and soil and the disruption of farming 

activities and community life. Apart from acquiring mining 

rights, the company consults with communities, informs 

them of their individual and collective rights, and works with 

them to build trust and reduce and mitigate impacts in the 

communities. If resources and livelihoods of our communities 

are impacted, we endeavour to develop skills, infrastructure 

and small enterprises to mitigate these impacts and to position 

communities for economic sustainability. Wescoal enters into 

SLP agreements with communities and honours its social 

contracts with these communities.

Improvements during the year:

• Relations with the communities have improved and strikes 

have reduced significantly;

• Wescoal Mining visibility in communities was enhanced by 

the COVID-19 relief programme rolled out throughout the 

municipalities where it operates;

• Implementation of enterprise development such as topsoil 

mining, logistics and rehabilitation services, among others, 

have resulted in a positive impact on community relations;
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• Improved B-BBEE status for all Wescoal subsidiaries; and

• No adverse findings by legislative bodies such as the DMRE.

Community upliftment 

All mining operations donated food parcels to the needy in their 

communities of COVID-19 with support going to the Department 

of Health by donating COVID-19-related equipment including a 

fridge for storing vaccines, toilets, gazebos, tables and chairs, 

temperature scanners and clinical PPE. 

Clean drinking water was supplied to the communities. 

The beneficiaries are identified through consultation with 

municipality LED offices as well as representatives of  local 

community forums. The company also works from an indigent 

list supplied by the municipalities. 

Enterprise developments established last year continue to be 

embedded and expanded. The initiative covers:

Vanggatfontein

• A tarpaulin project which is currently run by the local 

farming community and Trucks Tarpaulin Covering Services; 

• The plant cleaning project is run by a local community 

member;

• The topsoil mining that benefits a group of local communities;

• The grass cutting and gardening which is done by a 

community member;

• Six Delmas-based logistics SMMEs supported to acquire two 

trucks through Wescoal; and

• Appointed anchor companies over a five-year period.

Moabsvelden

• The internal and external fencing of Moabsvelden was done 

by a local contractor;

• The construction of the guard and induction house;

• The mine earthworks for mine offices; and

• The installation of water tanks.

Social continued
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Our stakeholders

We communicate with various 
stakeholders through our website, 
stakeholder presentations, site visits, 
the annual general meeting, interaction 
with the media, one-on-one meetings, 
community forums and ongoing informal 
and formal discussions.

Key stakeholders are the entities or individuals that can 

reasonably be expected to be significantly affected by the 

organisation’s activities, products and services, or whose 

actions can reasonably be expected to affect the ability of 

the organisation to implement its strategies and achieve its 

objectives.

Stakeholder engagement provides opportunities to further 

align business practices with societal needs and expectations, 

helping to drive long-term sustainability and shareholder value. 

We strive to ensure open and transparent engagement with 

all stakeholders. A stakeholder evaluation is constantly under 

review at group level as well as in the Mining and Trading 

divisions.

For stakeholder engagement to be authentic and valuable, 

it cannot simply be about communications. It requires that 

stakeholders have appropriate and accessible platforms and 

the means to feedback and that the organisation is responsive 

to that feedback. Wescoal has a well-developed stakeholder 

engagement approach that is aligned with regulatory and SLP 

requirements and expectations. Our stakeholder identification 

and mapping process is aligned with the approach 

recommended by the GRI Standards and the <IR> Framework 

and our intentions are to continuously improve our engagement 

process and to be more responsive to issues raised. 

Wescoal continues to play a more meaningful role in the 

transformation conversation and at industry level in its quest to 

become a long-term leading provider of reliable energy source. 

We aim to become a more prominent public voice for smaller-

sized empowered mining companies. In order to achieve these 

goals, we have joined various industry bodies.

We plan to increase our visibility through industry leadership 

and talent mentorship, which will include membership to 

and participation at Minerals Council SA and Women in 

Mining South Africa. We are also undertaking a stakeholder 

identification and mapping process which will inform our 

stakeholder engagement plan for enhanced stakeholder 

concern responsiveness and a drive towards greater 

collaboration. In addition, we plan to publish various position 

papers on carbon and climate, business diversification and 

investment.

Our stakeholder engagement informs 
our key strategic discussions and is 
important in identifying our material 
issues and the steps needed to 
address them. 

Social
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Our stakeholders continued

Our key stakeholders and the issues that concern them are outlined as follows:

  Financiers  Suppliers  Customers

Engagement • Regular contact sessions around 

status of operations and specific 

initiatives

• Quarterly submission of 

management accounts

•  Ongoing regular meetings 

regarding business dealings, 

risk management and business 

planning

• Presentations and 

correspondence regarding 

product features and service 

offerings

• Contract review processes 

• Formalised business 

dealings, meetings, telephone 

conversations, credit checks 

and reviews

Key interests 
and issues

• Balance sheet optimisation: 

operational finance costs 

reduction and removal of assets

• Business diversification 

(alternative energy/minerals) 

• Climate change

• Business continuity 

• Key customer dependency

• Loan agreements and financing 

facilities to Wescoal

• Compliance with various 

covenants and undertakings

• Overall liquidity

• Continuity of business 

relationships on commercially 

optimal terms 

• Service delivery and quality

• Building relationships 

• Price competitiveness

• Product quality

• Efficient and timely delivery 

of product 

• Competitive pricing structures

• Service levels 

• Relationship building

Our 
response 
and actions

• Keeping providers of finance 

informed timeously of relevant 

developments 

• Management of finance facility 

embedded in performance 

management programme 

• Proactively manage finance 

covenants 

• Overseen across the group and 

updated accordingly

• Strive for on-time delivery

• Regular engagement with 

suppliers 

• Gifts register in place

• Conscious effort to meet 

expectations where applicable

• Continually monitor product 

quality from both the Mining 

and Trading divisions

• Regular visits to and 

engagement with customers

Social
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    Mining contractors     Shareholders  Employees

• Continual monitoring of service 

level agreements and adherence to 

outsourced contracts – daily reports, 

weekly production monitoring 

meetings

• Monthly assessment of delivery 

against targets and leading KPIs

• Tripartite community engagement 

forums

• Attendance of staff meetings as 

observer

• SENS announcements

• Interim and final results presentations 

and teleconferences

• Regularly updated website 

• Dissemination of information through 

a defined contact list

• Calls with strategic shareholders if 

and when required

• Site visits and investor open days to 

mining facilities

• Regular engagement with key 

shareholders

• Training and development 

• Quarterly staff communication 

sessions

• Personal career development plans 

• Written staff communications and 

memos

• Staff communication sessions 

(town halls)

• Periodic policies and practices audit 

• Training and development initiatives

• Service level agreements 

• Outsourced contract agreements

• Operations planning and capacity 

management

• Industrial labour relations 

• Community support and upliftment

• Performance and accountability

• Business diversification (alternative 

energy/minerals) 

• Climate change

• Business continuity

• Key customer dependency 

• Ethics and company reputation

• Leadership for change

• Strength of the board 

• Succession planning

• Long-term lives of mines

• Earnings and sustainability 

• Dividend payments

• Black ownership

• Single customer dependency 

• B-BBEE

• Communicating value proposition of 

the business

• Healthy, safe and productive working 

environment

• Staff development. career and 

succession planning

• Setting and monitoring performance 

goals

• Market-related and equitable reward 

and employee benefits

• Employment equity and diversity 

management initiatives

• Review of employee benefits

• Policies communicated appropriately 

and understood

• Ethics and company reputation

• Leadership for change

• Coordinated annual and rolling three-

month planning

• Monitoring key risk and performance 

indicators (productivity, capacity and 

stakeholder management)

• Continuous production efficiency 

optimisation

• Monitoring of reportable incidents, 

shift reports and suggestions log

• Increasing the asset base 

• Diversified revenue streams, product 

mix, export/domestic customers

• Management team strengthened 

• Board appointments

• Annual integrated report strategy 

review

• Employment equity plan in place 

• Fair and consistent implementation of 

disciplinary and grievance codes

• Consultation with employee 

representatives

• Annual Department of Labour 

submissions on employment equity 

• Business unit employment equity 

forum in place

• Reports and workplace skills plans 

• Display of key labour legislation at the 

workplace

• Training sessions
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     Mining-affected communities   Unions   Civil society groups

Engagement • Mining Future forum

• Tri-party contractor community 

forums

• Scheduled meetings with local 

economic development forums 

• SLP initiatives

• Corporate social responsibility 

initiatives (enterprise development, 

community projects - school 

renovations and road maintenance 

works)

• NGO relations and interactions

• Regular consultation on reward 

and employment conditions 

• Consultation on transformation 

• LED and CSI

• B-BBEE

• Skills development

• Stakeholder roadshows and 

awareness campaigns

Key interests 
and issues

• Sustainability of economic 

empowerment and sustainability 

initiatives beyond life of operations 

• LED projects and social and labour 

planning implementation

• Financial support of community 

upliftment initiatives 

• Environmental sustainability

• Post-life of mine sustainability of 

communities

• Impact of mining on community and 

environment

• Advancing matters of mutual 

interest

• Change management 

programmes 

• Partnering to effect workplace 

transformation

• HIV/AIDS prevention 

initiatives 

• Responsible water 

management initiatives

• General social licence to 

operate

Our response 
and actions

• Development of community 

grievance procedures

• Successful relocation of eight 

families and handover of title deeds

• Focus on operating responsibly 

• Rehabilitation programmes

• Group employment equity forum 

on transformation

• Mining employment equity 

committee

• Working together with 

contractors to address concerns

• Representations to the 

Human Rights Commission

• Position statements for 

major issues

• Issue-based approach

• Response via task team

• Terms of reference and plan 

of action

Our stakeholders continued

Social
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 Government 

  and municipalities   Regulators    Media

• Forum participation

• Formal meetings

• Participation in public engagement 

with Chapter 9 institutions e.g. Human 

Rights Commission 

• Engagement with municipalities 

for endorsement of compliance 

submissions

• Annual reporting to the DMRE and the 

Mining Qualifications Authority

• Department of Water Affairs

• Department of Labour 

• Department of Land Affairs

• Department of Trade and Industry 

• South African Revenue Service 

• JSE

• Companies and Intellectual Property 

Commission

• Interim and final results presentations 

• Specific direct engagements

• Operations visits

• Company track record in respect of 

human rights and environmental 

management performance 

• Legislative compliance

• Municipal endorsement of SLPs

• Regulatory and legislative compliance 

to mining industry standards

• B-BBEE codes and Mining Charter 

compliance

• Integrity of communications with all 

stakeholders

• Understanding the Wescoal business

• B-BBEE ownership in excess of 58% 

and tracked regularly

• Human rights code in place

• Annual submission of annual 

regulatory compliance and update 

reports

• Tax certificates of good standing 

• Compliance register system being 

introduced to manage and track all 

regulatory matters

• Dedicated training programmes 

across the group

• Whistle-blowers hotline

• B-BBEE plan and strategy developed

• One-on-one engagement with financial 

and trade editors and journalists to 

ensure that Wescoal's strategy is well 

understood and accurately reported

• Circulation of press releases 

• Media alerts through SENS 

announcements

• Monitoring of media exposure 

• Media strategy reviewed annually



GOVERNANCE
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Ethical leadership                 
We are committed to upholding the 
highest standards of ethics, transparency 
and good governance in the interests 
of all our stakeholders and we adopt 
stringent compliance practices.
Through the adoption of integrated thinking, we are creating 

and preserving value and enabling better decision-making. 

We aim to be a strong, viable, competitive and accountable 

organisation through structures, practices, codes and 

performance management. The board is ultimately responsible 

for the group’s governance, ethics and values and is supported 

in this regard by the social and ethics committee. It leads 

ethically and provides leadership within a framework of 

prudent and effective control, thereby ensuring that ethics 

are managed effectively and that Wescoal is a responsible 

corporate citizen. The board supports the principles of King IVTM 

and derives its rights and duties from the board charter. The 

board maintains a clear balance of power and authority to 

ensure that no one director has unfettered powers of decision-

making.

Wescoal recognises that given the industry, global and national 

context, the company’s strategy must incorporate and integrate 

ESG issues and that an industry leadership approach to these 

issues is not only advisable, but fundamentally essential. 

Wescoal, via the ESG framework and the social and ethics 

committee, is committed to upholding the highest standards of 

ethics, transparency and good governance in the interests of all 

our stakeholders.

Wescoal is committed to the Sustainable Development 

Goals and to South Africa’s National Development Plan. The 

integration of our ESG strategy provides the business with 

an important long-term perspective into investors’ changing 

expectations to continuously adjust our own positions on 

material issues such as climate change, in line with their 

expectations.

Wescoal materially complies with the principles of King IVTM 

as set out in detail in our King IVTM application register for the 

financial year ended 31 March and available on our website

 https://wescoal.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/

wescoal-king-iv-application-register-31-march-2021.pdf. 

Ethics, bribery and anti-corruption policies are in place to which 

all employees are required to adhere. Employees are expected 

to disclose any conflicts of interest and vetting is undertaken at 

the point of appointment. In addition, a standard protocol for the 

declaration of gifts to management is implemented in line with 

a gifts policy. No contraventions of the codes and policies were 

reported during the period under review. An ethics awareness 

campaign has been launched, commencing with the signing of 

the ethics pledge by all executives and a revision of the code of 

ethics and will continue in the current year.

Whistle-blowing policy
Wescoal continues to create an environment that allows all 

stakeholders to voice genuine concerns about their perceptions 

of unethical behaviour, decisions or actions. Stakeholders are 

encouraged to follow the bribery and anti-corruption policy 

which sets out a procedure for them to raise their concerns 

in a suitable, confidential manner. The anonymous whistle-

blowing hotline ensures that every effort is made to protect the 

anonymity of those voicing concerns, where appropriate.

Details of the bribery and anti-corruption policy can be found on 

the group intranet site or the Wescoal website

 https://wescoal.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/b25.pdf.

No political contributions were made during the year and no 

fines were received for non-compliance with laws in terms of 

socio-economic compliance.

Environmental, social and governance
The Wescoal board has completed phase 1 of the ESG roadmap 

that involved the development and adoption of a comprehensive 

ESG strategy and the introduction of this strategy in the 

previous integrated annual report. Phase 2 comprises of 

internal and external integration and communication of the ESG 

strategy and entails the identification of KPIs across 11 themes, 

underpinned by an ESG Barometer. The board and its advisors 

assisting with the ESG roll-out, plan to have a stand-alone 

component of the ESG report in the integrated annual report 

from FY23 onwards. 

The social and ethics committee will maintain executive 

oversight of the roll-out of the ESG strategy.

Board members pledged to ESG on code of 

conduct and ethics manifesto

Social and ethics committee accountability 

ESG communications programme performance

Board participation, endorsement and espousal

Integrated annual report feedback loop – strategy 

and board

ESG Barometer implementation

ESG communication metrics (internal and 

external)

Governance
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Corporate governance

Wescoal is a strong, viable, competitive and accountable organisation through 
structures, practices, codes and performance management.

The board ensures that our strategy remains relevant, in line with current and emerging investor and stakeholder requirements, 

making adjustments and changes to maintain short-, medium- and long-term value-focused objectives. Good corporate governance 

forms part of this and helps us to build an environment of trust, transparency and accountability necessary for fostering long-term 

investment, financial stability and business integrity, thereby supporting stronger growth and more inclusive societies. 

An ESG strategy is in place which is driven by the social and ethics committee and contributes future-focused and stakeholder-centric 

objectives that increase relevance and value. The board advocates sound corporate governance through the guidelines set out in King IVTM. 

Governance structure

The board

Members

Dr Humphrey Mathe# (Chairman)

Zukie Siyotula^ (Lead independent director)

Andile Mabizela^ 

Kabela Maroga# 

Nomavuso Mnxasana^

Cecil Maswanganyi#

Eric Mzimela# 

Robinson Ramaite# (Interim chief executive officer)

Jubilant Speckman (chief financial officer)

Thivha Tshithavhane (Chief executive officer Mining)

Responsibilities

Steering Wescoal and setting its strategic direction

Overseeing and monitoring implementation and execution 

by management

Approving policy and planning that gives effect to the 

direction provided

Ensuring accountability for the company’s performance by 

means of reporting and disclosures

Consideration of employee-related matters and key 

appointments

Ensuring succession planning

Providing oversight on material matters

Ensuring King IVTM application across all areas of the 

organisation

Project and 

investment 

committee

Audit, risk and 

compliance 

committee

Remuneration 

committee

Nomination 

committee

Social and ethics 

committee

Refer to  pages 146 to 

148 for the full report

Refer to  pages 76 to 

82 for the full report

Refer to  pages 83 to 

86 for the full report

Members Kabela Maroga#

(Chairperson)

Dr Humphrey Mathe# 

Zukie Siyotula^

Cecil Maswanganyi#

Zukie Siyotula^ 

(Chairperson)

Andile Mabizela^

Nomavuso Mnxasana^

Nomavuso Mnxasana^

(Chairperson)

Eric Mzimela#

Zukie Siyotula^

Kabela Maroga^

Zukie Siyotula^ 

(Chairperson)

Kabela Maroga#

Nomavuso Mnxasana^

Dr Humphrey Mathe#

Andile Mabizela^ 

(Chairperson)

Cecil Maswanganyi#

Eric Mzimela#

Thivha Tshithavhane

Independent 2/4 3/3 3/4 3/4 1/4

Focus areas • Investment activities, 

oversight and 

decision-making

• Monitoring 

investment mandate

• Reporting (financial 

and integrated)

• Audit matters 

(internal and 

external)

• Risk management, 

information 

and technology 

governance 

• Information and 

cybersecurity

• Remuneration 

strategy and policy

• Human capital 

management

• Succession planning

• Board evaluations

• Nomination matters

• Good corporate 

citizenship

• Ethical leadership 

and conduct

• Social and economic 

development

• Stakeholder 

relationships

• Reputational 

management

^ Independent non-executive
# Non-executive

Governance
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Board and committee meeting attendance

Director

Board 

meetings

Special board 

meetings

Audit,

risk and 

compliance 

committee

meetings

Special audit, 

risk and 

compliance 

committee 

meetings

Remuneration 

committee

meetings

Special 

remuneration 

committee

meetings

Nomination 

committee 

meetings

Special 

nomination 

committee 

meeting

Social and 

ethics

committee 

meetings

Special

social and ethics 

committee 

meetings

Dr Humphrey Mathe
#
 

(Chairman)
4/4 5/5 1/5 1/1 1/2

Robinson Ramaite
#
 (CEO) 4/4 4/5

Reginald Demana (CEO)~ 4/4 5/5 3/4 1/2 2/3 5/5 2/2 2/5 1/1

Jubilant Speckman** 
(CFO)

2/4 2/5 1/4 2/2 2/5 1/2 1/5

Andile Mabizela^ 4/4 5/5 4/4 2/2 5/5 1/1

Cecil Maswanganyi
#

4/4 5/5 1/2 5/5 1/1

Eric Mzimela
#

4/4 4/5 2/3   4/5 1/2 4/5 1/1

Kabela Maroga
#• 4/4 5/5 4/4 2/2 3/3 5/5 1/1 2/2

Nomavuso Mnxasana^ 4/4 4/5 4/4 2/2 3/3 5/5 1/1 2/2

Zukie Siyotula^

(Lead independent director)
4/4 5/5 4/4 2/2 3/3 5/5 1/1 2/2

Izak van der Walt~~ 1/4 2/5 2/4 1/2 2/3 2/5 1/2 1/5 1/1

Thivha Tshithavhane 
(CEO Mining)

4/4 5/5 2/5 1/1

** Appointed as acting CFO on 1 September 2020, appointed as CFO on 1 February 2021

^ Independent non-executive
# Non-executive

~ Resigned 31 March 2021

~~ Resigned 31 August 2020

• Kabela was an independent director until 31 March 2021
@ From 1 April 2021

 Thivha Tshithavhane (CEO) 

Enos Lentsoane*

Jubilant Speckman

Michael Berry (CEO)

Enos Lentsoane

Ntombi Mphahlele

 Thivha Tshithavhane (CEO) 

Nthabiseng Mbekeni

Thembi Kganane*

 Thivha Tshithavhane (CEO)

Enos Lentsoane

Jubilant Speckman 

(alternate director)

Subsidiary boards

Wescoal Mining 

board of directors

Keaton Mining 

board of directors

Neosho Trading 86

 board of directors

Wescoal Trading 

board of directors

* Replaced Izak van der Walt (resigned on 31 August 2020)

The board
The board comprises three executive directors and seven 

non-executive directors of whom three are independent. The 

non-executive directors are free to make their own decisions 

and judgements. They enjoy no benefits from the company 

for their services as directors other than their fees, potential 

capital gains and dividends on their interests in ordinary shares 

and options. The non-executive directors are high-calibre 

professionals and sufficient in number for their views to carry 

significant weight in the board’s deliberations and decisions. 

The applicable category for each director was tested using the 

guidelines contained in the JSE Listings Requirements. 

The board charter was reviewed at a board meeting held on 

25 March 2021 and adopted with a minor change relating to the 

appointment of directors to subsidiaries. 

The independent board
The independent board is positioned by the board to preside 

over corporate activities for good governance and, where 

necessary, to preside when any possible conflict of interest 

may exist and regulations call for an independent governing 

body for the period up to 31 March 2021. It comprises 

independent non-executive directors who are not shareholders 

and who are not affiliated with the executives of the firm. 
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They are directors who have no business dealings with the 

company. The independent board provides vigilant oversight to 

mitigate risk and promotes shareholder value. The independent 

board also oversees board responsibilities in areas such as 

mergers and acquisitions when independence is required.

The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring that 

directors receive ongoing development and training. A process 

for evaluating director independence is in place. Directors 

receive ongoing information on developments in the coal 

industry and those requiring any additional information are 

supported through individual sessions with various managers 

to remain well informed with Wescoal-specific methodologies.

Diversity policy
In accordance with paragraph 3.84(i) of the JSE Listings 

Requirements, the board has adopted a revised policy on the 

promotion of broader diversity at board level, with a focus on 

the promotion of diversity attributes of gender, race, culture, 

age, field of knowledge, skills and experience. The board has 

considered and applied the policy during FY21.

The approach to diversity adopted by the board includes, 

inter alia:

• the target for the composition of the board shall be 80% 

black, to be achieved within three years from the adoption of 

the policy (May 2020);

• the target for the composition of the board shall be at least 

50% female, to be achieved within three years from the date 

of adoption of the policy; and

• the targets for age and culture will be set by the board 

from time to time on recommendation of the nomination 

committee.

The nomination committee and board are satisfied that the 

board is properly constituted with complementary skill sets, 

balance of power, experience and personal characteristics 

which support the principles and aims of gender, racial, cultural 

and age diversity. 

Currently, the board comprises four female directors, 

representing 40% of the board. All directors are black, 

exceeding the stated policy target of 80%.

The board is constituted by an appropriate balance of older and 

younger directors from diverse cultural backgrounds.

Self-evaluation
The board has adopted the principles of King IVTM and agreed 

to conduct its assessment biannually to allow sufficient time 

to implement remedial action. The self-evaluation covers the 

size and composition of the board, the directors’ induction and 

development effectiveness, board meetings, the relationship 

between the board and management, the flow of information, 

skills needed by the board and its committees as well as 

stakeholder relations.

A board evaluation is currently being conducted by external 

advisors.

Succession planning
The nomination committee is responsible for ensuring 

that there is a proper succession plan for directors and 

management and that all committees are appropriately 

constituted and chaired. The board is satisfied that the depth 

of skills of current directors meets succession requirements 

which include reviewing skills development, career path 

and succession planning, policies and procedures and 

recommendations regarding the essential and desired criteria, 

experiences and skills for potential new directors, taking into 

consideration the board’s short-term needs and long-term 

succession plans.

Company secretary
In the previous year, FluidRock Co Sec Proprietary Limited was 

appointed company secretary on an interim basis effective 

1 February 2020. The board continues to ensure that the 

appointment is in accordance with its policies. The FluidRock 

representative is not a director of the holding company or 

any of its subsidiaries and is not related or connected to any 

of the Wescoal directors. To ensure continuity and stability 

during COVID-19 circumstances, and board and committee 

changes, the interim appointment has been extended and 

will be reviewed in due course. The company secretary is 

responsible for monitoring changes and developments in 

corporate governance and for frequently updating the board 

and executive directors in this regard. 

The board recognises the pivotal role of the group company 

secretary in establishing effective processes and systems 

to ensure that good corporate governance forms part of the 

fibre of the organisation and is entrenched in its culture. They 

are satisfied that the interim company secretary is suitably 

qualified, competent and experienced to provide guidance in 

matters relating to governance and that all directors have 

access to the company secretary. 

Share dealings and confl icts of interest
All directors and senior executives with access to financial 

and any other price-sensitive information are prohibited from 

dealing in Wescoal shares during “closed periods”, as defined 

by the JSE, or while the company is trading under cautionary. 

A formal email communication is distributed company-wide 

informing all employees and directors when the company is 

entering a closed period. 

Directors are required to obtain clearance to deal in the 

company’s securities from the CEO and/or chairman at all 

times. The company secretary, together with the sponsor, 

ensures that any directors’ share dealings are published on 

SENS. Wescoal has an existing policy which regulates share 

dealings by directors, prescribed officers and employees 

(the information policy).

Corporate governance continued
Governance
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Regulatory compliance                  
Compliance in the mining industry 
is critical to business continuity and 
our social licence to operate. It is also 
an important enabler, or destroyer of 
reputation, investor confidence and 
equity. 
Our stakeholders require that we demonstrate leadership in 

the industry by thinking beyond compliance and aligning with 

respected local and international practices, standards and 

frameworks. Adherence to, and compliance with, all necessary 

regulations is non-negotiable for Wescoal. 

The board is ultimately responsible for ensuring compliance 

with laws and regulations. New legislation that impacts the 

group is made available to the board members and discussed 

as required. The mitigation processes and procedures created 

by COVID-19 in accordance with national regulations published 

in terms of the National Disaster Act as well as industry-

specific mining regulations remain in place.

Noting that phase 1 of the Carbon Tax Act and taxing per tonne 

of CO2 will be in full effect by June to December 2022, Wescoal 

continues investigating and adopting cleaner and more efficient 

technologies in adherence to carbon tax legislation. 

The board has integrated all the necessary provisions of the 

Protection of Personal Information Act. 

No fines or non-monetary sanctions were imposed on the 

group for non-compliance with any laws or regulations during 

the year under review, nor has the group been party to any 

legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour. 

Wescoal takes regulatory compliance seriously. Our business and 

social licence to operate are dependent on this. Our approach is to 

identify, document and maintain all requirements for compliance 

in an ESG compliance register. We aim to engage proactively with 

regulatory authorities to ensure ongoing compliance. 

Our ESG strategy acts as a guide for the development of our 

standards and practices register, a repository of operating 

practices, benchmarks and/or standards that are continuously 

updated against our quality objectives and best practice. 

We are driving accountability of compliance through ensuring 

that compliance is an ESG management priority. We plan to 

use reporting platforms to demonstrate our intentions to move 

“beyond compliance” towards industry leadership. By adopting 

selected ESG and reporting standards and benchmarks, we are 

speaking the emerging and important language of investors 

and other key stakeholder groups.

IT and information governance
The audit, risk and compliance committee is responsible for 

IT governance on behalf of the board and reviews the reports 

from management and external assurance providers to ensure 

that an adequate and effective IT system is maintained. The 

group IT manager oversees the function and is responsible for 

reliable and secure information technology systems, networks 

and applications to ensure that uninterrupted business 

processes maximise operational efficiency. The corporate 

strategy is supported and embedded in the framework and 

strategy of IT policies and procedures.

Wescoal conducted an externally facilitated business continuity 

and disaster risk assessment and it was concluded that 

emergency response plans (operations-focused), rather than a 

formal business continuity plan, had to be prioritised during the 

period under review. 

Additional crisis management plan processes are to be 

explored and implemented by the organisation. In respect of 

certain programs, such as SAP, external assurance is provided 

by the external auditor as part of the non-audit services on the 

effectiveness of IT internal controls. 

The disaster recovery plan continues in the form of a technical 

restoration that is performed biannually. This is carried out to 

test the restore operability of the target systems, as well as 

applications at the secondary data centre, following a disaster.

Focus areas during the year included:

• Strategic alignment – linking business and IT to function well 

together. Creating and processing IT strategy to align with 

the overall strategic pillars of the company.

• Value delivery – creating and maintaining a service delivery 

ethic within the IT discipline to meet and exceed customer 

expectations on set projects or investments.

• Proactively setting provisions of infrastructure and services 

that are cost-effective, secure, robust and efficient. 

• Performance measures – implementation of structures to 

measure business performance and examining where IT 

contributes in terms of achieving business goals. 

Focus areas for IT governance in the year ahead include: 

• Risk management – instituting a formal risk and 

cybersecurity framework that strengthens how IT measures, 

accepts and manages risk, as well as reporting on what IT is 

managing in terms of risk and cybersecurity.

Wescoal is committed to ensuring governance of information 

and segregated access rights are in place on all Wescoal 

documentation, records stored on Wescoal file servers and 

document management systems. The company’s domains are 

registered and monitored to protect corporate identity. 

There were no amendments to our IT governance procedures 

during the period under review.



Risk management

Wescoal is fully committed to effective risk management in pursuit of our strategic 
objective to create shareholder value. The group risk management culture forms part 
of our strategy, governance and day-to-day operations.

Identification and effective treatment of risks relevant to strategic objectives and 
ESG material issues are critical to the strategic success of Wescoal. To this end, the 
risk management framework represents a continuous process to identify and monitor 
known and emerging risks in the respective divisions and business processes.

Risk 
management 
framework

Governance and culture

Strategy and 

objective setting

PerformanceReview and revision

Information,

communication and 

reporting 
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The Wescoal risk management process is a strategic enabler 

and embedded in all our processes, functions and systems. 

The board and respective management layers consider 

business risks when setting strategies and monitor controls 

continuously at strategic, tactical and operational levels.

The most important purpose of enterprise risk management 

is to institutionalise an ongoing and rigorous identification of 

risks in all aspects of the business, encourage open and honest 

dialogue about these risks and ensure the implementation of 

the necessary controls and risk treatment initiatives.

Wescoal’s risk management process sets out to achieve 

an appropriate balance between minimising the company 

and stakeholder risks associated with any business activity 

and maximising the potential reward. In this context, both 

the upside (opportunity) and downside consequences of all 

uncertainties that could affect one or more of our objectives at 

different levels can be considered. Effective risk management 

enables management to deal with uncertainty and associated 

risks and opportunities, enhancing the enterprise capacity to 

build shared value.

In the current year, the focus has been on ensuring that all 

organisational business units across the business are informed 

of the value of rigidly adopting the risk management process 

when addressing complexity as part of their decision-making 

process.

Wescoal’s key risk management objective is to embed an 

effective group-wide risk management culture. The group’s 

strategic objectives within our three core focus areas is 

managed continually to identify, analyse, prioritise and treat 

relevant risks appropriately to ensure an optimal risk-reward 

profile for all stakeholders.

Our risk identification and analysis incorporates material 

issues that have emerged though the ESG strategic process. 

Wescoal’s board oversees risk management through the audit, 

risk and compliance committee and delegates the responsibility 

to execute risk management according to the enterprise risk 

management policy and framework to executive management. 

The overall principle and philosophy are to remain focused on 

embedding management of risk as the responsibility of every 

employee and contractor in our organisation.

The Wescoal risk management framework is implemented through the risk management process as outlined in the diagram below.
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Risk management continued

The group’s key risks and mitigations are set out below:

Buckets of strategic risks

Strategic risks

Single 
customer 

concentration

Commodity
and

industry

Social
licence to
operate

Environmental
and safety

risks

Disruption
of operations

• Community unrest

• Labour unrest

• Contractor unrest

• COVID-19 infections

• Loss of key personnel 

and critical skills

• Cyberthreats

• Environmental 

risks including new 

regulations

• Regulations and 

compliance changes/

burden

• ESG accountability

• SLP not implemented

• Inability to improve 

B-BBEE levels

• Lack of diversification

• Competition and product 

substitution

• Cost competitiveness

• Pricing risk value exposure

• Controlling operating 

costs

• Lack of return on 

investment for 

shareholders

• Resource of coal (quality)

The trend report ranks from the extreme highest to lowest residual rating and compares Wescoal’s strategic risks for FY20 with FY21. 

The residual rating is the risk remaining after considering the existence and effectiveness of internal controls in place. The table 

below outlines the trend of Wescoal's top 10 risks for FY21, ranked by residual risk rating: 

Risk 

ranking Risks 

2020 

Residual rating Trend

2021 

Residual rating

1 Funding and liquidity High ➜ Extremely high

2 Single customer concentration High ➜ Extremely high

3 Safety and health concerns (COVID-19) High ➜  Extremely high

4 Rising mining operating costs – ✦ Medium

5 Loss of social licence to operate – ✦  Extremely high

6 Community and labour instability Medium

➜

Medium

7 Climate change and environmental concerns Medium   ● Medium

8 Cyberthreats – ✦  High

9 Loss of key personnel and critical skills High

➜

Medium

10 Regulatory uncertainty compliance Medium ● Medium

➜ Residual risk rating increased 

➜

Residual risk rating ● Residual risk rating unchanged ✦  New risk identified
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The group’s key risks and mitigations are set out below:

Risk description Mitigation
Strategic 
objective

1 Funding and liquidity

Breach or non-adherence to funding covenant 

agreements resulting in additional interest charges, 

drawdown restrictions or termination of funding 

(liquidity risk) and deferral of expansion and growth 

initiatives. 

Risk of inability to obtain capital to fund Wescoal 

growth due to the local funders exiting funding fossil 

fuel companies.

The risk is influenced and increased by the reduced 

level of profitability during FY21, economic pressures 

experienced by contractors and specifically the global 

and domestic impact of COVID-19.

During June 2019, the company concluded R1.1 billion 

long-term debt facilities, significantly improving the 

liquidity and capital structure.

Managing project execution and timing of investment 

outflows to optimise utilisation of debt facilities for 

operational improvement, extension and expansion 

projects.

Renegotiate the funding terms with the funders.

Ensure adherence with the funding covenant agreements. 

Business diversification (alternative energy/minerals).

2 Single customer concentration

The risk of relying on Eskom as a single customer 

where financial viability of Eskom remains a concern 

in the short to medium term. Operational challenges 

and the slowdown in the economy will affect Eskom’s 

ability to generate revenue and address its financial 

challenges.

Broadening local customer base.

Build adequate stockpiles. 

Enforcing coal supply agreement.

Engagement with Eskom management and fostering or 

building relationship.

3 Safety and health concerns (COVID-19) 

Interruption of operations due to the COVID-19 global 

pandemic resulted in temporary closure of operations 

and production losses.

Broader operational environment affected by level of 

perceived risk or exposure to incidence of COVID-19 

impacting operations in the form of additional 

mitigation initiatives or rates of absenteeism of critical 

operators. 

Wescoal operations continued throughout, with some 

decline in export sales via Richards Bay Coal Terminal 

Proprietary Limited and in domestic sales through the 

Trading division.

All operations continue to implement safety improvement 

plans, with a focus on: effective management of critical 

controls required to manage significant safety risks; 

learning from high-potential incidents and hazards; 

embedding a safety culture; and leadership engagement 

and accountability.

Managing essential controls and ways to ensure safe 

working environment of essential activities.

Continuous monitoring and adjustment to ensure full 

alignment with COVID-19 guidelines as they evolve.

Established ways to largely have non-production staff 

working remotely. 

Extensive measures in terms of various initiatives to 

manage the exposure and risk of transmission (including 

community programmes).

Initiatives to be prepared to manage and treat potential 

COVID-19 incidence. 

Established guidelines and SOPs and conduct, including 

training and monitoring of activities and contacts.

4 Rising mining operating costs 

Rising mining operating costs, including those relating 

to ESG with the potential impact of COVID-19, mining 

companies were already exposed to higher inflation 

prior to the pandemic, and COVID-19 may lead to 

additional costs.

Financial reports to the audit, risk and compliance 

committee and the board are prepared by finance 

department on a quarterly basis. 

Monthly financial flash reports and management accounts 

are submitted to the Exco on a monthly basis.

ScalabilityStability Sustainability



74 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Risk description Mitigation
Strategic 
objective

5 Loss of social licence to operate 

Risk of social licence to operate is driven by inability to 

achieve SLP targets as approved.

Increased social activism due to socio-economic 

challenges, increased state intervention in the mining 

sector through legislation and regulation, depressed 

economic outlook, inability to meet some new Mining 

Charter targets, e.g. procurement and onerous 

compliance requirements.

Adherence to the Mining Charter and B-BBEE 

requirements. 

Conduct SLP audits.

Proactive involvement in sustainable socio-economic 

development initiatives. 

Pursue identified initiatives to progressively improve 

Wescoal's B-BBEE rating. 

Regular engagement with government.

Reporting on Mining Charter requirements (external 

and internal). 

Reporting on SLP requirements (external and internal).

6 Community and labour instability 

Lack of community buy-in causing community unrest 

resulting in business disruptions or production losses. 

Labour unrest at mines leading to production 

inefficiencies, production losses, termination of 

employee services or damage to business assets. 

The risk of community unrest is integral to mining 

operations and the level of risk is influenced by factors 

such as effectiveness of community programmes and 

stakeholder management, the proximity of community 

villages to operations, conditions of economic, 

political and local traditional leadership structures, 

local procurement initiatives and by actions and 

programmes of other mines both on a national and 

regional basis. 

The risk of labour unrest is integral to mining 

operations, closely related to community buy-in 

and the level of risk is influenced by factors such 

as contractor management, changes in working 

or employment conditions and wages, economic 

and political conditions, national industry level and 

employee union initiatives.

Communication and coordination of SLP and community 

support initiatives.

Effective regular engagement through structured forums 

such as tripartite forums with Wescoal, the contractor and 

the local community.

Continuous proactive engagement and management of 

agreed actions.

Identify services that can be rendered by local service 

providers.

Establishing a process and platform to identify, screen and 

support local businesses to partner with as part of social 

economic development.

Equitable local recruitment and procurement programmes 

and communication.

Employee relations management through routine 

engagement and coordination with structured employee 

representative forums. 

Continuous proactive management of agreed actions.

Operational supervisory leadership initiatives to promote 

clarity of united purpose, objectives and performance.

Contractor management engagements to ensure effective 

proactive coordination regarding labour relation aspects, 

specific initiatives and, where relevant, rectification plans 

agreed with subcontractors.

Community interaction as addressed under community 

buy-in to assist managing relationships.

7 Climate change and environmental concerns

Climate change is one of the defining challenges of our 

era and our commitment to being part of the global 

response presents both risks and opportunities.

Climate change is a serious issue for our planet and 

coal-based energy is a significant contributor to current 

CO2 emissions levels and global warming. Climate change 

poses a risk to Wescoal’s operations and communities – 

extreme weather events cause operational disruptions 

and distress for impacted communities. The company 

is committed to emissions reductions and offsets, 

and building climate resilience for its operations and 

communities.

Wescoal has drafted the carbon climate position paper.

Wescoal is committed to reducing direct carbon emissions 

from operations, which are largely caused by electricity 

and diesel consumption. Wescoal is looking to play a 

leadership role in the industry by limiting/lowering Scope 1 

and Scope 2 emissions in line with science-based targets.

Wescoal’s climate change strategy includes community 

building plans and incorporates commitments to 

recognised external benchmarks and initiatives, such as 

science-based targets TCFD.

Risk management continued
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Risk description Mitigation
Strategic 
objective

8 Cyberthreats 

Loss or harm to our technical infrastructure and 

the use of technology within the organisation from 

malicious or unintentional sources.

We continue to protect operational technology to decrease 

disruptions and ensure business continuity. Due to the 

dramatic increase in cybercrime globally, we implemented 

a software platform across the group to safeguard 

infrastructure critical to our sustainability.

Furthermore, we embedded additional software 

precautions at the onset of COVID-19 to protect our 

business against attacks as our people transitioned to 

home offices. 

9 Loss of key personnel and critical skills 

The risk of the loss of human capital investment in key 

skills required or the lack of continuity of operational 

strategic intent increased as a result of increased staff 

turnover during FY20.

Review and improvement of retention strategy and 

benefits.

Introduction of long-term incentive.

Staff development and communication (face-to-face and 

newsletters).

10 Regulatory uncertainty compliance 

Uncertainty and adverse changes to mining industry 

regulation, legislation or tax regimes can occur in any 

country in which we operate. 

The frequent rate of change with often limited 

consultation or notice periods impacting management 

of change. Extensive, complex and interconnected 

nature of requirements.

Appropriate structures supported by systems and 

procedures are key to the compliance framework.

Ongoing review of regulatory framework and status to 

ensure optimised resource requirements for compliance 

and address gaps.

Third-party assurance reviews of the process and 

compliance status.

Continuous monitoring of COVID-19 regulations to ensure 

full alignment with COVID-19 guidelines as they evolve.
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1 Funding and liquidity

2 Single customer concentration

3 Safety and health concerns 

(COVID-19)

4 Rising mining operating costs 

5 Loss of social licence to operate

6 Community and labour instability 

7 Climate change and environmental 

concerns

8 Cyberthreats

9 Loss of key personnel and critical 

skills

10 Regulatory uncertainty compliance

Wescoal top 10 heat map

Risk rating legend

16 – 25 Extreme Unacceptable level of residual risk Board

10 – 15 High Unacceptable level of residual risk CEO and executives

6 – 9 Medium Needs periodic monitoring Heads of departments

1 – 5 Low Mostly acceptable level of residual risk Departmental supervisor
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Remuneration committee report

PART 1: BACKGROUND
The remuneration committee’s report apprises shareholders 

and other stakeholders of the work done by the committee in 

the period under review. The report also provides, in addition 

to the open dialogue approach that prevails with shareholders, 

a clear indication of progress in the implementation of the 

remuneration policy. 

Wescoal’s integrated remuneration strategy recognises that the 

ability to attract, retain and motivate employees is not wholly 

dependent upon remuneration but also considers overall 

employee satisfaction, performance and engagement. The 

approach adopted is designed to attract and retain people of 

quality who are capable of managing and growing the business 

and able to generate superior returns for the shareholders. 

In this context, the committee continued its engagement with 

the independent remuneration specialist advisors throughout 

the period. The services covered the implementation and 

integrity of the application of the remuneration strategy and 

alignment with the business objectives and best practice. 

In FY20, the company approved terms of reference to effect 

amendments to be in line with the company’s improvements. 

In a predefined framework, the company monitors performance 

across a range of predetermined, contracted objectives 

that are structured into the variable pay policy. Competitive 

remuneration linked to performance and shareholder value 

creation underpins the company’s high-performance culture 

philosophy. 

Structure of the report 
The report details the company’s remuneration committee 

activities, which include among other things, the 

implementation of the remuneration policy. Our remuneration 

policy will be put to shareholders for a non-binding advisory 

vote at the 2021 annual general meeting and proposed fees 

for non-executive directors will be put to a vote by special 

resolution at the 2022 annual general meeting. 

Role of the remuneration committee 
The composition and scope of the remuneration committee 

are set out in the written terms of reference which have 

been approved by the board. As recommended by King IVTM, 

the majority of committee members are independent non-

executive directors. Members and meeting attendance are 

disclosed in the corporate governance section of the integrated 

annual report on  page 67. 

The remuneration committee comprises four non-executive 

directors who have a general background of legal and 

corporate governance issues likely to affect remuneration 

policy. The committee met eight times during the year with 

the CEO, company secretary and the executive head: corporate 

services. The committee carries out its mandate to oversee the 

development and application of the remuneration policy. 

The committee invites executives, members of senior 

management and representatives of the independent advisors 

to attend meetings and to provide input and information. 

Role and responsibilities 
• The committee has an independent oversight role and makes 

recommendations to the board for its consideration and final 

approval. It does not assume the functions of management 

which remain the responsibility of the executive directors, 

officers and other members of senior management. 

• Its key function is to assist the board by fulfilling the 

following roles: 

- Determining the group’s remuneration structure and 

policies, and assessing their cost; 

- Oversight of the annual remuneration benchmarking 

procedure; 

- Reviewing and determining base salary adjustments; 

- Ensuring the company remunerates directors, executives 

and employees fairly and responsibly; 

- Considering and recommending the approval of 

executives’ and senior managers’ salaries, annual 

increases and bonuses; 

The remuneration report is prepared in line with King IVTM principles and 
contains three sections namely: 

Part 1: Background 

Part 2: Remuneration policy

Part 3: Implementation report
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- Reviewing the remuneration strategy and policy including 

salaries, benefits, termination benefits, contractual 

engagement and consultancy packages; 

- Ensuring the remuneration policy is put to a non-

binding advisory vote at the annual general meeting of 

shareholders every year; 

- Considering the performance evaluation results of the CEO 

and other executive directors, both as directors and as 

executives, in determining remuneration; 

- Selecting an appropriate comparator group when setting 

remuneration levels and considering annual salary 

benchmarking to ensure the organisation remains 

competitive on remuneration; 

- Regularly reviewing incentive schemes to ensure 

continued contribution to shareholder value and that these 

are administered in terms of the rules; 

- Advising and making recommendations on the 

remuneration of non-executive directors; 

- Overseeing the operation of the group’s short- and long-

term incentive plans for executives and senior managers, 

including the approval of awards and setting performance 

criteria; and 

- Overseeing the preparation and recommendation of the 

remuneration report to the board, to be included in the 

integrated annual report. 

Key activities for the period under review: 

- Implementing set work plan; 

- Decision on salary increases and bonuses; and 

- S189 implementation. 

PART 2: REMUNERATION POLICY
Remuneration policy
The remuneration committee is responsible in an advisory and 

oversight capacity for the development and administration of 

the remuneration policy at all levels within the group in terms 

of its mandate. 

The board is committed to ensuring that the remuneration 

policy is considered fair and equitable by all stakeholders 

including shareholders and employees. As required by 

King IVTM, the remuneration policy and implementation report 

will be tabled annually for separate non-binding advisory 

votes by shareholders at the annual general meeting, and an 

engagement process will be conducted in the event that either 

are voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights exercised 

at the meeting. The remuneration policy is available on the 

website  https://www.wescoal.com. 

The board is responsible for ensuring Wescoal’s remuneration 

structures are equitable and aligned with the long-term 

interests of the company and its stakeholders. To ensure 

compliance, the board has tasked the remuneration 

committee to assist it in making decisions affecting employees’ 

remuneration. At the annual general meeting held on 

3 November 2020, 99.95% of represented shareholders cast 

their votes in favour of the policy and in favour of levels of pay 

for non-executive directors. No representations were made by 

shareholders to the company secretary following the meeting. 

The committee was established to ensure that remuneration 

arrangements support the strategic aims of the business 

and enable the recruitment, motivation and retention of 

executives and employees at all levels, while complying with 

all requirements of law and regulation. 

As we focus on scaling our coal resources to better our 

competitive position in coal production, and being a low-

cost producer, we require the best and most efficient human 

resources. Our growth objectives include absorbing the “best-

in-class” into a best-in-class environment. Total rewards approach

Attract | Motivate | Retain

Organisational 

structure

Human

resources

strategy

Business

strategy

TOTAL 

REWARDS STRATEGY

Remuneration

Benefits

Work life

Performance and recognition

Development and career 

opportunities

Employee

Satisfaction and 

engagement

Business

Performance 

and results
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Remuneration philosophy 
The following principles are observed by the committee in the 

development of remuneration policy: 

• Remuneration offered to employees at all levels must be fair 

and market-related and defined within packages that are 

successful in motivating and retaining key employees in key 

positions; 

• Variable pay should be on a meaningful scale so as to influence 

behaviour and reward any special contribution by employees 

but should, at the same time, achieve an appropriate balance 

between organisational goals and ESG factors in the economy; 

and 

• There should be a policy focus on both individual and team-

based performance, recognising the dual roles of leadership 

and team support within the context of a production 

environment. 

Remuneration committee report continued

Forms of remuneration 
Three different forms of remuneration may be negotiated with 

employees, including: 

• a guaranteed pay package, which includes retirement 

funding and medical aid benefits, and is used as the base for 

other forms of remuneration; 

• a performance-based short-term incentive in the form of a 

performance bonus or a production bonus; and 

• a long-term share-based incentive.

The Paterson job evaluation and grading system is used to 

grade positions and regulate remuneration policy. To this end, 

the total cost of employment of each employee, which includes 

both fixed and variable components of pay, is controlled based 

on pay scales that are reviewed annually and aligned with the 

medians given by market surveys. 

As a rule, variable pay is granted on a greater scale to employees who put more of their guaranteed pay at risk in relation to 

the achievement of targets, compared to others. The following is the approved target profile of package structures for the 2021 

financial year:

Bargaining forum employees*

Element of package

% of total cost of employment

Executive

 directors

Other

senior

executives

Senior line

 managers

and

 professional

 staff

Technical

 specialists

Admin 

support 

staff

General

 employees

Paterson grade bands F D5 and E D1 to D4 C C A and B

Annual total package 60 70 80 92 92 92

Short-term incentive (“STI”) at target 40 30 20 8 8 8

Total cost of employment 100 100 100 100 100 100

Maximum STI 80 60 40 16* 16* 16*

Fair value of long-term incentive 

(“LTI”) on date of grant 40 30 20 – – –

* Subject to negotiation.

Individual performance is recognised by a performance management system which is linked to the financial reward system through 

the graduation of performance ratings above and below approved target levels. 

In addition, a merit increment grant policy formally allows for employees to be appointed at levels of pay below median, but they 

receive additional increases above the general increase every year provided they meet expectations until their pay is in line. 

Employees earning at or above median levels may be granted additional increases to the extent that specialised skills are developed 

or special contributions made exceeding expectations. 
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Performance review process and 
variable pay 
In a predefined framework, Wescoal monitors performance 

across a range of predetermined contracted objectives 

that are structured into the variable pay policy. Competitive 

remuneration linked to performance and shareholder value 

creation underpins the organisation’s high-performance culture 

philosophy. This year, we approved terms of reference to effect 

amendments to be in line with our improvements. 

Management is remunerated for achieving the following: 

• Zero harm and licence to operate conditions; 

• Financial and shareholder value sustainability; 

• Operational and customer sustainability; and 

• Transformation. 

The FY21 strategic emphasis and priority is on enabling the 

business to operate at a steady state level, focusing on stability 

(sustained and predictable performance levels), sustainability 

(achieve licence to operate and zero harm) and scalability 

(growth). 

These business imperatives are embedded in a performance 

contract framework that concentrates on: 

• stabilising the business while setting the capacity and 

capability to move towards the future role of Wescoal; 

• increased ownership as all strategic initiatives are allocated 

to an executive or manager and he/she is contracted 

accordingly; and 

• increased accountability – performance will be measured 

and periodically reviewed. 

The DNA of the variable pay policy (FY21) is anchored by: 

• market P50 as a determining variable; 

• the incorporation of a short- and long-term incentive 

combination; 

• performance-based metrics differentiated by output and 

capped; and 

• the clawback clause in the phantom share LTI scheme in 

alignment with best practice. 

The remuneration packages of senior executives are 

benchmarked by the committee on the basis of a reputable 

salary survey. The benchmarking during the year under review 

was undertaken on the basis of the Willis Towers Watson SA 

Senior Executive Salary Survey. 

The following steps will be undertaken in future in the annual 

review process: 

• The total pay of each senior executive will be benchmarked 

against the market on the basis of a reliable survey prior to 

the financial year-end; 

• The CEO will submit recommendations to the committee 

concerning changes to be introduced in the next financial 

year affecting the guaranteed pay package of each senior 

executive, excluding his own; 

• In the case of the remuneration of the CEO, the committee 

will submit its recommendations to the board and these will 

be approved by the board; and 

• The guaranteed pay package increase of each senior 

executive to apply in the next financial year will be agreed 

with him or her before the commencement of the year. 

Short-term incentive scheme 
In support of the short-term strategy, objectives are set for the 

individual executives participating in the short-term incentive 

scheme which is discretionary. Changes to policies regarding 

the short-term and long-term incentive schemes have been 

implemented this year. 

The chairman, in consultation with the remuneration 

committee, set the measures for the CEO and the CFO. 

The CEO and CFO, in consultation with the remuneration 

committee, determine the individual measures and objectives 

for the rest of the executive team and senior management. 

All senior executives are eligible to receive a performance 

bonus at the end of the financial year based on a scorecard of 

corporate (financial) and personal or job-related (non-financial) 

performance criteria that are approved by the CEO at the 

commencement of the financial year. The performance criteria 

applying to the CEO are approved by the committee in liaison 

with the group chairman. 

An equal weight was applied to financial and non-financial 

criteria in FY21. 

Non-financial criteria are applied to senior executives and 

consist of a rating by the CEO of pre-agreed strategic and 

job-related objectives and, in the case of the CEO, a rating by 

the board of his leadership effectiveness. The awards will 

be modified and reduced if any fatalities occur on any of the 

excavation sites. 

The accrual of the STI bonuses is subject further to an 

affordability condition that net profit before bonuses, interest, 

depreciation and taxation for the year must exceed 80% 

of budget. 

No short-term incentives were granted in respect of FY21. 

Long-term incentives 
The objective of this incentive is to encourage and reward the 

achievement of long-term strategic goals and to retain key 

employees over the long term in order to influence the financial 

earnings capacity of the group. These incentives take the 

form of three-year full-value conditional share rights, granted 

as follows and subject to the following performance vesting 

conditions: 

• 50% of the package entitlement will be allocated on the basis 

that there are no performance vesting conditions attaching 

to them (called “retention shares”); and 

• 50% on the basis that there are performance vesting 

conditions (called "performance shares"). 
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No share-based rights or other long-term incentives were 

granted during FY21. 

The level of senior executive remuneration 
in relation to that of other employees 
The committee reaffirms its commitment to monitor and 

control the broader income gap within the organisation. 

Since pay scales are based on a grading system that 

recognises the responsibility level of every position, and on 

regular and systematic benchmarking, the system itself, to a 

large extent, ensures that the remuneration of every employee 

is market-related and equitable. 

While this is the case, the income gap as it is may narrow 

as a result of changes from year-to-year attributable to the 

recognition by the remuneration system of enhanced skills 

assimilated by staff as a direct result of the company’s skills 

development programmes during the same period. 

Top management costs (Paterson F band) account for 20% of 

total employment costs. 

Contracts, severance and termination 
Executive directors and prescribed officers have employment 

contracts which include notice periods of a minimum of 

30 days. There are no balloon payments on termination, 

automatic entitlement to bonuses or automatic entitlement to 

share-based payments other than in terms of the company’s 

approved share options incentive trust rules. 

Remuneration packages, including entitlement to long-term 

incentives, are contracted with incumbents annually with effect 

from the beginning of each financial year in order to realign 

their commitment to the interests of shareholders. Employment 

can be terminated following three months’ notice, however, in 

the case of the CEO, a notice period of six months applies. 

Malus and clawback conditions are included in all variable pay 

incentive scheme rules in order to facilitate the recovery of 

losses in situations such as fraud or bad faith on the part of 

senior executives. No special severance arrangements apply 

to any senior executives currently. Restraint payments may, 

however, be approved from time to time in the future – this 

when a term employment contract is negotiated in order to 

ensure that there is a payback on the company’s outlay. 

Non-executive directors’ fees 
As recommended by King IVTM, the board fees include a base, 

fixed retainer fee and a meeting attendance fee, which are 

competitive to attract and retain suitably qualified individuals 

to complement the skill mix requirements of the board and 

its subcommittees. The fees are reviewed biannually by an 

independent remuneration advisor for approval by the board 

and the ratification of the shareholders at the annual general 

meeting. Remuneration of R4.6 million (FY20: R4.3 million) was 

paid to non-executive directors during the year under review. 

The remuneration of the chairman and other non-executive 

directors is reviewed annually by the committee, and is 

compared to the median of selected peer companies and 

sector benchmarking. 

Remuneration will continue to be offered in the form of an 

annual (fee or retainer) and attendance fees per meeting. 

Approval for the tariff covering scheduled meetings for the 

year, together with and approved annually in advance for 

ordinary membership of the board of directors and of every 

subcommittee of the board, will again be sought at the 

2022 annual general meeting. A higher fee is fixed and 

approved in the same way for the chairman of the board and 

for the chairpersons of each subcommittee in recognition of 

the additional time involvement that they have in preparing for 

each meeting and in following up actions. 

Remuneration committee report continued

KPIs

Financial

Financial EBITDA 

(according to budget)

NPAT 

(according to budget)
Cost savings (15%)

Non-financial

Divisional measures Compliance and audit Human capital Health and safety Leadership and culture
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ad hoc strategy sessions has been maintained. 

The travel and accommodation expenses of non-executive 

directors and premiums for directors’ and officers’ insurance 

cover are paid by the company in terms of a formal approved 

policy. 

PART 3: IMPLEMENTATION REPORT 
A summary of the outcomes of the implementation of the 

remuneration policies affecting the remuneration of executive 

directors, prescribed officers and non-executive directors in the 

financial year under review is set out in this section of the report. 

Guaranteed remuneration
All staff, including the executives, received no (zero) increase 

to their total guaranteed pay. The executive directors’ (F bands) 

guaranteed annual total package has been revised to 60% to 

encourage performance. The F band staff had their salaries 

cut by 5% as part of the S189 settlement agreement process 

effective 1 January 2021. 

Short-term incentives
No short-term incentives were awarded for FY21. 

Long-term incentive grants
Share-based incentives were reintroduced in FY21, with all 

senior executives, line managers and senior professional staff 

qualifying. The objective of this incentive is to encourage and 

reward the achievement of long-term strategic goals and to 

retain key employees over the long term in order to influence 

the financial earnings capacity of the group. 

These incentives take the form of three-year full-value 

conditional share rights, granted as follows and subject to the 

following performance vesting conditions: 

• 50% of the package entitlement will be allocated on the basis 

that there are no performance vesting conditions attaching 

to them (called “retention shares”); and 

• 50% on the basis that there are performance vesting 

conditions (called "performance shares"). 

Although the scheme was reintroduced in FY21, no actual 

grants were awarded at reporting date.

Annual cost to company – Median
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Total remuneration outcomes
The following remuneration costs of executive management were recognised by the accounting system based on IFRS 2 rules during 

the financial year under review: 

Financial 

year 

granted

Option 

grant 

(strike price)

cents

Balance

held as at

31 March 

2021

’000

Balance 

held as at

31 March 

2020

’000

T Tshithavhane 2017 246 850 850

2018 213 205 205

December 2017 246 19 19

M Berry 2014 212 2 000 2 000

2016 111 200 200

2018 213 205 205

December 2017 246 41 41

KN Mbekeni 2018 213 87 87

Unvested share awards
The unvested share rights held by executive management, which are required to be disclosed in terms of the JSE Listings 

Requirements, are illustrated in the table above. 

Remuneration of non-executive directors
The following remuneration was paid to non-executive directors during the year under review (R’000):

Directors’ fees Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total

HLM Mathe 54 42 48 76 138 48 21 70 28 54 27 133 739 

N Siyotula – 86 107 126 156 29 16 112 22 41 14 206 915 

KM Maroga 63 63 24 121 158 24 11 97 15 28 14 182 800 

MR Ramaite 21 9 11 38 40 11 11 30 15 28 14 28 256 

ET Mzimela 45 45 24 79 101 24 11 30 15 14 14 28 430 

C Maswanganyi 21 21 24 38 71 24 11 44 15 28 14 55 366 

N Mnxasana 39 51 24 93 92 11 11 78 15 28 20 137 599 

A Mabizela 39 39 24 59 86 24 11 75 15 28 14 120 534 

 282 356 286 629 843 195 100 535 139 251 132 890 4 639 

Nomavuso Mnxasana

Remuneration committee chairperson

30 July 2021



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

83

Governance

Social and ethics committee report

The committee is constituted in terms of section 72(4) of the 

Companies Act and its accompanying regulations, operates 

under a formal mandate from the board and is guided by its 

own terms of reference. It enhances Wescoal’s oversight of key 

operational issues, including the sustainability of its long-term 

strategy.

Committee responsibilities
The committee meets a minimum of twice a year to discharge 

all its duties as set out in the terms of reference and its annual 

work plan and performs all the functions necessary to fulfil its 

role. Meeting attendance is set out on  page 67. 

The committee’s responsibilities are set out below:

Social responsibilities

• Monitoring the company’s standing regarding social 

and economic development in terms of the goals and 

purposes of:

–  the principles set out in the UN Global Compact Principles: 

–  the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

Development recommendations regarding corruption; 

–  the Employment Equity Act; and

–  the Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment Act. 

• Ensuring good corporate citizenship, including: 

–  the promotion of equality, the prevention of unfair 

discrimination and reduction (strive towards elimination) 

of corruption; 

–  the contribution to the development of the communities 

in the mining areas in which the company’s activities are 

predominantly conducted; and

–  the recording of sponsorships, donations and charitable 

giving. 

• Endorsing the company’s public affairs and CSI programmes, 

including sponsorships, donations and charitable giving. 

• Annually reviewing the company’s public affairs and CSI 

programmes and recommending changes. 

• Labour and employment, including: 

–   employment relationships and contributions by the 

company towards the educational development of its 

employees; and 

–   the company’s standing in terms of the International 

Labour Organisation Protocol on decent work and 

working conditions. 

Ethics and ethical behaviour responsibilities

• Endorsing the company’s code of ethics including core 

values and submitting same to the board for approval; 

• Endorsing the ethics management training programmes; 

• Reviewing performance of the ethics management training 

programmes and recommending changes, if any; 

• Reviewing results of periodic employee attitude surveys 

and recommending actions to be taken, if necessary; 

• Oversight and reporting on organisational ethics, 

responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development 

and stakeholder relationships; 

• Promoting the ethical behaviour of employees, board 

members and stakeholders such as contractors, paying 

attention to the following aspects: 

–  Conflicts of interest; 

–  Confidential information; 

–  Compliance with relevant laws; 

–  Workplace conduct; 

–  Stakeholder relationships; 

–  Public communication; 

–  Safeguarding of the company’s assets; 

–  Employee wellness; 

–  Business courtesy and gifts; 

–  Non-compliance with ethical prescripts; and

–  Internal and external fraud, corruption and collusion. 

Membership
During the year, the committee consisted of three non-executive directors. Two executive directors and other executives of the 

company attend the committee meetings by invitation. Below is a summary of the committee members:

Andile Mabizela

Chairman and independent 

non-executive director 

Eric Mzimela

Non-executive director

Cecil Maswanganyi

Non-executive director

Reginald Demana*

Outgoing CEO, executive 

director

Thivha Tshithavhane

Executive director

* Resigned with eff ect from 31 March 2021.

By invitation

Robinson Ramaite

Interim CEO

Jubilant Speckman

CFO
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Sustainability responsibilities

The committee is also responsible for oversight over matters 

of the environment, health and public safety, including the 

impact of the activities of the company and its products, which 

includes:

• endorsing the company’s sustainability goals and objectives, 

policies and procedures; 

• reviewing ESG reports including, but not limited to, 

sustainability audits (including environmental impact 

assessment reports), submissions to the JSE in respect of 

sustainability and external sustainability reports (including 

sustainability-related reports and information contained in 

the company’s integrated annual report) and recommending 

or endorsing actions to be taken; 

• reviewing health and safety reports at each formal meeting 

and recommending or endorsing action(s) to be taken; 

• being kept informed of, and considering public policy and 

ESG reporting developments, studying the implications of 

changes thereto and making recommendations in respect of 

actions to be taken; 

• reviewing stakeholder relationships including advertising 

and public relations; and 

• compliance with applicable legislation. 

Transformation responsibilities

• Ensuring that there is full integration and alignment of 

all transformation processes within the company and 

monitoring the company’s standing on social and economic 

development in terms of goals and purposes, particularly in 

respect of the: 

–  Employment Equity Act; 

–  Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment Act; and

–  Mining Charter requirements; 

• Reviewing and recommending targets for the company in 

respect of the above processes; 

• Advising the board on specific strategies for transformation; 

and

• Considering and reviewing progress against set goals 

and targets in relation to all aspects of the company’s 

transformation strategy. 

The committee will perform a self-evaluation of its 

effectiveness every second year and report the results of the 

self-evaluation to the board.

Focus areas in FY21
The year was a consolidation year for the committee ensuring 

minimum mandates were being met and liaising with corporate 

services to understand their progress, strategic initiatives and 

implementation plans. 

The largest focus area was monitoring the 11 ESG themes 

which Wescoal elevated to a strategic conversation with a 

strong focus on environmental compliance and environmental 

practices. Wescoal has embraced ESG as a principal pillar of 

sustainability, as an enabler of stability and a precursor to 

strong scalability. The board has mandated the ESG initiative 

under the custodianship of the social and ethics committee to 

guide its progress. Directors, executives and senior managers 

have identified and evaluated the organisation’s current ESG 

position and the opportunities it presents. The process is key to 

determining a long-term strategic outlook for the company. 
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Wescoal aspires to be perceived as a 
good corporate citizen in areas where 
we operate in order to maintain our 
social licence to operate by adopting 
corporate governance practices during 
and post the mining phases. The board 
has funding provisions in place for 
community investment activities which 
are reviewed regularly.

Other focus areas included the committee’s collaborative 

support to the audit, risk and compliance committee in 

developing the risk compliance framework and reorganising 

the risk profile in order of priority. This included compliance 

and governance policies and plans being developed and 

implemented. The committee has oversight of the risk and 

compliance practices, monitoring that high risks are attended 

to timeously and implementing a practice of risk tolerance. 

As a committee, we determined that we had previously not 

spent enough time focusing on health and safety and therefore 

placed greater emphasis on this area. Key implementations in 

this area included a robust communication plan to adopt and 

capture outputs.

The committee also met with the remuneration committee to 

discuss common areas of oversight. 

It proved to be a useful foundational year for the committee 

and we feel we have established a solid programme and work 

plan going forward.

Ethics management and code of conduct
Wescoal has approved the ethics framework, adopted an 

ethics policy and has appointed an ethics officer. The company 

has a zero-tolerance approach to any unethical behaviour 

and is committed to ensuring that its employees uphold 

the company’s good reputation. Wescoal strives to operate 

in accordance with the highest ethical standards and in 

compliance with all applicable laws (refer to  page 65 for 

further detail).

Socio-economic development and corporate 
citizenship
The key component of the Wescoal business strategy is to be 

a responsible and contributing corporate citizen guided by 

an ethical business philosophy and core values. Through its 

community investment strategy, Wescoal is committed to the 

empowerment, development and growth of disadvantaged 

communities (refer to  pages 56 and 58). 

Health, safety and environment
Wescoal’s executives, management and employees are 

committed to maintaining a safe and healthy working 

environment. Wescoal’s HSE performance is covered in 

the ESG section of this integrated annual report (refer to 

 pages 53 and 55).

Legal and statutory licences
Wescoal’s Mining division complies with all legal and statutory 

requirements of the DMRE. All mining operations have current 

and valid mining rights and compliant environmental licences, 

including water use licences (“WUL”). The status of various 

statutory licences is discussed elsewhere in this integrated 

annual report (refer to  page 68).
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Broad-based black economic 
empowerment
Wescoal views its B-BBEE status as a strategic and 

competitive lever that positions it advantageously in the 

market and general business enterprise (refer to  page 4 for 

further detail).

Enterprise and skills development
Wescoal takes enterprise and skills development very 

seriously and has provided tangible opportunities to 

community-based businesses at its operations. Wescoal 

has also participated in the incubation of community-based 

initiatives that will provide long-term contractual services 

to its operations. The enterprise development programme 

has been repositioned to include a more active engagement 

of communities together with Wescoal’s human resources 

functionaries to facilitate more cohesive enterprise 

development initiatives (refer to  page 58 for further detail). 

Supplier development
The company remains committed to aligning its supplier 

profile to its intended B-BBEE profile, which is largely black. 

Wescoal’s B-BBEE approach includes reviewing supplier needs 

and standards regularly to ensure that these are well known 

and attainable by suitably qualified and resourced potential 

businesses and black participants (refer to  page 59 for 

further detail).

Focus areas for FY22
In the current year, the committee will focus on the following 

areas:

• ESG and the 11 themes, and roll-out to becoming part of the 

KPIs; and

• Health and safety – ensuring close scrutiny.

Committee assurance
Wescoal’s social and ethics committee is satisfied that it 

complied with its legal, regulatory and other responsibilities 

during the current financial year.

Andile Mabizela

Social and ethics committee chairman 

30 July 2021
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Resources and reserves summary

Purpose
Miptec Proprietary Limited (“Miptec”) was commissioned by Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited (“Wescoal”), a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Wescoal Holdings Limited, a coal mining and exploration company with thermal coal assets located in the Mpumalanga 

and KwaZulu-Natal provinces of South Africa, to produce a coal resources and reserves update statement for their operating assets, 

Elandspruit Colliery (“Elandspruit”), Khanyisa Colliery (“Khanyisa”), Vanggatfontein Colliery (“Vanggatfontein”), Moabsvelden Colliery 

(“Moabsvelden”) as well as project areas Sterkfontein Project (“Sterkfontein”), Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery Projects (“LBC”) and Arnot 

Colliery Project (“Arnot”), in order to meet the minimum JSE Listings Requirements, reflective of the 31 March 2021 status. 

This stand-alone extract from the resources and reserves update report has been prepared for inclusion in the integrated annual 

report for Wescoal Holdings.

Figure 1. Wescoal Holdings Limited company structure

Ownership/company structure

*  Arnot HoldCo currently has interest of 100% in Arnot OpCo. Post incorporation of Arnot employee and community trust this 

shareholding will reduce to 90% which will make Wescoal’s effective shareholding in Arnot OpCo 45% and this has been used for 

the purpose of the resource and reserves summary.

# Acquired remaining 26% effective June 2019.

Arnot OpCo 

Proprietary 

Limited

(Registration 

number: 

2019/072282/07)

Wescoal Holdings Limited
 (Registration number: 2005/006913/06) 

Wescoal Mining 
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1999/005845/07)

100%

Wescoal Mineral 

Recoveries Proprietary 

Limited

(Registration number: 

2007/012027/07)

100%

Proudafrique Trading 

147 Proprietary 
Limited

(Registration
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2007/006676/07)

Wescoal Exploration 

Proprietary Limited

(Registration

number: 

2008/007266/07)

Arnot HoldCo 

Proprietary Limited

(Registration 

number: 

2019/019247/07)

100% 100%

50%

Neosho Trading 86 

Proprietary Limited#

(Registration

number: 

2008/010470/07)

Keaton Mining

Proprietary Limited

 (Registration

number: 

2006/017998/07)

Leeuw

Braakfontein
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Proprietary
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number: 

2003/003619/07)
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(Registration
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100% 100%
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Keaton Energy Holdings 

Limited 

(Registration number: 

2006/011090/06)

100%
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Eff ective date 
The effective date of the coal resources and coal reserves 

summary report is 31 March 2021.

Project outline 
Wescoal’s operating coal assets are situated in the Emalahleni/

Highveld region and comprise Elandspruit Colliery, which is 

an operational coal mine situated some 8km west of the town 

of Middelburg; the Khanyisa Complex situated approximately 

14km west of the town of Ogies; Vanggatfontein Colliery 

situated 15km east of the town of Delmas and Moabsvelden 

Colliery situated 5km north of Vanggatfontein and 14km east of 

the town of Delmas, all in the Mpumalanga province.  

Wescoal’s projects are spread out as indicated below:

• Three coal projects, namely Sterkfontein, located 

approximately 5km south-west of the town of Bethal; LBC 

located approximately 10km east-south-east from the town 

of Newcastle in the KwaZulu-Natal province and Arnot 

located 16km east of the town of Middelburg in Mpumalanga.

Emphasis regarding the coal resource and coal reserve 

estimates is placed on the realistic prospect for eventual 

economic extraction. Resources were guided by reserves 

previously estimated, quality and strip ratio cut-offs. 

Reserves were backed by inhouse life of mine schedules 

and financial models provided for scrutiny with an 

additional verification by Miptec where all operating asset’s 

mining models were duplicated in Xpac mining software. 

The information in this summary statement is compiled 

on a group basis in appropriate detail, summarising the 

current situation and known changes at each operation.

The company structure, as depicted in Figure 1 was applied 

when reporting attributable coal resources/coal reserves. 

The addition of Arnot, with Wescoal holding effectively 45%, 

is based on Arnot InvestCo Proprietary Limited and Wescoal 

Mining Proprietary Limited each owning 50% of Arnot 

HoldCo Proprietary Limited which, in turn, owns 90% of 

Arnot OpCo Proprietary Limited. All other assets are 100% 

owned by Wescoal.

Based on the information provided, Wescoal has the legal entitlement to the coal resources and reserves reported. The 

Sterkfontein Project prospecting licences have expired. An application for two separate mining rights was lodged at the DMRE 

within the prescribed timeframe in November 2017; the granting of the mining rights is still pending. On Arnot, a seemingly 

incorrect plan was used during the execution of the right. Currently, there are three section 11 mining right transfers in 

process as well as two section 102 transfers.

Figure 2: Arnot OpCo structure

Eskom

Exxaro Coal

Mpumalanga 

Proprietary 

Limited (“Exxaro”)

Ex-employees

trust

Innovators

Resources 

Proprietary 

Limited

Wescoal Holdings

Limited

Arnot current

employees

SPV 1

Arnot current

community

SPV1

Arnot 

OpCo

50% 50% 100%

Investment 

holding company

Wescoal Mining 

Proprietary 

Limited 

Arnot 

HoldCo

50% 50%

New Eskom

CSA

90% 5%2 5%2

Wescoal management

agreementExxaro transfer of business 

agreement (including cession 

of Exxaro CSA)

Exxaro CSA 

(to be ceded to 

Arnot OpCo)

Arnot Mine

• Mineral rights

• Surface rights

• Mining information

•  Plant, equipment and infrastructure

• Cession of Exxaro CSA

•  Rehabilitation team employees

1  SPV to either be a trust or a company – To be determined once tax and other commercial structuring considerations 
(including requirements of Mining Charter 2018) have been fully considered. 

2  “Carried interest” percentage per Mining Charter 2018. Cost for the carried interest to be recovered by the mining right holder from development of asset.
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Resources and reserves summary continued

Reporting compliance
The reporting standard adopted for the reporting of coal 

resources and coal reserves for the Wescoal operating assets 

(Elandspruit, Khanyisa, Vanggatfontein and Moabsvelden) is 

the 2016 edition of the South African Code for the Reporting of 

Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves 

(“the SAMREC Code”) as prepared by the South African Mineral 

Resource Committee Working Group under the auspices 

of the Southern African Institute for Mining and Metallurgy 

(“SAIMM”) and the Geological Society of South Africa (“GSSA”). 

The definitions of the relevant terms, methodologies and 

estimation processes employed, and the reporting for South 

African Securities Exchange purposes for the coal resources 

and coal reserves in this report, are according to those set out 

in the South African Guide to the Systematic Evaluation of Coal 

Exploration Results, Coal Resources and Coal Reserves (SANS 

10320:2020) published by Standards South Africa, a division of 

the South African Bureau of Standards.

The respective coal resource and coal reserve estimates are 

classified and signed off by suitably qualified competent persons 

(“CPs”). Each CP has sufficient, relevant experience in the style 

of mineralisation, type of deposit, mining method and activity 

for which they have taken responsibility, to qualify as a CP as 

defined in section 9 of the SAMREC Code. All CPs consent to the 

inclusion of information into this report in the form and context 

in which they appear (stand-alone). Each CP is independent 

of the issuer and does not have a material interest capable of 

affecting their ability to give an unbiased opinion on the projects 

for which they take responsibility, and have not received, and will 

not receive, any pecuniary or other benefits in connection with 

the estimates presented, other than normal consulting fees.

Competent persons  
The CP responsible for the coal resource estimations on 

operating assets Elandspruit, Khanyisa, Vanggatfontein and 

Moabsvelden, as contained in this report, is Ms Katherine Black 

(BSc (Hons)), PrSciNat. Ms Black has 14 years’ experience in 

the mining industry as a coal geologist. Over the past 14 years, 

Ms Black has primarily been involved in the compilation 

and management of coal databases, the construction of 

geological models and the estimation of coal resources for 

various greenfield operations in South Africa, Botswana and 

Mozambique, as well as a number of operating coal mines in 

South Africa. Ms Black is currently the owner of KJB GeoServices 

(“KJB”) (60 Curvy Road, Johannesburg 2194) and an associate 

of Miptec. She is registered with the South African Council for 

Natural Scientific Professions (SACNASP registration number: 

400295/12) and is a member in good standing with the GSSA. 

The coal resources for Sterkfontein and LBC were added to this 

report as per the 31 January 2017 Venmyn Deloitte competent 

person’s report (“CPR”) and consent from Venmyn Deloitte 

was sourced in 2018. It has been stated by Wescoal to the 

CPs, that no work subsequent to the issuing of the 2017 CPR 

was conducted on these two projects to suggest a change in 

previously declared coal resources. 

The coal resources for the remaining project, namely Arnot, 

were added to this report as per the 1 July 2019 MSA Group 

CPR with consent sourced from the MSA Group in June 2021 to 

use the information from the CPR. No work or mining activities 

subsequent to the issuing of the 2019 CPR have taken place, and 

therefore the coal resource estimates have remained unchanged. 

Dr EA Schneiderhan was responsible for the construction 

of the 2017 Sterkfontein and LBC geological models and 

accompanying resource estimations, as well as the Arnot 

geological model and accompanying resource estimations in 

2019. Dr Schneiderhan has been modelling coal deposits for 

the past 11 years and has experience with numerous projects 

in the Witbank, Highveld and Ermelo coalfields.

In accordance with the SAMREC Code, this report has been 

prepared under the direct supervision of a lead competent 

person, Mr Leonardt Raaths, who assumes overall responsibility 

for this report. Mr Raaths is responsible for all the coal reserve 

estimations. Mr Raaths holds a BTech Mining degree from UJ, 

a BSc in Operations Research from Unisa and an MBL from 

Unisa SBL. Mr Raaths is registered with the SAIMM (registration 

number: 702015). Mr Raaths has 30 years’ experience in coal 

mining, the largest portion of which was on technical and 

project disciplines, where the determination of coal reserves 

was part of his responsibility. This was largely for BHP’s South 

African collieries, Xstrata South Africa, CIC Energy and now as 

an independent consultant at Miptec Consulting Proprietary 

Limited, 19 Jan Frederik Street, Emalahleni (PO Box 40084, 

Reyno Ridge 1049).

As lead CP, it can be stated that this coal resources and 

coal reserves update report provides a true reflection of the 

resources and reserves held by Wescoal.

Personal inspection 
Miptec representatives, Mr Raaths and Ms Black (CP geology 

and coal resources) conducted site visits to all of the Wescoal 

operations (Elandspruit, Khanyisa, Vanggatfontein and 

Moabsvelden Collieries) during May 2021. 

Dr PJ Hancox (PrSciNat, CP geology and coal resources) of 

CCIC Coal, on behalf of Venmyn, visited LBC and Sterkfontein in 

September 2015. As no further work has been conducted on 

the area, and technical reliance is placed upon the CPR signed 

off by Dr PJ Hancox (2017), no additional site visits have been 

undertaken. 

MSA conducted independent site visits to the Arnot Project 

over the course of 2018. Dr PJ Hancox and Mark Richard 

Mohring (CP coal reserves, mining and processing) undertook 

a site inspection on 4 April 2018. As no further work has been 

conducted on the area, and technical reliance is placed upon the 

CPR signed off by Dr PJ Hancox (2019), no additional site visits 

have been undertaken.
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Key technical persons
During the preparation of this update report, reliance was placed on the individuals detailed in Table 1 below. 

Environmental practitioners are appointed by Wescoal and were consulted with regard to the coal resources and coal reserves. 

They are responsible for the compliance audits, monitoring, closure assessments and related permitting/approvals as well as 

pending applications that could affect the reported coal resources and coal reserves. 

Table 1. Table of key technical persons

Elandspruit  Khanyisa Vanggatfontein Moabsvelden Arnot Braakfontein Sterkfontein

Status Operating Operating Operating Project Project Project Project

Field Geologist Rotodwa 

Mogale 

(employee)

Mpho Phatela 

(employee)

Rendani 

Shiwalula 

(employee)

Modelling Geologist KJ Black 

(Forbes) 

(Miptec)

KJ Black 

(Forbes) 

(Miptec)

KJ Black 

(Forbes) 

(Miptec)

KJ Black 

(Forbes) 

(Miptec)

PJ Hancox 

(CCIC)/

Andre J vd 

Merwe (MSA) 

Vusi Sambo 

(employee)

PJ Hancox 

(CCIC)/L de 

Klerk (Venmyn 

Deloitte)

PJ Hancox 

(CCIC)/L de 

Klerk (Venmyn 

Deloitte)

Mining engineer T Ndou (employee) L Raaths (Miptec) Grant John 

Pitt (MSA), 

Mark Richard 

Mohring (MSA)

Chief surveyor D Fereira 

(DFTS)

D Fereira 

(DFTS)

M Jooste (SRM) M Jooste 

(SRM)

Environmental 

Practitioner

M Maloba (employee), Babalwa Fatyi 

(Consultant), Masala Mugwagwa (Consultant), 

Jaco Kleynhans (Consultant)

M Maloba 

(employee)

Richard David

Garner (MSA)

M Maloba (employee)

SLP Practitioner Eric Mnisi (employee)

Work conducted during FY21 
Exploration drilling was undertaken at Elandspruit, with no 

drilling at Vanggatfontein, Moabsvelden, Khanyisa or any of 

the project areas during FY21. As such, only the Elandspruit 

geological model was updated with new information. Resource 

estimations on the operating assets were based on the existing 

and updated models reflective of the surveyed positions of the 

mined-out faces as at 31 March 2021. The coal resources for 

these areas were updated by Ms Black of KJB based on the 

2018, 2020 and 2021 geological models, respectively, net of 

depletion. The coal reserves for these assets were estimated 

by Miptec in the scheduling models net of depletion as at 

31 March 2021 based on the respective geological models and 

relevant reconciliations, following the parameters as stipulated 

in the reports. Mr Raaths, a full-time employee of Miptec, is 

responsible for all coal reserve estimations. 

During the financial year 2021, nine fully cored holes were 

drilled at Elandspruit. The purpose of these boreholes was 

to increase the geological knowledge over the area for both 

modelling and mine planning purposes. All boreholes were 

wireline logged, sampled and analysed. The data obtained from 

the drilling programme was verified and incorporated into the 

geological model. 

The coal resources for Sterkfontein and LBC were added to this 

report as per the 31 January 2017 Venmyn Deloitte CPR and 

consent from Venmyn Deloitte was sourced in 2018. It has been 

stated, by Wescoal to the CPs, that no work was conducted on 

these two projects to suggest a change in previously declared 

coal resources. A permitting change was initiated through the 

submission of an application for two mining rights over the 

total Sterkfontein prospecting areas together with a section102 

application to consolidate the mining right when executed. 

Sterkfontein can only resume further field work once the 

mining right has been granted. At the time of this report, the 

awarding of the mining rights was still pending.

The coal resources for the remaining project, namely Arnot, 

were added to this report as per the 1 July 2019 MSA Group 

CPR and consent was sourced from the MSA Group in 

June 2021 to use the information from the CPR. Wescoal is 

not the operating partner on this project. Arnot OpCo has done 

more technical work on the project that was not considered 

for this report. Arnot OpCo, in their plans for the upcoming 

reporting period, has to update the CPR and align it with the 

latest work in progress.
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Regional geology
Witbank Coalfield

The Elandspruit, Khanyisa, Vanggatfontein and Moabsvelden 

Collieries are located within the Witbank Coalfield of South 

Africa. The northern extent of the coalfield is defined by the 

limit of coal-bearing sediments of the Vryheid Formation 

which abut against pre-Karoo basement rocks of the Transvaal 

Sequence, the Waterberg Group and Bushveld Complex. The 

southern limit of the central sector of the coalfield is marked by 

a series of Bushveld Complex inliers known as the Smithfield 

Ridge while in the east and west sectors, the boundary between 

the Witbank Coalfield and the Highveld Coalfield to the south is 

somewhat arbitrary. 

In the Witbank Coalfield, the Karoo Supergroup stratigraphic 

sequence is abbreviated with sediments of only the Dwyka 

Group and Vryheid Formation of the Ecca Group present. The 

Dwyka Group is characterised by deposits of glaciogenic origin, 

including tillites, diamictites and rhythmites, while the Vryheid 

Formation comprises a predominantly arenaceous sequence 

of sandstones with subordinate siltstones and mudstones 

arranged in a series of upward coarsening sequences. 

Each genetic sequence represents a major cycle of deltaic 

outbuilding and is usually capped by a coal seam. The only 

major disturbances to the strata are the minor dolerite dykes 

and sills, which have displaced the coal seams and burnt and 

devolatilised the coal seam in certain areas.

The five major coal seams of the coalfield are contained 

within a stratigraphic interval averaging approximately 70m in 

thickness. The seams are numbered, from the base upwards 

and include the No. 1 Coal Seam, the No. 2 Coal Seam (split into 

the No. 2 Lower Coal Seam and No. 2 Upper Coal Seam), the 

No. 3 Coal Seam, the No. 4 Coal Seam (split into the No. 4 Lower 

Coal Seam and No. 4 Upper Coal Seam) and the uppermost 

No. 5 Coal Seam. 

Highveld Coalfield

Sterkfontein is located within the Highveld Coalfield. The coal 

deposits of the Highveld Coalfield are restricted to rocks of 

the Vryheid Formation, which range in thickness from 70m 

to over 500m, being thickest in the north-east and east of the 

preserved outcrop area, to the south-south-west of the town 

of Vryheid, where the basin was the deepest. Five depositional 

sequences are recognised within the Vryheid Formation in 

the Highveld Coalfield, each with the potential for coal seam 

development at the top. These are numbered from No. 1 Seam 

at the base to No. 5 Seam at the top. Of these, by far the most 

important economic seam of the Highveld Coalfield is the 

No. 4 Seam.

Klip River Coalfield

LBC occurs in the north-eastern part of the Klip River Coalfield, 

one of the most historically important coal-producing areas 

of South Africa. Large areas of the Klip River Coalfield are 

affected by Jurassic-aged dolerite intrusions, and these 

intrusives are probably the single most disruptive aspect of 

the coalfield. Displacements of up to 180m may be associated 

with these intrusions. Coal within the Klip River Coalfield 

is hosted within the Vryheid Formation of the Ecca Group, 

Karoo Supergroup. Five seams are known in the coalfield 

and various nomenclatures exist. Only two seams, however, 

known as the Top and Bottom Seams, are usually commercially 

exploited. The two seams are considered to be the stratigraphic 

equivalents of the Alfred and Gus Seams in the Utrecht 

Coalfield, and occur stratigraphically approximately 200m 

above the top of the Pietermaritzburg Formation and 120m 

below the base of the Volksrust Formation. The Top Seam 

comprises mainly dull coal and is the uppermost economic 

coal seam in the Klip River Coalfield. The seam attains its 

maximum thickness of 3.6m to the north-east of Alcockspruit 

and Dannhauser and is also thicker in the northern reaches of 

the coalfield. Elsewhere it is usually developed to a thickness of 

between 0.80m and 3.6m. The Bottom Seam comprises mainly 

bright coal. The thickest development of the seam occurs in 

the east-central parts of the coalfield, and thins towards the 

west and south-west, thickening again to the far south in the 

vicinity of the town of Colenso. The two seams are separated 

by between 0.3m and 15m of predominantly coarse-grained 

to pebbly, cross-stratified sandstone, which fines upwards 

into carbonaceous siltstone and mudstone. Apart from where 

locally tilted by dolerite intrusions, the seams (and strata) are 

generally flat-lying although gently undulating with a regional 

dip to the south of less than one degree.

Coal resource and coal reserves summary 
As at 31 March 2021, Wescoal holds a total managed 

attributable coal resource of 305.42mt and an inclusive 

managed attributable coal reserve of 62.85mt net of 7.82mt 

depleted for the reporting period.

Coal resource and coal reserve estimates for the period ending 

31 March 2021 are included below. The estimates for FY21 

are compared to the FY20 estimates and a reconciliation is 

provided in each of the asset sections alongside. 
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Table 2: Summarised resources and reserves statement of all managed assets as at 31 March 2021

 Coal resources (MTIS) (AD) ROM coal reserves (AR)

Inferred

mt

Indicated

mt

Measured

mt

Total

coal

resource

mt

Probable

mt

Proved

mt

Total 

ROM coal

 reserve

mt

Elandspruit Colliery  –  –  11.63  11.63  1.78  9.75  11.53 

Elandspruit opencast  –  –  9.67  9.67  0.59  9.75  10.34 

4 Seam  1.18  1.18  0.78  0.78 

3 Seam  0.35  0.35  0.01  0.36  0.37 

2U Seam  1.76  1.76  0.19  1.57  1.76 

2L Seam  2.72  2.72  0.20  2.97  3.17 

1 Seam  3.66  3.66  0.19  4.07  4.26 

Elandspruit underground  –  –  1.96  1.96  1.19  –  1.19 

1 Seam  1.96  1.96  1.19  1.19 

Khanyisa Colliery  –  –  2.11  2.11  –  1.45  1.45 

Triangle opencast  –  –  1.94  1.94  –  1.42  1.42 

4U Seam  0.39  0.39  0.20  0.20 

4L Seam  0.42  0.42  0.26  0.26 

2 Seam  1.13  1.13  0.95  0.95 

Catwalk opencast  –  –  0.17  0.17  –  0.03  0.03 

2 Seam  0.17  0.17  0.03  0.03 

Vanggatfontein Colliery  0.10  7.02  17.25  24.37  3.61  17.53  21.14 

Vanggatfontein opencast  0.10  7.02  10.66  17.78  –  17.53  17.53 

5 Seam  –  0.42  –  0.42  0.49  0.49 

4 Seam  0.05  3.64  3.90  7.59  8.54  8.54 

2 Seam  0.04  2.96  6.76  9.77  8.50  8.50 

Vanggatfontein underground  –  –  6.59  6.59  3.61  –  3.61 

4 Seam  6.03  6.03  3.61  3.61 

2 Seam  0.56  0.56  –

Moabsvelden Colliery  1.99  28.66  30.65  –  28.72  28.72 

Moabsvelden opencast  1.99  28.66  30.65  –  28.72  28.72 

5 Seam  0.16  2.44  2.59  2.75  2.75 

4 Seam  0.86  12.99  13.85  12.18  12.18 

2 Seam  0.97  13.23  14.20  13.79  13.79 

Leeuw Braakfontein Project  –  60.06  –  60.06  –  –  –

Leeuw Braakfontein opencast  –  11.43  –  11.43 

Top Seam  6.90  6.90  –

Bottom Seam  4.53  4.53  –

Leeuw Braakfontein underground  –  48.63  –  48.63 

Top Seam  29.73  29.73  –

Bottom Seam  18.90  18.90  –

Sterkfontein Project  40.64  50.29  –  90.93 

Sterkfontein underground  40.64  50.29  –  90.93 

4U Seam  0.12  0.99  1.11  –

4L Seam  40.52  49.30  89.82  –

Arnot Colliery (45% Attributable)  45.99  69.67  74.71  190.37  –  –  –

Arnot Opencast  7.69  13.60  13.75  35.04  –  –  –

S2L  6.56  11.87  13.03  31.46  –

S1  1.13  1.73  0.72  3.58  –

Arnot Underground  38.30  56.07  60.96  155.33  –  –  –

S2L  38.30  56.07  60.96  155.33  –

Total (100% basis)  86.73  189.04  134.36  410.12  5.39  57.45  62.85 

Wescoal attributable  61.43  150.72  93.27  305.42  5.39  57.45  62.85 
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The attributable resources and reserves were all based on a 

100% basis ownership, except for Arnot which was included on 

a 45% basis.

Wescoal, on behalf of the directors, provided statements 

for Wescoal Holdings Proprietary Limited, Wescoal Mining 

Proprietary Limited, Keaton Energy Proprietary Limited and 

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited, confirming that there 

are no legal proceedings or other material conditions that may 

impact the company’s ability to continue mining or exploration 

activities for any of the assets included in this resources and 

reserves update.

It is important to note that coal resource estimates are 

inclusive of coal reserves, net of mining depletion and are 

compliant with the SAMREC Code guidelines and section 12.11 

of the JSE Listings Requirements. Estimations were rounded, 

and therefore subsequent additions could result in minor 

discrepancies which are not considered material. The coal 

resources and coal reserves will be affected by factors such 

as changes in coal pricing, currency fluctuations, permitting, 

legislation and operating parameters. No inferred resources 

were included in reserves.

Coal resource and reserve estimation 
process
Work conducted by Miptec is stated in the related section above 

and forms the focus of the descriptive sections below.

Exploration and data management

Drilling was only carried out on Elandspruit during the financial 

year ending 31 March 2021. Wescoal was responsible for 

the design and management of the nine holes drilled across 

the Yoctolux North and East pits, as well as the logging and 

sampling of the coal seams. Miptec verified the supplied data 

by checking the wireline logs and lab certificates prior to 

including the nine boreholes in the current geological model. 

The recently drilled boreholes displayed the same seam 

characteristics as the boreholes already in the model, and 

therefore their addition did not result in any material change 

in the coal resource estimate or seam statistics.  

Laboratory analysis

For the recent exploration programme at Elandspruit, 

the borehole samples were analysed by Sibonisiwe Coal 

Laboratory Services (“Sibonisiwe”), according to ISO standards. 

Sibonisiwe is an independent company specialising in 

coal sampling and analysis and is South African National 

Accreditation Service-accredited. Miptec has not audited the 

laboratory and is not aware if they participate in any recognised 

“round robin” quality control procedures.

Recent coal samples were analysed for both raw and wash 

proximate analyses: ash content (“Ash”), inherent moisture 

(“IM”) and volatile matter (“VM”), as well as for calorific value 

(“CV”) and total sulphur (“TS”). Density measurements were 

taken on all samples. All the coal-apparent relative densities 

(“RD”) were also determined by the laboratories for each 

sample. 

No bulk sampling work was done.  

Geological Modelling

Geological models for Moabsvelden, Vanggatfontein, 

Elandspruit and Khanyisa were updated or maintained during 

the 2021 financial year by Ms Black. All the geological models 

were created using Datamine’s MineScape™ Geological 

Modelling Software. 

Elandspruit was the only model updated with newly acquired 

drilling information, whereas the Vanggatfontein model was 

updated by removing an erroneous borehole within the VG4 pit 

area (the borehole was determined to be erroneously thick). All 

models for all of the collieries were updated with the surveyed 

mined-out face positions as at 31 March 2021 in order to 

update the coal resource estimations.

The geological models for Sterkfontein, LBC and Arnot 

were created by Dr Schneiderhan of CCIC, using Datamine’s 

Studio Modelling Software. No model updates have been 

conducted since the models were created in 2017 and 

2019, respectively. 

Model process

The model process for Elandspruit, Khanyisa, Vanggatfontein 

and Moabsvelden is as per the description below.

The databases, on a per project basis, are validated and the 

necessary input files for the models are created in MS Excel 

format. These files, namely a collar and lithology file (including 

the seam picks and limit of weathering) along with the 

topography file, were uploaded directly into StratModel™. The 

modelling software includes a user-generated Schema wherein 

the modelled units are listed in stratigraphic order (a form of 

model control). 

Should the lithology file contain seams that are in the incorrect 

sequence stratigraphically, then upon upload, the model will 

report an error (logged as an error report). This is the first level 

of data verification while modelling. 

Besides lithological verification, the quality data was checked 

against the borehole intervals to ensure that there were no 

missing or overlapping samples. Where it was found that 

partings within coal seams were not sampled, then appropriate 

dummy values were assigned in order to more correctly reflect 

the quality of the coal. Verification routines regarding the 

import of quality data are also built into StratModel™. Should 

any undetected depth correlations between the modelled 
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lithology and imported qualities be detected, then these are 

also reported in an error report file. The report file is then 

interrogated, and the listed errors corrected, and the newly 

edited files reloaded. 

Once the necessary physical and quality data was loaded into 

the models, and all reported errors corrected, the data was 

gridded. The resultant grid model is interrogated by creating 

data posts, statistical reports, contour plots, various grid 

arithmetic plots and posts and both 2D and 3D cross-sections. 

The model is set to truncate the coal seams on intersection 

with the limit/depth of weathering to ensure only unweathered 

coal is reserved.

The following surfaces were modelled for each of the mineable 

coal seams:

• Topography;

• Level/depth of weathering;

• Roof and floor elevations;

• Seam thickness for all seams;

• Interburden thicknesses; and

• Raw and washed air-dried qualities (RD, AS, CV, VM, FC, 

IM and TS). 

The coal resource boundaries are based on the sub-outcrops 

of the seams, cut-off seam thicknesses and qualities, licence 

boundaries and any existing surface and environmental 

features. The coal resources included in the estimations are 

considered as having the potential for eventual economic 

extraction based on multiple factors such as the fact that they 

form part of a coal resource that is currently being mined, the 

seam thicknesses and qualities meet the current mining and 

marketing parameters.

The models are considered mature models, which are verified 

annually by comparison with actual surveyed information 

from the various operations. During the current financial year, 

it was determined that there was a discrepancy between the 

mined/surveyed coal tonnes at Vanggatfontein, and those 

estimated from the model. At present, besides coal lost due 

to mining practices, the only other way to determine why 

the coal recoveries are less than the model and current 

boreholes predict, is to drill additional boreholes at VG4. Due 

to the subsequent lack of confidence in the data pertaining 

to VG4, a decision was made to downgrade the coal resource 

classification of the No. 5, No. 4 and No. 2 Seams from 

measured to indicated categories, until the additional drilling 

information becomes available. 

The model process for Sterkfontein, LBC and Arnot is as per 

the description below.

The geological models for the Sterkfontein, LBC and Arnot 

areas were created by Dr Schneiderhan of CCIC, using 

Datamine’s Studio Modelling Software, and included the 

generation of wireframes, the level of weathering, slices and 

sections of the major coal seams and dolerite intrusions. This 

was followed by geological interpretation, specifically focused 

on the structure and the relationship between the dolerite 

intrusions and their effect on the coal seams. A number of 

sections were generated to test the geological model and 

to gain a better understanding of the changes in the floor 

elevation of the seams in order to see where faults potentially 

occur. Block models were then generated of the coal seam 

depth and thickness and raw qualities. The seam wireframes 

were then converted into block models with a 50m by 50m by 

seam height cell size. 

No exploration work has been carried out on either the 

Sterkfontein or LBC projects subsequent to the construction of 

the geological models, and the estimation of the coal resources 

contained in the 31 January 2017 CPR entitled “Independent 

Competent Person’s Report on the Coal Assets of Keaton 

Energy Holdings Limited” compiled by Venmyn Deloitte. 

The coal resource estimate for the current 2021 financial 

year therefore remains as per the 2017 estimate. Permission 

has been obtained from Venmyn to include both relevant 

excerpts from the report (in the context within which they 

were intended) as well as the coal resource estimates in this 

summary report.

The Arnot Colliery CPR, entitled “Arnot OpCo Proprietary 

Limited, Independent Competent Person’s Report – Arnot 

Project Mpumalanga, South Africa”, was compiled by the 

MSA Group and has an effective date of 1 July 2019. As no 

exploration or mining has taken place since the compilation of 

the CPR, the resource and reserve estimate for Arnot Colliery 

for FY21 remains unchanged. Permission has been received 

from MSA to include both relevant excerpts from the report 

(in the context within which they were intended) as well as the 

coal resource and reserve estimates in this summary report. 

Coal resource classification

Coal resource classification and reporting has been conducted 

in accordance with the requirements of the SAMREC Code, 

the terms, definitions and guidelines of which have been 

used by the company’s geological consultants in assessing 

the status of classifiable coal resources. Principally, the main 

criterion for classification is based on the number of boreholes 

intersecting a particular coal seam(s) within a specified area. 

The confidence in projecting the coal quality across each seam 

is based on analysis from samples taken from the borehole 

cores of the individual intersections. Classification was guided 

by the following:  

• Borehole density; 

• Geological and grade continuity; 

• Geological structure and its influence on mining; and 

• Complexity of the geology. 
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The borehole density and spatial distribution of cored 

boreholes, sampled and analysed, should be sufficient to allow 

for confident extrapolation of physical and quality parameters 

between boreholes. It also allows for the coal resources to be 

adequately categorised into inferred, indicated and measured 

coal resources as per the SAMREC Code.

Coal resource classification based on core borehole density 

(points of observation supported by analytical data) is as 

follows: 

• Measured: 16 core boreholes per 100ha (350m by 

350m grid), 

• Indicated: four core boreholes per 100ha (500m by 

500m grid spacing); and

• Inferred: one core borehole per 100ha (approximately 1km by 

1km grid). 

Geological losses varying between 5% and 20% are applied on 

a project-by-project basis.

Under the SAMREC Code, particular reference is made to 

the South African Guide to the Systematic Evaluation of 

Coal Resources and Coal Reserves – South African National 

Standard (SANS 10320:2004). Reporting is also in accordance 

with section 12.11 of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Coal reserves

The coal reserve estimates have been compiled by Mr Raaths 

of Miptec and the coal reserve estimation methodology is 

described below.

It is important that the geological and mining modelling 

packages provide the primary order-of-magnitude cross-

checks of the in situ volumes, relative densities and tonnages. 

Runge Pincock Minarco Global’s open cut and underground 

coal XPac package, as the pit design and scheduling software, 

was used which provides this first gross tonnes in situ (“GTIS”) 

reconciliation based on the primary exploration inputs, both 

structural and quality. With an excellent correlation on GTIS 

estimates, the XPac model is deemed an appropriate and 

reasonable representation of the geological model. Wescoal 

utilises Deswick software to conduct life of mine schedules 

based on the same geological models from StratModelTM. The 

Wescoal life of mine reserves for the various assets compared 

favourably with that replicated on the XPac modelling software 

by Miptec. Modifying factors applied in the reserving process 

are listed in the respective sections of this report. In-pit seam 

losses and practical coal processing plant yields are the key 

parameters which are constantly monitored and modified in 

the forward-looking models to inform realistic expectations of 

future production. 

Only indicated and measured coal resources are included for 

life of mine scheduling model purposes. In the event that an 

indicated or measured coal resource block is geographically 

isolated and cannot be accessed without including inferred 

coal resources into the schedule, that block is excluded. In 

this instance, additional drilling will be recommended in order 

to upgrade the appropriate coal blocks to at least an indicated 

coal resource categorisation before the isolated block can 

be considered in life of mine and coal reserve scheduling. 

In general terms, resource blocks for which an indicated 

coal resource categorisation has been applied qualify as a 

probable coal reserve, and blocks for which a measured coal 

resource categorisation has been applied qualify as a proved 

coal reserve. 

It must be noted that although Miptec constructed life of mine 

scheduling models, no life of mine scheduling was conducted. 

Wescoal commenced with a programme to execute budget 

and life of mine scheduling and planning inhouse. The current 

life of mine information provided was compared on a total 

reserve basis, excluding quality and product information. 

Miptec therefore reverted to the existing XPac life of mine 

mining models for coal reserve estimation purposes. It is 

recommended that Wescoal follows due process to reconcile 

critical modifying factors and compares the mining model 

to the geological model information to ensure correlation 

of information, to not only schedule the mining processes 

but to also simulate the coal flow with the required product 

qualities and yields. It is also recommended that all cost and 

revenue drivers are reported from the schedule for financial 

evaluation purposes.

Exploration activities and expenditure
Of the total coal resources estimated at 410.1mt, approximately 

33% is in the measured category. Wescoal manages an ongoing 

drilling programme as part of their short-term technical control 

processes to validate the mining and coal quality parameters 

on the operating assets. 

Table 3. Asset resource category summary

Asset

Resources

in measured

% 

Resources

in indicated

%

Resources 

in inferred

%

Elandspruit Colliery 100

Khanyisa Colliery 100

Vanggatfontein 

Colliery 71 29

Moabsvelden 

Colliery 93 7

Leeuw Braakfontein 100

Sterkfontein 55 45

Arnot 39 37 24

Table 3 provides a summary on the coal resource category 

distribution for each asset.
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Table 4 indicates actual expenditure for the last reporting 

period whereas Table 5 details the planned exploration budget 

for the ensuing periods.

Table 4. Exploration expenditure FY21

Mine Description/pit R’m

Vanggatfontein (ERB) 0.0

Vanggatfontein (WRB) 0.0

Moabsvelden Box cut 0.0

Khanyisa

Triangle 2 

(North) 0.0

Elandspruit 0.79

Total 0.79

As per Table 4 above, the only expenditure was incurred at 

Elandspruit due to the drilling of nine infill boreholes. 

Table 5 below details the planned expenditure at both VGF and 

Elandspruit. 

Table 5. Planned exploration expenditure FY22

Mine Description/pit R’m

Vanggatfontein (ERB) VG4 and VG5 0.0

Vanggatfontein (WRB) UG VG6 and VG7 0.8

Moabsvelden

No drilling 

planned 0.0

Elandspruit

Graspan North 

and South 0.6

Khanyisa

No drilling 

planned 0.0

Sterkfontein

No drilling 

planned 0.0

LBC

No drilling 

planned 0.0

Total 1.4
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Elandspruit Complex
The Elandspruit Complex comprises both opencast and underground operations and is 100% owned by Wescoal. Figure 3 shows 

the locality plan for Elandspruit. It is located approximately 8km west of the town of Middelburg on the farm Elandspruit 291 JS and 

encompasses an area of 538ha. Location 25.80982°S latitude and 29.38474°E longitude.

Figure 3. Elandspruit locality map

Wescoal holds the mining right that was granted in October 

2010 to 27 October 2026, a period of 16 years. There is 

roughly just more than five years remaining. The mining 

right is covered by the following farms: Elandspruit Ptn. 29, 

30, 32, 33, 34, 36 and 40). A WUL was granted in May 2015. 

Elandspruit produced first coal during 2015 from the most 

northern pit and progressed southwards with operations. The 

underground started producing in 2016 with access from the 

Nungu Colliery underground operation towards the south of 

the R555 district road.

The life of mine plan for Elandspruit is in line with the current 

mining strategy regarding both opencast and underground 

operations.

Project geology
The No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 and No. 4 Coal Seams are present at 

Elandspruit.

No. 1 Coal Seam is the lower-most coal seam. In the opencast 

area, the seam averages 4m in thickness whereas in the 

underground area it averages 2.9m. The depth to roof of the 

No. 1 Coal Seam ranges from less than 10m along the eastern 

boundary to around 72m at its deepest along the southern 

boundary (underground area). The No. 2 Coal Seam is located 

above the No. 1 Seam and is usually separated from the 

underlying seam by less than 1m of sediments, however, this 

interval thickness increases to over 11m in the southern-eastern 

corner of the property. The No. 2 Seam is split into an upper and 

a lower ply based on the presence of an intra-seam parting. 
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The presence of the No. 3 Coal Seam is dictated by its proximity 

to the limit of weathering as it is eroded in areas of lower 

topographic elevation. It is the thinnest of the four seams, 

averaging 0.4m across the entire licence area, and never attaining 

thicknesses of greater than 0.6m. The interval between the No. 

2 Upper and No. 3 Coal Seams is consistent across the property 

ranging from 12.0m to 15.5m. The No. 4 Lower Coal Seam is 

present only in areas of elevated topography; elsewhere it has 

been eroded. It ranges in thickness from less than 1m as the seam 

approaches the sub-crop, up to 2m to 3m. The 4L Seam is on 

average 6m to 7m above the No. 3 Coal Seam. The depth to roof 

ranges from less than 10m up to 35m in the south-west. 

Dolerite and faulting

Examination of the geological model indicated that there are no 

major structural disturbances such as dolerite displacements 

or faults. No dolerite or faulting has been encountered during 

mining, and it is not envisaged that it will affect mining 

operations in the future either.  

Coal resource classification 

The coal seams at Elandspruit are of the multiple seam coal 

deposit-type, defined in SANS 10320:2020 as “characterised 

by a discrete number of coal seams, typically between 0.5m 

and 7.0m in thickness, separated by interburden units with a 

thickness that generally significantly exceeds the thickness of 

the individual coal seams”. The resource classification is based 

on the geological knowledge of the deposit, including that 

gained from mapping, remote sensing, geophysics and drilling.

Based on the distribution of valid points of observation at 

Elandspruit, all coal seams are assigned to the measured 

category.

Coal resources 

Currently, all seams present within the delineated opencast 

areas are scheduled for mining, namely the No. 4 Lower Coal 

Seam, No. 3 Coal Seam, No. 2 Upper and Lower Coal Seams 

and the No. 1 Coal Seam. Within the underground mining area, 

only the No. 1 Coal Seam is targeted for mining. As such, all 

other seams have been excluded from the UG estimations. 

This decision was made based on the principal that all seams 

should have the potential for economic extraction.  

Cut-offs applied

Coal resources were estimated inside of the mining right 

boundary net of depletion, excluding sensitive wetlands and 

boundary pillars but inclusive of coal under the powerline as 

Wescoal is in advanced stages of relocating it. For opencast 

resource estimations, coal thickness cut-offs of a minimum 

seam thickness of 0.5m were applied to the No. 4, No. 2 and 

No. 1 Seams, and less than 0.4m was applied to the No. 3 Coal 

Seam. The underground resources were based on a minimum 

seam thickness of greater than 1.2m to a maximum of 4.5m. 

The quality cut-offs applied include a maximum raw ash 

content of 50% and a minimum raw volatile content of 18%. 

Geological losses of 10% were applied to all of the coal seam 

estimations (all measured). 

Figure 4. Elandspruit plan indicating resource blocks utilised for the 31 March 2021 estimation
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The coal resource estimates were conducted in accordance with the SAMREC Code, as well as the South African Guide to the 

Systematic Evaluation of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves (SANS 10320:2004).

The coal resource estimate has been independently estimated and signed off by Ms Black of KJB and is declared as at 31 March 2021. 

The Elandspruit opencast coal resource estimate comprises 9.67mt (100%) measured coal resource estimates, and the underground 

coal resource estimate comprises 1.96mt (100% measured), for a total resource estimate of 11.62mt (MTIS). 

Table 6. Elandspruit resource estimation as at 31 March 2021

Resource estimates 31 March 2021 Raw coal qualities (air-dried, uncontaminated)

Resource area

Block 

area 

(Ha)

Coal

thick 

(m)

ARD

 (g/cm3)

Geo. 

loss (%)

 MTIS 

(mt)

Ash 

(%)

CV 

(MJ/kg)

FC

 (%)

IM 

(%)

TS

 (%)

VM 

(%)

Pit 2

O
p

e
n

ca
s

t

M
e

a
s

u
re

d

 18.17  2.97  1.60  10  0.75  28.10  21.99  47.13  2.83  0.92  22.00 

Yoctolux North  29.56  3.03  1.62  10  1.02  30.21  21.06  45.82  2.78  0.89  21.28 

Yoctolux East  207.33  2.68  1.60  10  6.28  28.83  21.60  46.54  2.82  1.05  21.90 

Graspan North  22.87  1.78  1.62  10  0.55  31.01  20.73  44.00  2.54  1.21  22.43 

Graspan South  45.71  1.85  1.60  10  1.07  29.62  21.45  45.20  2.74  1.25  22.46 

Opencast total  2.60  1.60  10  9.67  29.13  21.51  46.22  2.79  1.05  21.93 

Underground total  53.68  2.47  1.64  10  1.96  31.45  21.21  43.36  2.24  0.95  22.94 

Elandspruit total  2.58  1.61  10  11.62  29.52  21.46  45.73  2.70  1.04  22.10

Reconciliation
Table 6 reflects the 31 March 2021 coal resource estimates, and Table 7 compares the FY20 to FY21 estimates, as well as the actual 

surveyed ROM tonnes (AR). The total change in coal resource estimates is 3.03mt, with 3.84mt surveyed as ROM coal mined. The 

overall coal gain is 0.81mt, predominantly the result of mining outside of the predicted model extent (mining in areas where the 

coal qualities drop below the model cut-offs), and in the areas in close proximity to where the seam sub-crops against the limit 

of weathering.

Table 7. Elandspruit comparison of resource estimates – reconciliation March 2020 to March 2021

 

Coal resource estimate 
(MTIS) (ADB)

FY actual 
mining

Loss/
gain

March

2020

mt

March

2021

mt

Variance

mt

ROM (AR)

mt mt

Elandspruit Colliery total 14.65 11.62 (3.03) 3.84 0.81

Opencast total 12.63 9.67 (2.96) 3.84 0.87

Underground total 2.02 1.96 (0.06) 0.0 (0.06)

Coal reserves 
Coal reserves for Elandspruit are based on the current mining strategy with regard to both opencast and underground operations. 

Opencast operations are based on the standard strip mining and rollover methodology, with underground being based on standard 

bord and pillar methodology with no secondary extraction. 

Elandspruit only generated ROM mined from opencast of 3.0mt for FY21. Mining within the underground section is still on hold 

pending the selection of underground mining contractors and a redesign in order to delay some low-seam mining areas.
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Figure 5. Elandspruit plan detailing the remaining reserves as at 31 March 2021

Elandspruit production history analysis reveals no mining from underground, whereas on the opencast operation, ROM production 

increased from 2.68mt ROM in FY20 at a stripping ratio of 2.47 to 3.0mt ROM in FY21 at the same average stripping ratio of 2.47.

Table 8. Elandspruit reserves history

 Khanyisa reserves history (100%)
Saleable qualities (all seams based on 
contaminated raw crush and screened)

Date

Reserve

block

MTIS

(AD) mt

ROM

(AR) mt

Saleable

(AR) mt

Yield

(%)

CV

MJ/kg

Ash (%)

(AD)

Vol (%)

(AD)

TS (%)

(AD)

F019 OC 14.07 15.22 11.92 78 23.01 25.21 22.46 0.83

FY20 OC 11.90 12.87 10.08 78 23.03 25.15 22.59 0.86

FY21 OC 9.56 10.34 8.02 78 23.05 25.15 22.72 0.88

FY19 UG 1.10 1.19 0.87 73 23.38 25.87 24.13 0.57

FY20 UG 1.10 1.19 0.87 73 23.38 25.87 24.13 0.57

FY21 UG 1.10 1.19 0.87 73 23.38 25.87 24.13 0.57

Table 8 shows the reserve estimation, ROM and quality history for the last three reporting periods as at 31 March for each year. 

Each year did realise coal gains, with no change in the estimated average qualities.
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Table 9. Elandspruit reserve estimate as at 31 March 2021

 Elandspruit reserve estimate
(100% Wescoal attributable)

 Saleable qualities 
(4L and 3 Seam raw, 2U Seam 20MJ/k)

 Project

 Reserve

category  Seam

Reserve

block

MTIS

 (AD)

mt

ROM

 (AR)

mt

Saleable

(AR)

mt

Yield 

%

CV

 (AD)

MJ/kg

Ash

 (AD)

%

Vol 

(AD)

%

TS

 (AD)

%

E
la

n
d

s
p

ru
it

o
p

e
n

ca
s

t

Total 4L Seam  0.72  0.78  0.76 98  25.82  16.94  23.51  1.26 

Total 3 Seam  0.33  0.36  0.35 98  27.49  16.48  30.99  2.93 

Total 2U Seam  1.45  1.57  1.11 71  20.50  29.49  21.80  1.11 

Total 2L Seam  2.74  2.97  2.33 78  22.70  25.88  21.05  0.65 

Total 1 Seam  3.77  4.07  3.02 74  23.14  25.89  23.09  0.58 

Total proved  9.01  9.75  7.58 78  23.09  25.07  22.68  0.86 

 P
ro

b
a

b
le

S3 GrasP N  0.01  0.01  0.01 98  26.95  16.57  30.92  9.07 

S2U GrasP N  0.18  0.19  0.16 84  20.50  28.14  21.71  1.61 

S2L GrasP N  0.18  0.20  0.15 80  22.98  25.74  22.26  1.11 

S1 GrasP N  0.18  0.19  0.13 69  23.49  25.90  25.89  0.49 

Total probable  0.55  0.59  0.44 75  22.33  26.45  23.28  1.27 

Total/average Elandspruit opencast  9.56  10.34  8.02 78  23.05  25.15  22.72  0.88 

E
la

n
d

s
p

ru
it

u
n

d
e

rg
ro

u
n

d

 P
ro

b
a

b
le

1 Seam
Primary 

mining
 1.10  1.19  0.87 73  23.38  25.87  24.13  0.57 

Total/AVG Elandspruit 

underground  1.10  1.19  0.87 73  23.38  25.87  24.13  0.57 

Total/average Elandspruit Colliery reserves  10.66  11.53  8.90 77  23.08  25.22  22.86  0.85 

Table 9 details the updated coal reserve estimate for Elandspruit with Table 10 showing the coal reserve reconciliation to that 

reported for the previous year. 

The reconciliation on the opencast coal reserves is predominantly due to the mining depletion during FY21. The coal resources 

located under the powerline are still included with work ongoing to move this powerline to access the coal pillar of approximately 

0.57m ROM tonnes. 

Mining operations recovered more reserves than estimated during the previous reporting period. A gain of 0.01mt was realised 

on the No. 4 Seam ROM, whereas the No. 3 Seam showed a loss of 0.06mt ROM. The No. 2U and 2L Seams are mined either as 

separate units or together depending on the presence of an inter-seam parting. During the modelling process, a substantial 

amount of No. 2U Seam was excluded from coal resources based on quality cut-offs applied (a VM content <18% was excluded). 

Mining has, however, extracted more No. 2U Seam than indicated, as a result of the difficulty in distinguishing between the No. 

2U and No. 2L Seams, where there are no inter-seam or intra-seam partings, as well as mining the coal excluded from the 

estimations based on the quality cut-offs applied. As a combined unit, the No. 2U and 2L Seams show a net gain of 0.2mt ROM. 

The No. 1 Seam shows a gain of 0.32mt, predominantly due to the mining of the No. 1L Seam, which is located directly below the 

No. 1 Seam, but excluded from the reserve estimates based on the quality cut-offs applied (ash >50% excluded). There is a total 

net gain of 0.47mt estimated as per the reconciliation in Table 10. The underground No. 1 Seam reserve estimation remains the 

same as stated in the 31 March 2020 estimation.

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Table 10. Elandspruit coal reserves reconciliation on ROM estimations 

Elandspruit reserves reconciliation opencast

Date/period Area Seam 4 Seam 3 Seam 2U Seam 2L Seam 1 Total

31 March 2020
Pit2, Yoc N, 

Yoc E, GrasP

 N, Grasp S 

Opencast

 0.92  0.47  1.99  3.97  5.52  12.87 

31 March 2021  0.78  0.37  1.76  3.17  4.27  10.34 

Net change  (0.14)  (0.10)  (0.23)  (0.81)  (1.26)  (2.53)

Mining depletion  0.14  0.04  0.34  0.90  1.57  3.00 

Net gain  0.01  (0.06)  0.11  0.10  0.32  0.47 

Elandspruit reserve reconciliation underground

Date/period Area Seam 4 Seam 3 Seam 2U Seam 2L Seam 1 Total

31 March 2020 UG  1.19  1.19 

31 March 2021  1.19  1.19 

Net loss/gain  –  – 

ROM modifying factors – opencast 

On geological base data, cut-offs were based on 18% volatile matter, 1.2m seam height for underground and 0.5m for opencast 

operations on No. 2 and No. 1 Seams. For the No. 4 and No. 3 Seams, 0.4m was applied. Within the opencast area, coal seams with 

a raw ash content greater than 50% were excluded from reserves, unless localised and within the mining footprint. Recoveries for 

the opencast were based on a total 14% loss factor, with the addition of a 4% allowance for contamination and 4% for additional 

surface moisture. The opencast reserve footprint excludes sensitive wetland zones, legal boundary pillars and surface infrastructure 

servitudes. All reserves are within the legal mining right area.

For underground reserves, the footprint is exclusive of areas under wetlands, barrier pillars between opencast and underground and 

barrier pillars between panels and boundary pillars. The aerial extraction based on the bord and pillar design is approximately 62%. 

The remainder of the coal recovery factors are based on a total 10% coal loss, maximum seam height of 4m and the addition of 0.1m 

of roof and floor contamination and, lastly, the addition of 4% additional surface moisture.

Marketing
Elandspruit has a processing facility some 18km east from the mine, with a monthly capacity of 210 000 feed tonnes. ROM coal is 

trucked from the mine and processed at this processing facility from where the product is again trucked to clients. Elandspruit is 

providing thermal coal to Eskom and to inland clients.  
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Environmental management and closure funding

The Elandspruit environmental liability was assessed by Mr Jaco Kleynhans (Jaco-K Consulting) as at May 2021 based on the DMRE 

guidelines. The liability amounts to R110 million including value added tax, an increase of R17.3 million on an equivalent base from the 

2020 assessment. The rehabilitation backlog is increasing year-on-year. Wescoal Processing, which mainly processes ROM from the 

Elandspruit operation has a closure liability of R20 million. This represents an increase of R0.59 million on an equivalent basis from the 

2020 assessment. The Elandspruit Colliery closure assessment quantum of R110 million is exclusive of the processing liability.

The volume-based assessment for Elandspruit, as compared to the DMRE guideline assessment for March 2021, shows an indicative 

shortfall of R231 million, and R11 million on Wescoal Processing.

Environmental guarantees from Lombard Insurance are in place dated October 2020 for Elandspruit to the value of R92.6 million.

The life of mine indicates a remaining mine life of four years. Although the financial model made provision for R315.7 million on a 

total net present value basis, it is highly recommended that an actual funding mechanism is put in place for closure.

Future work
• Regarding the UG section, an underground mining contractor was selected, and a concept redesign with the mining contractor to 

delay the low-seam mining areas has been completed. Final designs will be completed with start-up planned for FY22.

• Work on moving the powerline is in progress to access the coal pillar left behind (approximately 0.57mt).

• Robust life of mine planning processes are to be put in place.

Risks 
Table 11. Elandspruit risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Profitability Increase in strip ratio Mining to an average 

strip ratio

Medium

Rehabilitation Increase in backlog, 

resulting in financial 

risk, especially with the 

June 2021 expected 

legislation that will 

move the assessment 

to a volume-based 

approach

Reduce backlog on 

rehabilitation

High

Closure provision Not meeting closure 

commitments

Funding mechanisms 

to be put in place to 

ensure enough funds 

will be available at 

closure. The mine 

should consider an 

aggressive concurrent 

rehabilitation strategy to 

reduce closure liability

High

Life of mine process Impacting economic 

viability

Conduct the life of mine 

process in advance 

of the annual coal 

resources and coal 

reserves update

Medium
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Khanyisa Complex
The Khanyisa Complex comprises the Triangle resource area and the Catwalk resource area, which Wescoal effectively owns 100%, 

a total area of 304ha.

Figure 6 shows the location of Khanyisa Complex. It is located some 10km west of the town of Ogies in Mpumalanga. It comprises 

portions of the farm Heuvelfontein 215IR. The location of the complex is 26.042950°S latitude and 28.973325°E longitude.

Figure 6. Khanyisa Complex locality map

A WUL for the total integrated mining area was awarded in May 2016. The consolidated mining right, following a section 102 

process, was awarded in May 2017 and will expire in May 2025, giving Khanyisa a remaining tenure of approximately four years. 

This consolidated mining right applies to the following farms: Heuvelfontein Ptn. 97, 106, 107 and portions of 103).

Both the Triangle and Catwalk areas are mined via opencast truck and shovel methods, with the difference being that Catwalk 

extracts the No. 2 Seam pillars and roof coal left by previous underground mining, whereas the coal seams are in situ at both 

Triangle North and South. 
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Local geology
Five principal seams are developed at Khanyisa, namely the 

No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 and the No. 4 Lower and No. 4 Upper Coal 

Seams. The No. 5 Coal Seam is not present at all. The No. 1 

Coal Seam is not considered economic as it is either very thin 

(~1m thick) or not developed. Similarly, the No. 3 Coal Seam is 

also not considered economic as it is on average only around 

0.3m in thickness. 

The No. 2 Coal Seam is the main economic target at Khanyisa. 

It is present in the Triangle area as in situ coal, and in the 

Catwalk area as remaining pillar and roof coal, as well as 

a small portion of in situ coal. In the Triangle project area, 

the No. 2 Seam is on average 5.90m thick, with an average 

depth to roof of 40.9m (ranging from 38m to 43m). Within the 

Catwalk area, the No. 2 Coal Seam has been historically mined 

using underground bord and pillar methods, and therefore 

the majority of the resource area comprises remaining roof 

and pillar coal. The average pillar height is 2.7m, while the 

remaining roof coal ranges in thickness from 1.5m to 2.3m. 

The depth to seam roof ranges from 21m to 27m. 

The No. 4 Lower Coal Seam occurs across the majority of the 

Triangle area, with the exception of a few areas to the south 

where it has been eroded. The No. 4 Lower Coal Seam is not 

present in either Catwalk North or South. 

Dolerite and faulting
The majority of the holes in the Catwalk project area 

intersected dolerite, which has affected both the quality and 

distribution of the coal measures. As the current Catwalk 

project is a roof and pillar reclamation project of the existing 

mined-out areas, this remaining coal is unaffected. Within 

Triangle North, the seams are totally unaffected. No faulting or 

dolerite has been encountered in any of the boreholes or during 

the mining process. 

Coal resource classifi cation 
The coal seams at Khanyisa are of the multiple seam coal 

deposit-type, defined in SANS 10320:2020 as “characterised 

by a discrete number of coal seams, typically between 0.5m 

and 7.0m in thickness, separated by interburden units with a 

thickness that generally significantly exceeds the thickness of the 

individual coal seams”. The resource classification is based on 

the geological knowledge of the deposit, including that gained 

from mapping, remote sensing, geophysics and drilling.

Based on the distribution of valid points of observation at 

Khanyisa, the coal seams are classified as measured category.

Coal cut-off s
Coal resources were estimated inside of the mining right 

boundary net of depletion, excluding boundary pillars, coal under 

the Transnet pipeline servitude and public road servitudes. 

Opencast coal resources were delineated based on the proximity 

of the coal seams to surface and the favourable strip ratio of less 

than 1:4 (bcm/tonne) overburden to coal tonnes in the Triangle 

area and 1:6 (bcm/tonne) in the previously mined areas within 

Catwalk. Within the previously mined-out areas in the Catwalk 

coal resource area, coal resources from pillars were determined 

based on an estimated 65% underground extraction at an 

estimated mining height of 2.8m. Roof coal was calculated at 

the remaining modelled seam height. Previous opencast mining 

provided an indication of minimum safe distance between 

the public road and opencast excavations hence a 50m zone 

was excluded on the western boundary from coal resources. 

A minimum thickness cut-off of 0.5m was applied to both the 

No. 4 and No. 2 seams. A maximum raw ash cut-off of 50% 

and minimum raw volatile content of 18% were also applied to 

the coal resource estimations. Geological losses applied to the 

various categories varied from measured = 10%, indicated = 15% 

and inferred = 20%. 
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Coal resources 
Current mining at Khanyisa (Figure 7) is taking place on the remainder of Triangle South and on Triangle North, as well as mining of 

the No. 2 Seam remaining in the Catwalk pillar area. The No. 2 Seam constitutes the larger portion of the remaining resources, with 

some peripheral coal remaining on the No. 4 Seam.

The coal seams within the Khanyisa Colliery area are defined as multiple seam type as per SANS 10320:2004. 

Figure 7. Khanyisa Colliery No. 2 Seam resource areas

The coal resource estimates were conducted in accordance with the SAMREC Code, as well as the South African Guide to the 

Systematic Evaluation of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves (SANS 10320:2004).

The coal resource estimate has been independently estimated and signed off by Ms Black of KJB, and is declared as at 

31 March 2021. The Khanyisa opencast coal resource estimate comprises 1.94mt (100%) measured coal resource estimates, 

and the underground coal resource estimate comprises 0.17mt (100% measured), for a total resource estimate of 2.11mt (MTIS). 



108 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Resources and reserves summary continued

Table 12. Khanyisa resource estimate summary as at 31 March 2021

Raw coal qualities (air-dried, uncontaminated)

Resource area

Thick 

(m)

ARD

 (g/cm3)

 TTIS 

(t)

 MTIS 

(mt)

Ash 

(%)

CV

(MJ/kg)

FC 

(%)

IM 

(%)

TS 

(%)

VM 

(%)

Triangle North

O
p

e
n

ca
s

t

M
e

a
s

u
re

d 4.47 1.63  1.24 1.24 31.40 20.50 42.82 3.48 1.16 21.56

Triangle South 4.96 1.61  0.70 0.70 28.73 20.69 46.27 3.61 1.05 21.32

Triangle total 4.65 3.24  1.94 1.94 30.43 20.57 44.07 3.53 1.12 21.48

Catwalk South 2.24 1.57  0.19 0.17 29.12 20.47 45.33 3.75 1.10 21.56

Catwalk total 2.24 1.57  0.19 0.17 29.96 20.53 44.52 3.61 1.11 21.50

Khanyisa total 4.45 3.10 0.28 2.11 30.39 20.57 44.10 3.54 1.12 21.48

Reconciliation
Table 13 indicates a change in the Triangle resource of 0.87mt (MTIS), which is less than the mined-out total of 0.63mt, indicating a 

gain of 0.22mt, which is predominantly due to a total gain on both the No. 2 and No. 4 Seams. 

Within the Catwalk area, there is a mining gain of 0.11mt for the current financial year. 

Table 13. Khanyisa Colliery resource estimates – reconciliation March 2020 to March 2021

 

Coal resource estimate 
(MTIS) (ADB)

FY actual 
mining

Loss/
gain

March

2020

mt

March

2021

mt

Variance

mt

ROM (AR)

mt

Gain

 mt

Khanyisa Colliery total 2.98 2.11 0.87 1.10 0.22

Triangle opencast 2.73 1.94 0.79 0.91 0.12

Triangle underground – – – – –

Catwalk total 0.25 0.17 0.08 0.19 0.11
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Coal reserves 
Coal reserves for the Khanyisa Complex were based on the proven opencast strip and pillar mining strategies, and operations 

were executed as such throughout FY21. Mining focused on the Triangle North Block, extracting most of the No. 4 Seam coal and 

commenced on the No. 2 seam. Mining continued on the Catwalk South pillar mining area. 

Fixed infrastructure is utilised with all major mining activities contracted out, together with the crushing and screening plants. 

Additional mining contractor infrastructure exists to provide for the full service.

Figure 8 below illustrates the remaining No. 2 Seam coal reserves for both the Triangle and Catwalk areas as at 31 March 2021. 

Figure 8. Khanyisa remaining reserves plan as at 31 March 2021

Analysis of the production history for Khanyisa indicates a slight reduction from the FY20 1.18 million ROM produced at a stripping 

ratio of 2.42, to the 1.02 million produced in FY21 at a reduced stripping ratio of 2.03.
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Table 14. Khanyisa reserves history

 Khanyisa reserves history (100%)
Saleable qualities (all seams based on 
contaminated raw crush and screened)

Date

Reserve

block

MTIS

(AD) mt

Rom

(AR) mt

Saleable

(AR) mt

Yield

(%)

CV

MJ/kg

Ash (%)

(AD)

Vol (%)

(AD)

TS (%)

(AD)

F19 Triangle 2.90 3.01 2.95 98 19.13 33.07 20.61 0.97

FY20 Triangle 2.18 2.27 2.22 98 18.71 33.88 20.65 0.93

FY21 Triangle 1.36 1.42 1.39 98 18.55 34.30 20.69 0.82

FY19 Catwalk 0.45 0.47 0.46 98 21.20 29.33 19.82 1.04

FY20 Catwalk 0.16 0.17 0.16 98 20.88 30.00 19.88 1.02

FY21 Catwalk 0.03 0.03 0.03 98 21.09 29.40 19.74 0.98

Table 14 shows the reserves history for Khanyisa covering the last three estimations as at 31 March of the individual years. Apart 

from depletion, there are no significant changes in estimated coal qualities.

Table 15. Khanyisa reserves estimate summary as at 31 March 2021

 Khanyisa reserves estimate
  Saleable qualities (all seams based on a 

contaminated raw crushed and screened product)

 Project

 Re-

serve

cate-

gory Reserve block Seam

MTIS

 (AD)

mt

ROM

 (AR)

mt

Saleable

(AR)

mt

Yield 

%

CV

 (AD)

MJ/kg

Ash

 (AD)

%

Vol 

(AD)

%

TS

(AD)

%

T
ri

a
n

g
le

 a
n

d
 

C
a

tw
a

lk
 o

p
e

n
ca

s
t

P
ro

v
e

d

Triangle South total Total  0.31  0.32  0.31 98  19.58  31.60  20.79  0.94 

Triangle North total Total  1.05  1.10  1.07 98  18.25  35.08  20.66  0.78 

Triangle total Total  1.36  1.42  1.39 98  18.55  34.30  20.69  0.82 

Catwalk South pillars S2  0.03  0.03  0.03 98  21.09  29.40  19.74  0.98 

Catwalk total S2  0.03  0.03  0.03 98  21.09  29.40  19.74  0.98 

Mine total Total  1.39  1.45  1.42 98  18.61  34.18  20.67  0.82 

Table 16. Khanyisa reserves reconciliation as at 31 March 2021

 Khanyisa reserve reconciliation opencast

Date/period Area Seam 5 Seam 4U Seam 4L Seam 4 Seam 2 Total

31 March 2020 Triangle 

South and 

North

 Opencast

 1.03  1.24  2.27 

31 March 2021  0.46  0.95  1.42 

Net Change  (0.57)  (0.29)  (0.85)

Mining Depletion  0.01  0.72  0.18  0.91 

Net gain  0.01  0.15  (0.10)  0.06 

 Khanyisa reserve reconciliation opencast

Date/period Area Seam 5 Seam 4 Seam 2 Total

31 March 2020
Catwalk 

Peripheral 

and South

 0.17  0.17 

31 March 2021  0.03  0.03 

Net Change  (0.13)  (0.13)

Mining Depletion  0.11  0.11 

Net loss/gain  (0.03)  (0.03)

Triangle ROM coal reserves of 1.42mt opencast, as at 31 March 2021, will be crushed, screened and blended to achieve the average 

product quality of >19MJ/kg and higher. The yield for raw products is conservatively based on a 98% recovery as the mine only has 

crush and screening processing facilities.  



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

111

Resources and reserves sum
m

ary

A total of 0.91mt ROM was extracted from the Triangle sections 

during FY21, with a net gain of 0.06mt realised. The loss of 

0.1mt on the No. 2 Seam can be attributed to coal recovery and 

writing off of the peripheral coal lost in the mining offsets on the 

end-walls and pillars which remained from the commencement 

of the Triangle mining. The 0.15mt gain on the No. 4 Seam is 

due to the mining of the No. 4 Upper Seam in those areas where 

it was removed from the coal resource and reserve estimates 

based on it not meeting the quality cut-offs applied (VM content 

<18% removed). An additional 0.01mt gain on the No. 5 Seam 

was realised. No No. 5 Seam was modelled or planned for as 

it was not recovered during drilling (the No. 5 Seam is shallow 

and was tricone-drilled as part of the softs). 

A total of 0.11mt ROM coal was extracted from Catwalk during 

FY21. The change in coal reserves as tabulated in Table 16 

is 0.13mt ROM, indicating a loss of 0.03mt. The loss is due 

to poor recovery on the roof coal as part of the pillar mining 

methodology as well as the removal of the in situ coal pillars 

on both end-walls which were not mined. 

It is imperative that coal extraction on the Triangle No. 2 Seam 

is monitored closely as the bulk of planned production will be 

realised from the No. 2 Seam within the Triangle area. 

The remaining reserves indicate a remaining life of mine of less 

than 1.5 years.

Wescoal is currently in negotiation with Mzimkhulu mine 

management to jointly mine the boundary pillar to the north of 

the northern Triangle. This would allow Wescoal to recover coal 

currently sterilised in safety benches and highwall access roads 

in excess of 0.4mt.

ROM modifying factors – opencast

On geological base data, cut-offs were based on 18% volatile 

matter and 0.5m of coal seam thickness for opencast was 

applied. Recovery for opencast was based on a total 14% loss 

factor, with an additional 4% allowance for contamination 

and 4% for additional surface moisture. The opencast reserve 

footprint excludes sensitive wetland zones, legal boundary 

pillars and surface infrastructure servitudes. All reserves are 

within the legal mining right area.

Marketing
Khanyisa has an existing contract in place with Eskom for 

the Triangle coal and markets the Catwalk coal through coal 

traders to the export market. 

Environmental management and closure 
funding
An assessment update of the current Khanyisa rehabilitation 

liability, based on the DMRE guidelines, was made by 

Mr Kleynhans dated May 2021. It amounts to R60.1 million 

including value added tax, an increase of R5.4 million on a 

comparative basis from the 2020 assessment. 

The volume-based assessment for Khanyisa, as compared to 

the DMRE guideline assessment for March 2021, shows an 

indicative shortfall of R66.2 million. 

The rehabilitation backlog is increasing with most of the No. 4 

Seam being mined and the No. 2 Seam lagging behind. It is 

possible for both Triangle South and Catwalk to be depleted 

during FY22.

Environmental guarantees from Lombard Insurance are in 

place dated October 2020 to the value of R54.8 million.

The life of mine indicated a remaining mine life of two years. 

Although the financial model made provision for R100.8 million 

on a total net present value basis, it is highly recommended 

that an actual funding mechanism is put in place for closure.

Future work
• Rehabilitation of the mining voids

• Mining of the boundary pillar

• Moving of the Transnet pipeline

Risks 
Table 17. Khanyisa risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Recovery Triangle 
No. 2 Seam

Financial risk, losses on 
the No. 2 Seam in the 
floor resulting in coal 
reserves reduction and 
increased strip ratios

Mine to monitor 
extraction of No. 2 Seam 
and coal recovery

High

Rehab backlog 
increasing year-on-year

Increased liability that 
could have a major 
financial impact once the 
new legislation has been 
promulgated (June 2021)

Plan rehabilitation and 
reduce the backlog

High

Closure provision Not meeting closure 
commitments

Funding mechanisms to 
be put in place to ensure 
enough funds will be 
available at closure

High
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Vanggatfontein Colliery
Vanggatfontein is an opencast coal mining operation, 100% owned by Wescoal and situated in the Witbank Coalfield of South Africa, 

that mines the No. 5, No. 4 and No. 2 Coal Seams using truck and shovel rollover mining methods at an average rate of 340 000tpm 

ROM. The No. 5 Seam is processed through a 100tph plant for domestic metallurgical and boiler markets (No. 5 Seam plant), while 

the No. 4 and No. 2 Seams are processed through a 480tph plant which produces thermal coal for Eskom. 

Figure 9 show the locality plan for Vanggatfontein. The colliery is located approximately 16km east south-east of the town of 

Delmas, in the Mpumalanga province. It is situated on the farm Vanggatfontein 251IR, covers an area of 1651.98ha and is located 

at 26.173055S, 28.83555E.

Figure 9. Vanggatfontein Colliery locality map

In June 2009, prospecting right MP/30/5/1/1/2/1/416PR was successfully converted into a 20-year mining right 

(MP/30/5/1//2/2/309MR). The mining right was executed on 23 February 2010 and unless cancelled or suspended in terms of clause 

13 of the mining right, or section 47 of the MPRDA, will continue in force for a period of 20 years, ending on 22 February 2030.  
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Local geology
Locally, three coal seams are developed across the licence 

area – namely the No. 5 Seam, No. 4 Seam and the No. 2 Seam. 

Within the opencast resource areas, the No. 2 and No. 4 Seams 

are the primary economic targets, with the addition of the No. 5 

Seam where present. 

The No. 2 Seam is the bottom-most economic coal seam. The 

No. 2 Seam is well developed over the majority of the licence 

area, until it sub-crops towards the east. On average, the seam 

is 6.3m thick and the average depth to the No. 2 Seam is 46m 

across the ERB. The parting between the No. 2 and No. 4 Seam 

above varies greatly in thickness between VG4 in the north 

and VG5 in the south. In VG4, the parting ranges between 4m 

to 8m, whereas in VG5 it ranges between 14m to 20m. The No. 

2 Seam is separated from the No. 4 Seam above by a parting 

of approximately 11m in thickness. The No. 4 Seam averages 

6.8m in thickness across the ERB area. It is, however, thickest 

(8.4m) in VG4 and thinnest in VG5 (5.9m). Within the WRB 

resource area, the seam averages 6.2m thick, however, for 

resource estimation purposes, it is limited to 4.8m. The average 

depth to the No. 4 Seam roof is 28m within the ERB and 44m 

within VG6. The No. 4 Seam depths range from less than 20m 

to over 100m in the WRB. The No. 5 Seam is only present 

across VG4 and a small portion of VG3. It has been removed 

by erosion in VG5. The seam averages 1.3m in thickness and 

comprises bright coal, interbedded with thin stringers of 

carbonaceous siltstone. 

Structure
A high-resolution low-level aeromagnetic and radiometric 

survey indicated the potential distribution of various dolerite 

dykes and sills with a fair degree of confidence and concluded 

that any loss-of-ground mining concerns appeared to be 

largely constrained to the WRB.

Within the ERB there have been a number of boreholes which 

have intersected dolerites, many having a notable effect on 

the coal qualities. Within VG3 and VG4 there is a transgressive 

sill which has affected the coal seams. The affected areas are 

reasonably well delineated and are for the most part, removed 

from the coal resources. Within VG4, both dolerite and faulting 

have been encountered. 

Cut-off s applied
Coal resources were estimated inside of the mining right 

boundary net of depletion, excluding sensitive wetlands and 

boundary pillars as well as infrastructure servitudes. For the 

opencast coal resource estimates, a minimum thickness cut-

off of 0.5m was applied to the No. 5, No. 4 and No. 2 Seams. 

A minimum seam thickness cut-off of 1.8m was applied 

to the underground resource estimations, and a maximum 

theoretical mining height of 4.8m was applied. A maximum 

raw ash cut-off of 50% and minimum raw volatile content 

of 18% were also applied to all coal resource estimations. 

Geological losses applied to the resource estimations for 

the various categories varied from measured = 10%, 

indicated = 15% and inferred = 20%.

Coal resource classifi cation 
The coal seams at Vanggatfontein are of the multiple 

seam coal deposit-type, defined in SANS 10320:2020 as 

“characterised by a discrete number of coal seams, typically 

between 0.5m and 7.0m in thickness, separated by interburden 

units with a thickness that generally significantly exceeds 

the thickness of the individual coal seams”. The resource 

classification is based on the geological knowledge of the 

deposit, including that gained from mapping, remote sensing, 

geophysics and drilling.

Based on the distribution of valid points of observation at 

Vanggatfontein the coal seams are classified as measured, 

indicated and inferred. 

Coal resources 
As the ERB is delineated as an opencast area (strip ratio <4bcm 

waste:tonne coal), all coal seams are included for mining, 

namely the No. 5 Coal Seam, No. 4 Coal Seam and No. 2 Seams. 

The WRB is designated as an underground area and, as such, 

mining of the No. 4 Seam has been planned in VG6 and the No. 

2 Seam within VG7 pit. Wescoal has applied to under-mine the 

wetlands in VG6. The application was filed more than a year 

ago and is currently awaiting approval. As such, the No. 4 Seam 

coal resources previously excluded from the resource estimate 

have been included (1.36mt). 

During the current financial year, it was determined that 

there is a large discrepancy between the model estimation 

and mined/surveyed coal tonnes at Vanggatfontein VG4 pit. 

At present, besides coal lost due to mining practices, the 

only other way to determine why the coal recoveries are 

less than the model and current boreholes predict, is to drill 

additional boreholes at VG4. Due to the lack of confidence in 

the data pertaining to VG4, a decision was made to downgrade 

the coal resource classification of the No. 5, No. 4 and No. 2 

Seams from the measured to the indicated category until the 

additional drilling information becomes available. 
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Figure 10 provides an indication of the mining areas, typical classification on coal as well as some of the main surface infrastructure 

limitations within the mining right area.

Figure 10. Vanggatfontein No. 4 Seam resource plan

The coal resource estimates were conducted in accordance with the SAMREC Code, as well as the South African Guide to the 

Systematic Evaluation of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves (SANS 10320:2004).

The coal resource estimate has been independently estimated and signed off by Ms Black of KJB and is declared as at 31 March 2021. 

The VGF ERB opencast coal resource estimate comprises 10.66mt (60%) measured, 7.02mt (30%) indicated and 0.1mt (1%) inferred 

coal resource estimates, for a total opencast coal resource estimate of 17.79mt. The VGF WRB underground estimate comprises 

6.60mt (100%) measured coal resource estimations. The total combined coal resource estimate at VGF is 24.38mt (MTIS). 
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Table 18 details the VGF coal resource estimation. 

Table 18. Vanggatfontein resource estimate as at 31 March 2021

Raw coal qualities (air-dried, uncontaminated)

Resource area

Min-

ing

me-

thod

Res-

ource

cate-

gory Seam

Area

 ha

Thick 

m

ARD

g/cm3

 MTIS

 mt

Ash 

%

CV

MJ/kg

FC 

%

IM 

%

RD 

%

TS 

%

VM 

%

Indicated  94.21  6.75  1.69  7.02  37.33  17.39  38.75  3.79  1.69  0.89  20.13 

VG4 OC Inferred  1.24  5.92  1.70  0.10  38.91  16.58  37.80  3.72  1.71  0.78  19.57 

VG4 OC Total  95.45  6.74  1.69  7.12  37.35  17.38  38.74  3.79  1.69  0.88  20.12 

VG3 OC Measured  6.57  5.82  1.65  0.57  35.25  18.47  41.80  3.82  1.65  1.16  19.12 

VG5 OC Measured  115.59  5.90  1.65  10.09  34.24  18.94  42.53  3.65  1.65  1.26  19.58 

Total OC resources  6.24  1.67  17.79  35.52  18.30  40.99  3.71  1.67  1.11  19.78 

VG6 UG Measured S4  116.69 3.55 1.62  6.03  30.34  20.21  45.35  3.87  1.62  1.11  20.44 

VG7 UG Measured S2  10.30  4.01  1.51  0.56  23.88  23.35  51.47  3.58  1.51  1.27  21.06 

Total UG resources  3.58  1.61  6.60  29.79  20.48  45.87  3.85  1.61  1.12  20.49 

Total VGF resources  5.52  1.65  24.38  33.97  18.89  42.31  3.75  1.65  1.11  19.98 

Reconciliation
Table 19 below details the resource reconciliation.

The change in coal resource estimates between FY20 (28.63mt) and FY21 (24.38mt) is predominantly due to mining depletion. 

The WRB has in increase of 1.36mt due to the inclusion of the resources under the wetland (permission to under-mine the wetlands 

is imminent). In the ERB, the large losses on both the No. 4 and No. 2 Seams are still largely unexplainable, and it is suggested that 

additional boreholes be drilled, particularly in VG4 where the largest losses occur. Year-on-year, Vanggatfontein has realised a loss 

of almost 2.0mt of coal as a result of mining practices together with a model adjustment (removed an anomalously thick borehole 

in VG4).  

Table 19. Vanggatfontein resource estimates – reconciliation March 2020 to March 2021

 

Coal resource estimate 
 (ADB)

FY actual 
mining

Loss/
gain

March 

2020

mt

March 

2021

mt

Variance

mt

ROM (AR)

mt mt

Vanggatfontein total  28.63  24.28  4.35 3.61 (2.07)

Eastern resource block  23.37  17.69  (5.68) 3.61 (2.07)

Western resource block  5.26  6.60 1.33 – –

Marketing
Wescoal has an offtake agreement with Eskom to supply a minimum of 160 000tpm at 21.5MJ/kg CV, 21% VM product to designated 

power stations. Although the initial agreement has come to an end, Keaton Mining provided documentation confirming a one-year 

extension. The mine is in the process to exercise the option to extend further and to also increase the offtake to accommodate coal 

from additional projects mainly focused on the WRB. The metallurgical coal produced is sold on an ad hoc basis to various domestic 

metallurgical customers.
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Coal reserves 
Vanggatfontein is currently operated as an opencast mining operation based on contractor truck and shovel strip mining and rollover 

methodology. Opencast mining at Vanggatfontein contributed to 3.16mt ROM being extracted during FY21. Box cut operations are in 

progress at the VG5 pit, with initial No. 4 Seam ROM extracted.

The current remaining coal reserves of 17.5mt ROM at the planned production rate provides for a five-year life on the Vanggatfontein 

opencast operations.

The Vanggatfontein underground section construction phase on the WRB will commence with the construction of the coal handling 

and processing plants, followed by the construction of the underground access.

Current projects are focused on increasing the ROM coal reserves by focusing on low-quality thermal coal markets and additional 

underground mining potential.

Vanggatfontein produced a total of 2.19 million ROM tonnes in FY20 at a stripping ratio of 4.74 from opencast operations, with 

a significant increase in FY21 to 3.61 million ROM tonnes at a stripping ratio of 2.98. The mine in FY20 spent additional cost 

on increasing work in progress that has assisted in the increase in ROM production in FY21.

Table 20. Vanggatfontein reserves estimates as at 31 March 2021

 Project

 Reserve

category  Seam

MTIS (AD)

mt

ROM (AR)

mt

Saleable

(AR)

mt

Yield 

%

CV (AD)

MJ/kg

Ash (AD)

%

Vol (AD)

%

TS (AD)

%

V
a

n
g

g
a

tf
o

n
te

in
 

o
p

e
n

ca
s

t 

p
ro

v
e

n

VG3 Total  0.49  0.51  0.34 67%  21.50  27.49  20.82  0.92 

VG4 Total  6.40  6.65  3.90 59%  21.52  26.48  22.66  0.70 

VG5 Total  9.97  10.37  7.05 68%  21.50  27.61  20.61  1.07 

Vanggat-

fontein Total  16.86  17.53  11.29 64%  21.51  27.21  21.32  0.94 

VG6 UG 

probable Seam 4  3.47  3.61  3.61 100%  20.17  30.61  20.07  1.14 

Total mine  20.33  21.14  14.90 70%  21.18  28.04  21.02  0.99 

Table 21. Vanggatfontein reserves history

 Vanggatfontein reserve history (100%)
Saleable qualities (all seams based on 
contaminated raw crush and screened)

Date

Reserve

block

MTIS

(AD) mt

Rom

(AR) mt

Saleable

(AR) mt

Yield

(%)

CV

MJ/kg

Ash (%)

(AD)

VOL (%)

(AD)

TS (%)

(AD)

FY19 OC 24.08 25.05 15.38 61 21.51 27.09 21.21 0.90

FY20 OC 21.77 22.64 14.32 63 21.51 27.17 21.33 0.89

FY21 OC 16.85 17.53 11.29 64 21.51 27.21 21.32 0.94

FY19 UG 2.10 2.18 2.18 100 20.41 29.97 20.47 1.14

FY20 UG 2.10 2.18 2.18 100 20.41 29.97 20.47 1.14

FY21 UG 3.47 3.61 3.61 100 20.17 30.61 20.07 1.14

Table 21 shows the reserves history for Vanggatfontein Colliery for the last three estimations as at 31 March of each year. The VG6 

underground increase in reserves is based on the inclusion of No. 4 Seam coal under the western wetland. The environmental 

application was submitted more than a year back and actual approval is expected in due course. This additional reserve was 

included in the offer to Eskom and forms part of the offtake agreement that will be finalised in the near future.
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Table 22. Vanggatfontein ROM reserves reconciliation as at 31 March 2021

Vanggatfontein reserve reconciliation opencast

Date/period Area Seam 5 Seam 4 Seam 2 Total

31 March 2020

VG3, VG4 & 

VG5 OC

 0.63  11.07  10.94  22.64 

31 March 2021  0.49  8.54  8.50  17.53 

Net loss  (0.14)  (2.53)  (2.44)  (5.11)

Mining Depletion  (0.20)  (1.85)  (1.35)  (3.40)

Net gain  (1.71)

Vanggatfontein reserve reconciliation underground

Date/period Area Seam 5 Seam 4 Seam 2 Total

31 March 2020 VG6 UG  2.18  2.18 

31 March 2021 VG6 UG  3.61  3.61 

Net Gain  1.43 

Table 22 details the results of the coal reserves reconciliation from the FY20 estimate to the current FY21 estimate. A net loss of 

1.7mt ROM is indicated on the ERB. This loss is mainly due to significant recovery changes in VG4 as measured against the current 

geological model. Wescoal will be launching a drill campaign to twin selected holes and to add additional holes to the current 

borehole database. In addition, a review of the current mining practices will be undertaken in order to establish the exact cause and 

extent this will have on the remaining reserves.

Figure 11 illustrates the coal reserves plan for the Vanggatfontein mining areas, indicating the remaining coal reserve areas on the 

No. 2 Seam for opencast and the No. 4 Seam for underground.

The WRB underground section is planned on the standard bord and pillar methodology with no secondary extraction. The decision 

to change to an underground mine was based on recent drilling results as well as quality requirements for new coal sales 

agreements. The results indicated that the extent of the No. 2 Seam devolatilisation was greater than previously modelled and, as 

such, the majority of the No. 2 Seam did not meet the minimum specifications as required by Eskom.  The result of the removal of 

the devolatilised No. 2 Seam from coal reserves, together with the fact that the road separating the VG4 and VG6 pits will not be 

diverted, meant that the opencast option is not viable for most of the WRB. 
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Mining of the No. 4 Seam underground was analysed as an alternative for the WRB. Information obtained from the last two drill 

campaigns included geotechnical work and rock engineering work related to underground mining of the No. 4 Seam. The planned 

underground was based on a minimum height of 2m and a maximum mining height of 4.8m, targeting the No. 4 Seam select only as 

a raw crush and screen ROM feed to Eskom. The underground design was based on rock engineering designs provided by Associated 

Rock Mechanics Services. 

Figure 11. Vanggatfontein reserves plan as at 31 March 2021

ROM modifying factors – opencast  

On geological base data, cut-offs were based on minimum 0.5m coal seam thickness, minimum 24% raw dry ash-free (“DAF”) volatile 

matter and maximum 45% raw ash content. For localised areas within the mining footprint, the DAF VM was relaxed to 20% and the 

Ash to 50%. This is based on the impracticality to not mine these localised areas that exist within the remaining reserve footprint of 

the existing opencast operation.

Reserves exclude wetland sensitive areas, surface infrastructure servitudes, boundary pillars and required bench offsets that are 

required to comply to rock engineering designs for safety.

Loss and contamination:

• Total losses applied inclusive of geological losses

• Recovery reconciliation on Vanggatfontein based on nine months’ actuals, indicated that VG4 required a substantial adjustment 

for both the No. 4 and No. 2 Seams. A comparison of actual mining thickness to boreholes confirmed the lower recovery.  Current 

investigations are focused on mining practice with regard to the top of both the No. 4 and No. 2 Seams. A possible recorrelation 

of seam plies and the drilling of additional boreholes to confirm current information as well as increasing borehole density is 

required. 
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Table 23 below indicates the updated modifying factors applied to the VGF reserves.

Table 23. Updated modifying factors

Area/seam

VG3 S4

%

VG3 S2

%

VG4 S5

%

VG4 S4

%

VG4 S2

%

VG5 S4

%

VG5 S2

%

Total loss 12 18 15 25 30 12 18

Contamination 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Surface moisture 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Indicative coal 

recovery 95 89 92 81 76 95 89

ROM modifying factors – underground

Seam cut-offs applied were based on a minimum of 2m and a maximum of 4.8m. The bord and pillar designs were done in alignment 

with design recommendations from the rock engineers. A total coal loss of 10% was applied with an additional 4% for surface 

moisture.

The underground mining footprint covers areas under sensitive wetland areas. These areas were included in the updated 

environmental authorisation and WUL applications, with approvals imminent.

Future work
• Plan rehabilitation of VG3;

• Project work at VG7 for a small UG section, accessed from VG3 highwall; 

• Finalise VG6 underground implementation plan;

• Additional drilling at VG4, review seam correlation, current mining practices impacting on coal recovery and implement a monthly 

coal recovery reconciliation; and

• Update to the geological and mining models with updated life of mine and financial evaluation.

Environmental management and closure funding
An assessment update of the current rehabilitation liability based on the DMRE guidelines was made by Mr Kleynhans dated 

April 2021. It amounts to R225.2 million including value added tax, an increase of R31.2 million on a comparative basis from the 

2020 assessment. 

The year-on-year increase in backlog is a concern; the commencement of operations in VG5 pit has increased the areas disturbed. 

With VG3 pit nearing completion, this will provide an opportunity to reduce the backlog considerably.

The volume-based assessment for Vanggatfontein, as compared to the DMRE guideline assessment for March 2021, shows an 

indicative shortfall of R754.7 million.

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited has a financial guarantee in place to provide for the current closure liability quantum for 

Vanggatfontein in the event of unscheduled closure. The guarantee is provided by Centriq Insurance Innovation (“Centriq”) and is 

valued at R194 million as at the end of July 2020. 

The life of mine indicated a remaining mine life of six years. Although the financial model made provision for R825 million on a total 

net present value basis, it is highly recommended that an actual funding mechanism is put in place for closure.
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Risks 
Table 24 below details the risks identified at Vanggatfontein.  

Table 24. Vanggatfontein risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Operational – safety Highwall failures The work in progress 

on VG4 pit was reduced 

significantly resulting in 

a single highwall from 

No. 2 Seam to No. 5 

Seam hard overburden 

with almost no safety 

benches. The mine will 

slow down on No. 4 and 

No. 2 Seam mining to re-

establish the offsets and 

benches on No. 5 Seam

High

Reserves – coal 

recovery

Financial risk, reduced 

reserves and increase 

in strip ratio

Monitor recovery on 

a monthly and even 

shorter-term basis 

with associated regular 

inspections. The VG4 

area is mostly impacted; 

additional drilling and 

review of the mining 

processes will be done 

together with aligning 

the modifying factors to 

those reconciled

High

Increase in 

rehabilitation backlog

Financial, with the 

increased backlog 

comes increased 

liability and cost of 

financial guarantees. 

The promulgation of 

the new legislation 

moving to a volume-

based assessment has 

significant risk with a 

large amount of backlog

Plan to reduce backlog 

as part of operational 

execution

High

Closure provision Not meeting closure 

commitments

Funding mechanisms 

to be put in place to 

ensure enough funds 

will be available at 

closure. The mine 

should consider an 

aggressive concurrent 

rehabilitation strategy to 

reduce closure liability

High

Life of mine process Impacting economic 

viability

Conduct the life of mine 

process in advance 

of the annual coal 

resources and coal 

reserves update

Medium
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Moabsvelden
Moabsvelden is Wescoal’s most recent commissioned colliery situated in the Witbank Coalfield of South Africa. It will leverage 

synergies with the neighbouring Vanggatfontein approximately 4km to the south along the district road. Moabsvelden ROM will be 

processed through a dedicated coal handling and processing plant to be constructed on the WRB. This processing facility will also 

process the planned future production from the Vanggatfontein extension. In the interim, Moabsvelden utilises spare plant capacity 

at Vanggatfontein to process some of the low-quality seams to enable the mine to provide required specification coal to its Eskom 

clients.

Figure 12 shows the locality map for Moabsvelden. It is located approximately 55km south-west of Emalahleni and approximately 

77km east of Johannesburg. More specifically, it is located approximately 15km east of the town of Delmas in the Mpumalanga 

province at 26.15166S, 28.81833E.

Figure 12. Moabsvelden locality map

On 23 April 2013, the Moabsvelden prospecting right (No. F 2008/07/14/006) was successfully converted into an 18-year mining 

right (No. 10025 MR) when it was issued in the name of Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited (“Neosho”) (registration number: 

2008/010470/07). The mining right covers an area of 249.4ha and was issued in terms of section 23(1) of the MPRDA with an 

effective date of 16 October 2013, expiring on 15 October 2031. This mining right is covered by the farm Moabsvelden 248IR, Ptn. 8.
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Local geology
Locally, three coal seams are developed across the licence 

area, namely the No. 5 Seam, No. 4 Seam and the No. 2 Seam. 

The No. 2 and No. 4 Seams are the primary economic targets, 

with the addition of the No. 5 Seam where the thickness, quality 

and continuity allow. The No. 3 Seam is not developed at all. 

The No. 4 Seam is divided into the No. 4 Lower (“4L”) and No. 4 

Upper (“4U”) Coal Seams, based on the presence of a mudstone 

parting, which is on average 0.4m thick. The 4U is the poorer 

portion of the seam and requires beneficiation to produce an 

Eskom product. The 4L is the better quality, lower portion of 

the seam and is suitable for crushing and screening to produce 

an Eskom product. As per the No. 4 Seam, the No. 2 Seam 

is also split into a No. 2 Upper (“2U”) and No. 2 Lower (“2L”) 

Seam when there is the presence of a mudstone parting. The 

2U is the poorer- quality top portion of the seam and requires 

washing in order to make an Eskom product, whereas the 2L is 

the higher-quality lower half of the seam and is suitable for 

crushing and screening to produce an Eskom product. 

Structure
Structurally notable is the presence of a transgressive sill 

along the western and northern extents of the mining footprint. 

The coal seams in these areas are uplifted by as much as 

20m. Additional operational drilling will assist in further 

understanding the structure in this area.  

Coal resource classifi cation
The coal seams at Moabsvelden are of the multiple seam coal 

deposit-type, defined in SANS 10320:2020 as “characterised 

by a discrete number of coal seams, typically between 0.5m and 

7.0m in thickness, separated by interburden units with a thickness 

that generally significantly exceeds the thickness of the individual 

coal seams”. The resource classification is based on the 

geological knowledge of the deposit, including that gained from 

mapping, remote sensing, geophysics and drilling.

Based on the distribution of valid points of observation at 

Moabsvelden, the coal seams are classified as measured 

and indicated.

Coal resource classifi cation
Currently, all seams present within the delineated opencast 

areas (strip ratio <4bcm waste:tonne coal) are included for 

mining, namely the No. 5 Coal Seam, No. 4 Coal Seam and 

No. 2 Seams. The coal seams within the Moabsvelden area are 

defined as multiple seam type as per SANS 10320:2004. Coal 

resources are declared for the No. 2, No. 4 and No. 5 Seams.

Cut-off s applied
Coal resources were estimated inside of the mining right 

boundary net of depletion, excluding sensitive wetlands 

and boundary pillars. For opencast resources, a minimum 

coal thickness cut-off of 0.5m was applied to the resource 

estimations. Quality cut-offs applied included a maximum raw 

ash content of 45% and a minimum DAF volatile content of 

27.5%. Geological losses applied in estimations for the various 

categories varied from measured = 10%, indicated = 15% and 

inferred = 20%.

Coal resources
The coal resource estimates were conducted in accordance 

with the SAMREC Code, as well as the South African Guide to 

the Systematic Evaluation of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves 

(SANS 10320:2004).

The coal resource estimate has been independently estimated 

and signed off by Ms Black of KJB and is declared as at 

31 March 2021. The Moabsvelden opencast coal resource 

estimates comprise 28.66mt (93%) measured and 1.99mt (7%) 

indicated coal resource estimates, for a total resource estimate 

of 30.65mt (MTIS). As Moabsvelden is not yet in steady state, 

the coal resource estimates were calculated by using the actual 

mining depletion for FY21. 

All coal resources are reported as at 31 March 2021 and are 

inclusive of the coal reserves.

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Table 25. Moabsvelden resource estimate as at 31 March 2021

 Raw coal qualities (air-dried, uncontaminated) 

Mining methodology 

 Resource

 category 

Thick 

m

 ARD 

g/cm3

 MTIS

mt

 Ash 

%

 CV 

MJ/kg

 FC

%

 IM 

% 

 TS 

%

 VM 

%

Opencast Measured 4.18 1.67 28.66 35.32 17.85 39.93 3.83 0.84 20.92

Opencast Indicated 3.44 1.67 1.99 38.03 16.70 38.02 3.68 0.77 20.21

Total Moabs resources 4.14 1.67 30.65 35.49 17.77 39.80 3.82 0.84 20.87

Table 26. Moabsvelden resource reconciliation

Reconciliation March 2020 to March 2021 estimates

Coal resource estimate 

(ADB)

FY21 actual 

mining 

March 20 

mt

March 21 

mt

Variance 

mt

ROM (AR) 

mt

Loss/gain 

(mt)

Opencast total 30.84 30.65 0.19 0.19 0.00

As mining has just started at Moabsvelden, and they are not yet in steady state, the coal resource reconciliation only illustrates the 

0.19mt depletion from mining. 

Coal reserves 
Moabsvelden is designed as an opencast mine that will leverage synergies with the existing adjacent Vanggatfontein operation. It will 

employ the rollover methodology after the initial box cut, similar to the adjacent Vanggatfontein. No further changes were applied 

to the geological model during the update on the Moabsvelden coal resources which underpinned the update to the coal reserves 

in accordance with the SAMREC Code as at 31 March 2021 by Miptec. Mining commenced in FY21, with 0.19mt of No. 4 Seam coal 

extracted in the western ramp area, in preparation to commence on the main east-west box cut. The current coal reserves statement 

is presented in Table 27, and the plan is shown in Figure 13.

Table 27. Moabsvelden reserves estimate as at 31 March 20211

Moabsvelden reserves estimate 31 as at March 2021 (100% Wescoal)

Reserve category Seam

MTIS (AD)

mt

ROM (AR)

mt

Saleable (AR)

mt

Yield 

%

CV (AD)

MJ/kg

Ash (AD)

%

Vol (AD)

%

TS (AD)

%

Proven Total  28.09  28.72  24.49 85  20.15  29.41  22.46 0.90

100% basis Mine  28.09  28.72  24.49 85  20.15  29.41  22.46 0.90
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Table 28. Moabsvelden reserves reconciliation

Moabsvelden reserve reconciliation opencast

Date/period Seam 5 Seam 4UU Seam 4U Seam 4L Seam 2U Seam 2L Total

31 March 2020  2.76  0.51  3.68  8.26  4.09  9.72  29.01 

31 March 2021  2.75  0.49  3.65  8.04  4.07  9.72  28.72 

Net change  (0.01)  (0.02)  (0.03)  (0.21)  (0.02)  (0.00)  (0.29)

Mining depletion –  0.04  0.06  0.09  0.19 

Net loss  (0.01)  0.02  0.02  (0.12)  (0.00)  (0.11)

Table 28 details the reserves reconciliation for Moabsvelden. An overall loss of 0.11mt is indicated and results from a slight 

adjustment to the eastern boundary due to the end-wall design parameters.

Table 29 shows the reserves history for Moabsvelden for the previous two reporting periods. The change in estimates is explained 

in the coal reconciliation as shown in Table 28.

Table 29. Moabsvelden reserves history

Moabsvelden reserves history

Date

MTIS (AD)

(mt)

ROM (AR)

(mt)

Saleable (AR)

(mt)

Yield 

%

CV (AD)

MJ/kg

Ash (AD)

%

Vol (AD)

%

TS (AD)

%

FY20  28.38 29.01  24.47 84  20.18  29.32  22.47 0.90

FY21  28.09  28.72  24.49 85  20.15  29.41  22.46 0.90

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Figure 13. Moabsvelden reserves as at 31 March 2021  

Figure 13 shows a plan of the remaining reserves on the No. 4 Seam where mining has commenced. All seams are still unmined 

below the No. 4 Seam.  

Modifying Factors 

The mineable coal resources on Moabsvelden were limited largely by the extent of the buffer zone surrounding the wetland in the 

north of the Moabsvelden licence area. Planning has been based on a 150m buffer between the nearest workings and the wetland 

delineation, informed by the conditions set out in the WUL. Coal cut-offs of a 0.5m and DAFV of 24% were applied to all seams, with 

the exception of the No. 4 Upper and No. 2 Upper Seams which have DAFV cut-off of 20% applied, as these seams will be washed. 

Total losses of 15%, 3% contamination and 4% additional moisture for the as received calculation were applied.  



126 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Marketing
The integration of Moabsvelden into the Vanggatfontein Complex has been designed to take advantage of existing management and 

infrastructure, as well as to supply existing consumer segments. The No. 5 Seam, No. 4U Seam and No. 2U Seam will be selectively 

processed in a dense medium processing plant with the remainder of the ROM only crushed and screened after which the two 

products will be blended and sent to the client. ROM will be processed at a planned new processing facility to be constructed on the 

WRB at Vanggatfontein.

Wescoal has an agreement to produce a low-quality Eskom product with an indicator calorific value of 18.8MJ/kg, a volatile matter 

content of 19% and an ash percentage not exceeding 35%. Eskom is currently engaging the mine as part of a process to divert a 

portion of Moabsvelden product to Majuba Power Station with an indicator value of 19.5MJ/kg.

Future work
• Plan and secure additional out of pit dumping space from neighbours; and

• Finalise processing plant designs and capacity – construction.

Environmental
Mining activities have commenced on the box cut and infrastructure as at the date of this report. An assessment update of the 

current Moabsvelden rehabilitation liability based on the DMRE guidelines was made by Mr Kleynhans dated May 2021. It amounts 

to R41.7 million including value added tax. 

The volume-based assessment for Moabsvelden, as compared to the DMRE guideline assessment for March 2021, shows an 

indicative shortfall of R111.6 million. 

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited has a financial guarantee in place to provide for the current closure liability quantum 

for Moabsvelden in the event of unscheduled closure. The guarantee is provided by Centriq and is valued at R20 million as at 

September 2016. Moabsvelden has an indicated life remaining of 10 years.

Risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Operational Waste dump space Investigating use of 

neighbouring surface 

area

Medium

Dolerite intrusions Although the sill has 
been extensively 
surveyed (aeromag) 
and drilled, there may 
be additional intrusive 
features that have not 
been identified. This 
may have an impact 
on reserves, mining 
and coal qualities

Careful analysis and 
wireline logging of 
the pre-split holes. 
Regular sampling of 
the ROM coal

Low

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Sterkfontein
The Sterkfontein Project is situated in the Highveld Coalfield of South Africa. It extends over portions of 10 farms and covers a 

footprint measuring approximately 16km in a north-south direction, and approximately 9km in an east-west direction for a total area 

of 7 926ha. Exploration at Sterkfontein targets the No. 4 Lower (“No. 4L”) and No. 4 Upper (“No. 4U”) Seams of the Highveld Coalfield. 

It is planned for the Sterkfontein coal to be mined using an underground bord and pillar method with the use of continuous miners. 

The coal is intended to be processed using a double-stage circuit to produce a primary export thermal product and a middlings 

product for potential sale to Eskom. 

Figure 14 is a locality plan for Sterkfontein. The northern edge of Sterkfontein is located approximately 5km south-west of the town 

of Bethal (Figure ES 22) in the Mpumalanga province, approximately 149km east-south-east of Johannesburg. The nearest main 

centre is the town of Ermelo, approximately 56km east of Bethal. It is located at 26 degrees 31 minutes South, 29 degrees 24 minutes 

East. 26.527067 S and 29.404783 E.

Figure 14. Sterkfontein locality map
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Sterkfontein comprises five prospecting rights (443PR, 444PR, 

1827PR, 2053PR and 1720PR) held in the names of Keaton 

Mining Proprietary Limited (“Keaton Mining”) and Labohlano 

Trading 46 Proprietary Limited (“Labohlano”). Most of these 

prospecting rights expired in 2017. Keaton timeously submitted 

two mining right applications during December 2017 together 

with a section 102 application to consolidate the rights when 

granted. Wescoal awaits the DMRE’s response in this regard. 

The mining right applied for relates to the following farms: 

Kaffirskraal 148IS, Blesbok 150IS, Sterkfontein 296IS, Pieksdal 

298IS, Sterkfontein 299IS, Dikkop alias Vekorting 300IS, 

Goedehoop 301IS, Palmietfontein 307IS and Wildan 577IS.

Historical exploration
Prior to Keaton Energy Holdings Limited’s (“KEHL’s”) 

involvement, only four historical boreholes had been drilled 

on the Sterkfontein Project area. These were drilled by AAC 

in 1969. Data for these boreholes were obtained from the 

CGS and, although they all intersected coal, no information 

regarding the lithologies and coal qualities is currently 

available. Subsequent to AAC relinquishing its rights, no 

additional boreholes were drilled on the property prior to the 

KEHL exploration programmes.

With the acquisition of Labohlano in 2009, KEHL received data 

from an additional 25 boreholes from the contributing 1720PR 

properties.

Since the acquisition of Sterkfontein by KEHL, two separate 

phases of exploration were undertaken; the first between 2007 

and 2008 and the second between 2009 and 2011.

No further drilling has been conducted on the Sterkfontein 

properties since 2011.

No historical mining has taken place on any of the contributing 

properties associated with Sterkfontein.

Local geology
The Sterkfontein Project area only hosts the No. 5 and 

No. 4 Seams with the No. 2 Seam represented only by a 

carbonaceous siltstone unit. 

For exploration purposes, the No. 5 Seam forms a distinctive 

marker approximately 55m above the No. 4 Upper Seam. 

The No. 5 Seam is thin, mostly being less than 40cm over 

the property. It occurs in most of the holes drilled at a depth 

of between 130m and 175m. The No. 4 Seam is a composite 

seam which is often split by a sandstone or siltstone parting, 

creating a No. 4 Upper and No. 4 Lower Seam. Typically, the 

quality of the No. 4 Lower Seam is better than that of the No. 4 

Upper Seam and is the main seam present on the project area. 

The No. 4 Lower Seam ranges in thickness from a minimum 

of 0.18m to a maximum of 4.50m with an average of 1.64m. 

The overlying No. 4 Upper Seam shows elevation differences 

similar to those for the No. 4 Lower Seam as would be 

expected. Based on statistical analysis of the boreholes in the 

database, the No. 4 Upper Seam (where present) ranges in 

thickness from a minimum of 0.02m to a maximum of 2.24m, 

averaging 0.74m.

Two major dolerite sills have been identified on Sterkfontein 

which have an impact on the No. 4 Seam structure on the 

property.

Cut-off s applied
For the coal resource estimate, a minimum seam thickness of 

1.4m has been used as a minimum practical mining height of 

a Joy 14HM15 continuous miner and/or conventional drill and 

blast mining. No maximum mining height was applied as the 

seam maximum thickness is 4.5m. 

A minimum raw ash cut-off of 50% and 24% DAFV (to account 

for devolatilised coal as per the SANS 10320:2004 guidelines) 

have been applied to all estimated coal resources. In order to 

convert GTIS to TTIS, geological losses of 10% and 15% have 

been applied to account for unexpected projected losses due 

to dolerite intrusions, geological structure and geological 

complexity. No modelling error was applied. The application 

of a 1.4m mining height was used to estimate the MTIS.

Coal resources 
The coal resource estimates for Sterkfontein were most 

recently compiled by Dr Schneiderhan of CCIC Coal and 

included in the 31 January 2017 CPR compiled by Venmyn 

Deloitte entitled “Independent Competent Person’s Report 

on the Coal Assets of Keaton Energy Holdings Limited”. As 

no recent work has been conducted on Sterkfontein, the coal 

resource estimates contained in this report are as per the 

2017 Venmyn Deloitte CPR. 

The coal seams within the Sterkfontein area are defined as 

multiple seam type as per SANS 10320:2004. While both the 

No. 5 and No. 4 Seams of the Highveld Coalfield are present, 

the main economic target is, however, only the No. 4 (Upper 

and Lower) Seam.

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Table 30. Sterkfontein Project resource estimation as at 31 March 2021 (as per 2017 Venmyn CPR) (100% attributable)

 Coal resource estimate (MTIS) (AD) Raw coal qualities (AD)

Inferred

mt

Indicated

mt

Measured

mt

Total

mt

CV

MJ/kg

Ash

%

VM

%

TS

%

Sterkfontein Project 

underground  40.64  50.29 –  90.93  19.86  31.32  25.66  1.33 

Block 3 –  50.29 –  50.29  20.79  29.31  26.13  1.42 

Block 2A  22.87 – –  22.87  19.82  31.05  26.09  1.23 

Block 2B  10.65 – –  10.65  18.95  33.30  24.61  1.50 

Block 1  7.12 – –  7.12  14.74  43.39  22.53  0.71 

Historical resource estimate
As part of the listing documents for admission of KEHL to the JSE, Coffey Mining compiled an independent CPR on the Sterkfontein 

Project (Dekker and Van Wyk, 2008). It should be noted that at this time, the Sterkfontein Project covered a significantly smaller 

area than it does currently. Three distinct resource areas were defined based on their geographic locations, borehole densities and 

geological understanding.

The total GTIS figure estimated for the three areas was 39.8mt, which with various geological losses provided allowed for TTIS figures 

of 34.8mt. Cut-offs applied included a 1.4m seam height and 26% dry ash-free volatiles (“DAFVOL”).

Following the second phase of exploration drilling, and the acquisition of the additional borehole data concerning the Sterkfontein 

extension area, an additional CPR was completed (Van Wyk, 2010). This report listed the coal resource at Sterkfontein as being 

some 82mt (GTIS). Three resource areas were defined by seam width and drilling densities. All coal with a seam width of less than 

1.4m was excluded from the model.

Coal reserves
No coal reserves have been declared for Sterkfontein.

Coal market 
Wescoal currently does not have an offtake agreement for saleable product at Sterkfontein but the coal quality lends itself to a 

product for both the export and domestic thermal markets.

Project risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Project risk The project data has not 
been assessed for seven 
years, particularly with 
respect to the economics 
of the project

Review the project 
data as a whole for the 
upcoming CPR

High

Project risk The two mining right 
applications (December 
2017) together with a 
section 102 application 
to consolidate the rights 
have yet to be granted

Follow up with the 
relevant departments

High

Faults The displacement 
associated with the fault 
is unclear. There are 
numerous associated 
risks including operational, 
capital risks etc.

Additional exploration 
(geophysics and drilling)

Medium

Economic/technical Depth of seam – 
increased product costs

Market studies need 
to show that there is a 
market for this product 

High
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Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery
LBC is an advanced-stage exploration property situated within the Klip River Coalfield in South Africa. It extends over portions of 

three farms and covers a total area of 1 951.66ha. LBC targets the Top and Bottom Seams of the Klip River Coalfield. It is planned for 

the LBC coal to be mined using predominantly underground mining methods, making use of the bord and pillar mining method, with 

the use of continuous miners. Shallow coal on the flanks of the coal resource area have the potential to be extracted using opencast 

methods. The coal is planned to be processed using a double-stage process targeting a primary export thermal product and a 

middlings product for potential sale to Eskom. 

At the time of this report, Wescoal was in the process of selling the LBC asset.

Figure 15 shows the locality of LBC, which is approximately 10km east-south-east of the town of Newcastle in the KwaZulu-Natal 

province. The project is situated approximately 30km south-west of Utrecht, approximately 80km south of Volksrust, approximately 

120km west of Vryheid and approximately 60km north of the coal mining town of Dundee. It is located at 26.2047S, 28.8325E.

Figure 15. LBC locality map

Resources and reserves summary continued



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

131

Resources and reserves sum
m

ary

LBC is 100% owned by Wescoal and comprises a single mining 

right (KZN30/5/1/2/2/143MR) issued to LBC. Venmyn Deloitte 

has reviewed a copy of this mining right. The mining right 

was executed on 29 August 2007 and unless cancelled or 

suspended in terms of clause 13 of the mining right, or section 

47 of the MPRDA, will continue in force for a period of 30 years, 

ending on 28 August 2037. The mining right relates to the 

following farms: Rem Ext. Drycut 8198HU, Madadeni 1596HU 

and Braakfontein 4278HU.

LBC holds an approved EMP (dated 29 August 2007) and 

mining right (KZN30/5/1/2/2/143 MR), which was awarded on 

29 August 2007. This mining right will continue in force for a 

period of 30 years. Operations at LBC, however, have not yet 

recommenced since the first box cut excavation in 2008. An 

EMP amendment will have to be conducted should Wescoal 

plan to proceed with activities.

Wescoal does not have an environmental authorisation 

at this stage. The EMP amendment process will have to 

run concurrently with the NEMA EIA in line with the One 

Environmental System through the DMRE. 

The current financial closure liability associated with LBC 

is R4.1 million.

Project history
Details regarding drilling undertaken by Anglo Coal between 

1989 and 1996 were obtained from the February 2001 

Anglo Coal information memorandum. The information 

memorandum, which was used as part of the sale of the Anglo 

Coal KwaZulu-Natal Holdings portfolio, included particulars 

about Braakfontein and the 105 65.0mm-size vertical diamond 

boreholes that were drilled in the so-called “Braakfontein 

Block”, most of which are included in the current Braakfontein 

Project area.

During 1989 to 1990, Anglo Coal used Richlab for analysis. 

Notes on the Anglo Coal logs show that the 1996 boreholes 

were all analysed internally at the Anglo Coal Laboratories.

LBC was awarded the mining right in 2007 and in 2008 

excavated a 80m by 80m by 3m box cut. No subsequent work 

to the box cut excavation took place. 

KEHL took ownership in 2012. Between 2012 and 2014, a total 

of 17 diamond and 33 percussion holes were drilled. 

Mindset Mining Consultants Proprietary Limited were 

contracted in 2014 to compile a feasibility of the project, 

however, this was not completed. 

No additional mining or exploration has taken place since 2008 

and 2014, respectively. 

Local geology
Braakfontein hosts the complete succession of coal seams, as 

previously documented, for the northern Klip River Coalfield, 

from the base up, namely the Extra Bottom Seam, Bottom 

Seam, Top Seam, Marker Seam and the Fritz Seam. The target 

coal at Braakfontein may therefore be defined as multiple seam 

type as per SANS 10320 (2004). Neither the Extra Bottom, nor 

Fritz and Marker Seams, are considered economic; the Extra 

Bottom because of its variable thickness and qualities, and the 

Marker Seam due to its thin nature, usually being less than 

0.2m thick.

Top Seam sequence 
The Top Seam is a composite seam that is composed of up to 

three individual units previously referred to as the Top Lower 

Seam (0.45m to 0.95m thin banded, mixed, mainly bright 

coal), Top Seam Parting (0.6m to 1.3m siltstone to sandstone 

parting) and Top Upper Seam (0.6m to 1.3m dull to dull lustrous 

coal). The full sequence thickness ranges from a minimum of 

0.10m to a maximum of 3.09m, averaging 2.18m. The depth 

to roof contours for the Top Seam show that mining depths 

will change from the sub-crop and highwall in the west down 

to over 140m. The Top Seam is deeper in the centre of the 

resource. For exploration purposes, the Marker Seam forms a 

distinctive seam approximately 12m above the Top Seam.

Bottom Seam sequence
The Bottom Seam is a composite seam, which often has at 

its base an inferior coal ply or carbonaceous mudstone or 

siltstone. Based on statistical analysis of the drillholes in 

the database, it may be shown to range in thickness from a 

minimum of 0.14m to a maximum of 3.36m with an average 

of 1.32m. The parting between the Top and Bottom Seams at 

Braakfontein ranges between 7m and 14m, with an on-average 

12m thickness. The parting consists of white massive coarse- 

to medium-grained sandstone and siltstone.

Structure
The Braakfontein coal resource is structurally complex. The 

coal resource forms a syncline, with a north to south trending 

central axis. The Top and Bottom Seams sub-outcrop on both 

the eastern and western flanks of the resource. The syncline 

closes towards the north of the resource. The coal seams 

within the syncline dip at 5° to 9° towards the fringes. Two 

major dolerite sills have been identified on Braakfontein that 

have an impact on the coal resources, these being the Ingogo 

and No. 10 dolerite sills, which cause the deposit to be rather 

structurally complex. The intrusions were intersected in a 

number of drillholes varying in thickness from 0.02m to 59.0m. 

The presence of dominant north to south faults on Braakfontein 

has been confirmed with drilling. The faults have resulted in 
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a horst-graben structure that has downthrown the centre of the project area with displacement ranging from approximately 10m to 

45m. The faulting appears to be less steep towards the east of the project and gradients range from approximately 7° to 11° away 

from the central downthrown fault block.

The depths of the Top and Bottom Seams vary across Braakfontein due to faulting, and the synclinal structure of the coal seam 

stratigraphy, ranging from approximately 5m in the east and west to 200m in the centre. As well as dominant north to south faulting, 

east to west faults have also been interpreted on the project. A secondary set of fault traces may exist on Braakfontein but rather in a 

north-east to south-west orientation and additional drilling and geotechnical work will verify this.

Cut-off s applied
For the coal resource estimate, a minimum seam thickness of 1.4m has been used as a minimum practical mining height of a 

Joy 14HM15 continuous miner and/or conventional drill and blast mining. A minimum seam thickness of >0.5m was used for the 

opencast resources, and a strip ratio of <6:1 was applied. 

A minimum cut-off of 50% ash and 24% DAFV (to account for devolatilised coal as per the SANS 10320:2004 guidelines) has been 

applied to all estimated coal resources. In order to convert GTIS to TTIS, geological losses of 20% have been applied to account 

for unexpected projected losses due to dolerite intrusions, geological structure and geological complexity. No modelling error was 

applied. The application of a 1.4m mining height was used to estimate the MTIS.

Coal resources 
The coal resource estimates for LBC were most recently compiled by Dr Schneiderhan of CCIC Coal and included in the 

31 January 2017 CPR compiled by Venmyn Deloitte entitled “Independent Competent Person’s Report on the Coal Assets of 

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited”. As no recent work has been conducted on the LBC Project, the coal resource estimates contained 

in this report are as per the 2017 Venmyn Deloitte CPR. Permission has been obtained from Venmyn to replicate the 2017 resource 

estimation in this report. 

Table 31. LBC resource estimate as at 31 March 2020 (no change from Venmyn 2017 CDR) (100% attributable) – 

Venmyn 2017 reported basis

 Coal resource estimate (MTIS) (AD) Raw coal quality (AD)

Inferred

mt

Indicated

mt

Measured

mt

Total

mt

CV

MJ/kg

Ash

%

VM

%

TS

%

Leeuw Braakfontein 

Project –  60.06 –  60.06  23.01  28.74  22.34  1.62 

Top Seam  opencast –  6.90 –  6.90  21.96  31.21  20.76  1.95 

Top Seam  underground –  29.73 –  29.73  22.86  29.56  22.17  1.86 

Bottom Seam  opencast –  4.53 –  4.53  23.15  28.00  22.68  1.28 

Bottom Seam  

underground –  18.90 –  18.90  23.59  26.73  23.12  1.22 

Coal reconciliation
There is no coal resource reconciliation as the coal resource estimate has remained unchanged since 2016. 

Coal reserves
No coal reserves have been declared for LBC.

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Project risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Project risk The project data has 

not been assessed in 

six years, particularly 

with respect to the 

economics of the project

Review the project 

data as a whole for the 

upcoming CPR

Low

Technical Multiple north-south 

trending faults (with 

throws up to 45m) could 

have an impact on 

resources, operations, 

capital costs, etc. 

Additional exploration 

(geophysics and drilling)

Medium

Technical Elevated sulphur 

content of the Top 

Seam.

This aspect will require 

a clear market strategy 

as the product sulphur 

will exceed 1.3%

Moderate risk

Environmental The proximity of the 

Ngagane River to the 

west of the project 

will necessitate 

tight surface and 

groundwater control

The mining activities 

and groundwater 

controls will be carefully 

managed to ensure 

that no impact at the 

Ngagane River takes 

place during and after 

mine closure

Moderate risk
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Arnot Colliery
The Arnot Project comprises the Arnot coal mining right area which covers an area of approximately 16 400ha and the Strathrae 

underground coal mine (a section 102 application was submitted in the first quarter of 2014) which covers an area of approximately 

1 400ha. The Arnot Colliery, as referred to in the CPR, refers to that portion of the Arnot Project that was previously mined and 

currently in the closure rehabilitation phase. The relevant information was sourced from the CPR completed by MSA for Arnot OpCo 

with the effective date of 1 July 2019.

The mine is located as indicated in Figure 16 about 43km east of Middelburg along the N4 highway, 65km from Carolina and 

approximately 25km from Hendrina and falls under the jurisdiction of the Steve Tshwete Municipality under the Nkangala District 

Municipality. It is located at roughly 2600’0”S, 29050’0”E.

Figure 16. Arnot Colliery location map

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Wescoal Holdings Limited through Wescoal Mining Proprietary 

Limited holds a 45% shareholding interest in Arnot OpCo 

Proprietary Limited.

The mining right (MP30/5/1/2/1/325MR), now under the name 

of AOC, was executed on 6 December 2012 with expiry on 

5 December 2038 for a period of 26 years. The section 11 was 

indicated as still in progress with the section 102 mining right 

for Strathrae also in process.

The unapproved 2013 consolidated Arnot Environmental 

Management Programme Report (“EMPr”) that is pending 

dependent on Eskom/AOC Closures Provisioning:

• There is no valid EMPr for the Grootlaagte Opencast 

Reserve and;  

• Arrears and/or shortfall in the Mine Closures Provisioning 

and Guarantees for Arnot which currently stands at 

R750 million (the Rehabilitation Funds only has R250 million 

in rehabilitation trust funds). A Section 27 Exemption 

Application process has been initiate.

The Arnot Colliery has been producing thermal coal for more 

than 40 years, using various mining methods including bord 

and pillar, opencasting and shortwalling (between 1995 and 

2005). In the early years, the mine comprised a much larger 

resource base. Several changes during the history of the mine 

have reduced the area to the current Arnot mining right area 

(Sambo and Van der Merwe, 2016).

Local geology 
At Arnot, the No. 1 Seam, No. 2 Seam, No.4 Seam and No. 5 

Coal Seams are present, however, only the No. 1 and No. 2 Coal 

Seams are considered economic at this point. 

The No. 1 Seam is consistently developed in the western half 

of the Arnot Project area, while in the eastern portion, it only 

occurs as isolated patches. It is intersected at an average depth 

of more than 50m in the underground extents, rendering it not 

feasible for exploitation in these areas. It, however, occurs at 

shallower depths of at least 23m in the opencast areas and 

remains a good prospect in these resource areas. It is, however, 

patchily distributed. 

The No. 2 Seam is site-specifically subdivided into Seam 2 

Lower (“S2L”), Seam 2 Upper (“S2U”) and Seam 2A (“S2A”) 

marked by two intra-seam partings, namely parting P2 and 

P3, respectively. The S2L constitutes the majority of the coal 

resources in the Arnot area and consists of hard, dull to 

lustrous coal with several bright coal bands and occasional 

stone partings. The S2L is continuous across the Arnot Project. 

The depth to the top of the S2L depends largely on local 

surface topography and reaches a maximum depth of 80m 

along the eastern boundary of the project area, pinching and 

thinning out in the eastern parts of the mining section due to 

local, pre-Karoo basement palaeo-highs. 

The No. 4 Seam occurs erratically across the lease area with an 

average thickness of 0.7m. The seam is often split by internal 

clastic partings into Seam 4 Lower (“S4L”) and Seam 4 Upper 

(“S4U”). The No. 4 Seam is overlain by interlaminated units of 

siltstone and shale with the No. 5 Seam sporadically developed 

in areas. Neither No. 4 Seam nor No. 5 Seam are included in the 

coal resource estimate.

Structure and Intrusions
A well-developed dolerite sill is present some 15m to 20m 

above the S2L in the topographically elevated areas in the 

south-eastern portion of the Arnot Project area. This sill is 

between 5m to 40m thick, with an average of c. 11m, and has 

resulted in devolatilisation and minor resource loss where 

the volatile matter dropped below 18%. Feeder dykes are 

expected to occur in the vicinity of the sill. A number of dolerite 

dykes are also known to have intruded the Karoo Supergroup 

succession in the area, with six dykes having been intersected 

in the underground workings to date. The dykes often lack 

magnetic signature and are not responsive to geophysical 

methods of detection.

Faults with displacement in excess of 2.5m are rare and to 

date only six have been encountered in the underground 

mine (Sambo and Van der Merwe, 2015). A high density of 

compactional structures (i.e. slips and faults), however, occurs 

in zones adjacent to pre-Karoo palaeo-highs. Similar features 

are observed on the flanks of relatively large floor rolls, 

scour and dome structures. The aforementioned geological 

structures have an adverse effect on underground coal mine 

roof and strata stability as they manifest into roof and side 

falls, caving of the roof and more rarely in subsidence of the 

ground surface.

Cut-off s applied
Geological cut-offs on limit of weathering, raw Ash of maximum 

50% and dry ash-free volatiles of minimum 24% were applied 

in the model. Resources were estimated within the mining 

right boundary and also outside of any defined environmental 

restrictions.

Resources were split based on depth to seam roof. Opencast 

possible resources with a total depth of less than 25m to the 

seam roof, with possible underground resources exceeding the 

25m depth. The seam thickness for opencast was a minimum 

of 0.5m, and underground a minimum of 1.8m.

It is stated that for the purpose of establishing reasonable 

prospects for eventual economic extraction, that seam 

thickness, seam depth, potential mining method, surface 

infrastructure, natural man-made features and LOMP were 

referred to.
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Coal resources 
The coal resource estimates for Arnot Colliery were most recently compiled by Dr Schneiderhan of CCIC Coal, in association with 

the MSA Group, in a report entitled “Arnot OpCo Proprietary Limited Independent Competent Person’s Report – Arnot Project 

Mpumalanga, South Africa” dated 1 July 2019. As no recent work has been carried out at Arnot, the coal resource estimates 

contained in this report are as per the 2019 MSA CPR. Permission has been obtained from MSA to replicate the 2019 resource 

estimation in this report.  

Figure 17 illustrates the S2L resource areas.

Figure 17. Arnot S2L remaining resource areas after cut-off parameters applied (MSA CPR 2019)

Raw coal resources, which form the basis for the identification of reserves, are reported below for the S1 opencast (Table 32) and S2L 

opencast (Table 33) and underground (Table 34) areas.

Table 32. Arnot No 1 Seam opencast resources (source: MSA 2019 CPR) Wescoal 45% attributable

Arnot S1 opencast tonnages and average raw qualities (1 July 2019)

Average raw coal qualities (air-dried basis)

Area

ha Seam

Average 

Seam 

thick-

ness 

m

Average

depth

to roof

m

Vol-

ume 

m3

GTIS 

mt

Re-

source 

cate-

gory

Geol. 

loss %

TTIS 

mt RD

IM

%

Ash

%

VM 

%

FC 

%

CV 

MJ/kg

TS 

%

DAFVOL

%

A
rn

ot

O
C

Total 63.64 S1 0.86 19.05 0.51 0.75 Measured 5 0.72 1.47 3.7 18.1 30.3 47.9 25.88 0.93 38.85

Total 185.93 S1 1.07 20.23 1.28 1.92 Indicated 10 1.73 1.50 3.4 20.2 30.2 46.2 24.72 0.99 39.64

Total 81.64 S1 1.07 17.50 0.84 1.33 Inferred 15 1.13 1.58 2.9 28.0 27.5 41.5 22.05 1.63 40.07

Total S1 2.63 4.00 3.57

Resources and reserves summary continued
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Table 33. Arnot No. 2 Lower Seam opencast resources (source: MSA 2019 CPR) Wescoal 45% attributable

Arnot 2L1 opencast tonnages and average raw qualities (1 July 2019)

Average raw coal qualities (air-dried basis)

Area

ha Seam

Average

Seam

thick-

ness

m

Average

depth

to roof

m

Vol-

ume

mm3

GTIS

mt

Re-

source

cate-

gory

Geol.

loss %

TTIS 

mt RD

IM

%

Ash

%

VM

%

FC

%

CV

MJ/kg

TS

%

DAFVOL

%

Average

 strip

 Ratio

A
rn

ot

O
C

Total 448.40 S2L 2.25 16.34 9.16 13.71 Measured 5 13.03 1.50 4.1 20.2 26.3 49.5 24.48 1.02 34.61 4.97

Total 362.65 S2L 2.64 17.07 8.77 13.18 Indicated 10 11.87 1.50 3.71 20.90 26.25 49.15 24.23 0.99 34.80 4.48

Total 230.33 S2L 2.41 15.37 5.22 7.72 Inferred 15 6.56 1.48 4.0 19.0 27.1 49.9 24.68 1.09 35.20 4.40

Total S2L 23.14 34.62 31.46

Table 34. Arnot No. 2 Lower Seam underground resources (source: MSA 2019 CPR) Wescoal 45% attributable

Arnot 2L1 underground tonnages and average raw qualities (1 July 2019)

Average raw coal qualities (air-dried basis)

Area

ha Seam

Average

Seam

thick-

ness

m

Average

depth

to roof

m

Vol-

ume

mm3

GTIS

mt

Re-

source

cate-

gory

Geol.

loss %

TTIS 

mt RD

IM

%

Ash

%

VM

%

FC

%

CV

MJ/kg

TS

%

DAFVOL

%

Average

 strip

 Ratio

A
rn

ot

U
G

Total 1672.73 S2L 2.72 48.44 42.46 64.17 Measured 5 60.96 1.51 4.20 21.40 23.80 50.70 23.81 0.94  31.87  12.01

Total 1621.07 S2L 2.67 50.98 40.66 62.30 Indicated 10 56.07 1.53 3.85 22.92 23.64 49.60 22.95 0.91  32.27  12.77

Total 1217.13 S2L 2.62 44.92 29.76 45.06 Inferred 15 38.30 1.51 4.10 21.50 23.70 50.70 23.66 0.93  31.90  11.56

Total S2L 112.88 171.53 155.33

Coal reconciliation
Recent coal resources have been declared by Exxaro since 

2011 and two recent previous coal resource estimates exist for 

the area covered by the Arnot Project (Sambo, 2014; Sambo 

and Van der Merwe, 2016). 

Comparison of the resource tonnages shows that Exxaro 

declared a total resource of 224.04mt in the measured 

(138.50mt), indicated (64.25mt) and inferred (21.29mt) 

categories, whereas the current estimates state a total 

resource tonnage of 190.37mt in the measured (74.71mt), 

indicated (69.67mt) and inferred (45.99mt) categories. This then 

equates to a decrease of some 33.67mt of coal resources, and 

a change in confidence and support leading to a downgrading 

of measured and indicated areas to indicated and inferred. 

The overall loss may be accounted for in terms of a number 

of contributing elements, including: that the larger inferred 

resource tonnages are discounted by 15%, whereas Exxaro 

used a standard 10%; that Exxaro made no exclusions for 

wetland and riverine areas; and that certain areas included in 

the 2015 coal resource statement by Exxaro have been shown 

not to have coal present.

Coal reserves
Although the report does present reserves, and an associated 

life of mine plan, there was no evidence presented as to 

the finalisation of markets, financial feasibility, closure on 

environmental permitting and finalisation as to the start-up of 

operations. 

The MSA CPR provided an indication that UG proven reserves 

could be 1.93mt, opencast probable reserves 5.7mt and UG 

probable of 5.77mt.

The mine indicated that they are currently in the process of 

securing an offtake agreement with Eskom for 20mt saleable 

over a 10-year period and that the CPR for Arnot will be 

updated.
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Risks

Type of risk Risk Mitigation Level of risk

Geological Structural complexity 

– floor rolls, seam 

thinning, intra-seam 

partings, dolerite dykes 

and sills

Additional drilling Low to medium

Mining Structural complexity 

could stop production. 

Potential reduction in 

reserve base.

Additional drilling Medium

Market/coal quality Localised areas of poor 

coal quality

Resource management 

and coal blending to 

achieve required quality

Medium

Geotechnical Shallow mining 

conditions (<40mbs) 

which may over 

time lead to surface 

subsidence

Surface and 

underground 

subsidence monitoring

High

Environmental The proximity of 

wetlands to both 

opencast and 

underground workings 

require buffer zones 

or restricted zones for 

mining. These zones 

need to be depicted on 

operational plans and 

may deplete resources 

and reserves

High

Capital Due to the age of the 

operations (>50 years 

in areas), primary and 

secondary access 

infrastructure may 

require refurbishment 

and maintenance for 

extended life

High

Resources and reserves summary continued
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The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of 

South Africa, 71 of 2008 (”the Companies Act”), to maintain 

adequate accounting records and are responsible for the 

content and integrity of the consolidated annual financial 

statements and related financial information included in this 

report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the consolidated 

annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 

of the group as at the end of the financial year and the results 

of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 

conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(”IFRS”). The external auditor is engaged to express an 

independent opinion on the consolidated annual financial 

statements.

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with IFRS and are based on appropriate accounting 

policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and 

prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible 

for the system of internal financial control established by the 

group and place considerable importance on maintaining a 

strong control environment to enable the directors to meet 

these responsibilities. The board sets standards for internal 

control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-

effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation 

of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 

effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of 

duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 

are monitored throughout the group and all employees 

are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 

ensuring that the group’s business is conducted in a manner 

that, in all reasonable circumstances, is above reproach. 

The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, 

assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 

risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully 

eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring 

that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical 

behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined 

procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and 

explanations given by management, that the system of internal 

control provides reasonable assurance that the financial 

records may be relied on for the preparation of the consolidated 

annual financial statements. Any system of internal financial 

control, however, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, 

assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also the 

responsibility of the company to maintain controls over the 

maintenance and integrity of the company’s website.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast 

for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in light of this review and 

the current financial position, they are satisfied that the group 

has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing 

and reporting on the group’s consolidated annual financial 

statements. The consolidated annual financial statements have 

been examined by the group’s external auditor and their report 

is presented on  pages 149 to 153.

The consolidated annual financial statements, set out on 

 pages 154 to 230, which have been prepared on the going 

concern basis, were approved by the board on 22 June 2021 

and were signed on its behalf by:

Robinson Ramaite Jubilant Speckman

Interim chief executive officer (“CEO”) Chief financial officer (“CFO”)

Directors’ responsibilities and approval

Declaration by the company secretary

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, Wescoal Holdings 

Limited has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, for the financial year ended 31 March 2021, all such 

returns and notices as required in terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

Yolande Lemmer

FluidRock Co Sec Proprietary Limited

Company secretary

25 June 2021
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Directors’ report

The directors submit their report for the year ended 

31 March 2021.

Main business and operations

The main business of the company is that of an investment and 

management company with operating subsidiaries engaged in 

the mining, processing and trading of coal. The group operates 

principally in South Africa. The operating results and state 

of affairs of the group and company are fully set out in the 

consolidated annual financial statements.

Group results
For the current financial year, the group made a loss of 

R35.8 million (2020: R136.6 million loss). The current year’s 

results indicate significant improvement in the performance 

of the group compared to the prior year. The main contributing 

factor for the decrease in loss is due to the decrease in 

production challenges that were experienced across all 

operations in the prior year. The loss was also incurred due 

to decreased sales as a result of the impact of the Eskom 

Holdings SOC Limited (“Eskom”) force majeure and the delayed 

start-up of Moabsvelden Mine. 

Details of operating segments in terms of IFRS 8: Operating 

Segments are disclosed in note 45.

COVID-19
Wescoal has navigated and continues to effectively manage 

the COVID-19 pandemic challenge. This has resulted in zero 

COVID-19-related fatalities in all our operations and no 

business interruptions as a result of the outbreak. Wescoal 

currently has 84 reported cases of which 75 have fully 

recovered and nine are still being treated. A centralised 

COVID-19 team ensures uniform implementation of all 

COVID-19 response protocols and ensures we proactively 

manage and de-risk the business.

There was strong and consistent performance throughout 2021 

from the operations. Moabsvelden has successfully started up 

and reached coal despite the pandemic and is in a position to 

start delivering coal into its coal supply agreement with Eskom. 

The restart of the underground operation has been deferred 

due to the current low demand environment brought about by 

COVID-19.

Trading sales volumes were impacted by the national lockdown 

and a significant reduction in sales to a major customer. The 

business has since seen some recovery with sales currently 

in line with expectations and anticipated to remain stable, 

subject to no further increases in COVID-19 infections and the 

consequential impact on the South African economy.

Going concern
The consolidated annual financial statements have been 

prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to 

a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be 

available to finance future operations and that the realisation of 

assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 

commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

Post-fi nancial year-end events
Change in contractors

The current mineral processing contracts with Minopex 

Proprietary Limited and Pentalin Group of Companies 

Proprietary Limited at Vanggatfontein and Wescoal Processing 

have come to the end of their term and services have been 

extended on a month-to-month basis. 

Following an extensive procurement process, the Wescoal 

board has approved the appointment of Ingwenya Mineral 

Processing Proprietary Limited (“IMP”) as the new processing 

contractor at both Vanggatfontein and Wescoal Processing with 

effect from 1 June 2021. 

In conjunction with the previous contractors, IMP and the 

unions, Wescoal is closely managing the transition to ensure 

no business interruptions take place. 

Through the experience gained via the mining contractor 

changeout we believe this risk is being well managed.

Refinanced debt package breach and debt waiver

Although all financial covenants were met, Wescoal breached 

two requirements of the facility agreement as at the end 

of March 2021, as the company had failed to deliver the 

requirements in terms of information undertakings.

The lenders have subsequently obtained their credit approval 

to extend the requirements to 2022.

Currently, the legal teams are drafting the third amendment 

to the facility agreement to accommodate the credit approval 

requirements. 

Due to the debt covenant breach as described in note 20, the 

group reclassified R812.9 million of non-current debt to current 

in line with IFRS requirements. 

The directors are not aware of any other matters or 

circumstances arising since the end of the financial year 

relevant to an assessment of the consolidated annual financial 

statements as at 31 March 2021.

Directors’ interest in contracts
During the year ended 31 March 2021, none of the directors 

had any interest in any contract or arrangement entered into 

by the company or its subsidiaries.
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Compliance with fi nancial reporting 
standards
The Wescoal group and company consolidated annual financial 

statements comply with IFRS, the Companies Act and the 

JSE Listings Requirements.

Share incentive scheme
The directors are authorised to issue, allot and grant options 

to acquire up to a maximum of 29 186 272 ordinary shares of 

the issued share capital of the company in terms of the share 

incentive scheme. By 31 March 2021, a cumulative total of 

14 989 732 (2020: 19 333 732) share options (net of forfeited 

options) had been allotted to employees of the group, of which 

12 056 000 (2020: 12 056 000) had been exercised. As at 

31 March 2021, unexercised share options under the scheme 

amounted to 1 700 000 (2020: 5 034 000), representing 0.41% 

(2020: 1.47%) of the issued shares of the group. 

Options are exercisable in five equal tranches, annually on the 

anniversary date of the options. The market value of shares 

relating to share options outstanding at year-end amounts to 

R2 027 385 (2020: R7 237 200). Options granted to employees 

have a five-year contractual life and are forfeited if not 

exercised on termination of employment.

The Wescoal Share Incentive Trust is consolidated into the 

group and company. The shares held by the trust are treated 

as treasury shares in the group and company. Please refer to 

notes 8 and 19 for more information.

Borrowing limitations
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the company, 

the directors may exercise all the powers of the company to 

borrow money as they consider appropriate.

Share capital
Authorised

There was no change in the authorised share capital of the 

company during the year. The authorised share capital of 

the company is 500 000 000 ordinary no par value shares.

Issued

The movement of shares during the year was as follows 

(excluding treasury shares):

R’000

Reported as at 1 April 2020 410 058

Reported as at 31 March 2021 410 058

Major shareholders of the company

2021 2020

Shareholder Number of shares % of shares Number of shares % of shares

K2016316243 (SA) Proprietary Limited 213 628 122 50.87 213 628 122 47.70

RBFT Investments Proprietary Limited 41 336 906 9.84 – –

UBS Switzerland AG 23 542 923 5.61 23 545 923 5.26

Rutendo Holdings Proprietary Limited 19 660 642 4.39 20 180 642 4.51

Wescoal Holdings Limited 27 958 707 6.24 – –

MR Ramaite 23 193 301 5.52 11 441 –

The percentage of share calculation is based on the issued 

share capital of 419 916 854 (including treasury shares).

Share buy-back
The total repurchased shares (27 958 707) were delisted and 

cancelled in April 2020.

Corporate governance
The directors acknowledge the importance of sound 

corporate governance and the guidelines set out in King IV™ 

and recommended practices set out in part 5 of the report. 

The directors therefore embrace King IV™ as far as it is 

appropriate, having regard for the size and nature of the 

various companies making up the group. The board will 

continue to take such measures as are practicable to comply 

with King IV™.

Listing
The abbreviated name under which the company is listed on 

the Main Board of the JSE is "Wescoal” and the short code 

is ”WSL”.
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Directors
The directors of the company during the reporting period were as follows:

Name Nationality

HLM Mathe (Chairman, non-executive) Appointed 1 August 2013 South African

MR Ramaite (Interim chief executive officer) Appointed 20 November 2007 South African

RL Demana (Chief executive officer)* Appointed 1 April 2019 South African

JM Speckman (Chief financial officer)*** Appointed 1 February 2021 South Africa

IJ van der Walt (Chief financial officer)** Appointed 1 September 2017 South African

A Mabizela (Independent non-executive) Appointed 5 December 2019 South African

KM Maroga (Independent non-executive) Appointed 1 July 2013 South African

C Maswanganyi (Non-executive) Appointed 17 November 2017 South African

N Mnxasana (Independent non-executive) Appointed 5 December 2019 South African

ET Mzimela (Non-executive) Appointed 17 November 2017 South African

N Siyotula (Lead independent non-executive) Appointed 14 February 2019 South African

T Tshithavhane (Executive) Appointed 4 April 2016 South African

* RL Demana resigned effective 31 March 2021.

** IJ van der Walt resigned effective 31 August 2020.

*** JM Speckman was appointed as CFO from 1 February 2021.

Company secretary
FluidRock Co Sec Proprietary Limited and Computershare 

Investor Services Proprietary Limited are the company 

secretary and transfer secretary, respectively.

Resolutions
The following resolutions were approved by shareholders 

at an annual general meeting of the company held on 

3 November 2020:

Ordinary resolutions

• The re-election by shareholders of Mr Mbendi Humphrey 

Mathe as a non-executive director;

• The re-election by shareholders of Ms Kabela Mahlatse 

Maroga as an independent non-executive director;

• The re-election by shareholders of Mr Muthanyi Robinson 

Ramaite as a non-executive director;

• The confirmation of the appointment of Mr Andile Mabizela 

as an independent non-executive director;

• The confirmation of the appointment of Ms Nomavuso 

Patience Mnxasana as an independent non-executive 

director;

• The reappointment of the following members of the audit, 

risk and compliance committee: Ms Kabela Mahlatse Maroga, 

Ms Zukie Siyotula, Mr Andile Mabizela and Ms Nomavuso 

Patience Mnxasana;

• The appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the 

independent external auditor of the company;

• The approval for the issue of authorised but unissued 

ordinary shares;

• The endorsement through a non-binding advisory vote, and 

to ascertain the shareholders’ view on the remuneration 

policy and its implementation; and

• The authorisation for any director of the company to 

implement the resolutions taken at the annual general 

meeting.

Special resolutions 

• The approval of non-executive directors’ fees;

• To authorise the directors of the company to issue unissued, 

but authorised shares, for cash, subject to conditions;

• The approval of inter-group financial assistance in terms of 

sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act; and

• The approval to repurchase company shares. 
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Independent auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. (Johannesburg) was the auditor for the 2021 financial year as appointed at the annual general meeting 

held on 3 November 2020.

Directors’ interest in the issued share capital (number of shares) 

2021 2020

Director

Direct

shareholding

’000

Indirect

shareholding

’000

Direct

shareholding

’000

Indirect

shareholding

’000

MR Ramaite 23 193 180 713 11 441  134 385

ET Mzimela –  33 219 – 33 219

T Tshithavhane 502 – 272 –

Total 23 695 213 932 11 713 167 604

There have been no changes to the directors’ shareholdings between Wescoal’s financial year-end and the date of approval of the 

annual financial statements.

Refer to note 44 for share options held by the executive directors.

Directors’ remuneration
Details of directors’ remuneration are set out below:

Executive

Re-

muneration

R’000

Medical and

provident 

fund con-

tributions

R’000

Annual 

bonus

R’000

Fringe 

and other

benefits

R’000

Lump

sum 

R’000

Cash 

total 

R’000

IFRS 2 

share 

option 

expense

R’000

2021

RL Demana* 3 633 234 – 277 948 5 092 –

IJ van der Walt** 1 175 71 – 623 2 033 3 902 1 233

T Tshithavhane 3 619 218 – 76 – 3 913 113

JM Speckman*** 463 28 – 10 – 500 –

R Ramaite*** 103 – – – – 103 –

8 993 551 – 986 2981 13 509 1 346

2020

RL Demana 3 373 216 – 116 1 000 4 705 –

IJ van der Walt 2 820 168 556 93 – 3 638 337

T Tshithavhane 3 666 218 657 121 – 4 663 106

9 859 602 1 213 330 1 000 13 006 443

* RL Demana resigned effective 31 March 2021.

** IJ van der Walt resigned effective 31 August 2020.

*** JM Speckman was appointed as CFO and director from 1 February 2021.

*** R Ramaite was appointed as interim CEO from 15 March 2021.
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Non-executive

Non-executive remuneration for attending meetings.

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

JG Pansegrouw1 – 227

HLM Mathe 739 1 120

MR Ramaite 256 251

DMT van Gaalen5 – 694

KM Maroga 800 528

C Maswanganyi 366 253

ET Mzimela 430 356

N Siyotula2 915 598

N Mnxasana3 599 152

A Mabizela4 534 102

4 639 4 281

1 JG Pansegrouw retired on 16 October 2019.
2 N Siyotula was appointed on 14 February 2019.
3 N Mnxasana was appointed on 5 December 2019.
4 A Mabizela was appointed on 5 December 2019.
5 DMT van Gaalen retired on 16 October 2019.

The directors, whose names are stated below hereby confirm that: 

• the annual financial statements set out on  pages 154 to 230, fairly present, in all material respects, the financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows of the issuer in terms of IFRS; 

• no facts have been omitted or untrue statements made that would make the annual financial statements false or misleading; 

• internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating to the issuer and its consolidated 

subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of the issuer; and 

• the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the annual financial statements, 

having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant to principle 15 of the King IV™ Report on 

Corporate Governance for South Africa (“King IV™”). Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the audit committee and 

the auditors the deficiencies in design and operational effectiveness of the internal financial controls and any fraud that involves 

directors, and have taken the necessary remedial action. 

Robinson Ramaite Jubilant Speckman

Interim chief executive officer  Chief financial officer 

CEO’s and CFO’s responsibility statement
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The Wescoal group audit, risk and compliance committee is a 

formal statutory committee in terms of the Companies Act and 

subcommittee of the board. The committee functions within 

documented terms of reference and complies with relevant 

legislation, regulation and governance codes. This report of 

the audit, risk and compliance committee is presented to 

shareholders in compliance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act and the revised King IV™ report.

Role of the committee
The committee has an independent role and it is accountable 

to both the board and to shareholders. The committee’s 

responsibilities include the statutory duties prescribed by the 

Companies Act, activities recommended by King IV™ as well as 

additional responsibilities assigned by the board. 

The responsibilities of the committee are as follows:

Integrated reporting

• Review the consolidated annual financial statements, interim 

report, preliminary results announcement and summarised 

integrated information and ensure compliance with IFRS; 

• Consider the frequency of interim reports and whether 

interim results should be assured;

• Review and approve the appropriateness of accounting 

policies, disclosure policies and the effectiveness of internal 

financial controls;

• Perform an oversight role on the group’s integrated reporting 

and consider factors and risks that could affect the integrity 

of the integrated annual report;

• Review the sustainability disclosure in the integrated 

annual report and ensure it does not conflict with financial 

information;

• Consider external assurance of material sustainability 

issues; and

• Recommend the integrated annual report for approval by 

the board.

Combined assurance

• Ensure the development of the combined assurance 

framework;

• Ensure that the combined assurance model addresses all 

significant risks facing the group;

• Ensure the development and implementation of the 

combined assurance plan; and

• Monitor the relationship between external and internal 

assurance providers and the group.

Finance function

• Consider the expertise and experience of the CFO; and

• Consider the expertise, experience and resources of the 

group’s finance function.

Internal audit

• Oversee the functioning of the internal auditor and approve 

the appointment and performance assessment of the 

internal auditor;

• Approve the annual internal audit plan; and

• Ensure the internal audit function is subject to independent 

quality review as appropriate.

Risk management

• Ensure the group has an effective policy and plan for risk 

management;

• Oversee the development and review of the enterprise risk 

management framework and enterprise risk management 

policy; 

• Oversee the development and implementation of the risk 

management implementation plan in execution of the 

enterprise risk management framework and policy;

• Make recommendations to the board on levels of risk 

tolerance and risk appetite;

• Ensure risk management is integrated into business 

operations;

• Ensure risk management assessments are conducted on a 

continuous basis;

• Ensure that management considers and implements 

appropriate risk responses;

• Express the committee’s opinion on the effectiveness of the 

system and process of risk management; and

• Ensure risk management reporting in the integrated annual 

report is comprehensive and relevant.

Compliance management

• Ensure the group has an effective compliance management 

framework and policy;

• Oversee the development and implementation of the 

compliance management implementation plan in execution 

of the compliance management framework and policy;

• Ensure the group has established the compliance universe 

outlining its regulation space; 

• Ensure group compliance with legislation, regulations, laws 

and policies; and

• Ensure disclosure of non-compliance with legislation in the 

integrated annual report.

External audit

• Nominate the external auditor for appointment by the 

shareholders;

• Approve the terms of engagement and remuneration of 

the auditor;

• Ensure the appointment of the auditor complies with relevant 

legislation;

• Monitor and report on the independence of the external 

auditor;

• Define a policy for non-audit services which the auditor may 

provide and approve non-audit service contracts;

Audit, risk and compliance committee report
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• Review the quality and effectiveness of the external audit 

process; and

• Ensure a process is in place for the committee to be 

informed of any reportable irregularities identified by the 

external auditor.

IT governance

• Ensure that the company’s governance and management 

system provides the means to institutionalise the enablers of 

good corporate governance through the integration of people, 

process, technology and information and management 

systems to enable the creation of value and support the 

achievement of the business' and organisation's strategic 

goals; and

• Ensure that there are adequate mechanisms to safeguard 

the company’s information and that the group has measures 

in place to recover from any technological disruptions.

Composition of the committee and 
attendance
The committee comprised four independent non-executive 

directors during the period. These directors include suitably 

skilled directors having recent and relevant financial 

experience. The committee is elected by shareholders at the 

annual general meeting.  

Committee members 

Kabela Maroga (Chairperson)*

Zukie Siyotula

Nomavuso Mnxasana

Andile Mabizela

The CEO, the CFO, representatives of the external and internal 

auditors, other assurance providers and other professional 

advisors attend meetings as invitees.

The committee also periodically meets separately with the 

external and internal auditors, without members of executive 

management being present. The effectiveness of the committee 

is assessed as part of the annual board and committee self-

evaluation process.

Reports of the meetings of the committee, except those 

recording private meetings with the external and internal 

auditors, are circulated to all directors and supplemented by an 

update from the committee chairperson at each board meeting.

Matters requiring action or improvement are identified 

and appropriate recommendations are made to the board. 

The chairperson of the committee attends all statutory 

shareholder meetings to answer any questions on the 

committee’s activities.

Key areas of focus during the reporting 
period
• Risk management – improvement of risk assessment and 

alignment with the environmental, social and governance 

(“ESG”) matrix (see below for further detail);

• Going concern – monitor financial and operational 

performance;

• Cash flow management – close management to ensure 

compliance with bank covenants;

• External audit – improved policy on non-audit services;

• Internal audit – expanded scope of work to support 

attestation by the CEO and CFO as per JSE requirements; and

• Tracking of cost-saving initiatives.

The committee performed the following activities relating to 

the audit function during the year under review, with certain of 

these duties being required in terms of the Companies Act:

Risk management

During the year, Wescoal appointed Ms Noziphiwo Lubanga 

as the compliance and risk officer. The committee carried out 

and concluded most of its risk and compliance implementation 

plans at an operational and strategic level. The committee also 

proceeded to align the group’s risk strategy to its ESG strategy 

which has seen significant advancement from the previous 

financial year.

The committee is satisfied with the processes and measures 

that have been put in place and the board will remain 

consistent in evaluating the company’s risk tolerance. 

Financial statements, accounting practices and 
going concern assessment

Following its review of the consolidated annual financial 

statements of the group for the year ended 31 March 2021, the 

committee believes that, in all material respects, these comply 

with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act and IFRS and 

fairly present the consolidated and separate financial positions 

of the company at that date and the results of its operations 

and cash flows for that year. The committee has also satisfied 

itself on the integrity of the remainder of the annual financial 

statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The consolidated annual financial statements were prepared on 

a going concern basis following the conclusion of an analysis of 

quantitative and qualitative measures to this effect. 

The board continues to place great emphasis on monitoring 

and improving the company’s performance. Having achieved its 

objectives, the audit committee recommended the consolidated 

annual financial statements.

* Kabela was chairperson until 31 March 2021 and thereafter Zukie was appointed as chairperson effective 1 April 2021.
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• approved the external audit engagement letter, plan and 

budgeted audit fees. Fees paid to the auditor are detailed in 

note 28 to the consolidated annual financial statements;

• reviewed the audit results, evaluated the effectiveness of 

the auditor and its independence, and evaluated the external 

auditor's internal quality control procedures;

• obtained a statement from the auditor that its independence 

was not impaired;

• considered the reports of the external auditor on the group's 

systems of internal control, including financial controls; and

• determined the nature and extent of all non-audit services 

provided by the external auditor and preapproved all non-

audit services.

Chief financial officer and finance function

The committee is satisfied that the expertise and experience 

of the CFO, Ms Jubilant Speckman, are appropriate to meet the 

responsibilities required by the position. This is based on the 

qualifications, levels of experience and the board’s assessment 

of the financial knowledge of the CFO. The committee is also 

satisfied as to the appropriateness, expertise and adequacy of 

resources of the finance function and the experience of senior 

members of management responsible for the finance function.

The audit committee has ensured that appropriate financial 

reporting procedures exist and are in working order. All entities 

in the group are included in the annual financial statements 

and the procedures in place enable efficient preparation of the 

annual financial statements.

Focus areas for 2021
• Continued focus on improvement to risk management;

• Monitor financial performance; and 

• Appointment of new auditors in line with the rotation 

requirement.

On behalf of the committee

Kabela Maroga

Audit, risk and compliance committee chairperson

25 June 2021

Audit, risk and compliance committee report continued

Internal audit and internal control

The committee reviewed and approved the internal audit 

charter and annual audit plan, and evaluated the independence, 

effectiveness and performance of the internal audit function 

and compliance with its charter. The committee also:

• assessed reports of the internal auditor on the group's 

systems of internal control including financial controls and 

business risk management;

• received assurance that an adequate and effective system of 

internal control and risk management is being maintained;

• received assurance that proper and adequate accounting 

records were maintained and that the group's systems 

safeguarded its assets against unauthorised use or disposal;

• reviewed significant issues raised by the internal audit 

function and the adequacy of corrective action taken; and

• assessed the performance of the internal audit function and 

found it to be satisfactory.

The committee confirms that it has no reason to believe there 

were any material breakdowns in the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal financial controls.

Internal financial controls

The committee has considered the results of the formal 

documented review of the company’s system of internal 

financial controls and risk management, including the design, 

implementation and effectiveness of the internal financial 

controls, conducted by the internal audit function during the 

2021 year. The committee has also assessed information and 

explanations given by management and discussions with 

the external auditor on the results of the audit. Through this 

process, no material matter has come to the attention of the 

audit, risk and compliance committee or the board that has 

caused the directors to believe that the company’s system of 

internal controls and risk management is not effective and that 

the internal financial controls do not form a sound basis for the 

preparation of reliable financial statements. 

External audit

The committee in respect of this objective, among other 

matters:

• nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. to 

shareholders for appointment as the external auditor, 

with Mr Nthato Makhetha as the designated auditor, 

for the financial year ended 31 March 2021. It ensured 

that the appointment complied with all applicable legal 

and regulatory requirements, and that the auditor and 

designated auditor are accredited by the JSE. The committee 

further received all inspection findings of the Independent 

Regulatory Board for Auditors (“IRBA”) from its auditor;



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

149

Consolidated annual financial statem
ents

Our audit approach

Overview

Overall group materiality

• Overall group materiality: R31.2 million, which represents 0.8% of consolidated revenue.

Group audit scope

• The group consists of the holding company, 12 subsidiaries and one jointly controlled group 

(together referred to as “components”). Full scope audits were performed on five financially 

significant components and specified procedures were performed on four other components 

due to significant account balances within these four components. Analytical procedures were 

performed on the remaining financially inconsequential components.

Key audit matters

• Impairment assessment of long-lived assets; and

• Impairment assessment of goodwill.

Materiality

Group

scoping

Key audit

matters

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Wescoal Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the consolidated and 
separate fi nancial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated and separate financial position of Wescoal 

Holdings Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (together 

the Group) as at 31 March 2021, and its consolidated and 

separate financial performance and its consolidated and 

separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

What we have audited

Wescoal Holdings Limited’s consolidated and separate financial 

statements set out on  pages 154 to 230 comprise:

• the consolidated and separate statements of financial 

position as at 31 March 2021;

• the consolidated and separate statements of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of changes in 

equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for 

the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a 

summary of significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 

Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 

independence requirements applicable to performing audits 

of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code 

and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable 

to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 

consistent with the corresponding sections of the International 

Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 

Independence Standards).
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As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality 

and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 

consolidated and separate financial statements. In particular, 

we considered where the directors made subjective 

judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting 

estimates that involved making assumptions and considering 

future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 

audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of 

internal controls, including among other matters, consideration 

of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk 

of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application 

of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to 

fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or 

in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the 

consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain 

quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 

group materiality for the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with 

qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope 

of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 

procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both 

individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a 

whole.

Overall group 

materiality

ZAR31.2 million.

How we 

determined it

0.8% of consolidated revenue.

Rationale for 

the materiality 

benchmark 

applied

We chose consolidated revenue as the 

materiality benchmark because, in our 

view, it is a benchmark against which 

the performance of the Group can be 

consistently measured in circumstances of 

volatile year-on-year earnings. 

Based on professional judgement, we 

chose 0.8% based on our professional 

judgement, after consideration of the range 

of quantitative materiality thresholds 

that we would typically apply when using 

consolidated revenue to compute materiality 

and taking into consideration external debt 

covenants of the Group.

How we tailored our group audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient 

work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements as a whole, taking into account the 

structure of the Group, the accounting processes and controls, 

and the industry in which the Group operates.

The group consists of the holding company, 12 subsidiaries 

and one jointly controlled group (together referred to as 

“components”). Full scope audits were performed on five 

financially significant components and specified procedures 

were performed on four other components due to significant 

account balances within these four components. Analytical 

procedures were performed on the remaining financially 

inconsequential components. 

All audit work was performed centrally by the group 

audit team. 

By performing the procedures outlined above, we obtained 

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the Group to provide a basis for our 

opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 

period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Independent auditor’s report continued



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

151

Consolidated annual financial statem
ents

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of long-lived 
assets
This key audit matter relates to the 

consolidated and separate financial statements.

For the Group, the long-lived assets comprise 

property, plant and equipment. For the 

Company, the long-lived assets comprise 

investment in subsidiaries. Details regarding 

these are disclosed in Note 3 and Note 8 to the 

consolidated and separate financial statements.  

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 36, 

Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”) requires the 

Group to assess these assets for impairment 

when there are indicators of impairment. In the 

current year, the Group’s net assets exceeded 

the Group’s market capitalisation, and the 

Group had lower coal sales volumes than 

planned as a result of Eskom’s force majeure 

and other factors. This was considered by 

management to be an indicator of impairment.

Management performed an impairment 

assessment to determine the recoverable 

amount of the various cash generating units 

(“CGUs”) in order to determine whether the 

Groups’ long-lived assets and/or the Company’s 

investment in subsidiaries, is impaired. 

The recoverable amounts are based on a 

combination of discounted cash flow models 

and valuation of outside life of mine resources.

The assumptions (inputs) used in the cash flow 

forecasts and valuations of outside life of mine 

resources are based on forecasted results and 

expected market and economic conditions. The 

most significant inputs in these forecasts and 

valuations are:

• production output and costs;

• expected selling prices;

• discount rates (“WACCs”); and

• the life-of-mine.

The indicators mentioned above also resulted in 

an impairment assessment at a company level 

in respect of the investment in the subsidiary.

The impairment assessment of long-lived 

assets was considered to be a matter of most 

significance to the current year audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements 

due to the following:

• significant judgment and estimates applied 

by management in valuing the CGUs; and

• the magnitude of the carrying amount of the 

CGUs.

Through our discussions with management, we obtained an understanding of 

management’s impairment assessments and the methodologies and models 

used by management in determining the recoverable amounts of the CGUs. 

We evaluated the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of internal 

controls over the review of the impairment, life of mine and resource base 

models, budgeting and forecasting process and determination of key assumptions 

(including the determination of the reserves and resources used within the 

valuations of the CGUs), discount rates applied, sales growth assumptions and 

annual revenue forecasts based on available saleable product. 

We evaluated management’s discounted cash flow models for the CGUs 

against life of mine plans and our understanding of the operations, and tested 

the key estimates and assumptions used by management in each discounted 

cash flow model by performing the following procedures: 

• Utilising our valuation expertise, we evaluated the methodologies applied by 

management by comparing them to generally accepted business valuation 

techniques; 

• We recalculated the results of management’s discounted cash flow models, 

adjusted for the estimated impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, by using 

independently obtained key input assumptions; 

• We agreed long-term coal supply agreement prices used in the fair value 

less cost to sell models to the underlying agreements and assessed the 

reasonability of the prices used by management in comparison to the 

underlying indices. Based on the work that we performed, we accepted 

management’s assumptions in this regard; 

• We assessed the reasonableness of management’s future forecasts of 

annual production volumes, capital expenditure and operating unit costs 

included in the cash flow forecasts by comparing them to current and 

historical operational results and forecasts, reserves and resources signed 

off by the Group’s competent person, unit costs per mining contractor 

agreements and final approved budgets. Based on our work performed, we 

accepted management’s assumptions in this regard;

• We compared the prior year forecasts to the current results and found that 

the forecasting was reasonable;

• Utilising our valuation expertise, we independently calculated the WACCs 

used in performing the impairment assessments. This included using 

relevant third-party sources and data such as the cost of debt of the Group, 

risk free rates in the market, market risk premiums, debt/equity ratios, 

the beta of comparable companies, as well as the impact of economic and 

industry factors. Where the WACCs determined by us differed from those 

used by management, we applied our independently determined discount 

rates to management’s discounted cash flow model to determine whether 

an impairment should be recognised. We did not note a material impact on 

management’s impairment results; 

• Utilising our valuations expertise, we tested the accuracy of the value of the 

outside life of mine resources. We independently calculated the resource 

multiple by benchmarking the valuation against comparable transactions 

and compared our range of values to that determined by management. 

Based on the work that we performed, we found that management’s 

resource multiple fell within our range of independent values.

We assessed management’s sensitivity assessments for reasonableness and 

performed our own sensitivity calculations in respect of expected sales prices 

under the long-term coal offtake agreements, discount rates, inflation rates 

and operational performance.

We compared the recoverable amounts tested in the procedures above, to 

the aggregate values of the investments in subsidiaries and loans to group 

companies to assess whether an impairment should be recognised. We noted 

no matter requiring further consideration.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

This key audit matter relates to the 
consolidated financial statements. 
The consolidated statement of financial position 

as at 31 March 2021 includes goodwill with a 

net carrying value of R52 million, which has 

been allocated to the Group’s trading segment.

IAS 36 requires an annual goodwill impairment 

assessment to be conducted and also 

when impairment indicators exist. Such an 

assessment incorporates judgement based 

on assumptions about future profitability and 

net cash flows from the related CGU’s, against 

which an appropriate discount rate must be 

applied. 

The assumptions (inputs) used in the cash flow 

forecasts are based on forecasted results and 

expected market and economic conditions. The 

most significant inputs in these forecasts and 

valuations are:

• Gross margin;

• Discount rates; and

• Growth rates.

In the current year, a gross impairment loss 

of R21 million was recognised against the 

remaining goodwill allocated to Trading Cash 

Generating Unit. Refer to Note 6 (Goodwill) 

and Note 28 (Operating (loss)/profit) to the 

consolidated financial statements, for further 

detail.

We considered the impairment assessment of 

goodwill to be a matter of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements due to the significant judgement 

involved in performing the impairment test, 

as well as the magnitude of the carrying 

amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been 

allocated.

We obtained an understanding of the underlying basis and assumptions 

used to prepare the discounted cash flow valuation model through detailed 

discussions with management. We assessed the valuation methodology, 

assumptions and process against our understanding of the business. 

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash flow model and 

noted no exceptions.

The gross margin applied by management in the discounted cash flow was 

assessed against the Group’s historic margins of the preceding four years, 

as well as the approved budget for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. 

Based on the procedures performed, we accepted management’s gross 

margin assumptions applied.

We compared the prior year forecasts to the current results and found that the 

forecasting was reasonable.

Utilising our valuation expertise, we independently calculated a range of 

WACC, using independently obtained data. We found that the WACC used by 

management fell within our range of independently determined discount 

rates.

The growth rate used by management was compared to the Group’s historic 

growth in their trading segment over the past four years as well as future 

growth trends in the coal mining sector. Based on the procedures performed 

we accepted management’s growth rates assumptions applied.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the information included 

in the document titled “Wescoal Holdings Limited 

Consolidated Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 

31 March 2021”, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit, 

Risk and Compliance Committee Report and the Declaration 

by the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act 

of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this 

auditor’s report, and the other sections of the document titled 

“Wescoal Holdings Limited Integrated Annual Report for the 

year ended 31 March 2021”, which is expected to be made 

available to us after that date. The other information does not 

include the consolidated or the separate financial statements 

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 

statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 

financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider 

whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 

the consolidated and separate financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 

information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 

report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 

have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated 
and separate financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 

Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated and separate financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 

the Group and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and/

or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 

it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated and 

separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the 

Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of 

the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 

exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures 

are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group and/or Company to cease to continue as a 

going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 

the consolidated and separate financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 

of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 

or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 

matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 

Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Wescoal 

Holdings Limited for ten years.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Director: N Makhetha 

Registered Auditor 

Johannesburg, South Africa 

25 June 2021
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Statements of fi nancial position
as at 31 March 2021

Group Company

Notes

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Assets
Non-current assets 2 848 954 2 703 250 704 061 790 838

Property, plant and equipment 3 2 449 938 2 203 133 497 1 886

Right-of-use assets 4 6 673 1 867 106 772

Investment property 5 709 709 – –

Goodwill 6 52 611 73 637 – –

Intangible assets 7 9 451 8 412 2 727 1 964

Investments in subsidiaries 8 – – 693 562 700 029

Investments in joint ventures 9 27 548 27 855 – –

Restricted investments 10 81 529 54 919 – –

Loans to group companies 11 – – 4 443 24 948

Other receivables 12 – 49 860 – 49 860

Lease receivables 13 183 606 230 474 – –

Deferred tax 14 26 799 40 799 2 726 11 379

Prepaid royalty 15 3 346 5 162 – –

Restricted cash 6 744 6 423 – –

Current assets 1 189 593 1 258 200 1 179 659 1 121 173

Inventories 16 265 700 131 329 – –

Loans to group companies 11 – – 1 098 764 1 083 324

Trade and other receivables 17 558 558 961 955 24 581 35 698

Other receivables 12 55 906 – 55 906 –

Lease receivables 13 62 299 49 810 – –

Prepaid royalty 15 1 478 1 174 – –

Current tax receivable 7 087 69 145 269 559

Cash and cash equivalents 18 238 565 44 787 139 1 592

Total assets 4 038 547 3 961 450 1 883 720 1 912 011

Equity and liabilities
Equity 848 751 883 045 529 405 570 876

Share capital 19 629 838 629 838 629 838 629 838

Reserves (12 421) (13 953) 14 555 13 160

Retained income/(accumulated loss) 231 334 267 160 (114 988) (72 122)

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities 1 420 950 1 217 662 – –

Lease liabilities 22 191 100 230 020 – –

Deferred tax 14 231 044 287 572 – –

Environmental rehabilitation provision 23 998 806 700 070 – –

Current liabilities  1 768 846 1 860 743 1 354 315 1 341 135

Trade and other payables 24 689 883 743 337 21 013 19 283

Loans from group companies 25 – – 328 732 332 715

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 926 606 883 863 931 381 890 760

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 21 1 090 19 659 – –

Lease liabilities 22 69 200 53 872 125 1 205

Current tax payable 8 056 61 893 – –

Environmental rehabilitation provision 23 947 947 – –

Bank overdraft 73 064 97 172 73 064 97 172

Total liabilities 3 189 796 3 078 405 1 354 315 1 341 135

Total equity and liabilities 4 038 547 3 961 450 1 883 720 1 912 011
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Statements of profi t or loss and other 
comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group Company

Notes

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Revenue 26 3 902 631 3 810 490 178 124 138 821

Cost of sales 27 (3 491 248) (3 477 045) – –

Gross profit 411 383 333 445 178 124 138 821

Operating income 35 599 5 030 40 8

Operating expenses (308 039) (341 551) (122 501) (120 601)

(Loss)/gains on disposal of assets (3 884) 536 2 –

Operating profit/(loss) 28 135 059 (2 540) 55 665 18 228

Interest income 29 26 425 21 954 – –

Finance costs 30 (180 939) (151 260) (88 287) (63 743)

Income from equity-accounted investments (307) (346) – –

Loss before taxation (19 762) (132 192) (32 622) (45 515)

Taxation 31 (16 064) (4 410) (10 244) 5 819

Loss for the year (35 826) (136 602) (42 866) (39 696)

Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year (35 826) (136 602) (42 866) (39 696)

Earnings per share

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 42 (8.74) (32.57) – –

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 42 (8.74) (32.57) – –
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group

Share 

capital 

R’000

Share-

based

payment 

reserve 

R’000

Other 

non-

distri-

butable

reserve

R’000

Total 

reserves

R’000

Retained

income/

(accumu-

lated

loss)

R’000

Total 

attributable

to equity 

holders of 

the group/

company

R’000

Non-

controlling

interest 

R’000

Total

equity

R’000

Balance as at 1 April 2019 665 423 11 412 – 11 412 403 762 1 080 597 10 999 1 091 596

Loss for the year – – – – (136 602) (136 602) – (136 602)

Employee share option scheme: 

Shares exercised – (24) – (24) – (24) – (24)

Share buy-back (note 19) (35 585) – – – – (35 585) – (35 585)

Employee share option scheme 

(note 38) – 1 772 – 1 772 – 1 772 – 1 772

Acquisition of minority interest 

in Neosho Trading (note 21) – – (27 113) (27 113) – (27 113) (10 999) (38 112)

Balance as at 1 April 2020 629 838 13 160 (27 113) (13 953) 267 160 883 045 – 883 045

Loss for the year – – – – (35 826) (35 826) – (35 826)

Employee share option scheme 

(note 38) – 1 532 – 1 532 – 1 532 – 1 532

Balance as at 31 March 2021 629 838 14 692 (27 113) (12 421) 231 334 848 751 – 848 751

Notes 19 38
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Group

Share 

capital 

R’000

Share-

based

payment 

reserve 

R’000

Other 

non-

distri-

butable

reserve

R’000

Total 

reserves

R’000

Retained

income/

(accumu-

lated

loss)

R’000

Total 

attributable

to equity 

holders of 

the group/

company

R’000

Non-

controlling

interest 

R’000

Total

equity

R’000

Balance as at 1 April 2019 665 423 11 412 – 11 412 (32 426) 644 409 – 644 409

Loss for the year – – – – (39 696) (39 696) – (39 696)

Employee share option scheme: 

Shares exercised – (24) – (24) – (24) – (24)

Share buy-back (note 19) (35 585) – – – – (35 585) – (35 585)

Employee share option scheme 

(note 38) – 1 772 – 1 772 – 1 772 – 1 772

Balance as at 1 April 2020 629 838 13 160 – 13 160 (72 122) 570 876 – 570 876

Loss for the year – – – – (42 866) (42 866) – (42 866)

Employee share option scheme 

(note 38) – 1 395 – 1 395 – 1 395 – 1 395

Balance as at 31 March 2021 629 838 14 555 – 14 555 (114 988) 529 405 – 529 405

Notes 19 38

Company
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Statements of cash fl ows
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group Company

Notes

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

Restated*

2020

R’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 32 773 202 183 344 (9 398) (46 883)

Interest income received 20 050 7 751 76 062  45 455

Finance costs paid (109 330) (89 321) (87 184) (63 310) 

Tax paid 33 (50 371) (65 621) (2 316) (1 482)

Net cash from operating activities 633 551 36 153 (22 836) (66 220)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (419 539) (433 049) (64) (2 109) 

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 2 11 088 2 – 

Purchase of other intangible assets 7 (2 236) (227) (1 934) (226)

Lease receipts 13 60 349 25 913 – – 

Purchase of rehabilitation investment (23 660) (14 957) – – 

Investment in equity-accounted investment – (28 201) – – 

Withdrawal of acquisition deposit – 153 410 – 153 410

Repayment of loans to group companies – – 8 239 – 

Advances of loans to group companies – – – (932 081) 

Net cash from investing activities (385 084) (286 023) 6 243 781 006

Cash flows from financing activities

Shares bought back 19 – (35 585) – (35 585) 

Proceeds on share options exercised 19 – 793 – 793

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 120 000 622 434 120 000 890 760

Repayment of long-term borrowings (76 769) (180 892) (76 769) –

Repayments of loans from group companies – – (3 983) (68 054)

Repayment of other financial liabilities (1 997) (136 611) – –

Repayment of lease liabilities (55 243) (20 363) – –

Acquisition of additional shares in subsidiary from 

non-controlling interest (16 572) (21 540) – –

Net cash from financing activities (30 581) 228 236 39 248 787 914

Total cash and cash equivalents movement for the year 217 886 (21 634) 22 655 (59 312)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (52 385) (30 751) (95 580) (36 268)

Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 18 165 501 (52 385) (72 925) (95 580)

* See note 43.
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Notes to the consolidated annual fi nancial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021

1. Presentation of the consolidated 
annual fi nancial statements
The consolidated annual financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with IFRS, the Companies Act and the 

JSE Listings Requirements.

The principal accounting policies adopted and the methods 

of computation used in the preparation of these consolidated 

annual financial statements are set out below and are 

consistent in all material respects with those applied during 

the previous year, except for those changes which have 

occurred as a result of the adoption of new and amended IFRS, 

interpretations and circulars as disclosed in note 2.

The consolidated annual financial statements have been 

prepared on the historical cost basis and incorporate the 

principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented 

in South African rands and are prepared in accordance 

with the recognition and measurement criteria of IFRS and 

its interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 

Standards Board ("IASB”) in issue and effective for the 

entity as at 31 March 2021, the SAICA Financial Reporting 

Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee 

and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the 

Financial Reporting Standards Council.

Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the 

consolidated annual financial statements of the group and all 

entities, including structured entities, which are controlled by 

the group.

Control exists when the group is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 

annual financial statements from the effective date of 

acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the consolidated 

annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies in line with those of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or 

received and the movement in non-controlling interest for such 

transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners 

of the parent.

2. New standards and interpretations
2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and 
adopted in the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following 

standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 

financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial 

Statements and IAS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors on the definition of 

material

The amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8 and consequential 

amendments to other IFRSs:

• use a consistent definition of materiality through IFRSs and 

the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting;

• clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and

• incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial 

information.

The amended definition is:

• Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring 

it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that 

the primary users of general purpose financial statements 

make on the basis of those financial statements, which 

provide financial information about a specific reporting 

entity. 

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 

or after 1 January 2020.

The group adopted the amendment for the first time in the 

2021 annual financial statements. 

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, 

IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Temporary exceptions have been created by the IASB 

concerning the application of specific hedge accounting 

requirements as a result of the interest rate benchmark 

reform. These exceptions apply only to those hedging 

relationships which are directly affected by the reform, being 

those where the reform gives rise to uncertainties about:

• the interest rate benchmark (contractually or non-

contractually specified) designated as a hedged risk; and/or

• the timing or the amount of interest rate benchmark-based 

cash flows of the hedged item or of the hedging instrument. 

The exceptions are as follows:

–  When determining whether a forecast transaction is 

highly probable, it shall be assumed that the interest rate 

benchmark on which the hedged cash flows are based is 

not altered as a result of the reform.
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2. New standards and interpretations 
continued

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective 
and adopted in the current year continued

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Amendments to IFRS 9, 

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 continued

–  When assessing the economic relationship between the 

hedged item and the hedging instrument, entities shall, in 

their prospective assessments, assume that the interest 

rate benchmark on which the hedged item, hedged risk 

and/or hedging instrument are based is not altered as a 

result of the reform.

–  Entities applying IAS 39 for hedge accounting are not 

required to undertake the IAS 39 retrospective assessment 

for hedging relationships directly affected by the reform.

–  For hedges of a non-contractually specified benchmark 

component of interest rate risk, an entity shall apply the 

separately identifiable requirement only at inception of 

such hedging relationships.

Entities shall cease applying the exceptions when the 

uncertainty arising from the reform is no longer present or 

when the hedging relationship is discontinued.

The effective date of the amendments is for years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020.

The group adopted the amendments for the first time in the 

2021 annual financial statements. 

The impact of the amendments is not material.

Definition of a Business – Amendment to IFRS 3

The amendment:

• confirmed that a business must include inputs and 

processes, and clarified that the process must be substantive 

and that the inputs and process must together significantly 

contribute to creating outputs;

• narrowed the definition of a business by focusing the 

definition of outputs on goods and services provided to 

customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather 

than on providing dividends or other economic benefits 

directly to investors or lowering costs; and 

• added a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company 

has acquired a group of assets, rather than a business, if the 

value of the assets acquired is substantially concentrated in 

a single asset or group of similar assets.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020.

The group adopted the amendment for the first time in the 

2021 annual financial statements. 

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure initiative

The amendment clarifies and aligns the definition of “material” 

and provides guidance to help improve consistency in the 

application of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2020.

The group adopted the amendment for the first time in the 

2021 annual financial statements. 

The impact of the amendment is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following 

standards and interpretations, which have been published and 

are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on 

or after 1 April 2021 or later periods:

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution 

of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 

Venture

If a parent loses control of a subsidiary which does not contain 

a business, as a result of a transaction with an associate or 

joint venture, then the gain or loss on the loss of control is 

recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the 

unrelated investors' interest in the associate or joint venture. 

The remaining gain or loss is eliminated against the carrying 

amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture. The 

same treatment is followed for the measurement to fair value 

of any remaining investment which is itself an associate or joint 

venture. If the remaining investment is accounted for in terms 

of IFRS 9, then the measurement to fair value of that interest is 

recognised in full in the parent’s profit or loss.

The effective date of the amendment is to be determined by 

the IASB.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact 

on the group's annual financial statements.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current – 

Amendment to IAS 1

The amendment seeks to clarify when an entity classifies a 

liability as current or non-current, depending on the rights 

that exist at the end of the reporting period. If an entity has the 

right at the end of the reporting period, to defer settlement of a 

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period, then 

the liability is classified as non-current.

If this right is subject to conditions imposed on the entity, then 

the right only exists, if, at the end of the reporting period, the 

entity has complied with those conditions.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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In addition, the classification is not affected by the likelihood 

that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. 

Therefore, if the right exists, the liability is classified as non-

current even if management intends or expects to settle the 

liability within 12 months of the reporting period. Additional 

disclosures would be required in such circumstances.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning 

on or after 1 January 2023.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time 

in the 2024 annual financial statements.

The impact of this amendment is currently being assessed 

as the debt covenants were breached at year-end.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendment 

to IFRS 3

The amendment makes reference to the Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018 rather than 

to the IASB's Framework for the Preparation and Presentation 

of Financial Statements. The amendment specifically points to 

the treatment of liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired 

as part of a business combination, and which are in the scope 

of IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets or IFRIC 21: Levies. It clarifies that the requirements of 

IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 should be applied to provisions, contingent 

liabilities or levies to determine if a present obligation exists 

at the acquisition date. The amendment further clarifies that 

contingent assets of the acquirees share not be recognised as 

part of the business combination.

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2022.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2023 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018 to 2020 – 

Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41

Amendment to IFRS 1

First-time adoption of IFRS has been amended for a subsidiary 

that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent. The 

subsidiary may elect to measure cumulative translation 

differences for foreign operations using the amounts reported 

by the parent at the date of the parent’s transition to IFRS.

Amendment to IFRS 9

The amendment concerns fees in the “10 percent” test for 

derecognition of financial liabilities. Accordingly, in determining 

the relevant fees, only fees paid or received between the 

borrower and the lender are to be included.

Amendment to IFRS 16

“Leases”, amendment to the Illustrative Example 13 that 

accompanies IFRS 16 to remove the illustration of payments 

from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements. The 

amendment intends to remove any potential confusion about 

the treatment of lease incentives.

Amendment to IAS 41

“Agriculture” has been amended to align the requirements for 

measuring fair value with those of IFRS 13. The amendment 

removes the requirement for entities to exclude cash flows for 

taxation when measuring fair value.

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2022.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2023 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended 

Use – Amendment to IAS 16

The amendment relates to examples of items which are 

included in the cost of an item of property, plant and 

equipment. Prior to the amendment, the costs of testing 

whether the asset is functioning properly were included in the 

cost of the asset after deducting the net proceeds of selling 

any items which were produced during the test phase. The 

amendment now requires that any such proceeds and the cost 

of those items must be included in profit or loss in accordance 

with the related standards. Disclosure of such amounts is now 

specifically required.

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2022.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2023 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Phase 2 – Amendment 

to IFRS 7

The amendment sets out additional disclosure requirements 

related to interest rate benchmark reform. 

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2021.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2022 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.
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2. New standards and interpretations 
continued

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective 
continued

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Phase 2 – Amendment 

to IFRS 9

When there is a change in the basis for determining the 

contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability 

that is required by interest rate benchmark reform, then the 

entity is required to apply paragraph B5.4.5 as a practical 

expedient. This expedient is only available for such changes in 

the basis of determining contractual cash flows.

Additional temporary exemptions from applying specific 

hedge accounting requirements, as well as additional rules 

for accounting for qualifying hedging relationships and the 

designation of risk components, have been added to hedge 

relationships specifically impacted by interest rate benchmark 

reform.

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2021.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2022 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Phase 2 – Amendment 

to IFRS 16

If there is a lease modification as a result of the interest rate 

benchmark reform, then as a practical expedient, the lessee is 

required to apply paragraph 42 of IFRS 16 to account for the 

changes by remeasuring the lease liability to reflect the revised 

lease payment. The amendment only applies to modifications 

as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform.

The effective date for the group is for years beginning on or 

after 1 January 2021.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2022 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

COVID-19-related Rent Concessions – Amendment 

to IFRS 16

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an amendment to 

IFRS 16: Leases. Lessees may elect not to assess whether a 

rent concession that meets the conditions in paragraph 46B 

is a lease modification. If this election is applied, then any 

change in lease payments must be accounted for in the same 

way as a change would be accounted for if it were not a lease 

modification. This practical expedient only applies to rent 

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021

concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 

pandemic and only if:

• the change in lease payments results in revised 

consideration for the lease that is substantially the same 

as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 

preceding the change;

• any reduction in lease payment affects only payments 

originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

• there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions 

of the lease.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on 

or after 1 June 2020.

The group expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in 

the 2022 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on 

the group's annual financial statements.

3. Property, plant and equipment
Accounting policies relating to property, plant and 
equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as 

an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the item will flow to the group, and the cost 

of the item can be measured reliably. Property, plant and 

equipment is initially measured at cost. Costs include costs 

incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, 

plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently, which 

meet the recognition criteria, to add to, replace part of, or 

service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 

amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the 

carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All 

other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the 

financial period in which they are incurred. The initial estimate 

of the costs of dismantling and removing an item and restoring 

the site on which it is located is also included in the cost of 

property, plant and equipment, where the group is obligated to 

incur such expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a 

result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than 

the production of inventories. Property, plant and equipment is 

subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses, except for land which is 

stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Land is 

not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the basis as 

disclosed as follows. Assets under construction include costs 

incurred with regard to mine development and are transferred 

to relevant asset classes when ready for their intended use. 

Mine development assets are initially measured at cost, and 

are subsequently assessed for impairment on an annual basis.
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Mining properties and mineral assets are depreciated on a 

units-of-production basis, in proportion to the ROM tonnes 

of coal extracted in the year compared with total proven and 

probable reserves at the beginning of the year, once in the form 

intended for use by management. The residual value, useful 

life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at 

the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from 

previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively 

as a change in accounting estimate. The depreciation charge 

for each year is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and 

equipment when there is an indicator that they may be 

impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, 

plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the 

estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying 

amount in line with the recoverable amount. An item of 

property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal 

or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 

continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the 

derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, 

determined as the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the item, is included in 

profit or loss when the item is derecognised.

Deferred stripping

Stripping assets are depreciated over a fixed period of 

12 months, being the average estimated time to mine through 

a production cut. The group identifies a production cut as a 

component, being the smallest measurable portion of the coal 

reserve within a pit, which the stripping activity provides direct 

access to and is usually identified through survey results. 

The depreciation period of 12 months is reviewed annually to 

ensure a relevant depreciation period is applied.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Buildings Straight-line 50 years

Plant and machinery Units-of-production Estimated run of mine (“ROM”) tonnes

Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 3 years

Motor vehicles Straight-line 5 years

Office equipment Straight-line 3 years

IT equipment Straight-line 3 years

Mining properties Units-of-production Estimated ROM tonnes

Mineral assets Units-of-production Estimated ROM tonnes

Depreciation of stripping assets will be accelerated where the 

strip ratio for the month is lower than the average life of mine 

strip ratio less 15%. The objective of accelerating depreciation 

is to ensure stripping costs are appropriately allocated to units 

of coal production and to prevent deferral of stripping costs 

beyond the period of subsequently realising the benefit of the 

deferred stripping cost.

Significant judgements and assumptions made by 

management in applying the related accounting policies

The determination of the useful economic life and residual 

values of property, plant and equipment is subject to 

management estimation. The company regularly reviews all 

of its depreciation rates and residual values to take account 

of any changes in circumstances, and any changes that could 

affect prospective depreciation charges and asset carrying 

values. The estimation of reserves impacts the depreciation 

of property, plant and equipment and the recoverable amount 

of property, plant and equipment. Furthermore, the valuation 

and timing of the rehabilitation expenditure is affected by the 

reserve estimates. Factors impacting the determination of 

proved and probable reserves are:

• The grade of mineral reserves may vary significantly from 

time to time (i.e. differences between actual grades mined 

and resource model grades);

• Differences between actual commodity prices and 

commodity price assumptions;

• Unforeseen operational issues at mine sites;

• Changes in capital, operating, mining, processing and 

reclamation costs, discount rates and foreign exchange 

rates; and

• Expectations regarding future profitability would impact the 

decision to continue mining and consequently the continued 

classification as proved and probable mineral reserves.
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3. Property, plant and equipment continued

Accounting policies relating to property, plant and 
equipment continued

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and 

individual assets have been determined based on the higher 

of the value-in-use calculations and fair values less cost of 

disposal. These calculations require the use of estimates and 

assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the assumptions 

may change which may then impact the group’s estimations 

and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying 

value of goodwill and tangible assets (refer to notes 3, 6 and 7). 

The group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when 

events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. Management performed an 

assessment of whether or not there were any impairment 

indicators using the guidance in IAS 36: Impairment of Assets 

and notes the following impairment indicators: 

• The group’s net asset value exceeded the group’s market 

capitalisation; and

• The group had lower coal sales volumes than planned as a 

result of Eskom‘s force majeure and other factors.

Estimates are made in determining the recoverable amount of 

assets which include the estimation of cash flows and discount 

rates used. In estimating cash flows, the group bases cash flow 

projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions that 

represent the group’s best estimate of the range of economic 

conditions that will exist over the remaining useful life of the 

assets.

The discount rates used are post-tax risk-adjusted weighted 

average cost of capital (”WACC”).

The group has noted that the COVID-19 impact on impairment 

calculations has had a more significant effect on the Trading 

segment than on the Mining segment. The group has not 

identified a significant long-term impact on the Mining 

segment’s sales volumes, but management applied more 

conservative estimates related to forecast sales volumes 

and production forecasts to compensate for the potential 

risk associated with the COVID-19 pandemic. Although sales 

volumes are not in line with pre-lockdown levels, the group 

has noted an uptick in sales volumes in Q1 2022 for the Mining 

segment.

The Trading segment’s sales volumes have not yet recovered 

to pre-lockdown levels as its customer base has largely been 

significantly impacted by load shedding and the hard lockdown.

The group does not believe that the COVID-19 impact will be 

long term due to:

• During Levels 5 and 4, the company operated as an essential 

services entity, with sales mainly going to Eskom which is an 

essential services entity. 

• The economic downturn in supply has not materially affected 

the mining impairment calculations even though Eskom 

instituted force majeure at a number of delivery locations in 

the past year. 

The group utilises its WACC rate in assessing the impairment 

models. In determining the WACC rate for discounting, 

management utilised the year-end rates (which were natively 

higher due to the current market conditions). The rate was 

then further risk-adjusted to compensate for the uncertainty 

of the pandemic.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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Property, plant and equipment – composition and analysis

2021 2020

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

depreciation

 and

impairment

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

depreciation

and

impairment

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Group

Land and buildings 123 106 (4 655) 118 451 123 014 (4 239) 118 775

Mining properties, plant and 

machinery 4 839 137 (2 742 655) 2 096 482 4 466 460 (2 415 870) 2 050 590

Furniture and fixtures 3 768 (3 229) 539 4 753 (3 927) 826

Motor vehicles 23 127 (20 302) 2 825 23 138 (19 044) 4 094

IT equipment 16 419 (13 624) 2 795 15 816 (13 125) 2 691

Assets under construction 228 846 – 228 846 26 157 – 26 157

Total 4 442 978 (2 784 465) 2 449 938 4 659 338 (2 456 205) 2 203 133

Company

Plant and machinery – – – 1 059 – 1 059

Furniture and fixtures 1 275 (1 027) 248 1 275 (819) 456

IT equipment 874 (625) 249 838 (467) 371

Total 2 149 (1 652) 497 3 172 (1 286) 1 886

 Reconciliation of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment 

Group

Opening

balance 

R’000

Additions 

R’000

Disposals

R’000

Transfers held 

for sale

R’000

Depreciation

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Land and buildings 118 775 92 – – (416) 118 451

Mining properties, plant and 

machinery 2 050 590 442 978 (3 655) 13 127 (406 558) 2 096 482

Furniture and fixtures 826 – (32) – (255) 539

Motor vehicles 4 094 449 (207) – (1 511) 2 825

IT equipment 2 691 1 838 (1 296) – (438) 2 795

Assets under construction 26 157 221 809 (3 763) (15 176) (181) 228 846

 2 203 133 667 166 (8 953) (2 049)* (409 359) 2 449 938

2020

Land and buildings 59 603 57 223 (9 776) 13 509 (1 784) 118 775

Mining properties, plant and 

machinery 1 887 465 372 071 – 117 960 (326 906) 2 050 590

Furniture and fixtures 1 118 77 (220) – (149) 826

Motor vehicles 4 758 2 088 (346) – (2 406) 4 094

IT equipment 690 2 789 (292) – (496) 2 691

Assets under construction 567 25 590 – – – 26 157

1 954 201 459 838 (10 634) 131 469 (331 741) 2 203 133

*  The company has transferred the net carrying value of R1 058 815 of software costs previously disclosed as IT equipment to intangibles. Refer to 

the intangible asset note 7. The group's subsidiary Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited has transferred the net carrying value of R990 018 of leased 

properties previously disclosed as mining properties, plant and machinery to right-of-use assets (refer to note 4).
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 Reconciliation of the carrying value of property, plant and equipment continued

Company

Opening

balance 

R’000

Additions 

R’000

Disposals

R’000

Transfers

R’000

Depreciation

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Plant and machinery 1 059 – – (1 059) – –

Furniture and fixtures 456 – – – (208) 248

IT equipment 371 64 (1) – (185) 249

1 886 64 (1) (1 059)* (393) 497

2020

Buildings – 667 – – (667) –

Plant and machinery – 1 059 – – – 1 059

Furniture and fixtures 654 48 – – (246) 456

IT equipment 222 335 – – (186) 371

876 2 109 – – (1 099) 1 886

*   The company has transferred the net carrying value of R1 058 815 of software costs previously disclosed as IT equipment to intangibles. Refer to the 

intangible asset note 7.

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

Under the refinanced debt package disclosed in long-term borrowings (refer to note 20), the group has encumbered all of its 

property, plant and equipment as noted above.

A register containing the information required by regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations 2011, is available for 

inspection at the registered office of the company.

Impairment and reversal of impairment

The group’s mining operations have evolved significantly over the years, with significant amounts being capitalised to mining 

properties. Mining plans are continuously revised and updated in order to confirm that sufficient headroom exists. Management 

performs impairment assessments for all the operations within the group.

The impairment assessment model is based on a fair value less costs of disposal model which is based on the future estimated 

cash flows discounted to net present value at a nominal post-tax discount rate over the projected life of mine or expected project 

length.

Impairment inputs

The group assessed the impact of COVID-19 on the impairment calculations, and except for the Trading business, has found 

the impact to be minimal on the other operations. The reason for this is that the mining operations supply most of their coal to 

Eskom in terms of long-term supply contracts. Furthermore, the group has not identified any significant long-term downturn 

in sales volumes to other customers nor have they made any material concessions or payment arrangements with customers. 

The impairment recorded in the Trading business was the result of a lower growth rate being applied in the model, compared 

to prior years, due to the longer-term bearish outlook for the coal sector as the world moves to renewable sources of energy. 

An accounting standards-aligned approach was also adopted in determining the various inputs for the WACC calculation, 

which resulted in a more conservative WACC being used in the models, compared to an industry-aligned calculation. This also 

impacted the Trading impairment calculation significantly. Overall, the impairment tests were conducted more conservatively 

and were interrogated more stringently and rigorously by management in order to compensate for the uncertainty in the 

market and to ensure that the additional impact of the pandemic on the group was appropriately taken into account.

The impairment model has been evaluated per operation with a few of the key inputs remaining unchanged for the different 

operations.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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General

• WACC: 16.9%;

• Inflation: 4.27% – all operations; 

• Sales growth: Trading – 1.5%; and 

• Mining operations – the annual revenue forecast is based on the available saleable product driven by the life of mine plan 

with minimal stock holding.

Khanyisa Elandspruit Vanggatfontein Moabsvelden

Assumptions and inputs to the impairment test 

– 2021

Life of mine/project length 2 years 4 years 10 years 10 years

Capitalised cost R84 million R160 million R465 million R505 million

Nominal revenue growth assumptions Index driven 4% Index driven 4% Index driven 4% Index driven 4%

Nominal discount rate applied 16.9% 14.6% 16.9% 17.8%

Production volumes (tonnes) 1 831 445 10 821 626 25 217 038 28 596 773

Sensitivity 31.8% increase 

in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

12.5% increase

 in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

1% increase 

in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

9.1% increase 

in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

Assumptions and inputs to the impairment test

– 2020

Life of mine/project length 3 years 5 years 7 years 10 years

Capitalisation cost R9 million R139 million R346 million R531 million

Revenue growth assumptions Index driven 5% Index driven 5% Index driven 5% Index driven 5%

Discount rate applied 11.60% 11.60% 11.60% 13.60%

Sensitivity 31.8% increase 

in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

12.5% increase

 in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

1% increase 

in the discount 

rate will not result 

in impairment

9.1% increase 

in cost will

 not result in

 impairment

Through the performance of the impairment testing, the group determined that the impairment tests were more sensitive to 

changes in cost of production than to changes in the discount rate. Key inputs are production output and costs, expected selling 

price, discount rate and life of mine.

Changes of 1% in the discount rate to each of the models had an immaterial impact on the recoverable amount of the assets.

From the impairment test process, the group identified that the Vanggatfontein cash-generating unit is close to break-even and 

therefore more sensitivity and estimation testing is required.

Sensitivity on Vanggatfontein

Group

2021

Increase

 by 1%

2021

Decrease

 by 1%

2020

Increase 

by 1%

2020

Decrease 

by 1%

Sales sensitivity

Headroom/(impairment) (R'million) 33 005 (33 017) 33 316 (25 244)

Production sensitivity

(Impairment)/headroom (R'million) 42 281 (42 281) (17 569) 25 653

Discount rate sensitivity

Headroom (R'million) (29 758) 31 406 1 563 5 906
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 Other information

The mining property addition included capitalised deferred stripping costs for Khanyisa, Elandspruit and Vanggatfontein Mines 

of R59.9 million (2020: R97.2 million) and the change in the rehabilitation estimate of R192.6 million that was capitalised which 

includes initial recognition of rehabilitation provision for Moabsvelden.

The group has performed an impairment assessment on its outside life of mine projects, Sterkfontein and Leeuw Braakfontein. 

No impairment was recognised as the recoverable amount is more than the current carrying amounts of each project. The 

recoverable amounts and headroom were determined to be:

Recoverable

 amount

R’000

Sterkfontein 237 582

Leeuw Braakfontein 156 925

4. Right-of-use assets
 Accounting policies relating to right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item in the statements of financial position. Lease payments included in 

the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• The initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;

• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;

• Any initial direct costs incurred;

• Any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it 

is located, when the group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories; and

• Any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease 

transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the group expects to exercise a 

purchase option, however, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease. For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful 

lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to the 

accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the 

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. 

Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.

 Right-of-use assets – composition and analysis

The group’s cost of debt has been used as the incremental borrowing rate in calculating the right-of-use asset as well as the 

lease liabilities (refer to note 22).

The group tested its right-of-use assets for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded that there is no indication 

that the right-of-use assets are impaired. The right-of-use assets were assessed for impairment as part of the cash-generating 

units noted under property, plant and equipment by including the cash flows associated with the right-of-use assets in the 

impairment assessment of these cash-generating units. The group determined that there were no material risks of impairment 

having taken the impact of COVID-19 into account.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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 Right-of-use assets – composition and analysis continued

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are included in the following line items:

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

Buildings 6 673 1 867 106 772

Additions/disposals of right-of-use assets

Buildings 7 912 3 191 – 1 439

Mining fleet – additions – 297 069 – –

Mining fleet – disposals – (297 069) – –

7 912 3 191 – 1 439

During the prior year, the group entered into an instalment sale agreement with its lenders, namely, Nedbank Limited 

(“Nedbank”) and Standard Bank of South Africa Limited (“Standard Bank”), to acquire a fleet of mining machinery, through a 

back-to-back finance lease agreement with its mining contractor. The terms mirrored those of the instalment sale agreement 

which increased the lease liability by R297.4 million. The finance term is for 60 months with an effective borrowing rate of 9.5% 

(Nedbank) and 8.75% (Standard Bank). The interest rate at the contract date was the prime interest rate minus 0.5% and prime 

for Nedbank and prime minus 0.75% for Standard Bank.

Further to the mining fleet, the group financed certain motor vehicles and equipment under instalment sale agreements. 

For these motor vehicle and equipment instalment sale agreements, the average finance term is three years and the average 

effective borrowing rate is 8.79% (2020: 9.25%). Interest rates are linked to prime plus 0.5% at the contract date.

The buildings leased relate to the group's office buildings which have been included as part of the IFRS 16 implementation as 

right-of-use assets.

Depreciation recognised on each class of right-of-use asset is presented below. It includes depreciation which has been 

expensed in the total depreciation charge in profit or loss (refer to note 28).

Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Buildings (2 947) (1 316) (667) (667)

 Other disclosures

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Interest expense on lease liabilities 19 691 13 784 – –

Expenses on short-term leases included in operating expenses 3 176 10 355 – 109

Net carrying value of leased assets transferred from property, 

plant and equipment 990 – – –
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5. Investment property
Accounting policies relating to investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic benefits that 

are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise, and the cost of the investment property can be 

measured reliably.

Investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 

future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains and losses from disposal of investment property are determined 

as the difference between net proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and shall be recognised in profit or loss.

Investment property is carried at cost less depreciation less any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is provided to 

write down the cost, less estimated residual value by equal instalments over the useful life of the property, which is as follows:

Item Useful life

Property – land Indefinite

Group

2021 2020

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

depreciation

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

depreciation

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Investment property 709 – 709 709 – 709

 Reconciliation of investment property

Group

Opening

balance

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Investment property 709 709

2020

Investment property 709 709

The fair value was assessed at a Level 3 on the fair value hierarchy and was based on comparable transactions in the area. 

The fair value of the property was valued at R1 million.

The investment property is held by the group’s property investment company, Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited. The latest 

valuation performed has been deemed to be reflective of current market conditions and therefore has not been reassessed.

A register containing the information required by regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations 2011 is available for inspection 

at the registered office of the company.

Investment property is encumbered as stated in note 20.
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6. Goodwill
Accounting policies relating to goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of 

any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or when an impairment 

indicator has been identified and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 

reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-

generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the 

goodwill arose.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also tests goodwill acquired in a business combination 

for impairment annually. The impairment indicator in the current year was the lower-than-planned sales volumes as a result of 

a loss of some customers.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying 

amount of the units.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, or amortisation other than goodwill, 

is recognised immediately in profit or loss. An impairment can only be reversed up to the maximum amount that would have 

been recognised if the original impairment had not occurred.



172 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021

6. Goodwill continued

 Goodwill – composition and analysis 

Group

2021 2020

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

impairment

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

impairment

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Goodwill 73 637 (21 026) 52 611 73 637 – 73 637

 Reconciliation of goodwill 

Group

Opening

balance

R’000

Impairment

loss

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Goodwill 73 637 (21 026) 52 611

2020

Goodwill 73 637 – 73 637

 Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill is allocated to the group’s Trading segment. The group’s enlarged coal trading business operates as one fully 

integrated segment.

The group performed its annual impairment test of its goodwill on 31 March 2021 and an impairment loss of R21 million was 

recognised on the Wescoal Trading cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the relevant cash-generating unit is determined using cash flow projections from financial budgets 

approved by the directors, covering a two-year period (2020: two-year period), and applying an expected inflation and growth 

rate thereafter. This methodology is consistent with the prior year. The post-tax nominal discount rate applied to cash flow 

projections is 16.9% (2020: 11.6%).

The group utilises its WACC rate in assessing the impairment models. In determining the WACC rate for discounting, 

management utilised the year-end rates.

The calculation of fair value less cost of disposal is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

• Gross margin;

• Discount rates; and

• Growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period.

Gross margins

Gross margins are from the financial budget, approved by the board of directors during March 2021, which correlates with 

recent historical rates. Gross margins are expected to remain within a range of between 8% and 9% (2020: 9% and 10%).

Discount rates

Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to the industry, regarding the time value of money 

and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate 

calculation is based on the specific circumstances of the Trading segment. Segment-specific risk is incorporated by applying 

individual beta factors. The beta factors are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data for comparable 

companies.
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Growth rate estimates

Rates are based on management’s estimates and expectations of future operations. Annual continued growth assumed at 1.5% 

each year (2020: 5%) was used for the next five years, with no growth thereafter.

A sensitivity analysis was performed by changing the above input assumptions as follows:

• Gross margin down by 1% will result in an impairment of R27 million (2020: Rnil);

• Discount rates up by 1% will result in an impairment of R6 million (2020: Rnil); and

• Growth rate down by 1% will result in an impairment of R5 million (2020: Rnil).

Management used a 1% sensitivity as the model used to assess the impairment indicated that the result was sensitive to small 

changes in these key inputs.

7. Intangible assets
Accounting policies relating to intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets (underground access rights and computer software) are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

and any impairment losses. There are no intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life. The amortisation is provided on 

a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed annually. Amortisation is provided to 

write down the intangible asset to their residual values as follows:

Item Amortisation method Useful life 

Underground access rights Life of mine Life of mine 

Computer software 3 – 5 years 3 – 5 years

 Intangible assets – composition and analysis

2021 2020

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

amortisation

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Cost

R’000

Accumulated

amortisation

R’000

Carrying

value

R’000

Group

Underground access rights 7 513 (2 176) 5 337 7 513 (2 176) 5 337

Computer software 17 888 (13 774) 4 114 14 594 (11 519) 3 075

Brands and trademarks – – – 9 975 (9 975) –

Total 25 401 (15 950) 9 451 32 082 (23 670) 8 412

Company

Computer software 9 457 (6 730) 2 727 6 464 (4 500) 1 964
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 Reconciliation of the carrying value of intangible assets

Group

Opening

balance 

R’000

Additions

R’000

Transfers*

R’000

Amortisation 

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Underground access rights 5 337 – – – 5 337

Computer software 3 075 2 236 1 059 (2 256) 4 114

8 412 2 236 1 059 (2 256) 9 451

2020

Underground access rights 5 337 – – – 5 337

Computer software 4 972 227 – (2 124) 3 075

Brands and trademarks 460 – – (460) –

10 769 227 – (2 584) 8 412

*  Transfers relate to computer software held by the company that have transferred from IT equipment under property, plant and equipment 

(refer to note 3).

 Reconciliation of the carrying amount of intangible assets

Company 

Opening 

balance

R’000

Additions

R’000

Transfers*

R’000

Amortisation

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Computer software 1 964 1 934 1 059 (2 230) 2 727

2020

Computer software 3 860 226 – (2 122) 1 964

*  Transfers relate to computer software held by the company that have transferred from IT equipment under property, plant and equipment 

(refer to note 3).

Underground access rights

During the 2017 financial year, the group entered into an agreement with Nungu Trading 341 Proprietary Limited obtaining the 

use of their access point for underground mining and stockpile area to access the underground section of the Elandspruit Mine 

and dispose of the coal from the area. The group may use the stockpile yard for the temporary storage of coal mined prior to it 

being transported to the processing plant.

The use of the access point and stockpile area is granted on a non-exclusive basis and will be used by both Nungu and the 

group for an estimated period of three years. The right of use has been recognised as an intangible asset and the payment 

terms of the agreement are set out in note 21.

 Computer software

The group acquired computer software as part of the business combination during the 2018 financial year and elected to 

convert its accounting software package to integrate it with the customised programme from Keaton Energy Holdings Limited. 

The system conversion to SAP required an additional R5 million during the 2018 financial year. In the current year, additional 

development of R0.2 million has been incurred to further consolidate the ERP systems.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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8. Investment in subsidiaries
In the group’s separate annual financial statements, interests in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated 

impairment. The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:

• the fair value, at the date of acquisition; plus

• any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

Investment in subsidiaries – composition and analysis

The following table lists the entities which are controlled directly by the company, and the carrying amounts of the investments 

in the company's separate annual financial statements.

Company

Holding Carrying amount

Name of company Held by 

2021

%

2020

%

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 564 203 564 203

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 66 770* 73 237

Wescoal Mining Proprietary 

Limited

Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 62 589 62 589

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries 

Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary 

Limited

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 60 60 – –

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary 

Limited

Proudafrique Trading 147 

Proprietary Limited

40 40 – –

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited 100 100 – –

Proudafrique Trading 147 

Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 100 100 – –

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery 

Proprietary Limited

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

Labohlano Trading 46 

Proprietary Limited

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust Wescoal Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

Neosho Trading 86 

Proprietary Limited

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 100 100 – –

693 562 700 029

*  Impairment

   The group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that the assets may be impaired (refer to notes 3 and 6). 

During the current year, the Wescoal Trading business was impaired as the recoverable amount determined in accordance with IAS 36: Impairment 

of Assets was less than the cash-generating unit’s carrying amount. The recoverable amount for the cash-generating unit was also used to 

determine the impairment of the investment in the separate annual financial statements of Wescoal Holdings Limited. This resulted in an impairment 

of R6.5 million (2020: Rnil) in the investment in Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited.
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 Subsidiaries pledged as security

The company’s shares in subsidiaries have been pledged to Nedbank CIB as security for loans granted (refer to note 20).

 Other information

All subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidation. The proportion of the voting rights in the subsidiary undertakings 

held directly by the parent company do not differ from the proportion of ordinary shares held.

The country of incorporation and place of business of the parent company and all subsidiaries is South Africa.

The proportion of ordinary shares held by the group equals that of the proportion of ordinary shares held by each individual 

parent company.

Name of company Nature of business Segment 2021 Segment 2020

Wescoal Holdings Limited Investments in coal mining 

operations 

Investment holding Investment holding

Keaton Energy Holdings 

Limited

Investments in coal mining 

operations 

Investment holding Investment holding

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries 

Proprietary Limited 

Sourcing and processing of 

low-grade coal

Mining Mining

Wescoal Mining Proprietary 

Limited 

Mining, processing and selling 

of coal

Mining Mining

Keaton Mining Proprietary 

Limited 

Coal mining and exploration Mining Mining

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary 

Limited 

Mining and exploration of coal Mining Mining

Proudafrique Trading 147 

Proprietary Limited 

Investment in coal exploration 

activities

Property rental and other Property rental and other

Wescoal Exploration

Proprietary Limited

Coal exploration Property rental and other Property rental and other

Blanford 006 Proprietary 

Limited

Property investment Property rental and other Property rental and other

Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery 

Proprietary Limited

Coal mining and exploration Property rental and other Property rental and other

Labohlano Trading 46 

Proprietary Limited

Coal mining and exploration Property rental and other Property rental and other

Wescoal Share Incentive Trust Share incentive trust Property rental and other Property rental and other

Wescoal Trading Proprietary 

Limited

Buying, transport and selling 

of coal

Trading Trading

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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9.  Investment in joint ventures 
Accounting policies relating to joint ventures

Under IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. 

The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint 

arrangement.

The group’s joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated 

balance sheet.

Equity-accounted method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the 

group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the group’s share of movements in 

other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates 

and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any 

other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 

payments on behalf of the other entity.

Joint ventures – composition and analysis 

Group

Ownership interest Carrying amount

Name of company Measurement method

2021 

%

2020

%

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Arnot HoldCo Proprietary Limited Equity method 50 50 27 548 27 855

27 548 27 855

 Arnot transaction

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited entered into an agreement with Innovators Resources Proprietary Limited to acquire from 

Exxaro Coal Mpumalanga Proprietary Limited, for no consideration and on a voetstoots basis, the business operated out of the 

Arnot coal mine in Mpumalanga. 

The investment in the joint venture therefore had limited underlying assets and liabilities and no profits or losses from the 

acquisition occurred up to year-end. The transaction is a broad-based empowerment transaction which will not only secure 

employment for previously retrenched employees but will also provide employees and affected communities around the Arnot 

Mine with equity participation as outlined in the Mining Charter III. 

The Arnot group is currently 50% owned by Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited and 50% by Innovators Resources Proprietary 

Limited. In terms of the shareholders agreement, Wescoal Mining has the right to acquire all the shares of Arnot HoldCo 

Proprietary Limited from Innovators Resources Proprietary Limited at fair value, effectively giving Wescoal control over the 

company. This option is, however, only available from two years after the date on which the conditions per the transfer of 

business agreement were met, namely December 2019. 

The Arnot company also has an executive directors’ board separate from the Wescoal group consisting of four directors (two of 

whom are nominated by Wescoal), a separate budget and has a service agreement in place for support services provided 

by Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited. At year-end, the section 11 approval for the transfer of the Arnot business had been 

granted although the application for the change in the mining right to Arnot has not yet been obtained. 
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9.  Investment in joint ventures continued

 Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Arnot HoldCo

Proprietary Limited

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Cost of sales – –

Operating income 421 390 38 045

Operating expenses (422 549) (38 699)*

Interest income 463 6

Finance costs (1) –

Loss before tax (697) (643)

Tax expense – (48)

Loss from continuing operations (697) (691)

Total comprehensive loss (697) (691)

*  In the prior year, the operating expense was incorrectly presented as cost of sales and operating income was incorrectly presented as revenue. The 

presentation has been corrected in the current year.

 Summarised statements of financial position
Arnot HoldCo

Proprietary Limited

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Assets

Non-current

Property, plant and equipment 158 105 24 349

Current

Cash and cash equivalents 4 921 11 556

Inventories 1 996 –

Trade and other receivables 33 284 27 182

Total current assets 40 201 38 738

Liabilities

Non-current

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade payables and provisions) 13 638 –

Total non-current liabilities 13 638 –

Current

Other current liabilities 167 582 47 434

Total current liabilities 167 582 47 434

Total net assets 17 086 15 653

Investment at the beginning of the year 27 855 –

Acquisitions – 25 701

Transaction fees incurred – 2 500

Share of profit (307) (346)

Investment at the end of the year 27 548 27 855

Based on an arbitration verdict and subsequent order of court, Eskom will remain responsible for the existing rehabilitation liability.

The company received a final offer by Eskom for the settlement of the rehabilitation closure cost (“rehabilitation liability”).

The offer from Eskom for the rehabilitation liability shall be a total amount of R1 billion excluding value added tax.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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10. Restricted investments
Accounting policies relating to investments in debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Classification

Certain investments in debt instruments are classified as mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. These investments 

do not qualify for classification at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income because either the 

contractual terms of these instruments do not give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal outstanding, or the objectives of the group business model are met by selling the instruments 

rather than holding them to collect the contractual cash flows.

The group holds investments in a rehabilitation investment portfolio through a number of investment instruments which are 

mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition and measurement

Investments in debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised when the group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. The investments are measured, at initial recognition and subsequently, at fair 

value. Transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. Fair value gains or losses are included in other operating gains/

(losses) (refer to note 28). Details of the valuation policies and processes are presented in note 37. Interest received on debt 

instruments at fair value through profit or loss is included in interest income (refer to note 29).

Investments in debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss – composition and analysis

Investments held by the group which are measured at fair value, excluding derivatives, are as follows:

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Debt investments at fair value through profit or loss 81 529 54 919 – –

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss – –

Rehabilitation investment portfolio 81 529 54 919 – –

81 529 47 797 – –

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 81 529 54 919 – –

 Reconciliation of investments

Group

Opening 

balance

R’000

Additional

investments

R’000

Investment

return

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Rehabilitation investment portfolio 54 919 23 660 2 950 81 529

2020

Rehabilitation investment portfolio 47 797 14 957 (7 835) 54 919

The unit trust investments are fair value through profit or loss financial assets and are recognised at fair value. Income earned 

on the investments, consisting of dividend income and local and foreign interest, is reinvested.
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Reconciliation of investments continued

The investment portfolio is made up of the following investment instruments:

Group

2021 2020

R’000 Credit rating R’000 Credit rating

Old Mutual Investment Services 45 364 BB 27 606 BB

Centriq Investments 35 935 AA 27 180 AA

Stanlib 132 BB 43 BB

Momentum Unit Trust 98 Baa3 90 Baa3

81 529 54 919

 Fair value information

Fair value is determined based on the published unit prices of the underlying unit trust and therefore falls within Level 2 of the 

IFRS fair value hierarchy.

 Investments pledged as security

These investments are pledged as security for environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued on behalf of the group.

 Risk exposure

The group’s exposure to equity securities price risk arises from the underlying unit trust investments held by the group.

11. Loans to group companies
Accounting policies relating to loans to group companies

Classification

Loans to group companies are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group's business model is to 

collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement

Loans to group companies are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loans. Loans to 

group companies are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs. Loans to group companies and other 

receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans to group companies are included in the specific notes and financial instruments and risk 

management (refer to note 36).

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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11. Loans to group companies continued

Loans to group companies – composition and analysis

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Subsidiaries

Loans that are interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited 4 443 24 948

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 127 053 96 185

Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited 4 2

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 177 684 129 336

Loans that bear interest and have fixed repayment terms

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited* 49 097 55 747

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited* 194 109 310 397

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited* 550 817 491 657

1 103 207 1 108 272

 *  Inter-group loans are interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. During the 2020 financial year, the group refinanced its debt structure. 

These inter-group loans have been restructured to facilitate the interest repayments through which the subsidiary incurs interest to the extent that 

it utilises the facilities from Wescoal Holdings Limited. Due to the refinanced debt package, Wescoal Holdings amended its loan agreements with its 

subsidiaries resulting in the interest charge from the debt package being on-charged to the subsidiaries which utilise the group’s funding facilities. 

At the year ended 31 March 2021, the following entities utilised the group funding facilities:

• Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited;

• Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited;

• Keaton Energy Holdings Proprietary Limited;

• Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited (through Keaton Energy Holdings Proprietary Limited); and

• Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited (through Keaton Energy Holdings Proprietary Limited).

    The debt package facilities bear interest as follows: the term loan and the revolving credit facility (“RCF”) bear interest of between JIBAR plus 2.75% and 

JIBAR plus 3.50%, depending on contractual obligations and criteria. The general banking facility (“GBF”) bears interest at the prime lending rate. Refer to 

note 20 for more detail regarding the long-term borrowings.

Fair values are determined based on discounted cash flow valuations and therefore fall within Level 3 of the IFRS fair value hierarchy.

The inputs into the valuations are determined in accordance with estimated payment terms and market-related interest rates 

at the reporting date.

The directors consider that the loans to group companies’ carrying values approximate their fair values.

 Split between non-current and current portions

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Non-current assets 4 443 24 948

Current assets 1 098 764 1 083 324

1 103 207 1 108 272
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11. Loans to group companies continued

Loans to group companies pledged as security

Inter-company loans receivable have been pledged as security for financing provided by Nedbank CIB (refer to note 20).

 Exposure to credit risk

The risk that loans to subsidiaries will not perform as expected, which results in a loss to the company, can be defined as a 

credit risk. Loans to subsidiaries are provided by the company as a general borrowing to fund ongoing operating activities. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the loans to subsidiaries.

 Credit rating framework

Management determines the credit rating grades of all loans at the end of the reporting period in order to determine the 

credit loss allowance. As external ratings are not available, these ratings are determined internally. As part of management's 

evaluation of a group company's ability to repay its debt, a variety of factors are considered. Profitability, debt-to-equity ratio, 

cash flow liquidity, solvency tests, and the ability to generate future cash flows are a few of the factors considered.

The table below sets out the internal credit rating framework which is applied by management for loans for which external 

ratings are not available. The abbreviation "ECL" is used to depict "expected credit losses".

As all the loans are interest-free, under the lifetime ECL method, the effect of discounting is considered nominal.

Internal

credit rating Description

Basis for recognising 

ECLs

Performing Low risk of default and insufficient highly liquid assets to repay loan on demand. 12-month ECL

Doubtful Either 30 days past due or sufficient highly liquid assets to repay loan on demand, 

however, carrying value of the assets is greater than the loan amount taking debt 

seniority into account.

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit impaired)

In default Either 90 days past due or carrying value of the assets is less than the loan amount, 

however, lifetime operational cash flow exceeds or has the potential to exceed the 

loan amount.

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit impaired)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty 

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off

Inter-company loans

The group applies a combined approach to determine the ECL for inter-company loans ECL is calculated using historical data 

(12 months and 36 months, respectively) as well as forward-looking data. The calculation of the ECL is based on each individual 

company within the group’s historical default rates observed over the expected life of the loans, adjusted for factors that are 

specific to the company, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of the 

market at the reporting date, including time value for money, where appropriate. This is done to allow for risk differentiation 

going forward and allows for risk management strategies being implemented.

Inter-company loans (company risk) 

Management assesses the liquidity and solvency of the borrowers before granting loans. IFRS 9 requires the company to 

measure the ECL at a probability-weighted amount that reflects the possibility that a credit loss occurs, and the possibility that 

no credit loss occurs, even if the possibility of a credit loss occurring is low. In assessing the ECL on related party receivable 

balances, the following is considered:

• Whether the borrower has sufficient available highly liquid current assets (which can be accessed immediately after taking 

into consideration any more senior external or internal loans which would need to be repaid) to repay the outstanding inter-

company loan. If the loan was demanded at the reporting date, the probability of default would approximate 0%; and

• If it was determined that the borrower does not have sufficient highly liquid current assets to repay the loan if demanded 

at the reporting date, the company would allow these borrowers to continue trading or to sell assets over a period of time. 

A cash flow forecast is then reviewed to give an indication of the expected trading cash flows and/or liquid assets expected 

to be generated during the recovery period.
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11. Loans to group companies continued

 Credit rating framework continued

Inter-company loans (company risk) continued

The ECL was limited to the effect of discounting the amount due on the loan over the period until cash is realised and repaid 

to the company. IFRS 9 requires the discount rate to be the loan’s effective interest rate. As these loans are expected to be 

recovered over the next 12 months, the effect of discounting over the recovery period had an immaterial effect.

As the full amount of the loans would be recovered based on the above, and the discounting had an immaterial impact, 

there was no impairment loss to recognise.

 Credit loss allowances

The following tables set out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of ECL for group loans receivable by 

credit rating grade:

Company

Instrument

Internal

credit rating

Basis of loss

allowance

Gross

carrying 

amount

R’000

Loss

allowance

R’000

Amortised 

cost

R’000

2021

Loans to subsidiaries

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited Performing 12-month ECL 49 097 – 49 097

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited Doubtful Lifetime ECL 

(not credit impaired)

4 443 – 4 443

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 

(interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 127 053 – 127 053

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 

(non-interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 194 109 – 194 109

Proudafrique Trading 147 

Proprietary Limited

Write-off Lifetime ECL 

(credit impaired)

1 016 (1 012) 4

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 

(non-interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 177 684 – 177 684

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 

(interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 550 817 – 550 817

1 104 219 (1 012) 1 103 207

2020

Loans to subsidiaries

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited Performing 12-month ECL 55 747 – 55 747

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited Doubtful Lifetime ECL

(not credit impaired)

24 948 – 24 948

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 

(interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 96 185 – 96 185

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 

(non-interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 310 397 – 310 397

Proudafrique Trading 147 

Proprietary Limited

Write-off Amount is written off 1 014 (1 012) 2

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 

(non-interest-bearing)

Performing 12-month ECL 129 336 – 129 336

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited 

(interest-bearing)

Doubtful Lifetime ECL 

(credit impaired)

491 657 – 491 657

1 109 284 (1 012) 1 108 272
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12. Other receivables
Accounting policies relating to other receivables

Classification

Other receivables relate to preference shares and are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group's business model is to 

collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Recognition and measurement

Other receivables are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. Other receivables 

are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs. Loans to group companies and other receivables are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Credit risk

Details of credit risk related to loans to group companies are included in the specific notes and financial instruments and risk 

management (refer to note 36).

Other receivables – composition and analysis 

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Loans and receivables

Class B preference shares 55 906 49 860 55 906 49 860

Current assets

Loans and receivables 55 906 – 55 906 –

Non-current assets

Loans and receivables – 49 860 55 906 49 860

Class B preference shares 49 860 44 454 49 860 44 454

Accumulated preference share dividend 6 046 5 406 6 046 5 406

55 906 49 860 55 906 49 860

On 20 December 2016, the company provided funding to K2016316243 (South Africa) Proprietary Limited (“B-BBEE structured 

entity”) by subscribing for class B cumulative redeemable preference shares in the B-BBEE structured entity for an aggregate 

amount of R35.5 million.

A cumulative preferential cash dividend shall be payable in respect of each class B preference share and shall be deemed to 

accrue daily at the prime interest rate plus 1% and be compounded monthly.

The scheduled redemption date for the class B preference shares is the fifth anniversary of the date on which the class B 

preference shares were issued to the company.

The B-BBEE structured entity provided certain security in connection with the class B preference share subscription agreement 

to Wescoal, which security will rank behind the Industrial Development Corporation’s security.

The ECL was determined by management. Based on the probability of default at 6.17% and the loss given default at 14.66%, 

the company calculated an immaterial amount based on the full balance of the preference shares. No adjustments have 

therefore been made.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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13. Lease receivables
 Accounting policies relating to lease receivables

Group and company as lessor

Leases for which the group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other 

leases are classified as operating leases. Lease classification is made at inception and is only reassessed if there is a lease 

modification.

When the group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.

The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. 

If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the group applies the exemption described previously, then it classifies the 

sublease as an operating lease. The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted 

for separately, with consideration being allocated by applying IFRS 15. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 

substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Lease receivables – composition and analysis 

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Gross investment in the lease due

– within one year 76 114 73 423 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive 203 737 272 894 – –

279 851 346 317 – –

Less: Unearned finance income (30 432) (66 033) – –

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 24 419 280 284 – –

Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments (3 514) – – –

245 905 280 284 – –

Present value of minimum lease payments due

– within one year 62 299 49 810 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive 187 120 230 474 – –

249 419 280 284 – –

Less: Allowance for uncollectable minimum lease payments (3 514) – – –

245 905 280 284 – –

Non-current assets 183 606 230 474 – –

Current assets 62 299 49 810 – –

245 905 280 284 – –

During the year ended March 2020, the group entered into an instalment sale agreement with its lenders, namely, Nedbank 

and Standard Bank, to acquire a fleet of mining machinery, through a back-to-back finance lease agreement with its mining 

contractor. The terms mirrored those of the instalment sale agreement which increased the lease liability by R297.4 million. 

The average lease term is five years and the effective lending rate on the lease for the current year was 6.5% (2020: 9%). 

 Exposure to credit risk

The company inherently exposes the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial losses if 

counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

In determining the amount of ECL, the group has taken into account any historical default experience, the financial positions of 

the counterparties as well as the future prospects of the industries in which the counterparties operate or are employed. This 

information has been obtained from the counterparties themselves, as well as from economic reports, financial analyst reports 

and various external sources of actual and forecast data and is applied to estimate a probability of default occurring as well as 

estimating the loss upon default.
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13. Lease receivables continued

 Credit loss allowances

The following table sets out the carrying amount, loss allowance and measurement basis of ECL for lease receivables by credit 

rating grade:

Group

Instrument

Internal 

credit rating

Basis of loss 

allowance 

Net

 investment

in lease

R’000

Loss

allowance

R’000

Carrying

amount

R’000

2021

Mining fleet lease receivable Performing 12-month ECL 249 419 (3 514) 245 905

2020

Mining fleet lease receivable Performing 12-month ECL 280 284 – 280 284

14. Deferred tax
Accounting policies relating to deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 

accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised 

when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, in a transaction at the time of the transaction and affects 

neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(loss).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 

of the reporting period.
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14. Deferred tax continued

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Deferred tax (liability)/asset

Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes (479 567) (603 202) 62 (5) 

Rehabilitation provision 260 053 186 863 – –

Intangible assets – 69 674 – –

Tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income 7 171 89 374 – 8 373

Payroll-related accruals 2 107 4 896 596 2 143

Prepayments (1 068) (610) (348) –

Provision for ECL 849 1 554 – –

Income received in advance 359 332 – –

Lease liability 73 278 65 281 35 187

Provisions 4 156 3 875 2 380 681

Right-of-use assets (71 583) (64 810) – –

Total deferred tax (liability)/asset (204 245) (246 773) 2 726 11 379

The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability relate 

to income tax in the same jurisdiction and the law allows net 

settlement. They have therefore been offset in the statement 

of financial position as follows:

Deferred tax liability (231 044) (287 572) – – 

Deferred tax asset 26 799 40 799 2 726 11 379

Total net deferred tax (liability)/asset (204 245) (246 773) 2 726 11 379

Reconciliation of deferred tax (liability)/asset

At the beginning of the year (246 773) (249 524) 11 379 4 702

Charge to statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income 42 528 2 751 (8 653) 6 677

(204 245) (246 773) 2 726 11 379

Tax losses available for offset against future taxable income 458 240 338 990 – –

The group has concluded that the deferred tax assets will be recoverable using the estimated future taxable income based on 

approved business plans and budgets for the subsidiary. The subsidiary is expected to utilise the deferred tax assets from the 

year 2022 onwards based on the profitability estimates.
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15. Prepaid royalty
Wescoal prepaid R1.50 per tonne of the royalty that was due to Proudafrique before the 100% acquisition of Elandspruit 

in 2015. This prepayment amounted to R12.9 million and is amortised on a units-of-production method over the life of the 

Elandspruit Mine.

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Prepaid royalty – non-current assets 3 346 5 162 – –

Prepaid royalty – current assets 1 478 1 174 – –

4 824 6 336 – –

Reconciliation of prepaid royalty

Opening balance 6 336 7 840 – –

Amortisation (1 512) (1 504) – –

4 824 6 336 – –

16. Inventories
Accounting policies relating to inventories   

Inventories, which include coal ROM and product stockpiles and consumables, are measured at the lower of cost and net 

realisable value on the weighted average cost basis.

The cost of inventories is determined by reference to all costs of purchase, direct mining expenditure and an appropriate 

portion of overhead expenditure, including directly related depreciation, transport and other costs incurred in bringing the 

inventories to their present location and condition. Borrowing costs are not capitalised to inventory.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 

and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is 

recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

A write-down to net realisable value is required when the carrying amount of inventories exceeds the net realisable value. 

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense 

in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising from an 

increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the reversal occurs.

No portion of inventory is non-current. ROM stockpiles are utilised by the processing plant in the ongoing production process. 

Inventory stockpiles consist of saleable coal processed by the washing or crushing and screening plant.

Inventories – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Raw materials, components 191 406 76 478 – –

Finished goods 67 463 45 056 – –

Production supplies 11 061 13 787 – –

269 930 135 321 – –

Inventories (write-downs) (4 230) (3 992) – –

265 700 131 329 – –

Inventory write-downs during the current year relate to provisions for obsolete and slow-moving stock of R1.6 million 

(2020: R1.4 million) and a write-down of ROM and crushed products to a net realisable value of R2.6 million (2020: R2.6 million).
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17. Trade and other receivables
Accounting policies relating to trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade receivables, excluding, when applicable, value added tax and prepayments, are classified as financial assets 

subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Trade receivables have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group's business model is to 

collect the contractual cash flows on trade receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade receivables are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. 

Trade receivables are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs.

Trade receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Impairment

The group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade receivables, excluding value added tax and prepayments. The amount 

of ECL is updated at each reporting date.

The group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component at 

an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The loss allowance for all other trade receivables is measured at lifetime ECL when there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit risk on these receivables has not changed 

significantly since initial recognition, then the loss allowance for those receivables is measured at 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of a loan. In contrast, 

12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a loan that are possible 

within 12 months after the reporting date.

Definition of default

For purposes of internal credit risk management, the group considers that a default event has occurred if there is either a 

breach of financial covenants by the counterparty, or if internal or external information indicates that the counterparty is 

unlikely to pay its creditors in full (without taking collateral into account).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the group considers that default has occurred when a receivable is more than 90 days 

past due unless there is reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is 

more appropriate.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The group applies the simplified approach as a practical expedient to measure the loss allowance for trade receivables 

classified at amortised cost, using the lifetime expected loss provision. The ECL on these financial assets is estimated using a 

provision matrix by reference to past default experience adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtor and also adjusted as 

appropriate for current observable data and forward-looking information.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade 

receivables.
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17. Trade and other receivables continued

Trade and other receivables – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Financial instruments

Trade receivables 505 049 891 079 4 436 20 070

Loss allowance (3 803) (5 602) – –

Trade receivables at amortised cost 501 246 885 477 4 436 20 070

Deposits 6 158 4 855 62 62

Other receivables 10 889 14 339 12 965 6 818

Non-financial instruments

Value added tax 27 407 43 268 – 333

Prepayments 12 858 14 016 7 118 8 415

Total trade and other receivables 558 558 961 955 24 581 35 698

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other receivables

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

At amortised cost 518 293 904 671 17 463 26 950

Non-financial instruments 40 265 57 284 7 118 8 748

558 558 961 955 24 581 35 698

 Trade and other receivables pledged as security

The full balance of the trade receivables has been pledged to Nedbank under the refinanced borrowings agreement. 

 Exposure to credit risk

The risk that counterparties or customers will not perform as expected, which results in a loss to the group, can be defined 

as a credit risk.

Trade receivables are divided into two classes, being those relating to the group’s mining activities conducted by Wescoal 

Mining and Keaton Mining and those relating to Wescoal Trading’s trading activities. Trade receivables for these classes are 

summarised in the table below (including inter-group receivables):

2021 2020

Mining 

R'000

Trading 

R'000

Mining 

R'000

Trading 

R’000

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited 252 057 – 342 944 – 

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited 139 361 – 296 825 – 

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – 95 245 – 79 015

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited 76 999 – 201 017 –

468 417 95 245 840 786 79 015

Wescoal and Keaton Mining’s sales to Eskom made up 65% (2020: 59%) of the Mining division’s trade receivables balance at 

year-end. Eskom has a history of no defaults and a credit rating of Caa1 (2020: Caa1). The balance of the trade receivables 

(24%) represents sales to the private sector with no historical defaults. On the basis of historical data regarding the outstanding 

debtor's balance of more than 90 days, management has estimated an immaterial amount, which was evaluated as a loss 

given the default rate of 100% and a probability of default of 4.9%.
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17. Trade and other receivables continued

 Exposure to credit risk continued

Trade receivables in Wescoal Trading consist mainly of one large customer in the private sector combined with a number of 

customers from widespread and diverse industries. Customers include government institutions and private sector and mining 

entities with no history of default.

The group evaluates customers prior to the granting of credit. Each entity has a unique customer base that contributes to 

different levels of credit exposure. Entities manage credit exposure by applying prudent credit limits and constant evaluation of 

credit behaviour. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used (see above). Otherwise, if there is no independent 

rating, management assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position and past experience. 

Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. Compliance with 

credit limits is monitored monthly in conjunction with analysis of the receivables’ ageing report.

The group’s variety of customers across all industries mitigates the exposure of concentration risk resulting from credit risk. 

The balance of trade debtors consists of a variety of customers, most of whom have good payment histories. COVID-19 

lockdown regulations, however, can negatively impact the company's ability to recover cash from customers after year-end. 

In spite of this, no additional provision for credit loss has been raised since the probability of default has not been adjusted 

notably as a result of the increase.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of financial assets.

Based on the nature of the risk against the credit risk exposure, no additional collateral is generally taken against the credit 

risk exposures.

Refer to note 36 for further information regarding credit risk factors.

18. Cash and cash equivalents
Accounting policies relating to cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at the carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Bank overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 

interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand deposits held at call with banks and short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents exclude restricted cash.

Cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

Cash on hand 24 39 – –

Bank balances 238 541 44 748 139 1 592

Bank overdraft (73 064) (97 172) (73 064) (97 172)

165 501 (52 385) (72 925) (95 580)

Current assets 238 565 44 787 139 1 592

Current liabilities (73 064) (97 172) (73 064) (97 172)

165 501 (52 305) (72 925) (95 580)

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents held by the entity that are not 

available for use by the group 6 744 6 423 – –

Restricted cash relates to fully funded guarantees issued to the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy (“DMRE”) for 

rehabilitation. 

The average interest rate on bank balances approximates 0.1% (2020: 0.1%) per annum.
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18. Cash and cash equivalents continued

 Overdraft facilities

The average interest rate on bank overdrafts approximates 7.7% (2020: 9.3%) per annum and is mostly determined based on 

three-month JIBAR plus 375 basis points. The group deals with reputable banks in South Africa with current national long-term 

ratings of BB- (2020: BB-).

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Total amount of approved overdraft facilities 600 000 600 000 600 000 600 000

Total amount of undrawn facilities available for future 

operating activities and commitments 29 936 111 064 26 936 111 064

19. Share capital
 Accounting policies relating to share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 

liabilities.

If the group reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs 

(net of income taxes) on those instruments, is deducted from equity attributable to the group’s equity holders until the shares 

are cancelled or reissued.

Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 

transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the group’s equity holders.

Share capital and equity – composition and analysis 

Share buy-back

During the year ended March 2019, the company entered into a share buy-back project where R33.8 million was reserved to 

buy back its ordinary shares. The funds were transferred to Legae Securities to facilitate the buy-back on its behalf. During the 

year ended March 2020, the project was completed.

In total, the company has acquired 27.9 million shares. During the period July 2019 through to September 2019, 22.4 million of 

the company’s ordinary shares were purchased on-market. The shares were acquired at an average price of R1.59 per share, 

with prices ranging from R1.35 to R1.65.

Rnil (2020: R35.6 million) was deducted from share capital during the current year.
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19. Share capital continued

Share capital and equity – composition and analysis continued

 Reconciliation of the number of shares issued

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Reported as at 1 April 410 058 432 437 410 058 432 437

Shares issued from the treasury shares held by the share

trust for options exercised – 15 – 15

Share buy-back – (22 394) – (22 394)

410 058 410 058 410 058 410 058

 Unissued ordinary shares

Altogether, 80 083 146 (2020: 50 090 173) unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors in terms of a 

resolution of members passed at the last annual general meeting. This authority remains in force until the next annual 

general meeting.

 Issued share capital

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Issued

Ordinary 629 838 629 838 629 838 629 838

The directors were authorised to issue shares, allot and grant share options to a maximum of 20 502 943 (2020: 29 186 272) 

ordinary shares for cash.

No proceeds (2020: R0.797 million) from the exercise of share options (2020: 15 000) by employees in 2021 were recorded 

(refer to note 38).

20. Interest-bearing borrowings
 Accounting policies relating to borrowings

Classification

Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The borrowings are 

measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss in finance costs paid (refer to note 30). 

Borrowings expose the group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to note 36 for details of risk exposure and the 

management thereof.
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20. Interest-bearing borrowings continued

Borrowings – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Held at amortised cost

Secured

Refinanced term loan 426 736 501 000 431 511 507 897

Refinanced invoice discounting facility 500 011 382 521 500 011 382 521

Refinanced GBF (141) 342 (141) 342

926 606 883 863 931 381 890 760

Split between non-current and current portions

Current liabilities 926 606 883 863 931 381 890 760

Reconciliation of interest-bearing borrowings

At the beginning of the year 883 863 430 729 890 760 –

Cash advances received 120 000 634 408 120 000 1 065 137

Transaction cost incurred (254) (11 974) (254) –

Unwinding of transaction cost incurred 2 122 5 077 – –

Finance costs 84 685 52 645 84 685 52 645

Payments

Capital (76 769) (180 892) (76 769) (180 892)

Interest (80 144) (46 130) (80 144) (46 130)

Interest rate swap repayments (6 897) – (6 897) –

926 606 883 863 931 381 890 760

Refer to note 36 for the repayment profile of interest-bearing borrowings.

The group has used the refinanced debt packages to determine its WACC by combining the forward-looking JIBAR plus 3.5% at 

a gearing ratio of 50% with the cost of equity calculated using the risk-free rate adjusted for market-related risk premiums and 

specific asset-related and company-related risk premiums. The total WACC for the group has been calculated at 9.89%.

Refinanced – RCF, term loan and GBF 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the group concluded the refinancing of its existing credit facilities through a 

consortium of South African commercial banks consisting of Nedbank (acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking 

Division) and Standard Bank (acting through its Corporate and Investment Banking Division). The new credit-approved 

comprehensive, long-term refinance facilities are for a combined R1.1 billion, with a provision that also allows the group access 

to an additional R500 million accordion facility subject to credit approval but within the legal agreements of the refinance 

facilities, thus reducing significantly the lead time towards accessing this extra liquidity facility.

The financing facilities consist of a term loan of R500 million, a RCF of R500 million and a GBF of R100 million. The term loan 

and the RCF bear interest of between JIBAR plus 2.75% and JIBAR plus 3.50%, depending on contractual obligations and 

criteria. The GBF bears interest at the prime lending rate. The term loan is for a duration of 48 months, with the last instalment 

on 30 June 2023. Funding utilised from the term loan is repayable in equal quarterly payments with the first payment due on 

30 June 2020. Interest is payable on a quarterly basis.

The RCF is for a duration of 48 months, terminating on 21 June 2023. Interest is payable on a monthly basis on funds utilised.

The facilities are subject to the following dependent financial covenants:

• Net debt to earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) should be less than 2.5;

• Net debt to equity should be less than 1.5;

• Interest cover ratio age ratio should be greater than 3.5; and

• Debt service cover ratio should be greater than 1.3.
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20. Interest-bearing borrowings continued

Refinanced – RCF, term loan and GBF continued

As at 31 March 2021, the financial covenants discussed previously have been met. Wescoal was, however, in breach of two 

conditions relating to information undertaking in relation to the funding arrangements. As at the date of the results release, an 

extension of fulfilment of the conditions has been approved by the funders although amendments to the agreements are still 

due to be signed.

Transaction fees for the refinanced loan package were paid by Wescoal Mining and amounted to R11.9 million which has been 

capitalised to the loan facility on group level and will be unwound over the life of the term loan.

During the current financial year, two quarterly instalments that were due towards the term loan were waived by the lenders 

following an application process by Wescoal. Clients that were considered for such waivers were those that were negatively 

impacted by COVID-19 and were in good standing regarding their lending facilities prior to COVID-19. Quarterly capital 

repayments towards the term loan will resume as at 30 June 2021.

Exposure to interest rate risk

Interest rate swaps

Certain interest rate swaps have been entered into in order to mitigate against the effect of reducing interest rates on cash flow risk.

On 28 February 2020, Wescoal entered into interest rate swap transactions with Nedbank and Standard Bank to fix interest rates 

for the full duration of the term loans at 6.4% (Nedbank) and 6.45% (Standard Bank) which was just below the ruling three-

month JIBAR rate of 6.5% at the time of fixing. The purpose of the fixing of rates was to protect margins as most of Wescoal’s 

revenue streams are at fixed pricing. Subsequent to entering into the swap transaction, the South African Reserve Bank reduced 

its lending rate by 200 basis points to stimulate the economy. Wescoal has reviewed options to revise the swap transactions, 

but the reduced rate is limited to 10 basis points and results in new caps being introduced should the interest rates increase 

in future.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis has been prepared using a sensitivity rate which is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to 

key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. 

No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the 

previous reporting period.

Refer to financial risk management (note 36) for the interest rate sensitivity analysis prepared.

21. Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Accounting policies relating to financial liabilities at amortised cost

Classification

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions and are 

measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

If financial liabilities at amortised cost contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results 

in the recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs paid (refer to note 30).

Financial liabilities at amortised cost expose the group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 36 for 

details of risk exposure and the management thereof.
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21. Financial liabilities at amortised cost continued

Financial liabilities at amortised cost – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Amortised cost

Underground access rights agreement 1 090 3 087 – –

Minority buy-out – 16 572 – –

1 090 19 659 – –

Split between non-current and current portions

Current liabilities 1 090 19 659 – –

Underground access rights agreement

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 1 090 2 974 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive – 490 – –

1 090 3 464 – –

Less: Future finance charges – (377) – –

Present value of minimum lease payments 1 090 3 087 – –

Present value of minimum lease payments due

– within one year 1 090 2 609 – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive – 478 – –

1 090 3 087 – –

The agreement with Nungu Trading 341 Proprietary Limited, whereby the group obtained the use of the underground access 

point and the stockpile area, is classified as a financial liability (refer to note 7).

The financial liability has been accounted for initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method. Minimum future payments have been discounted at an effective interest rate equivalent to the prime rate of 

10.5% on transaction date, which management determined to be the incremental borrowing rate at that time. The liability will 

be settled in 54 monthly instalments with a final payment in May 2021.

Minority buy-out

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Opening balance 16 572 – – –

Consideration payable – 70 000 – –

Settlement during the year (16 572) (53 428) – –

Closing balance – 16 572 – –

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, Wescoal acquired the remaining 26% shareholding of Neosho Trading 86 

Proprietary Limited through its wholly-owned subsidiary Keaton Energy Holdings Limited. Keaton Energy Holdings Limited has 

reached an agreement with the minority shareholders which will settle the vendor liability as well as acquire the remaining 

shareholding. In terms of the agreement, the minority buy-out consideration is to be paid in monthly instalments.

During the current financial year, the balance that was due to the minority shareholders for the buy-out was fully settled.
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22. Lease liabilities
Accounting policies relating to lease liabilities

Classification

The group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at the inception of the contract.

A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is 

"identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not 

have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals 

with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset 

only exists when the group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the 

right to direct the use of the asset.

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, 

the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty section of these 

accounting policies.

Group as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease 

agreements for which the group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low-value assets.

For these leases, the group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense (refer to note 28) on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Low-value assets are recognised as expenses directly in the statement of profit or loss during the period in which the cost 

is incurred. The group has deemed all leases with a total contract value of less than R1 million to be low-value leases.

The group has assessed these low-value leases individually as well as combined with other assets to determine if they fall 

within the practical expedient exclusion. Additionally, none of the low-value assets are inter-related or highly dependent on 

other assets.

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration 

being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the lease components and the 

aggregate stand-alone prices of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).

As an exception to the preceding paragraph, however, the group has elected not to separate the non-lease components for 

leases of land and buildings.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 

discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease.

If this rate cannot be readily determined, the group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

• Fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives;

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement 

date;

• The amount expected to be payable by the group under residual value guarantees;

• The exercise price of purchase options if the group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;

• Lease payments in an optional renewal period if the group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and

• Penalties for early termination of a lease if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
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22. Lease liabilities continued

Accounting policies relating to lease liabilities continued

Lease liability continued

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item in the statements of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 

(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged 

on the lease liability is included in finance costs paid (refer to note 30).

The group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

• there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 

payments using a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change in the assessment of whether the group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, 

in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

• there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is 

remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is 

due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);

• there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is 

remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate; and

• a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the 

lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate. When the lease liability 

is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is 

recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The group did not need to use significant judgement in determining the lease liability inherent borrowing rate, lease terms 

or whether or not extensions or terminations would be exercised.

Lease liabilities – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Minimum lease payments due

– within one year 84 504 76 113 128 1 143

– in second to fifth year inclusive 209 939 272 793 – 127

294 443 348 906 128 1 270

Less: Future finance charges (34 143) (65 014) (3) (65)

Present value of minimum lease payments 260 300 283 892 125 1 205

Present value of minimum lease payments due

– within one year 69 200 53 872 125 1 205

– in second to fifth year inclusive 191 100 230 020 – –

260 300 283 892 125 1 205

Non-current liabilities 191 100 230 020 – –

Current liabilities 69 200 53 872 125 1 205

260 300 283 892 125 1 205

Reconciliation of finance lease liabilities

At the beginning of the year 283 892 3 664 1 205 –

Additional financial liabilities 32 732 304 263 – 1 788

Finance costs 16 556 11 950 – 101

Payments (72 880) (35 985) (1 080) (684)

260 300 283 892 125 1 205
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22. Lease liabilities continued

Lease liabilities – composition and analysis continued

During the prior year, the group entered into an instalment sale agreement with its lenders, namely, Nedbank and Standard 

Bank, to acquire a fleet of mining machinery, through a back-to-back finance lease agreement with its mining contractor. The 

terms mirrored those of the instalment sale agreement which increased the lease liability by R297.4 million. The finance term 

is for 60 months with an effective borrowing rate of 9.5% (Nedbank) and 9% (Standard Bank). The interest rate at the contract 

date was the prime interest rate minus 0.5% and prime minus 1.0% for Standard Bank.

The instalment sale agreements are secured by vehicles of Rnil (2020: Rnil), IT equipment of Rnil (2020: R0.5 million) and 

surface rights of Rnil (2020: R10.7 million), all quoted at their carrying values (refer to note 3).

The group uses its WACC to assess projects. The group’s WACC is calculated by combining the forward-looking JIBAR plus 3.5% 

at a gearing ratio of 50% with the cost of equity calculated using the risk-free rate adjusted for market-related risk premiums 

and specific asset-related and company-related risk premiums. The total WACC for the group has been calculated at 9.97% 

(2020: 9.89%).

23. Environmental rehabilitation provision
Accounting policies relating to environmental rehabilitation provision and general provisions

General provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Legal claims 

are only recognised as a provision when the counterparty has a reasonable chance of success as assessed by Wescoal's 

external legal counsel during the current year. None of these claims have been recognised as a provision. Refer to note 34 for 

details regarding contingent liabilities and assets.

Accrued expenses are recognised as part of the trade and other payables balances and are not recognised in terms of a 

provision.

The group does not recognise contingent assets and contingent liabilities.

Rehabilitation provision

Provisions for environmental restoration are recognised as the group has a present legal obligation as a result of past events 

(mining disturbances caused), it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the 

amount has been reliably estimated using third-party expert valuations.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected economic benefits required to settle the obligation using a pre-

tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. Changes in the provision due 

to changes in estimates are recognised against the rehabilitation assets, which are measured at cost.

Changes in estimates include:

• a change in the estimated outflow of resources embodying economic benefits required to settle the obligation;

• a change in the current market-based discount rate, which includes changes in the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the liability; and

• an increase that reflects the change in life of mine.
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23. Environmental rehabilitation provision continued

Significant judgements and assumptions made by management in applying the related accounting policies

Mine rehabilitation provision

In applying IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, estimates determining the present obligation of 

environmental and decommissioning provisions are required.

Environmental and decommissioning costs are provided for where either a legal or constructive obligation is recognised as a 

result of the group’s coal mining operations.

Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the present obligation of environmental and decommissioning 

provisions, which include the actual estimate, the inflation rate, the discount rate used and the expected date of closure of 

mining activities. Estimates are based on costs that are annually determined by independent environmental specialists in 

accordance with environmental regulations, and adjusted as appropriate for new circumstances.

Numerous factors will affect the ultimate liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and cost of 

rehabilitation activities, technological changes and environmental legislation changes.

Unwinding of the discount due to the passage of time is included as an element of finance costs in arriving at profit or loss for 

the year in terms of IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

The present value of environmental disturbances created, as well as changes to estimates, are capitalised to mining assets 

against an increase in the rehabilitation provision. The change in estimates for operations in the development and production 

phase is capitalised and amortised over the life of mine on the units-of-production method. Rehabilitation costs incurred, that 

are included in the estimates, are charged to the provision.

The cost of ongoing current rehabilitation is charged against income as incurred.

Environmental rehabilitation provision and general provisions – composition and analysis 

 Reconciliation of environmental rehabilitation provision 

Group

Opening

balance

R’000

Additions

R’000

Rehabi-

litation work

performed 

during

the year

R’000

Time value

of money

and inflation 

component

of rehabi-

litation

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Environmental rehabilitation 701 017 235 280 (12 822) 76 278 999 753

2020

Environmental rehabilitation 625 995 25 459 (1 984) 51 547 701 017

The group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to extensive environmental laws and regulations. These laws and 

regulations are continually changing and are generally becoming more restrictive. The group has made, and expects to 

make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations, but cannot predict the full amount of such future 

expenditures. Estimated future reclamation costs are based principally on legal and regulatory requirements. The above is a 

reconciliation of the total liability for environmental rehabilitation.

While the ultimate amount of rehabilitation costs to be incurred in the future is uncertain, the group has estimated that, based 

on current environmental and regulatory requirements, the present value of total estimated future rehabilitation cash flows is 

approximately R955 million (2020: R701 million).

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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23. Environmental rehabilitation provision continued

Environmental rehabilitation provision and general provisions – composition and analysis continued

 Reconciliation of environmental rehabilitation provision continued

The breakdown of the liability per site is as follows:

 Breakdown of environmental rehabilitation provision

Group

Khanyisa

R’000

Elandspruit

R’000

Blesbok-

laagte

R’000

Vanggat-

fontein

R’000

Intibane

R’000

Moabs-

velden

R’000

Total

R’000

2021

Environmental rehabilitation 94 255 273 604 947 537 702 14 945 78 300 999 753

2020

Environmental rehabilitation 86 728 227 832 947 370 565 14 945 – 701 017

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Non-current liabilities 998 806 700 070

Current liabilities 947 947

999 753 701 017

In determining the above provision, the current cost estimates as determined by environmental rehabilitation experts have 

been escalated to a future value at an inflation rate of between 4.3% and 4.27% (2020: between 4.8% and 4.0%) over a period 

of between nine and three years (2020: between 10 and four years). The future value was then discounted at a rate of 

between 9.49% and 7.48% (2020: between 10.8% and 5.5%) giving a real discount rate of between 4.69% and 3.48% 

(2020: between 2.8% and 1.5%). A 0.5% change in the real discount rate would change the present value of the liability by 

R32.26 million (2020: R24.97 million).

The group's net capitalisation of R143.5 million relates to changes in estimates to mineral properties due to ongoing mining 

operations and primarily due to Vanggatfontein and Moabsvelden which increased by R40 million and R78 million, respectively 

(2020: R25.5 million) and expensed Rnil to profit or loss for the year (2020: Rnil).

The expected life of mine for each mine site as at 31 March 2021 is as follows:

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Estimated life of mine (years)

Khanyisa 2 4

Elandspruit 4 5

Vanggatfontein 10 11

Moabsvelden 10 –



202 Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

23. Environmental rehabilitation provision continued

Environmental rehabilitation provision and general provisions – composition and analysis continued

 Reconciliation of environmental rehabilitation provision continued

Breakdown of environmental rehabilitation provision continued

The group intends to finance the ultimate rehabilitation costs from the money invested in and ongoing contributions to 

environmental rehabilitation investments, as well as the proceeds on the sale of assets at the time of mine closure. The group 

has guarantees in place relating to environmental liabilities.

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Net undiscounted obligation

Estimated rehabilitation cost (undiscounted) 1 382 637 1 003 129

Amounts invested in rehabilitation investment (89 381) (54 919)

Total net undiscounted obligation 1 293 256 948 210

Guarantees

Environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued to the DMRE 385 919 345 049

Environmental rehabilitation guarantees issued to other parties 21 667 25 797

407 586 370 846

These guarantees have been issued by third parties on behalf of the group and are secured by a cession over the rehabilitation 

investments and cash and cash equivalents (refer to notes 10 and 18), together with other group sureties and indemnities.

The rehabilitation liability will be funded from operational cash flows generated by the group's normal operations.

24. Trade and other payables
Accounting policies relating to trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables, excluding value added tax and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities 

subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other payables are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured at 

initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs.

Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

If trade and other payables contain a significant financing component, and the effective interest method results in the 

recognition of interest expense, then it is included in profit or loss in finance costs paid (refer to note 30).

Trade and other payables expose the group to liquidity risk and possibly to interest rate risk. Refer to note 36 for details of risk 

exposure and the management thereof.

Financial instrument and non-financial instrument components of trade and other payables

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

At amortised cost 687 821 704 207 20 424 19 283

Non-financial instruments 2 062 39 130 589 –

689 883 743 337 21 013 19 283
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24. Trade and other payables continued

Trade and other payables – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Financial instruments

Trade payables 588 007 592 419 4 881 7 166

Payroll accruals 12 060 17 058 4 676 5 384

Accruals 81 491 54 167 10 867 6 583

Other payables 6 263 40 563 – 150

Non-financial instruments

Value added tax 2 062 39 130 589 –

689 883 743 337 21 013 19 283

25. Loans from group companies
Accounting policies relating to loans from group companies

Classification

Loans from group companies are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Loans from group companies are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. 

The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any loans from related parties are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in profit or loss in finance costs paid (refer to note 30). 

Loans from group companies expose the group to liquidity risk and interest rate risk. Refer to note 36 for details of risk 

exposure and the management thereof.

Loans from group companies – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Subsidiaries

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – 327 582 331 563

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited – – 602 604

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited – – 548 548

– – 328 732 332 715

Inter-company loans payable are subordinated in favour 

of borrowings raised (refer to note 20)

Split between non-current and current portions

Current liabilities – – 328 732 332 715
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26. Revenue
Accounting policies relating to revenue

The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of coal – IFRS 15

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The group recognises revenue when 

it transfers control over a good to a customer. Customers obtain control of coal supplied when the goods are delivered to 

and have been accepted at their premises. Payment is received within 30 days after delivery and therefore control has been 

transferred to the customer. No discounts are provided for coal sales.

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered and have been accepted by customers at their premises.

Administration fees – IFRS 15

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The group recognises revenue as the 

service is provided to the customer. Invoices for administrative services are issued on a monthly basis and are usually payable 

within 30 days.

These services are on-charged on a monthly basis based on actual time spent managing the operating subsidiaries and are 

recognised in the accounting period in which the services were rendered.

Dividends received

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the group’s right to receive payment has been established. Dividends do not 

form part of revenue received from contracts with customers.

Revenue – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of goods 3 056 388 3 001 654 – –

Rendering of services 846 243 808 836 96 014 93 366

3 902 631 3 810 490 96 014 93 366

Revenue other than from contracts with customers

Interest received – – 82 110 45 455

3 902 631 3 810 490 178 124 138 821

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Sale of goods

Local sales 805 340 1 222 222 – –

Eskom sales 2 149 312 1 674 145 – –

Export sales 101 736 105 287 – –

3 056 388 3 001 654 – –

Rendering of services

Administration and management fees received

(recognised over time) – – 96 014 93 366

Transport services (recognised on coal delivery) 845 927 808 508 – –

Rental income (recognised over time) 316 328 – –

846 243 808 836 96 014 93 366

Total revenue from contracts with customers 3 902 631 3 810 490 96 014 93 366

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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27. Cost of sales

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Sale of goods 3 084 343 3 150 211 – –

Depreciation 406 905 326 834 – –

3 491 248 3 477 045 – –

Sale of goods

Direct purchases 1 393 144 1 908 307 – –

Royalty expenses 39 488 39 230 – –

Mining contract costs 1 380 188 948 491 – –

Consumables and maintenance costs 10 913 8 024 – –

Staff costs 7 852 5 706 – –

Fuel 252 323 240 184 – –

Mining overhead and other costs 435 269 – –

3 084 343 3 150 211 – –

Coal processing – depreciation

Property, plant and equipment 406 905 326 834 – –

28. Operating profi t/(loss)
Operating profit/(loss) for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the following, among others:

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Operating income

(Loss)/gains on disposal of assets (3 884) 536 2 –

Royalties received – 2 790 – –

Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets 14 496 (6 910) – 8

Supplementary income 4 375 3 366 40 –

Management fees income from Arnot OpCo 15 600 4 550 – –

By-product sales 1 128 1 234 – –

31 715 5 566 42 8

Auditor's remuneration – external

Audit fees 8 067 5 724 8 067 5 724

Remuneration, other than to employees

Consulting and professional services 44 543 47 614 33 736 35 220
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28. Operating profi t/(loss) continued

 Employee costs

Accounting policies relating to employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits is recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted. 

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 

entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make 

such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans where the 

group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Employee costs – composition and analysis

As at 31 March 2021, the group had 192 permanent employees, excluding contractors (2020: 202). The total cost of 

employment of all employees, including executive directors, was as follows:

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Salaries, wages, bonuses and other benefits 93 577 101 651 33 741 42 769

Other short-term costs – 10 – 555

Retirement benefit plans: defined contribution expense 5 947 6 509 2 009 2 071

Payroll provision movement 2 557 – – –

Share-based compensation expense 1 532 951 1 395 3 106

Total employee costs 103 613 109 121 37 145 48 501

 Depreciation and amortisation

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 409 359 331 078 393 1 099

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2 947 649 667 –

Amortisation of intangible assets 2 256 2 124 2 231 2 123

Total depreciation and amortisation 414 562 333 851 3 291 3 222

Less: Depreciation included in cost of merchandise sold

and inventories (406 905) (326 834) – –

Total depreciation and amortisation expensed 7 657 7 017 3 291 3 222

Impairment losses

Goodwill 21 026 – – –

Investments in subsidiaries – – 6 467 –

Other

Repairs and maintenance 13 988 16 900 – –

Computer expenses 11 877 9 299 6 666 5 307

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
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29. Interest income

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Interest income

Investments in financial assets

Interest on bank deposits 967 2 619 223 261

Lease receivables 19 134 15 374 – –

Other financial assets 6 324 3 961 6 048 3 766

Loans to group companies

Subsidiaries – – 75 839 41 428

26 425 21 954 82 110 45 455

Disclosed as revenue – – (82 110) (45 455)

Total interest income 26 425 21 954 – –

Wescoal Holdings recovers the finance charges from the refinanced borrowings from its subsidiaries based on the proportion 

of the amount borrowed by each subsidiary (refer to note 20).

30. Finance costs paid
Accounting policies relating to borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised 

as part of the cost of that asset until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount of borrowing costs eligible 

for capitalisation is determined as follows:

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any temporary 

investment of those borrowings.

• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a 

qualifying asset. The borrowing costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;

• borrowing costs have been incurred; and

• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. Capitalisation ceases when 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

During the current year, the group capitalised borrowing costs during the construction of Moabsvelden Mine to the value of R8.9 million.

Borrowing costs – composition and analysis

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Interest-bearing borrowings 86 807 56 002 84 685 52 645

Capitalised borrowing costs (8 909) –  – –

Lease liabilities 19 691 13 784 –  –

Bank overdraft 3 395 16 013 3 395 10 022

Unwinding of discount on provisions and other liabilities 76 278 50 346 – –

Other interest paid 3 677 15 115 207 1 076

Total finance costs 180 939  151 260 88 287 63 743
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31. Taxation

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Major components of the tax expense/(income)

Current

Local income tax – current period 59 331 38 555 335 52

Local income tax – recognised in current tax for prior periods (739) 5 501 1 255 805

58 592 44 056 1 590 857

Deferred

Originating and reversing temporary differences (36 116) (38 103) (381) (6 676)

Arising from previously unrecognised tax loss/tax credit/ 

temporary difference (6 412) (1 543) 9 035 –

(42 528) (39 646) 8 654 (6 676)

16 064 4 410 10 244 (5 819)

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense

Accounting loss (19 762) (132 192) (32 622) (45 515)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%) (5 533)  (37 014) (9 134) (12 744)

Adjustments

Non-deductible expenses

Share-based payment expense 39 166 – –

Expenses not deductible 3 404 14 112 2 531 (3 576)

Legal, consulting and professional fees 2 586 – 2 586 –

Loss on disposal of assets 7 – – –

Interest expense 4 659 – 3 427 –

Goodwill impairment 5 887 – 1 810 –

Penalties and interest 543 8 520 36 7 934

Bad debts written off 555 4 200 – –

Amortisation of mineral right 10 678 14 255 – –

Recoupment and settlement of property, plant and equipment – 60 – –

Royalty expenses 423 3 141 – 

Transaction cost 391 3 281 391 3 276

Non-taxable income

Interest on preference shares (1 693) (1 514) (1 693) (1 514)

Interest received – finance lease liability (157) (3 977) – –

Sale on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (172) – –

Gain on financial instrument – valuation (2 354) – – –

Other income (30) – – –

South African Revenue Services interest received (59) – – –

Other adjustments

Assessed loss previously not recognised as deferred tax asset 3 767 (6 486) – –

Other adjustments 102 (104) 10 289 – 

Capital gain taxed at lower rate – 123  –  – 

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (7 151) 5 819 10 290 805

16 064 4 410 10 244 (5 819)

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

209

Consolidated annual financial statem
ents

32. Cash (used in)/generated from operations

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Loss before taxation (19 762) (132 192) (32 622) (45 515)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 409 358 331 741 393 1 099

Amortisation of intangible assets 2 256 2 584 2 231 2 122

Amortisation of right-of-use asset 2 947 1 324 667 –

Loss/(profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 885 (583) – –

Interest income (26 426) (21 954) (82 110) (45 455)

Finance costs 180 939 151 260 88 287 63 743

Share-based payment expense 1 533 955 1 395 955

Income from equity-accounted investments 307 346 – –

Fair value (gain)/loss (5 666) 14 209 – –

Impairment of goodwill 21 026 – – –

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries – – 6 468 –

Other non-cash items (1 460) – (6 906) –

Rehabilitation cost incurred (12 821) (1 984) – –

Prepaid royalty  1 512 1 504 – –

Changes in working capital:

Inventories (134 369) (48 512) – –

Trade and other receivables 403 397 (297 413) 11 660 (9 551)

Trade and other payables (53 454) 182 059 1 141 (14 281)

773 202 183 344 (9 397) (46 883)

33. Tax paid

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 7 252 (14 199) 559 (66)

Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss (58 592) (44 170) (2 606) (857)

Balance at the end of the year 969 (7 252) (269) (559)

(50 371) (65 621) (2 316) (1 482)

34. Contingent liabilities and assets
Dispute – Mining contractor (Stefanutti Stocks Mining Services Proprietary Limited) 

During the year ended March 2021, the group received a statement of claim pertaining to losses incurred by Stefanutti Stocks 

Mining Services (“SSMS”) in terms of the contract mining agreement concluded on 30 November 2018 and terminated effective 

31 July 2020. 

The group, disclaiming the liability, has submitted a comprehensive response rebutting a majority of the SSMS claims and 

lodged its own counterclaims which include the recoupment of historical mining costs incurred in terms of the contract 

mining agreement. A response to the counterclaim was received during November 2020 and in April 2021, SSMS submitted 

their formal statement of claim as part of arbitration proceedings. Wescoal submitted a formal statement of defence and 

counterclaim in June 2021. Possible settlement outcomes from the discussions are not expected to have a material negative 

impact on the group and therefore no provision has been made in the consolidated annual financial statements.
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35. Commitments

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for – – – –

Not yet contracted for and authorised 147 500 617 – –

Capital commitments comprise R147.5 million of which R77.2 million mainly relates to the development of the Moabsvelden 

Mine and R44.5 million relates to Vanggatfontein Mine.

36. Financial instruments and risk management
Accounting policies relating to financial instruments and risk management

Financial instruments held by the group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments. 

The classification possibilities, which are adopted by the group, as applicable, are as follows:

Financial assets which are debt instruments

• Designated at amortised cost is used only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held under a business 

model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows; or

• Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss. The group automatically applies this classification to all debt instruments 

which do not qualify at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

• Amortised cost. The group uses this category when the business model and the contractual terms of the instrument give 

rise, on specified dates, to cash flow outflows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal.

A specific accounting policy for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by 

the group has been presented with each of the relevant instruments under the note disclosure.

Financial instruments and risk management – composition and analysis 

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

Group

Notes

Fair value

through 

profit or

loss –

mandatory

R’000

 Amortised 

cost

R’000

 Non-

financial 

assets

R’000

Total

R’000 

Fair 

value

R’000

2021

Other receivables 12 – 55 906 – 55 906 55 906

Investments at fair value 10 81 529 – – 81 529 81 529

Finance lease receivables 13 – 245 905 – 245 905 245 905

Trade and other receivables 17 – 518 293 40 265 558 558 518 293

Cash and cash equivalents 18 – 238 565 – 238 565 238 565

Restricted cash – 6 744 – 6 744 –

81 529 1 065 413 40 265 1 187 207 1 140 198
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Financial instruments and risk management – composition and analysis continued

Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial assets continued 

Group

Notes

Fair value

through 

profit or

loss –

mandatory

R’000

 Amortised 

cost

R’000

 Non-

financial 

assets

R’000

Total

R’000 

Fair 

value

R’000

2020

Other receivables 12 – 49 860 – 49 860 49 860

Investments at fair value 10 54 919 – – 54 919 54 919

Finance lease receivables 13 – 280 284 – 280 284 208 284

Trade and other receivables 17 – 904 671 69 650 974 321 904 671

Cash and cash equivalents 18 – 44 787 – 44 787 44 787

Restricted cash – 6 423 – 6 423 –

54 919 1 286 025 69 650 1 410 594 1 262 521

Company

Notes

Amortised

cost

R’000

Total

R’000

Fair 

value

R’000

2021

Loans to group companies 11 1 103 207 1 103 207 1 150 609

Other receivables 12 55 906 55 906 55 906

Trade and other receivables 17 17 463 17 463 –

Cash and cash equivalents 18 139 139 –

1 176 715 1 176 715 1 206 515

2020

Loans to group companies 11 1 108 272 1 108 272 1 108 272

Other receivables 49 860 49 860 49 860

Trade and other receivables 17 26 950 26 950 –

Cash and cash equivalents 18 1 592 1 592 –

1 186 674 1 186 674 1 158 132
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Financial instruments and risk management – composition and analysis continued

Categories of financial instruments continued

Categories of financial liabilities

Group

Notes

Amortised

cost

R’000

Total

R’000

Fair

value

R’000

2021

Trade and other payables 24 687 821 687 821 687 821

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 926 606 926 606 926 606

Lease obligations 22 260 300 260 300 260 300

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 21 1 090 1 090 1 090

Bank overdraft 18 73 064 73 064 73 064

1 948 881 1 948 881 1 948 881

2020

Trade and other payables 24 704 207 704 207 704 207

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 883 863 883 863 883 863

Lease obligations 22 283 892 283 892 283 892

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 21 19 659 19 659 19 659

Bank overdraft 18 97 172 97 172 97 172

1 988 793 1 988 793 1 988 793

Company

Notes

Amortised

cost

R’000

Total

R’000

Fair

value

R’000

2021

Trade and other payables 24 20 424 20 424 20 424

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 931 381 931 381 931 381

Lease obligations 22 125 125 125

Bank overdraft 18 73 064 73 064 73 064

1 024 994 1 024 994 1 024 994

2020

Trade and other payables 24 19 283 19 283 19 283

Borrowings 20 890 760 890 760 890 760

Lease obligations 22 1 205 1 205 1 205

Bank overdraft 18 97 172 97 172 97 172

1 008 420 1 008 420 1 008 420
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

Financial instruments and risk management – composition and analysis continued

 Capital risk management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 

returns for its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the 

cost of capital.

The approach and capital policies remained consistent with the previous year. Optimising the capital structure remains a key 

priority, and the group may issue new shares, raise long-term debt or sell assets to optimise the appropriate capital structure 

and return on equity.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio, calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is 

calculated as total interest-bearing borrowings (including "current and non-current borrowing” as shown in the statement of 

financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as "equity” as shown in the statement of financial 

position plus net debt.

The group’s long-term target gearing ratio is to remain below 50%. Debt covenants include measurement of net debt 

against EBITDA, debt service ratio, interest cover ratio and net debt-to-equity ratio. The facilities (refer to "liquidity risk”) with 

Nedbank CIB and Standard Bank represent a limited concentration risk. Concentration risk is managed by actively monitoring 

compliance with debt covenants.

The group’s gearing ratio has increased during the year as a result of additional financing requirements due to financial 

performance of the operations.

Under the refinanced debt package, the following debt covenants are applicable (refer to note 20).

The capital structure and gearing ratio at 2021 and 2020, respectively, were as follows:

Group Company

Notes

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Loans from group companies 25 – – 328 732 332 715

Financial liabilities at fair value 21 1 090 19 659 – –

Borrowings 20 926 606 883 863 931 381 890 760

Lease liabilities 22 260 300 283 892 125 1 205

Bank overdraft 73 064 97 172 73 064 97 172

Total borrowings 1 261 060 1 284 586 1 333 302 1 321 852

Cash and cash equivalents 18 (238 565) (44 787) (139) (1 592)

Net borrowings 1 022 495 1 239 799 1 333 163 1 320 260

Equity 848 751 883 050 529 405 570 876

Total capital 1 871 246 2 122 849 1 862 568 1 891 136

Gearing ratio (%) 55 58 72 70
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

 Financial risk management

 Overview

The group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk; and

• Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

Risk management is carried out by the head office function under policies approved by the board. The head office function 

identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close cooperation with the group’s operating units. The board provides 

written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas such as interest rate risk, 

credit risk and investment of excess liquidity. The group was exposed to limited foreign currency exchange risk as export sales 

are priced in South African rands.

 Credit risk

Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents, trade debtors, other receivables and loans and receivables. 

The group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standings and limits exposure to any one counterparty.

The group has assessed the concentration of credit risk and the following concentrations have been assessed: customer-

specific, industry-specific and regions.

There is a significant concentration of credit risk on the following levels: Wescoal is exposed to only a few individual customers, 

also exposed to a specific industry namely coal mining and is further exposed to specific Mpumalanga regions. Trade 

receivables consist mainly of Eskom, Sasol Mining, government institutions and private sector and mining entities. Eskom and 

Sasol Mining have a history of no defaults and credit ratings of Caa1 and Ba2, respectively. Both Eskom’s and Sasol’s credit 

ratings did not decrease significantly during the year and, as a result, the group did not have a significant increase in credit risk 

during the year. The group only trades with recognised creditworthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who 

wish to trade on credit terms be subject to credit verification procedures, which include an assessment of credit rating, short-

term liquidity and financial position. Refer to notes 2 and 11 for further information.

The group strives to enter into sales contracts with customers which stipulate the required payment terms. It is expected of 

each customer that these payment terms are adhered to. Where trade receivables balances become past due, the normal 

recovery procedures are followed to recover the debt, and where applicable, new payment terms may be arranged to ensure 

that the debt is fully recovered.

The Wescoal group establishes an allowance for non-recoverability or impairment that represents its estimated credit loss 

allowance in respect of trade receivables, other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and loans and receivables. The 

main components of these allowances are a 12-month ECL component that results from possible default events within 

the 12 months after the reporting date and a lifetime ECL component that results from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument.

The assessment is based on a 12-month ECL when the risk of default is not beyond the following 12 months. Where there is 

an indication of a possible default event, lifetime ECL is determined. Management has determined that due to the credit risk 

concentration, all trade receivables have been assessed under the lifetime ECL model, which is equivalent to 12 months.
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

 Trade receivables

The group measures ECL allowances on a grouped basis using the provision matrix for trade and other payables. For cash 

equivalents, cash deposits, other receivables and loans and receivables, the group does not measure these instruments on 

a collective basis.

During Levels 5 and 4, the company operated an essential services entity, with sales mainly going to Eskom and Sasol which 

are also essential services entities. The group's Trading business has a diverse client base and, following the easing of the 

lockdown, sales and offtake have largely returned to pre-lockdown levels, with minimal customers requesting payment 

arrangements or concessions on price. As a result, no additional provisions have been made to the ECL allowance for 

COVID-19.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based on the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 March 2021 or 

1 April 2021, respectively, and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss 

rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors such as COVID-19 which may 

affect the ability of the customer to settle the receivables.

 Debt investments

All of the entity’s debt investments at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income are considered to 

have low credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses. 

Management considers “low credit risk” for listed bonds to be an investment-grade credit rating with at least one major rating 

agency. Other instruments are considered to be low credit risk where they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a 

strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans to related parties and key management personnel and other receivables.

No loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost has been raised as at 31 March 2021 due to the nature of the 

underlying entity being in an operating position, other than the loan to Proudafrique which has been provided for.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

2021 2020

Notes

Gross

carrying

amount

R’000

Credit 

loss

allowance

R’000

Amortised 

cost/fair 

value

R’000

Gross 

carrying 

amount

R’000

Credit loss

allowance

R’000

Amortised 

cost/fair

value

R’000

Group 

Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 10 81 529 – 81 529 54 919 – 54 919

Lease receivables 13 249 419 (3 514) 245 905 280 284 – 280 284

Trade and other receivables 17 552 096 (3 803) 548 293 910 273 (5 602) 904 671

Cash and cash equivalents 18 238 565 – 240 882 44 787 – 44 787

Other receivables 12 55 906 – 49 860 44 454 – 44 454

1 143 786 (7 317) 1 136 469 1 334 717 (5 602) 1 329 115

Company

Loans to group companies 11 1 104 219 (1 012) 1 103 207 1 109 284 (1 012) 1 108 272

Trade and other receivables 17 17 463 – 17 463 26 950 – 26 950

Cash and cash equivalents 18 139 – 139 1 592 – 1 592

Other receivables 12 55 906 – 49 860 44 454 – 44 454

1 171 681 (1 012) 1 170 669 1 182 280 (1 012) 1 181 268
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 

of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 

businesses, group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit lines.

The following tables analyse the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 

the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 

undiscounted cash flows.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to mitigate the 

risk, are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts.

Group

Notes

Less than 

one year

R’000

One to

 two years

R’000

Two to 

five years

R’000

Total

R’000 

Carrying 

amount

R’000

2021

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 22 – 200 774 9 165 209 939 191 100

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 687 821 – – 687 821 687 821

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 926 606 – – 926 606 926 606

Financial liabilities at fair value 21 1 090 – – 1 090 1 090

Lease liabilities 22 69 200 – – 69 200 69 200

Bank overdraft 18 73 064 – – 73 064 73 064

1 757 781 200 774 9 165 1 967 720 1 948 881

Group

Notes

Less than 

one year

R’000

One to

 two years

R’000

Two to 

five years

R’000

Total

R’000 

Carrying 

amount

R’000

2020

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 22 – 175 122 54 898 230 020 230 020

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 704 207 – – 704 207 704 207

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 883 863 – – 883 863 883 863

Financial liabilities at fair value 21 19 659 – – 19 659 19 659

Lease liabilities 22 53 872 – – 53 872 53 872

Bank overdraft 18 147 047 – – 147 047 147 047

1 808 648 175 122 54 898 2 038 668 2 038 668
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

 Liquidity risk continued

Company

Notes

Less than 

one year

R’000

One to

 two years

R’000

Two to 

five years

R’000

Total

R’000 

Carrying

amount

R’000

2021

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 20 424 – – 20 424 20 424

Loans from group companies 25 328 732 – – 328 732 328 732

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 931 381 – – 931 381 931 381

Lease liabilities 22 125 – – 125 125

Bank overdraft 18 73 064 – – 73 064 73 064

1 354 738 – – 1 354 738 1 354 738

2020

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 24 19 283 – – 19 283 19 283

Loans from group companies 25 332 715 – – 332 715 332 715

Interest-bearing borrowings 20 890 760 – – 890 760 890 760

Finance lease liabilities 22 1 205 – – 1 205 1 205

Bank overdraft 18 36 989 – – 36 989 36 989

1 280 952 – – 1 280 952 1 280 952

The group manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of credit facilities to ensure funds are available to cover future 

commitments.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared by the operating entities of the group and aggregated by group treasury, monitoring rolling 

forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. Such forecasting 

takes into consideration the group’s debt financing plans, covenant compliance and compliance with internal balance sheet 

ratio targets.

Where debt covenants were under pressure during the year, the financing institutions confirmed acceptance and continued 

support on financing.

The liquidity position is addressed as follows:

• Through undrawn overdraft facilities (refer to note 18);

• The directors refinanced the group debt structures during the financial year ended 31 March 2020. R1.1 billion worth of debt 

facilities has been raised, which is adequate to cover the group's liquidity requirements;

• As at year-end, the group had met all of its financial debt covenants, however, two conditions relating to information 

undertaking, had not been met as at the due date of 31 March 2021; and

• An application to extend the timeline was made by Wescoal and this was approved by the lenders subsequent to year-end.

 Cash flow interest rate risk

As the group has no significant net interest-bearing assets, its income and operating cash flows are substantially independent 

of changes in market interest rates except for the finance lease receivable on the mining fleet.

The group’s and company’s interest rate risk arises mainly from variable-rate instalment sale agreements and borrowings. 

These borrowings carry variable rates that are linked to the prime lending rate in South Africa. The group has entered into an 

interest rate swap over the borrowings (refer to note 20).

The company has no significant cash flow interest rate risk arising from its interest-bearing loans to and from group companies 

as these loans are interest-free; instead the company is exposed to fair value interest rate risk on its external borrowings. 

The company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
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36. Financial instruments and risk management continued

 Fair value interest rate risk

The group has entered into an interest rate swap in order to mitigate against the effect of changes in interest rates.

2021 2020

Increase

R’000

Decrease

R’000

Increase

R’000

Decrease

R’000

Group

Pay variable three-month JIBAR less 0.5%, receive fixed 9.83% 

Five years payable quarterly (4 312) 4 312 (10 833) 10 833

Company

Pay variable three-month JIBAR less 0.5%, receive fixed 9.83% 

Five years payable quarterly (4 312) 4 312 (10 833) 10 833

A sensitivity analysis has shown that should the three-month JIBAR increase by 1%, the swap liability would decrease by 

R4.3 million (2020: R10.8 million).

 Interest rate sensitivity analysis

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before tax by the 

amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same 

basis for 2020.

2021 2020

Increase

R’000

Decrease

R’000

Increase

R’000

Decrease

R’000

Group

Increase or decrease in rate

Impact on profit or loss

Interest-bearing borrowings 1% (2020: 1%) (9 266) 9 266 (8 838) 8 838

Company

Increase or decrease in rate

Impact on profit or loss

Interest-bearing borrowings 1% (2020: 1%) (9 313) 9 313 (8 907) 8 907

 Price risk

The group has no significant investments in equity instruments. The group is not exposed to commodity price risk.
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37. Fair value information
 Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses assets and liabilities carried at fair value. The different levels are defined as follows:

Level 1:  Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at 

measurement date.

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly 

or indirectly.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

 Levels of fair value measurements

 Level 2

 Recurring fair value measurements

Group Company

Note

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Assets

Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through

profit/(loss)

Restricted investments in rehabilitation portfolio 10 81 529 54 919 – –

Total 81 529 54 919 – –

The restricted investment portfolio is managed primarily by Old Mutual and Centriq and is mainly invested in actively trading 

unit trust shares, equity and cash.

Level 2 fair values for debt instruments held in the environmental rehabilitation funds are based on quotes provided by the 

financial institutions at which the funds are invested at measurement date. These financial institutions invest in instruments 

which are listed.

 Level 3

 Recurring fair value measurements

Group Company

Note

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through

profit/(loss) 20

Interest-bearing borrowings 4 600 6 922 – –

Total (4 600) (6 922) – –

The interest-bearing borrowings contain a swap through which Wescoal Holdings has swapped its variable commitment to pay 

on three-month JIBAR less 0.5% to pay fixed at 9.83%.

 Valuation processes applied by the group

The fair value computations of the investments are performed by the group’s corporate finance department, reporting to the 

CFO, on an annual basis. The valuation reports are discussed with the chief operating decision maker and the audit committee 

in accordance with the group’s reporting governance.
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38. Share-based payments
Accounting policies relating to share-based payments

The group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan under which the entity receives services from 

employees as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the group. The fair value of the employee services received in 

exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference 

to the fair value of the options granted.

At the end of each reporting period, the group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based 

on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the group issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable 

transaction costs, are credited to share capital.

The grant by the group of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the group is 

treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair 

value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding 

credit to equity in the parent entity accounts.

Share-based payments – composition and analysis

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average share price at exercise date of 

options are as follows:

2021 2020

 Number

Weighted 

exercise 

price

(cents) Number 

Weighted 

exercise 

price

(cents)

Share option group

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6 031 193 7 468 193

Granted – – – –

Exercised – – (15) 121

Expired (4 344) 185 (1 422) 198

As at year-end 1 687 186 6 301 193

Of the 1.7 million (2020: 6.0 million) outstanding options, 1.1 million (2020: 0.8 million) options were exercisable as at 

31 March 2021.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Grant date Expiry date 

Exercise 

price in 

cents per

share

Share 

options

2021

’000

Share 

options

2020

’000

22 July 2014 20 July 2032 181 40 740

28 August 2014 26 August 2032 172 – 500

4 November 2014 2 November 2032 185 – 840

25 November 2015 23 November 2033 111 180 805

28 November 2016 27 November 2034 246 510 850

28 September 2017 27 September 2035 213 957 2 296

1 687 6 031
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39. Going concern
Introduction

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the annual financial statements, the directors are required to consider 

whether the Wescoal Limited group (“group”) and Wescoal Holdings Limited (“company”) can continue in operational existence 

for the foreseeable future. The group and company manage liquidity risk by making use of a central treasury function within 

the group to manage pooled business unit cash investments and borrowing requirements.

Implications of COVID-19 on the group

Wescoal has navigated and continues to effectively manage the COVID-19 pandemic. This has resulted in zero COVID-19-related 

fatalities in all our operations and no business interruptions because of the outbreak. Wescoal, at the time of reporting, had 84 

reported cases of which 75 have fully recovered and nine are still being treated. A centralised COVID-19 team ensures uniform 

implementation of all COVID-19 response protocols and ensures we proactively manage and de-risk the business. 

There was strong and consistent performance from the opencast operation throughout 2021. Moabsvelden has successfully 

started up and reached coal despite the pandemic and was able to start delivering coal into its coal supply agreement with 

Eskom from March 2021. 

The restart of the underground operation has been deferred due to the current low demand environment brought about by 

COVID-19.

The Mining segment’s sales volumes were initially impacted by the hard lockdown due to force majeure issued by Eskom 

which impacted several delivery areas. This impact is not considered to be long term as the Mining segment has noted an 

improvement in sales volumes in the first month of the 2022 financial year. During the hard lockdown, the company still 

operated as an essential service provider with sales mainly to Eskom, also an essential service provider.

Trading’s sales volumes were impacted by the national lockdown and a significant reduction in sales to a major customer. Its 

customer base was also largely impacted by the lockdown periods. The business has since seen some recovery with sales 

currently in line with expectations, subject to no further increases in COVID-19 infections and the consequential impact on the 

South African economy. Sales volumes for the first month of 2022 were at 49kt compared to the budget of 43kt.

Current year profitability

As at the year ended 31 March 2021, the group made a loss of R36 million compared to a loss of R136 million in the prior year 

comparative period. The current year’s results indicate significant improvement in the performance of the group compared 

to the prior year. The main contributing factor to the increase in profits is due to the decrease in production challenges that 

were experienced across all operations in the prior year. Full year buy-in (rectification) sales volumes for Moabsvelden have 

also contributed to the improvement in profitability. Prior year sales volumes from Moabsvelden were only for one month. The 

negative impact on sales as a result of COVID-19 and improved production performance have resulted in a significant increase 

in stock levels which has assisted Wescoal in maintaining cash generation in the rainy season and closure period.

Cash balances, cash generation and liquidity

As at 31 March 2021, the group had a net cash balance of R166 million (2020: (R52)million). Due to COVID-19 pressure 

experienced in sales volumes as a result of low coal offtake, the lenders agreed to defer the capital repayments due under 

the term loan at the end of December 2020 and March 2021 (R38.4 million per quarter), with no negative impact to the risk 

profile of the group. Under the current amendments, the waivered amounts are to be caught up in equal instalments over the 

remaining instalment due under the term loan.

As a result of COVID-19, stockpiles have increased since year-end, which has resulted in a negative impact on cash flow in the 

first half of the financial year. The increase in stock has, however, supported Wescoal in maintaining cash generation during the 

rainy season and during the closure period. Current stock levels will enable Wescoal to maintain sales demand in the next rainy 

season.

During the current financial year, Wescoal generated R773 million (2020: R183 million) which includes working capital 

movement of R297 million relating to the prior year as a result of a late payment from a major customer. Despite the current 

economic challenges, Wescoal’s cash generation has improved significantly compared to the prior year. Cash generated was 

partly utilised to pay net finance costs of R89 million to funders and R50 million was utilised to pay tax to the tax authorities. 

R419 million of the cash generated was utilised to invest in expansion projects including our flagship project, Moabsvelden. 

Repayments of R76 million towards our term loan were also made.
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39. Going concern continued

Cash balances, cash generation and liquidity continued

In the prior year, Wescoal breached its financial covenants for the measurement periods ended:

• September and December 2019 as a result of poorer EBITDA performance and limited offsetting of the asset-based 

financing; and

• March 2020 as a result of delays in receipts from Eskom and Sasol.

The lenders agreed to waive both these breaches and all financial covenants have been met for all subsequent measurement 

periods.

Although Wescoal has comfortably met all of its financial covenants for the year ended 31 March 2021, Wescoal has, however, 

breached two requirements relating to information undertaking under its lending facilities. 

The lenders have subsequently obtained their credit approval to extend the timelines for the requirements to the 2022 financial 

year. Currently, the third amendment to the facility agreement is being reviewed to accommodate the credit approval requirements 

but has not been fully executed as at the date of reporting. The conditions will include a strategic and liquidity plan which is to 

be approved by the lenders and the Wescoal board of directors and is to be implemented by 31 December 2021. This plan must 

support a specified minimum cash balance and it was approved by the Wescoal board on 22 June 2021. No distributions can be 

made and Wescoal will also attract an interest ratchet on the RCF and the term loan until the liquidity and strategic plan has been 

fully implemented. Permission to cede the Eskom coal supply agreement as part of the security of the lending arrangements also 

needs to be submitted, a condition which has been previously deferred due to delays beyond the control of the company.

Dispute with mining contractor (Stefanutti Stocks Mining Services Proprietary Limited)

As indicated in note 34 relating to contingent liabilities and assets, possible settlement outcomes from the discussions are not 

expected to have a material negative impact on the group and therefore no provision has been made in the consolidated annual 

financial statements. There is no indication that the outcomes will impact the going concern of the company and group.

Solvency

As at 31 March 2021, the assets exceeded the total liabilities of the group by R862 million (2020: R883 million) which reflects 

that the group is still solvent.

Conclusion

The directors have considered the financial plans and forecasts, the actions taken by the group and company, and based on the 

information available to them, are therefore of the opinion that the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation 

of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements.

40. Events after the reporting period
 COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic developed rapidly in 2020, with a significant number of reported cases. Measures taken by the 

South African government to contain the virus have affected economic activity. We have taken a number of measures to 

monitor and mitigate the effects of COVID-19 such as safety and health measures for our people (including social distancing 

and working from home) and securing the supply of materials that are essential to our production process.

At this stage, the impact on our business and results has not been significant and, based on our experience to date, we expect 

this to remain the case. There has been a downturn in sales as a direct result of COVID-19 and a subsequent increase in 

inventory. We believe this is temporary and are already noticing improved sales as constraints are lifted. We will continue to 

follow South African government policies and advice and, in parallel, we will do our utmost to continue our operations in the 

best and safest way possible without jeopardising the health of our people.

All business units have developed business continuity plans which are in a state of readiness for any eventuality. While the 

COVID-19 risk remains, Wescoal is continuously reviewing and revising its plans to safeguard its staff, contractors and its 

operations. The company has also secured facilities for quarantine in cases where our employees do not have facilities to 

self-isolate.

To date, there have been a limited number of reported and confirmed cases at Wescoal’s sites. The health and safety of all our 

employees and the communities adjacent to our operations remain our top priority.

We also refer to note 39, and while no uncertainty about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern is identified, 

management has considered the impact of COVID-19 on liquidity.

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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40. Events after the reporting period continued

Change of contractors

The current mineral processing contracts with Minerals Operations Executive Proprietary Limited and Pentalin Trading 56 

Proprietary Limited at Vanggatfontein and Wescoal Processing were scheduled to come to an end on 31 May 2021.

Following an extensive procurement process, the Wescoal board approved the appointment of IMP as the new processing 

contractor at both Vanggatfontein and Wescoal Processing with effect from 1 June 2021. 

In conjunction with the previous contractors, IMP and the trade union representatives of the transferring employees, Wescoal 

successfully managed the transition to ensure no business interruptions took place.

Through the experience gained via the mining contractor changeout at Vanggatfontein, we believe this risk is well managed.

 Refinanced debt package breach and debt waiver

Although all financial covenants have comfortably been met, Wescoal has breached the requirements of the facility agreement 

as at the end of March 2021 as the company did not meet two requirements relating to information undertaking.

The lenders have subsequently obtained their credit approval to extend the requirements to the 2022 financial year.

Currently, the third amendment to the facility agreement is being reviewed to accommodate the credit approval requirements 

but has not been fully executed yet.

Due to the debt covenant breach as described in note 20, the group reclassified R812.9 million of non-current debt to current in 

line with IFRS requirements. 

41. Related parties
 Relationships

Subsidiaries Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited

Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited

Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery Proprietary Limited

Labohlano Trading 46 Proprietary Limited

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited

Refer to note 8

Joint ventures Arnot HoldCo Proprietary Limited 

Arnot OpCo Proprietary Limited

Refer to note 9

Group executive committee Key management personnel who have the authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling activities of the company and subsidiaries

Employee share incentive scheme Wescoal Share Incentive Trust

Members of key management Refer to directors’ remuneration
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41. Related parties continued

 Relationships continued

Group Company

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

Related party balances

Loan accounts – owing (to)/by related parties

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – (278 485) (275 816)

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited – – 321 162 406 582

Wescoal Mineral Recoveries Proprietary Limited – – (602) (604)

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited – – 4 443 24 948

Wescoal Exploration Proprietary Limited – – (548) (548)

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited – – 728 501 620 993

Proudafrique Trading 147 Proprietary Limited – – 4 2

Refer to notes 11 and 25 for terms and conditions.

Amounts included in trade receivables/(trade payables) 

regarding related parties

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited – – 153 –

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited – – 1 963 –

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited – – 1 842 –

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited – – 1 636 –

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited – – 4 532 –

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – 3 515 –

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – (236) –

Shares held by the Trust

Wescoal Share Trust (number of shares '000) 9 858 9 858 9 858 9 858

Related party transactions

Interest (received from)/paid to related parties

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited – – (22 294) (16 284)

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – (5 970) (4 123)

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited – – (47 575) (21 021)

Administration fees paid to/(received from) related parties

Blanford 006 Proprietary Limited – – 960 1 108

Wescoal Mining Proprietary Limited – – 45 126 52 091

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – 19 202 22 166

Wescoal Trading Proprietary Limited – – (2 402) (725)

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited – – 28 062 18 000

Keaton Energy Holdings Limited – – (5 315) –

Keaton Mining Proprietary Limited – – 1 331 –

Neosho Trading 86 Proprietary Limited – – 1 331 –

Other related party expenses

Office rental from Simeka 1 150 1 020 1 150 1 017

Transportation services from Gundo Logistics 160 798 69 669 – –

Compensation to directors and other key management

Non-executive directors’ fees 4 639 4 494 – –

Remuneration 13 657 15 696 – –

Retirement and medical contributions 849 983 – –

Fringe benefits and bonuses 1 081 3 661 – –

Notes to the consolidated annual financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2021
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42. (Loss)/earnings per share
 Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on net (loss)/profit for the year, attributable to owners of the 

company, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Group

2021 2020

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

Net (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the company (R’000) (35 826) (136 602)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 410 058 419 409

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (cents) (8.74) (32.57)

 Diluted basic earnings per share

The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on net (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the 

company. The weighted average number of shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all potential dilutive shares as 

a result of share options granted under the share option schemes in issue. A calculation is performed to determine the number 

of shares that could have been acquired at fair value, determined as the average annual market share price of the company’s 

shares, based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding share options. The number of 

shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the 

share options.

Group

2021 2020

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 410 058 419 409

Share options in terms of the Wescoal Share Incentive Trust – –

Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings per share* (’000) 410 058 419 409

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents) (8.74) (32.57)

2021
* As the group is in a loss-making position, the impact of share options would be anti-dilutive and is therefore not taken into account.

2020
* As the group is in a loss-making position, the impact of share options would be anti-dilutive and is therefore not taken into account.
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42. (Loss)/earnings per share continued

 Headline (loss)/earnings and diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share

Headline (loss)/earnings and diluted headline (loss)/earnings are determined by adjusting basic (loss)/earnings and diluted 

(loss)/earnings by excluding separately identifiable remeasurement items in terms of the JSE headline earnings circular, 

HEPS Circular 1/2019.

The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings, net of taxation and non-controlling interest, per share is based on the basic (loss)/

earnings per share calculation adjusted for the following items:

2021 2020

Gross Net of tax Gross Net of tax

Headline/diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share

Net loss for the year attributable to owners of the company (19 762) (35 826) (132 192) (136 602)

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 883 3 014 (583) (433)

Goodwill impairment 21 026 21 026 – –

Headline earnings/(loss) 5 147 (11 786) (132 775) (137 035)

Headline loss per share (cents) – (2.87) – (32.67)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents)* – (2.87) – (32.67)

* As the group is in a loss-making position, the impact of share options would be anti-dilutive and is therefore not taken into account.

43. Correction of prior period error
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the company discovered that the repayment of the inter-company loan from group 

companies was incorrectly disclosed as cash flows from investing activities in the annual financial statements. The cash flows 

should have been disclosed as cash flows from financing activities as it relates to financing for the holding company by the 

subsidiary. The error has been corrected by restating the affected line items in the statement of cash flows.

Company

As

previously

reported

R’000

Adjustments

R’000

As restated

R’000

Statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash from operating activities  (66 220) –  (66 220)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from loans from group companies  (68 054)  68 054 –  

Other  (781 006) –  (781 006)

Net cash from investing activities  (849 060)  68 054  (781 006)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of loans from group companies –  (68 054)  (68 054)

Other  855 968 –  855 968 

Net cash from financing activities  855 968  (68 054)  787 914 

Total cash and cash equivalents movement for the year  (59 312) –  (59 312)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  (36 268) –  (36 268)

Net cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  (95 580) –  (95 580)
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44. Directors’ and prescribed offi  cers’ emoluments
 Executive

Re-
muneration

R’000

Medical and
provident 
fund con-
tributions

R’000

Annual 
bonus
R’000

Fringe 
and other

benefits
R’000

Lump
sum 

R’000

Cash 
total 

R’000

IFRS 2 
share 
option 

expense
R’000

2021

RL Demana* 3 633 234 – 277  948 5 092 –

IJ van der Walt** 1 175  71 – 623 2 033 3 902 1 233

T Tshithavhane 3 619 218 – 76 – 3 913 113

JM Speckman*** 463 28 – 10 – 500 –

R Ramaite*** 103 – – – – 103 –

8 993 551 – 986 2 981 13 509 1 346

2020

RL Demana 3 373 216 1 687 116 1 000 4 705 –

IJ van der Walt 2 820 168  556  93 – 3 638 337

T Tshithavhane 3 666 218 657 121 – 4 663 106

9 859 602 2 900 330 1 000 13 006 443

* RL Demana resigned effective 31 March 2021.
** IJ van der Walt resigned effective 31 August 2020.
***  JM Speckman has been appointed as group CFO and executive director effective 1 February 2021; she was acting CFO from 1 September 2020 up 

to her appointment as group CFO.

*** R Ramaite was appointed as interim CEO from 15 March 2021.

 Share options in the company held by directors

Financial 
year 
granted

Option 
grant 

(strike price)
cents

Balance
held as at
31 March 

2021
’000

Balance 
held as at
31 March 

2020
’000

T Tshithavhane 2017 246 850 850

2018 213 205 205

December 2017 246 19 19

 Non-executive
Non-executive remuneration for attending meetings.

Group

2021

R’000

2020

R’000

JG Pansegrouw1 – 227

HLM Mathe 739 1 120

MR Ramaite 256 251

DMT van Gaalen5 – 694

KM Maroga 800 528

C Maswanganyi 366 253

ET Mzimela 430 356

N Siyotula2 915 598

N Mnxasana3 599 152

A Mabizela4 534 102

4 639 4 281

1 JG Pansegrouw retired on 16 October 2019.
2 N Siyotula was appointed on 14 February 2019.
3 N Mnxasana was appointed on 5 December 2019.
4 A Mabizela was appointed on 5 December 2019.
5 DMT van Gaalen retired on 16 October 2019.
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44. Directors’ and prescribed offi  cers’ emoluments continued

Prescribed officers

Remu-

neration

R’000

Medical and

provident 

fund con-

tributions 

R’000

Annual

bonus

R’000

Fringe 

and other

benefits

R’000

Cash

total

R’000

IFRS 2

share

option

expense

R’000

2021

M Berry 3 369 205 – 67 3 642 35

KN Mbekeni 1 295 93 – 28 1 416 17

4 664 298 – 95 5 058 52

2020

M Berry 3 201 204 1 306 334 5 044 519

S Ramoetlo* 1 430 93 159 46 1 278 –

KN Mbekeni 1 206 84 232 41 1 563 29

5 837 381 1 697 421 7 885 548

* S Ramoetlo resigned on 31 January 2020.

 Share options in the company held by prescribed officers

Financial 

year granted

Option grant

(strike price)

cents

2021

’000

2020

’000

M Berry 2014 212 2 000 2 000

2016 111 200 200

2018 213 205 205

December 2017 246 41 41

KN Mbekeni 2018 213 87 87

45. Segment report
 Accounting policies relating to segment reporting

Operating segments are reported on in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 

of the operating segments, has been identified as the group executive committee that makes strategic decisions.

Segment reporting – composition and analysis

For management purposes, the group is organised into business units based on their products and activities and has four 

reportable operating segments:

• The Mining segment is involved in the exploration, beneficiation and mining of bituminous coal;

• The Trading segment buys and sells coal to inland customers;

• The property rental segment rents property to other segments within the group; and

• The investment holding segment is the holding company of the group and also acts as a central treasury function.

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. The group Exco is the group’s 

chief decision-making body. Management has determined the operating segments based on the information received by the 

group Exco. Annual segment performance is evaluated based on revenue and on operating profit or loss and is measured 

consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated annual financial statements.

All revenue is generated from customers in southern Africa and all operating assets are situated in South Africa. The Mining 

segment generates its revenue mainly from sales to parastatals and other institutions. The Trading segment generates its 

revenue from sales to a variety of customers that include private sector, government institutions, mining entities and various 

small and medium enterprises.
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45. Segment report continued

Mining

R’000 

Trading

R’000

Property 

rental 

and other

R’000

Investment

holding

R’000

Inter- 

segment

eliminations

R’000

Consolidated

R’000

2021

Management fees – – – – – –

Local 266 677 583 569 – – – 850 246

Eskom sales 2 149 312 – – – – 2 149 312

Export sales 101 737 – – – – 101 737

Rental income – – 315 – – 315

Transport 733 785 67 236 – – – 801 021

External customers 3 251 511 650 805 315 – – 3 902 631

Inter-segment 522 680 47 309 5 414 121 073 (696 476) –

Total revenue 3 774 191 698 114 5 729 121 073 (696 476) 3 902 631

Cost of sales (3 405 609) (636 530) (12) – 550 903 (3 491 248)

Gross profit/(loss) 368 582 61 584 5 717 121 073 (145 573) 411 383

Other income/(expenses) 78 746 308 22 41 (47 402) 31 715

Operating expenses (215 952) (78 322) (1 197) (159 041) 146 473 (308 039)

Operating profit/(loss) 231 376 (16 430) 4 625 (37 927) (46 502) 135 059

Interest received 19 789 248 – 43 732 (37 344) 26 425

Interest paid (156 039) (7 764) (177) (136 413) 119 454 (180 939)

Share of net loss of joint 

venture accounted for using 

the equity method (307) – – – – (307)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 94 819 (23 946) 4 365 (130 608) 35 608 (19 762)

Depreciation and amortisation (391 668) (2 071) (12) (4 128) (16 683) (414 562)

(Loss)/gain on sale of assets (3 862) (24) – 2 – (3 884)

Total assets 2 351 161 200 902 2 759  2 576 515 (1 092 790) 4 038 547

Total liabilities (1 858 757) (97 839) (2 673) (1 028 221) (202 306) (3 189 796)
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45. Segment report continued

Mining

R’000 

Trading

R’000

Property 

rental 

and other

R’000

Investment

holding

R’000

Inter- 

segment

eliminations

R’000

Consolidated

R’000

2020

Management fees – 725 – – – 725

Local 346 723 874 774 – – – 1 221 497

Eskom sales 1 674 145 – – – – 2 149 312

Export sales 105 287 – – – – 101 737

Rental income – – 328 – – 315

Transport 665 959 142 549 – – – 801 021

External customers 2 792 114 1 018 048 328 – – 3 810 490

Inter-segment 182 993 18 863 5 108 150 211 (357 175) –

Total revenue 2 975 107 1 036 911 5 436 150 211 (357 175) 3 810 490

Cost of sales (2 728 267) (933 123) (12) (657) 184 358 (3 477 701)

Gross profit/(loss) 246 840 103 788 5 424 149 554 (172 817) 332 789

Other income/(expenses) 5 048 65 446 8 (1) 5 566

Operating expenses (251 203) (58 290) (1 398) (146 493) 116 489 (340 895)

Operating profit/(loss) 685 45 563 4 472 3 069 (56 329) (2 540)

Interest received 17 344 365 1 58 771 (54 528) 21 953

Interest paid (135 653) (7 254) (1) (83 775) 75 424 (151 259)

Share of net loss of joint 

venture accounted for using 

the equity method (346) – – – – (346)

Profit/(loss) before income tax (117 970) 38 674 4 472 (21 935) (35 433) (132 192)

Depreciation and amortisation (328 060) (2 139) (12) (4 114) – (334 325)

Gain/(loss) on sale of assets 536 – – – – 536

Total assets 2 399 720 215 901 11 638 2 593 174 (1 126 871) 4 038 547

Total liabilities (1 907 317) (90 279) (2 766) (1 021 463) (153 746) (3 189 796)
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Analysis of ordinary shareholders
as at 31 March 2021

Shareholder spread

Number of

shareholdings

% of total

shareholdings

Number 

of shares

% of issued

capital

1 – 1 000 2 046 47.92 517 093 0.12

1 001 – 10 000 1 437 33.65 6 064 291 1.44

10 001 – 100 000 685 16.04 20 717 853 4.93

100 001 – 1 000 000 82 1.92 22 344 466 5.32

Over 1 000 000 20 0.47 370 273 151 88.18

Total 4 270 100.00 419 916 854 100.00

Distribution of shareholders

Number of

 shareholdings

% of total

shareholdings

Number 

of shares

% of issued

 capital

Close corporations 37 0.87 680 323 0.16

Collective investment schemes 2 0.05 1 081 572 0.26

Control accounts 1 0.02 9 0.00

Custodians 5 0.12 26 614 075 6.34

Foundations and charitable funds 6 0.14 160 700 0.04

Investment partnerships 16 0.37 302 382 0.07

Managed funds 5 0.12 383 200 0.09

Private companies 49 1.15 273 921 572 65.23

Public companies 2 0.05 101 528 0.02

Retail shareholders 4 020 94.15 82 636 443 19.68

Scrip lending 2 0.05 134 618 0.03

Share schemes 1 0.02 9 858 000 2.35

Stockbrokers and nominees 10 0.23 1 263 566 0.30

Trusts 110 2.58 22 778 832 5.42

Unclaimed scrip 4 0.09 34 0.00

Total 4 270 100.00 419 916 854 100.00

* Pursuant to the provisions of section 56 of the Companies Act, disclosures from foreign nominee companies have been included in this analysis.

Shareholder type

Number of

 shareholdings

% of total

shareholdings

Number 

of shares

% of issued 

capital

Non-public shareholders 9 0.21 388 100 269 92.42

Directors and associates (direct holding) 5 0.12 24 025 480 5.72

Directors and associates (indirect holding)* 2 0.05 140 588 667 33.48

K2016316243 (SA) Proprietary Limited (empowerment SPV)^ 1 0.02 213 628 122 50.87

Share schemes 1 0.02 9 858 000 2.35

Public shareholders 4 261 99.79 31 816 585 7.58

Total 4 270 100.00 419 916 854 100.00

* IJ van der Walt resigned on 31 August 2020.

* RL Demana resigned on 31 March 2021.

^ Includes Indirect holding by directors (140 588 667 shares).



Wescoal Holdings Limited
Integrated annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021

233

Shareholders’ inform
ation

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 3% of the issued shares 

Number 

of shares

% of issued

capital

K2016316243 (SA) Proprietary Limited 213 628 122 50.87

RBFT Investments Proprietary Limited 36 049 178 8.58

UBS (Custodian) 23 542 923 5.61

MR Ramaite 23 193 301 5.52

Rutendo Holdings Proprietary Limited 19 660 642 4.68

Total   316 074 166 75.27

Total number of shareholdings 4 270 

Total number of shares in issue 419 916 854 

Share price performance    

Opening price 1 April 2020 R1.20

Closing price 31 March 2021 R1.20

Closing high for period R1.25

Closing low for period R0.55

Number of shares in issue 419 916 854 

Volume traded during period 93 306 954 

Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 22.22

Rand value traded during the period R93 362 644

Price/earnings ratio as at 31 March 2021 (6.88)

Earnings yield as at 31 March 2021 (14.54)

Dividend yield as at 31 March 2021 0.00 

Market capitalisation at 31 March 2021 R503 900 225

Shareholders’ diary

Financial year-end 31 March

Annual results announcement 25 June 2021

Integrated annual report posted 30 July 2021

Annual general meeting 5 October 2021

Interim results announcement November 2021
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Defi nitions

Arnot Arnot Mine/Arnot Colliery Project

Ash Ash content

Atlantis Atlantis Coal Estate CC

B-BBEE Broad-based black economic empowerment

bcm Bank cubic metre

Centriq Centriq Insurance Innovation

CEO Chief executive officer

CFO Chief financial officer

Chandler Chandler Coal Proprietary Limited

Companies Act Companies Act of South Africa, 71 of 2008

COVID-19 An infectious disease caused by a newly 

discovered Coronavirus

CP Competent person

CPR Competent person’s report

CSA Credit support annex

CSI Corporate social investment

CV Calorific value

DAF Dry ash-free

DAFVOL Dry ash-free volatiles

DMRE Department of Mineral Resources and Energy

Elandspruit Elandspruit Colliery/Mine

EMP Environmental management plan

ERB Eastern resource block

ERP Enterprise resource planning

ESG Economic social governance

Eskom Eskom Holdings SOC Limited

Exco Executive committee

Express Express Technology CC

Exxaro Exxaro Coal Mpumalanga Proprietary Limited

GRI Global Reporting Initiative

GSSA Geological Society of South Africa

GTIS Gross tonnes in situ

ha Hectare

HDSA Historically disadvantaged South African

HSE Health, safety and environment

IM Inherent moisture

IMP Ingwenya Mineral Processing Proprietary Limited

Intibane Intibane Colliery/Mine/Complex

IT Information technology

IWUL Integrated water use licence

JSE Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited

KEHL Keaton Energy Holdings Limited

Khanyisa Khanyisa Colliery/Mine/Complex

King IVTM King IVTM Report on Corporate Governance for 

South Africa

KJB KJB GeoServices

km Kilometre

KPA Key performance area

KPI Key performance indicator

kt Kilotonnes

LBC Leeuw Braakfontein Colliery

LED Local economic development

LTI Long-term incentive programme/scheme

LTIFR Lost time injury frequency rate

Miptec Miptec Proprietary Limited

Moabsvelden Moabsvelden Mine/Colliery/Project

MPRDA Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development 

Act, 28 of 2002

mt Million tonnes

MTIS Minable tonnes in situ

mtpa Million tonnes per annum

Nedbank Nedbank Limited

NGO Non-governmental organisation

NUMSA National Union of Mineworkers SA

PCD Pollution control dam

PPE Personal protective equipment

PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers

RD Relative density

ROM Run of mine

SAIMM Southern African Institute for Mining and 

Metallurgy

SAMREC Code South African Code for Reporting of Exploration 

Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves

SANS South African National Standard

SENS Securities Exchange News Service, the regulatory 

information dissemination platform for the JSE

SLP Social and labour plan

SMME Small, medium and micro enterprise

SOP Standard operating procedure

SPV Special purpose vehicle

SSMS Stefanutti Stocks Mining Services

Standard Bank Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Sterkfontein Sterkfontein Project

STI Short-term incentive programme/scheme

t tonnes

TB Tuberculosis

TCFD Task Force on Climate-related Financial 

Disclosures

The board The board of directors of Wescoal Holdings 

Limited

The group Wescoal Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries 

and associates

tpm Tonnes per month

TS Total sulphur

Vanggatfontein/VGF Vanggatfontein Colliery

VM Volatile matter

Wescoal Wescoal Holdings Limited

WRB Western resource block

WUL Water use licence

Financial defi nitions
CGU Cash-generating unit

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortisation

ECL Expected credit loss

FY Financial year

GBF General banking facility

HEPS Headline earnings per share

IAS International Accounting Standard

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

<IR Framework> International Integrated Reporting Framework of 

the International Integrated Reporting Council

IRBA Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors

JIBAR Johannesburg Interbank Agreed Rate

NPAT Net profit after tax

RCF Revolving credit facility

SAICA South African Institute of Chartered Accountants

The previous year The year ended 31 March 2020

The year The year ended 31 March 2021

WACC Weighted average cost of capital



 General information

Registration number 2005/006913/06

Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

JSE code WSL

ISIN ZAE000069639

Nature of business and principal activities The mining, processing, sale and distribution of thermal coal

Directors HLM Mathe (Chairman, non-executive)

MR Ramaite (Interim chief executive officer)

JM Speckman (Chief financial officer)

KM Maroga (Non-executive)

A Mabizela (Independent non-executive)

C Maswanganyi (Non-executive)

N Mnxasana (Independent non-executive)

ET Mzimela (Non-executive)

N Siyotula (Lead independent non-executive)

T Tshithavhane (Executive)

Registered office First Floor, Building 10, Woodmead Business Park

142 Western Service Road, Woodmead, Sandton 2191, South Africa

Telephone: +27 (0)11 049 8611

Postal address PO Box 1962, Edenvale 1610, South Africa

Ultimate holding company Wescoal Holdings Limited

Company secretary FluidRock Co Sec Proprietary Limited

Block 5, Suite 201 

Monument Office Park, 

79 Steenbok Avenue, Monument Park

Pretoria 0181

Banker Nedbank

Sponsor Nedbank Corporate and Investment Banking, a division of Nedbank Limited

Third Floor, Block F, Nedbank Rivonia Campus, 135 Rivonia Road

Sandton 2196, South Africa

PO Box 1144, Johannesburg 2000, South Africa

Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. Johannesburg

Registered Auditor

4 Lisbon Lane, Waterfall City, Jukskei View 2090, South Africa

Telephone: +27 (0)11 797 4000

Transfer secretary Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 2196, South Africa

PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107, South Africa

Telephone: +27 (0)11 370 7802

Investor relations Singular Systems IR

25 Scott Street, Waverley 2090, South Africa

Telephone: +27 (0)10 003 0700

Email: IR@singular.co.za



www.wescoal.com




